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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
OVERVIEW

We are in the business of discovering, developimgnufacturing and commercializing small moleculegdr We invest in scientific
innovation to create transformative medicines fatignts with serious diseases in specialty marl&tee mid2011, we have obtained appro
for, and initiated commercial sales of, our filgbtproducts: KALYDECO (ivacaftor) and INCIVEK (tedeevir). We market KALYDECO in
the United States and international markets fotb@ment of patients six years of age and old#r eystic fibrosis, or CF, who have a spec
genetic mutation in their cystic fibrosis transmearte conductance regulator,@FTR,gene, which is referred to as the G551D mutation.
INCIVEK is approved in the United States and Carfad#éhe treatment of adults with genotype 1 heigat virus, or HCV, infection. Our
collaborators, Janssen Pharmaceutica NV, or JanasdrMitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporation, or blitshi Tanabe, market telaprevir in
other international markets.

Our business is focused on developing and comnigin@gtherapies for the treatment of cystic fideoand advancing our other research
and early-stage development programs.

Cystic Fibrosis -Our goal is twofold: to develop treatment regimtret will provide benefits to as many patients with as possible and
to maximize those benefits.

. KALYDECO.KALYDECO was approved in 2012 in the United Staiad European Union as a treatment for patients @fth
six years of age and older who have the G551D noutét theirCFTRgene. We have submitted a supplemental New Drug
Application, or sNDA, to the U.S. Food and Drug Adistration, or FDA, and a Marketing Authorizatigypplication, or MAA,
variation in the European Union seeking approvahsoket ivacaftor for the treatment of patientsdwm@t- six years of age and older
who have specified other mutations in tHe¥TRgene, which were studied in our first label-expansilinical trial for ivacaftor. We
also are seeking to expand the number of patidigible for treatment with ivacaftor by (i) evalirag ivacaftor as a potential treatm
for patients with CF who have residual CFTR funefimcluding patients with CF who have the R117Hatian in theirCFTRgene,
and (ii) evaluating ivacaftor as a potential treattnfor patients with CF two to five years of ageosave specific mutations in their
CFTRgenes.

. Ivacaftor in Combination with CFTR Corrector Cooymds.In October 2013, we completed enrollment in anriv@gonal

pivotal Phase 3 development program to evaluatebawations of lumacaftor (VX-809), our most advanaecestigational CFTR
corrector compound, and ivacaftor. The Phase 3lderent program includes two Phase 3 clinicaldrieg¢ferred to as TRAFFIC and
TRANSPORT, that each enrolled patients with CF &2rg of age and older with two copies (homozygotit)e F508del mutation in
their CFTRgene. The F508del mutation is the most prevalemetiemutation that causes CF. We expect data TrBFFIC and
TRANSPORT in mid-2014. If these clinical trials aeccessful, we plan to submit a New Drug Applaatior NDA, to the FDA and
an MAA in the European Union, in the second hal2@14. We also are evaluating VX-661, a secondsitiyational CFTR corrector,
in combination with ivacaftor, in Phase 2 clinicelvelopment.

. CF Research Program$Ve are seeking to identify and develop next-germrda@FTR corrector compounds that could be
evaluated in regimens combining ivacaftor with {@6TR corrector compounds.

Research and Early-stage Development Progralie are engaged in a number of other research alydstage development programs,
including programs in the areas of oncology, midtgclerosis and other serious and rare diseases.tie last year, we have evaluated in
Phase 2 clinical trials: VX-135, an HCV nucleotalgalogue, in combination with daclatasvir, an N$&glication complex inhibitor being
developed by Bristol-Myers Squibb, or BMS; VX-5@®r JAK3 inhibitor, in patients with rheumatoidtaitis; and VX-787, a drug candidate
for the treatment of influenza A. We are in diséoiss with Alios BioPharma, Inc., or Alios, from wimowe exclusively license VX-135, and
BMS regarding potential next steps for further iclith evaluation of VX-135 and are seeking collab@rato advance clinical development of
VX-509 and VX787. We plan to continue investing in our resegmadgrams and fostering scientific innovation inartb identify and develc
transformative medicines. We believe that pursué@sgarch in diverse areas allows us to balancestkkeinherent in drug development and
may provide drug candidates that will form our fiipein future years.




CYSTIC FIBROSIS
Background

Cystic fibrosis is a rare, life-threatening genelicease affecting approximately 75,000 peopledrttNAmerica, Europe and Australia. CF
is caused by a defective or missing CFTR protesnlting from mutations in thEFTRgene. Children must inherit two defect@&TRgenes,
which are referred to as alleles - one from eachria to have CF. There are more than 1,900 knowtations in th&€ FTRgene, some of
which result in CF, including two of the most priardg mutations, the G551D mutation and the F508déhtion.

The G551D mutation results in a defect in the Cfétein in which the defective CFTR protein reacthessurface of a cell but does not
efficiently transport chloride ions across the cetimbrane. The F508del mutation results in a défetie CFTR protein in which the CFTR
protein does not reach the surface of cells in@afft quantities. The absence of working CFTR girat results in poor flow of salt and water
into and out of cells in a number of organs, inglgdhe lungs. As a result, thick, sticky mucuddsiup and blocks the passages in many
organs, leading to a variety of symptoms. In patéc mucus builds up and clogs the airways indihgs, causing chronic lung infections and
progressive lung damage. lvacaftor, known as a CpdiBntiator, keeps the CFTR protein channels ercéii surface open longer, to increase
the flow of salt and water into and out of the c€FTR correctors, such as lumacaftor and 664, are believed to help CFTR protein react
cell surface.

We chose to develop KALYDECO (ivacaftor) and ourestCF drug candidates because of their potetiahprove the function of
defective CFTR proteins in patients with CF, whiglthe underlying cause of CF. We discovered ivacafumacaftor and VX-661 in our
research collaboration with the Cystic Fibrosis a@ation Therapeutics Incorporated, or CFFT. Ougassh group is continuing to work to
identify additional corrector compounds that colddincluded in future dual- and/or triple-combipnatireatment regimens with the potential tc
provide additional benefits to patients with CF. Y#d worldwide development and commercializatiights to ivacaftor, lumacaftor and VX-
661. We pay royalties to CFFT on net sales of iftacand will pay royalties to CFFT on any net sabé lumacaftor, VX-661 and any other
corrector compounds discovered under the CFFT lwamiiion, if they are approved.

We market KALYDECO in specified approved indicasdn the United States and international markets.i@acaftor development
program for additional indications has receivedrea®through Therapy designation from the FDA. TB&FRlso has designated the
combination regimens of lumacaftor with ivacaftada/X-661 with ivacaftor for the treatment of patis with CF who have the F508del
mutation on both alleles as Breakthrough Therapissare expecting data from these clinical program2d14.

KALYDECO (ivacaftor)

KALYDECO (ivacaftor) is an orally-administered CFTRtentiator that is approved in the United Stafestralia, Canada and the
European Union for the treatment of patients srg®f age and older with CF who have the G551 Datiuut in theirCFTRgene.
KALYDECO has received recognition as a significemmtovation in drug development. In the press releasouncing KALYDECO's
approval, the FDA identified KALYDECO as an excaell@xample of the promise of personalized mediaime a breakthrough therapy for the
CF community, because other existing therapies tnelgt the symptoms of this genetic disease, WkA¢. YDECO addresses the underlying
cause. The Wall Street Journal named KALYDECO asatimner of its 2012 Technology Innovation awardhie Medicine and Biotech
category. During development, ivacaftor was gramtgdhan drug designation in the United States amdfean Union and Fast-track
designation in the United States and, due to asse, was advanced rapidly through developmer2008, we evaluated ivacaftor in a small
Phase 2a clinical trial that enrolled 39 patienith W&F who had the G551D mutation on at least dieéeaBased on the safety and efficacy dat:
from this clinical trial, we moved directly intoRhase 3 clinical program, which we initiated in N209 and completed in mid-2011. We filed
for approval to market ivacaftor in the United $tain November 2011 and obtained approval froniDA in January 2012, which was more
than two months ahead of the original target databdished by the FDA. We also obtained rapid apgdrfor ivacaftor in the European Union
and Canada later in 2012. We use the brand nameYRMECO only when we refer to the product that hasrbapproved and with respect to
indications on the approved label. Otherwise, iditlg in discussions of our CF development programestefer to the compound by its
scientific (or generic) name ivacaftor.

KALYDECO is approved for the treatment of patienith CF six years of age and older who have at leas copy of the G551D mutati
in their CFTRgene. We believe there are approximately 2,00@p&tiwith CF six years of age and




older in North America, Europe and Australia whedshe G551D mutation in theFTRgene. Since KALYDECO's approval in 2012, most o
these patients have started treatment with KALYDEKBL YDECO currently is available to eligible patits in the United States, England,
Scotland, Northern Ireland, Wales, the Republitreiind, France, Germany, Austria, Denmark, Grekaly, the Netherlands, Norway and
Sweden. In many international markets, includingttalia and Canada, patients generally are nottalétain access to drugs until the
relevant agencies authorize public reimbursemarthfo cost of the drug. We are in discussions véatfulatory agencies in Australia and
Canada regarding public reimbursement of KALYDEQG®ts in these countries.

We submitted an sNDA to the FDA and an MAA variatin the European Union in September 2013 and @ct2B013, respectively,
seeking approval to market ivacaftor for the treattrof patients with CF six years of age and oldeo have specified other mutations in their
CFTRgene. These submissions incorporated clinical flata our first ivacaftor label-expansion PhaseiBichl trial. The FDA has set a target
date of March 27, 2014 to complete its review @ 8NDA under the Prescription Drug User Fee AQUIFA). We estimate that in North
America, Europe and Australia approximately 400gpdis with CF six years of age and older haveastlene of the mutations evaluated in
clinical trial, including approximately 150 patisrih the United States.

CF Drug Development Programs

We are continuing our work in CF to develop treattmegimens that will provide benefits to as maagignts with CF as possible and to
maximize those benefits. We are seeking to incréssaumber of patients with CF who could beneéitrf our medicines both by evaluating
ivacaftor in additional patient groups who may Henand by evaluating combinations of ivacaftotiwbur investigational corrector
compounds, lumacaftor and VX-661, in patients wli most prevalent form of CF, those with two ceméthe F508del mutation.

Ivacaftor

We have completed a Phase 3 clinical trial to eataelivacaftor in patients with the R117H mutatiohieir CFTRgene. We are conducti
a fully-enrolled proof-of-concept Phase 2 clinitrél in which we are evaluating ivacaftor in patie with CF who have clinical evidence of
residual CFTR function. We also are conductingligfenrolled Phase 3 clinical trial in which we arealuating ivacaftor, in the form of
minitablets or granules, as a treatment for childwth CF two to five years of age with particuhautations in theiCFTRgene, including the
G551D mutation.

R117H Mutation

In December 2013, we reported data from a Phasiaiat trial that evaluated ivacaftor in patiests years of age and older with CF who
have the R117H mutation on at least one allelb@f CFTRgene. Patients diagnosed with CF who have the RIiutdtion exhibit a range
severity and signs and symptoms of the disease.

The 24-week doubled-blinded Phase 3 clinical grablled 69 patients. Patients 12 years of ageoldet had lung function at screening of
40 to 90 percent predicted FEYand children six to eleven years of age had F&\screening of 40 to 105 percent predicted FENEV .is a
measure of the amount of air that an individual egmale in one second. The primary endpoint ottimécal trial was the absolute change fr
baseline in FE\{throughout the treatment period for ivacaftor coregao placebo across all patients (intent-to-}r&dte clinical trial did not
meet its primary endpoint of a statistically siggaht absolute change from baseline in RE¥owever, a pre-specified subgroup analysis
demonstrated a clinical benefit in patients with T8Fyears of age and older who have the R117H ioatah at least one allele. We plan to
meet with the FDA in early 2014 to discuss thesalie and the potential submission of an sSNDA fatigmts with the R117H mutation. We
estimate that in North America, Europe and Ausrapproximately 1,100 patients with CF six yearagé and older have at least one copy of
the R117H mutation in the€€FTRgene. In the United States, approximately 300 ptieith CF 18 years of age and older have the R117
mutation in theilCFTRgene.

Results from R117H Clinical Trial

Lung Function (FEV) Results In the Total Clinical Trial PopulatiorThe primary endpoint of the clinical trial wagtabsolute
change from baseline in FEMhroughout the treatment period for ivacaftor coragao placebo across all patients (intent-to-jréat
the clinical trial, the mean absolute improvemarpércent predicted FEMetween those treated with ivacaftor and placet®2vh
percentage points (p=0.20). The result of statibtiesting is often defined in terms of a "p-valueith p<0.05 generally considered to
represent a statistically significant differencheTreatment difference for this endpoint was tatistically significant, thus the
clinical trial did not meet its




primary endpoint. The mean absolute percent prediEEV,improvement during ivacaftor treatment (within-godwas 2.6
percentage points (p = 0.03).

Secondary Endpointdn the clinical trial, the mean relative treatrhdiiference in percent predicted FEWas 5.0 percent (p = 0.06)
through the 24-week treatment period. The mearivelpercent predicted FEMmprovement during ivacaftor treatment (within-
group) was 4.8 percent (p=0.01). Treatment witlcaftor, regardless of age, resulted in statisticgithnificant decreases in sweat
chloride and improvement in patient-reported outesras measured by the respiratory domain of thédJyibrosis Questionnaire
Revised (CFQ-R). No significant differences in thegjuency of pulmonary exacerbations or changé®dy mass index were noted.

Safety and Tolerability The safety and tolerability results observechin tlinical trial were consistent with those olvset in prior
Phase 3 clinical trials of ivacaftor in patientswCF who have the G551D mutation. The most comynobserved adverse events in
those who received ivacaftor were infective pulmgrexacerbation, cough and headache, which occwithdsimilar frequency
compared to those who received placebo. Seriousrselevents occurred in 17 percent of patientsretweived placebo versus 12
percent for patients who received ivacaftor.

Subgroup AnalysesA prespecified subgroup analysis was conducted to eieatha effect of ivacaftor on patients 18 yearagd anc
older, in patients 12 to 17 years of age and ifeptt six to eleven years of age. Data from thabg®up analyses are provided bel

» Patients 18 years of age and old50 patients 18 years of age and older were enroiléus clinical trial and had a mean base
percent predicted FEMof 65 percent. A pre-specified subset analysibi@sé patients showed statistically significant
improvements in lung function and other key seconéadpoints. In these patients, the mean absohgeovement in percent
predicted FEV between treatment with ivacaftor and placebo wagBrcentage points (p=0.01) and the mean relative
improvement in percent predicted FEWas 9.1 percent (p=0.008) in each case througB4hgeek treatment period. An
additional analysis was conducted on percent predii€EV. four weeks following the completion of treatmentiwivacaftor.
Mean lung function returned toward baseline inghttients who received ivacaftor, who showed a p@rtentage point (p=0.001)
mean absolute within-group change from Week 24 ezM\28 (four weeks after the end of treatment)abam these subgroup
analyses of patients 18 years of age and oldgprareded below:

Ivacaftor (n=24) Placebo (n=26) Treatment Difference
Mean Absolute Change in FEY 4.5 (p=0.002) -0.5 (p=0.728) 5.0 (p=0.01)
Mean Relative Change in FEV 7.7 (p=0.002) -1.5 (p=0.526) 9.1 (p=0.008)
Proportion of Patients with Mean Absolute
Improvement in FEV of 5 percentage
points or more 54.2% 15.4% 38.8% (p=0.007)
CFQ-R Score (respiratory domain)* 12.2 (p=<0.0001) -0.5 (p=0.861) 12.6 (p=0.002)

*Pre-specified analyses

» Patients 12 to 17 years of acTwo patients 12 to 17 years of age enrolled in¢hiscal trial; one received placebo and one
received ivacaftor. There were too few patientsitke a statistical comparison of patients in this mnge.

» Patients six to eleven years of aSeventeen patients six to eleven years of ageledriol this clinical trial and had a mean
baseline percent predicted FEW®f 96 percent. In these patients, there was a raksolute decline from baseline in percent
predicted FEV of -2.8 percentage points (p=0.132) in patients vdueived ivacaftor (h=9) compared to a mean absdaherease
from baseline in percent predicted FE& 3.5 percentage points (p=0.084) for patients veueived placebo (n=8). The mean
absolute treatment difference was -6.3 percentageg(p=0.03).

Pediatric Formulation

We are conducting a fully-enrolled Phase 3 clintdal to evaluate ivacaftor, in the form of mirbtats or granules, as a treatment for
children with CF two to five years of age with sifieanutations in theilCFTRgene, including the G551D




mutation. We expect data from this clinical trialthe second quarter of 2014. If this clinicalltisasuccessful, we plan to submit an NDA in
second half of 2014. We estimate that in North Ao#rEurope and Australia approximately 300 pasievith CF two to five years of age have
one of the CFTR mutations in th&FTRgene that is being evaluated in this clinical trial

Residual CFTR Function

We are conducting a fully-enrolled proof-oéncept Phase 2 clinical trial in which we are aatihg ivacaftor in patients with CF who h
clinical evidence of residual CFTR function. We egpdata from this clinical trial in the second gerof 2014. We estimate that in North
America, Europe and Australia more than 3,000 ptgiwith CF six years of age and older have non7RILCFTR mutations that result in
residual function.

Lumacaftor in Combination with Ivacaftor

Phase 3 Program in Patients with CF Who Have Twgi€do(homozygous) of the F508del Mutation

We have completed enrollment of patients in arrirational pivotal Phase 3 clinical program to easducombinations of lumacaftor and
ivacaftor in patients with CF who have two copikesrfiozygous) of the F508del mutation in tHefTRgene. We are conducting two 24-week
Phase 3 clinical trials, which are referred to BAFFIC and TRANSPORT, that are designed to supgmptoval of the combination of
lumacaftor and ivacaftor for patients 12 yearsg# and older. Each Phase 3 clinical trial enradipgroximately 550 patients with CF who are
homozygous for the F508del mutation, for a totahmbroximately 1,100 patients. TRAFFIC and TRANSHGHe identical in design and
together are being conducted at approximately Z@al trial sites in North America, Europe andalia. Two treatment regimens of
lumacaftor (600mg once-daily (QD) and 400mg evergite hours (q12h)) in combination with ivacaftabQmg every twelve hours (q12h))
are being evaluated. Fixed-dose tablets that aobtath lumacaftor and ivacaftor or placebo are dpeised in both clinical trials. In TRAFFIC
and TRANSPORT, we will evaluate absolute and redaitinprovement in percent predicted FEMas well as change in body mass index (B
or weight gain, number of pulmonary exacerbatiams ismprovements in patient-reported outcomes asuned by the CFQ-R. Following
recent discussions with regulatory agencies, we lagveed that for both TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT theary endpoint will be absolute
change in percent predicted FEMrough 24 weeks compared to placebo. The inidahek treatment period in TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT
is being followed by a separate rollover doublewblextension clinical trial where all eligible paits, including those who received placebo,
will receive one of the combination treatment regirs for up to an additional 96 weeks.

We expect data from TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT in mid-20f these clinical trials are successful, wengla submit an NDA to the
FDA and an MAA in the European Union in the sechalf of 2014. We believe that in North America, &pe and Australia more than 28,000
patients with CF six years of age and older havedepies of the F508del mutation in th€iFTRgene, including approximately 22,000
patients 12 years of age and older.

We also are conducting a clinical trial to evaldateacaftor in combination with ivacaftor in chiédr with CF six to eleven years of age
who have two copies of the F508del mutation. Weshmmpleted part 1 of this clinical trial and expecbegin part 2 of this clinical trial in tl
second half of 2014. If this clinical trial is sessful, we plan to use the data from this clinfgal, along with data from TRAFFIC and
TRANSPORT, for registration of this combinationpatients six to eleven years of age, which we exweald occur subsequent to approve
patients 12 years of age and older, if achieved.

The two combination dosing regimens we selecte@vafuation in TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT were evaluateseparate parts of a
Phase 2 clinical trial of lumacaftor and ivacatfteferred to as Cohort 2 and Cohort 3. Safety redrdtn Cohort 2 and Cohort 3 were similar to
one another. In both dose groups, lumacaftor wasrgdly well-tolerated alone and in combinationhwitacaftor. The most common adverse
events in both groups were respiratory in natur€ahort 3, one patient in the treatment groupatisnued treatment because of a pulmonary
adverse event.




e Cohort 2 -We evaluated the 600mg once-daily (QD) dose of taftar in combination with ivacaftor (250mg q12h)Gohort 2 in 21
patients with CF who are homozygous for the F508udéhtion. This regimen resulted in statisticaliyndficant improvements in lung

function (within group and versus placebo) during tombination dosing period, as set forth in thieing table:

Mean Absolute and Relative Changes in Percent Prezted FEV ,
Day 0 - 28; lumacaftor Day 28 - 56; lumacaftor + Day 0 - 56
alone ivacaftor
Within Group
Absolute -2.9 (p=0.07) +6.1 (p<0.001) +3.4 (03).
Relative -3.5 (p=0.13) +9.7 (p<0.001) +5.3 (92).
lumacaftor (600mg QD) +
ivacaftor (250mg q12h)
Versus Placebo
Absolute -2.0 (p=0.36) +8.6 (p <0.001) +6.7 ([B62)
Relative -3.9 (p=0.21) +12.8 (p<0.001) +9.2 (j063)

e Cohort 3 -We evaluated the 400mg (q12h) dose of lumacaftoombination with ivacaftor in Cohort 3 in 11 patie with CF who ai
homozygous for the F508del mutation. Cohort 3 alstuded the randomization of four patients to plaw to allow for a blinded
safety assessment. Three patients completed treatmine placebo group. The pattern of lung fumttiesponse observed in Coho
was similar to that observed in the 600mg (QD) dpeeip in Cohort 2, with a decline in FEMuring the lumacaftor monotherapy
dosing period followed by a statistically signifitancrease in FEYduring the lumacaftor and ivacaftor combinationidgseriod.
Additional lung function results for Cohort 3 an@pided below:

Mean Absolute and Relative Changes in Percent Prezted FEV,
Day 0 - 28; lumacaftor | Day 28 - 56; lumacaftor + Day 0 - 56
alone ivacaftor
| ftor (400 12h) Within Group
umacaftor mg q + _ _
ivacaftor (250mg q12h) Absolute -4.3 (p=0.04) +6.6 (p=0.01) +1.9 (p50.5
Relative -6.3 (p=0.08) +8.8 (p=0.01) +2.5 (p50.6

Phase 2 Clinical Trial in Patients with One Copgténozygous) of the F508del Mutation

We recently began enroliment in am@ek Phase 2 clinical trial of lumacaftor in condiion with ivacaftor in patients with CF who are
years of age and older and who have one copy d&F3B8del mutation in theCFTRgene and one copy of a mutation in tH@&¥TRgene that i
not expected to respond to either ivacaftor or lcaftar alone. In the Phase 2 clinical trial thapously evaluated heterozygous patients, the
improvement in lung function was smaller than tin@liovement seen in homozygous patients. The clitighwe recently initiated was
requested by the FDA and is designed to providéiaddl safety and lung function data on the corabiom of ivacaftor and lumacaftor in
heterozygous patients. This clinical trial will dvate a twice-daily administration of lumacafto@(4mg) and ivacaftor (250 mg).

VX-661

Phase 2 Clinical Trial

In April 2013, we announced the data from a randeuhi double-blind, placebo-controlled Phase 2 ddinirial of VX-661 alone and in
combination with ivacaftor. This clinical trial esiled 128 patients with CF who were 18 years of agg older with two copies of the F508del
mutation. One group of patients was randomize@d¢eive either VX-661 (10, 30, 100 and 150 mg dasext daily), or placebo, alone for 28
days. A separate group of patients was randomaeeceive the combination of VX-661 (10, 30, 10d 4560 mg dosed once daily) and
ivacaftor (150 mg dosed twice daily), or placelmy,Z8 days. The primary endpoints of the clinicill twere safety, tolerability and change in
sweat chloride levels. Change in lung function (RBEWas measured as a secondary endpoint.

There were statistically significant mean absotigereases in sweat chloride levels, both withiugrand versus placebo, across the
combination and monotherapy groups. These charegexrgly were modest and were variable acrossdbe groups.




VX-661 generally was well-tolerated when dosed aland in combination with ivacaftor. The most commadverse events were
pulmonary in nature. Most adverse events were toildoderate in severity and similar between thatinent and placebo groups, and the t
and frequency of adverse events were similar betilee treatment and placebo groups. The rate mfuseadverse events also was similar
between the treatment arms and the placebo arm.

Lung Function Results for Combination Dosing

Mean absolute and relative improvements in lungtion were observed in all the combination dosiraugs (10, 30, 100 and 150 mg),
both within group and versus placebo. The improvem lung function were dose-dependent, withgleatest improvements observed in the

groups that received the highest doses of VX-66dbmbination with ivacaftor. A summary of thesedufanction results is provided in the
following table:

Mean Relative Change in Percent Predicte Mean Absolute Change in Percent
FEV ;From Baseline Predicted FEV ;From Baseline
Mean Changes in Lung Function 2§|_ Da%/s P?St' 2§|_ Da%/s POtSt'
reatmen reatmen
Day 0 - 28 (Within-Group Day 0 - 28 (Within-Group
Mean)* Mean)*
Placebo (n=23) (within group) 0.03 (NS) 1.6 -0.4 (NS) 0.6
Combination Treatment Arms vs. Placebo vs. Placebo
VX-661 (10 mg) + ivacaftor (150 mg) (n=17) 413N 1.7 2.3 (NS) 0.8
VX-661 (30 mg) + ivacaftor (150 mg) (n=17) 5.49N 1.2 3.4 (NS) 0.5
VX-661 (100 mg) + ivacaftor (150 mg) (n=15) 903=0.01) 1.7 4.8 (p=0.01) 0.5
VX-661 (150 mg) + ivacaftor (150 mg) (n=16) 75=0.02) 1.4 4.5 (p=0.01) 0.7

NS = Not Statistically Significant
* The statistical analysis plan (SAP) for this @ trial did not include statistical comparisdosthe 28-day washout period

Planned and Ongoing Phase 2 Clinical Trials

We are preparing to conduct an additional Phadmi2al trial of VX-661, a CFTR corrector compourid,combination with ivacaftor in
patients with CF who have two copies of the F508aatation in theilCFTRgene. We have submitted the protocol for this 12kMehase 2
clinical trial to the FDA and expect to begin elmant in the first half of 2014. The primary endpodf this clinical trial is safety, with
secondary endpoints to assess efficacy and phakinatics of the combination in order to characteN2-661 for further clinical
development. If the safety and efficacy data from Phase 2 clinical trial is satisfactory, we estge conduct further evaluation of VX-661.
Long term, our primary strategy is to develop VXtG& a triple-combination regimen with ivacaftod anext-generatioBFTRcorrector
compound. Additionally, we may consider developifi¢-661 in a dual-combination regimen with ivacaftor

We have completed enrollment in a Phase 2 cliti@lto evaluate a 4-week regimen of VX-661 in ¢onation with ivacaftor in patients
with one copy of the G551D mutation and one copthefF508del mutation in the@FTRgenes. This clinical trial is intended to explore

whether the addition of a CFTR corrector to treattweith ivacaftor can provide greater clinical bfnthan treatment with KALYDECO alone
in these patients.

HCV INFECTION

Background

The Centers for Disease Control and Preventio@[@C, has estimated that approximately 2.7 mill@319 million people in the United
States are chronically infected with HCV. The Wadddalth Organization, or WHO, has estimated thauath 70 million people are chronically
infected with HCV worldwide. Although exposure t&€M often leads to chronic infection, patients freqtly do not have symptoms and are
unaware that they have become infected with HC\er@ime, many patients develop liver inflammati®his inflammation can progress to

scarring of the liver, called fibrosis, or more adeed scarring of the liver, called cirrhosis. &a8 with cirrhosis may go on to develop liver
failure or other




complications, including liver cancer. The WHO ewttes that HCV infection is responsible for mom@tb0% of all liver cancer cases and
two-thirds of all liver transplants in the develdpgorld.

Genotype 1 HCV infection is the most prevalent faitCV infection in the United States and the ndifficult to treat. There are many
other less prevalent HCV infection genotypes, ezcahhich tends to respond differently to treatmétdtients who are treated successfully
maintain undetectable HCV RNA levels after treattrteas been completed, which is referred to astaisesl viral response, or SVR.

In addition to our HCV protease inhibitor INCIVEKere are three oral direatting antiviral drugs approved for the treatmdrgenotype
1 HCV infection in the United States: Gilead Sciesidnc.'s, or Gilead's, SOVALDI™ (sofosbuvir), &V nucleotide analogue NS5B
polymerase inhibitor that was approved by the FB®ecember 2013; Janssen's OLYSIO™ (simeprevirlJj@W protease inhibitor that was
approved by the FDA in November 2013, and MerckBNRELIS™ (boceprevir), an HCV protease inhibitbat was approved by the FDA
2011. Each of these direct-acting antiviral drugsegally are prescribed in combination with pe@dainterferon, or peg-IFN, a drug that is
administered by weekly injection, and ribavirin,RBV.

INCIVEK/INCIVOITELAVIC

INCIVEK (telaprevir) is an orally-administered HQ)otease inhibitor for adults with genotype 1 H@¥ection that is prescribed in
combination with peg-IFN and RBV. We market INCIVHKthe United States and Canada, where it wasoapgdrin 2011. In 2011, our
collaborators, Janssen and Mitsubishi Tanabe,aldsgined marketing approval for telaprevir from Eieopean Commission and the Japanes
Ministry of Health, Labor and Welfare, respectivelgnssen markets telaprevir under the brand nsli@B/IO in Europe and other countries in
its territories, and Mitsubishi Tanabe marketsgetair under the brand name TELAVIC in Japan. Jamgmid us royalties on net sales of
INCIVO through the fourth quarter of 2013 and begig in the first quarter of 2014 has a fuigid license to market INCIVO in its territori
Mitsubishi Tanabe also has a fully-paid licensentrket telaprevir in its territories. Telaprevirsmdiscovered in our collaboration, now ended,
with Eli Lilly and Company, and we pay Eli Lilly dnCompany royalties on net sales of telaprevir.

INCIVEK achieved rapid acceptance for the treatnuémtatients with genotype 1 HCV infection in thaitéd States and accounted for a
majority of our net product revenues in 2011, 2atd 2013. However, INCIVEK revenues have been diegjisince reaching a peak in the
fourth quarter of 2011. In response to the continared rapid decline in the number of patients béieated with INCIVEK in the United Stat
and anticipated competition resulting from the etpé approval of direct-acting antivirals SOVALDIcAOLYSIO, we reduced our promotion
and support for INCIVEK in 2013. We expect thatyoalsmall portion of our net product revenues it2®ill be due to INCIVEK.

VX-135

We are evaluating the development of all-oral,riet@n-free regimens of 12 weeks or less in dunaiticorporating our HCV nucleotide
analogue NS5B polymerase inhibitor VX-135. A numbEpharmaceutical companies are investigating éoation regimens that incorporate
one or more of an HCV protease inhibitor, an HC¥¢laatide analogue, an HCV non-nucleotide polymenalsibitor and an NS5A inhibitor.
Clinical trials of these investigational combinatieegimens are being conducted in a wide varietyatient populations, including treatment-
naive and treatment-failure patients, and acrd$$GV genotypes, which respond differently to diffat combinations of molecules employing
different mechanisms.

Many of our competitors' potential all-oral treattheegimens are more advanced, including all-oedttment regimens that are being
evaluated in Phase 3 clinical trials by Gilead, ¥ibbInc., or Abbvie, and BMS. While the developrhand regulatory timelines for drug
candidates for the treatment of HCV infection arject to risk and uncertainty, we believe thas(pstantial additional clinical data regarding
potential all-oral treatment regimens will becormaikable in 2014 and (ii) it is possible that orremmre all-oral treatment regimens for
genotype 1 HCV infection could be commercially #fslie as soon the second half of 2014. As a reswe are successful in developing an
all-oral treatment regimen that includes VX-135, expect that our all-oral treatment regimen wouwdhpete directly with several all-oral
treatment regimens that were approved several ye@nsto the approval of our all-oral treatmergireen.

Partial Clinical Hold

In July 2013, the FDA placed a patrtial clinical ¢hon VX-135 in the United States. The partial dalihold was placed on VX-135 in the
United States following observation of reversibievated liver enzymes in patients who received #@0




of VX-135 in combination with RBV in a Phase 2 @ial trial conducted in Europe. Until the partifihical hold has been resolved, we cannot
pursue further evaluation of VX-135 in the Unitedt8s.

VX-135 in Combination with Daclatasvir

We, in collaboration with BMS, are evaluating VX5LB combination with daclatasvir, an NS5A replicatcomplex inhibitor being
developed by BMS, in a Phase 2a clinical trial. Titet two cohorts of this open-label Phase 2atfdvX-135 in combination with
daclatasvir were conducted in New Zealand and at@Li100 mg and 200 mg once-daily doses ofN8%&-in combination with daclatasvir or
daily (60 mq) for 12 weeks of total treatment. Tiyethree patients with genotype 1 HCV who were tewreatment (treatment-naive) and did
not have liver cirrhosis were enrolled in thesearth More than 75 percent of all patients enrollad genotype 1a HCV infection.

* 200 mg of VX-135 in Combination with Daclatasvif (®g): Based on the intent-tweat analysis, 58 percent (7 of 12) of patien
this treatment arm had undetectable HCV RNA lewdter 4 weeks of treatment and 83 percent (10 9fafZhese patients h
undetectable HCV RNA levels four weeks after theptetion of treatment, or SVR4. One patient in théatment arm experience
serious adverse event (vomiting/nausea) and dised treatment after the first dose. This patddtnot achieve SVR4. The ele
other patients in this arm completed 12 weeks edttnent and 91 percent (10 of 11) of these pati@chgeved SVR4. One patit
relapsed during the follow-up period and did ndtiage SVR4.

e 100 mg of VX-135 in Combination with Daclatasvid (fig):Based on an intent-tweat analysis, 73 percent (8 of 11) of patienthis
treatment arm achieved undetectable HCV RNA leafibs 4 weeks of treatment and 73 percent (8 ofof patients had undetecta
HCV RNA levels four weeks after the completion ifatment (SVR4). Two patients in this arm expeméeheiral breakthrough whi
receiving the combination regimen, and one patielappsed during the follow-up period.

We are in discussions with Alios BioPharma, Inc.Abios, and BMS regarding these data and potengat steps for further evaluation
VX-135 in combination with daclatasvir.

AUTOIMMUNE DISEASES (RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS)
Background

Autoimmune diseases, including rheumatoid arthritisRA, are characterized by inflammation thaiédieved to be the result of an
incorrectly regulated immune response. Rheumatoiditis is a chronic disease that affects 0.5%.8% of the world’s population and,
according to the CDC, approximately 1.5 million Bslin the United States. Rheumatoid arthritis eautestruction of joint cartilage and
erosion of adjacent bone, resulting in deformitygsl of function and substantial disability. Manyigats with rheumatoid arthritis also
eventually require joint replacements. There ameraber of approved treatments for rheumatoid dighincluding oral and injectable disease-
modifying antirheumatic drugs, or DMARDSs, and aukkinase (JAK) inhibitor that is marketed by Pfizethe United States. These
treatments are effective in a portion of patienith wheumatoid arthritis, but a significant portiohpatients do not respond adequately to
currently available drugs or experience a decreatiee effectiveness of these drugs over time. Yéesaeking to develop an oral therapy fol
treatment of rheumatoid arthritis that could beduslene or in combination with existing DMARDs.

VX-509

VX-509 is an investigational oral drug candidateeinded to inhibit Janus kinase 3, or JAK3, whicmi®lved in the modulation of a type
of white blood cell, referred to as a lymphocytettis central to autoimmune disease pathologyaBse of JAK3S role in lymphocyte biolog
we believe it is a promising target for the desifimmunosuppressant drugs for treatment of a tyadeautoimmune diseases, including
rheumatoid arthritis. Based amvitro andin vivodata, VX-509 shows promise as a potent and seéithibitor of JAK3.

We recently completed the evaluation of VX-509 idaaible-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled 24kvBhase 2b clinical trial that
enrolled and dosed 358 people with RA who had adigease despite methotrexate treatment. Paiethts clinical trial continued to receive
stable doses of methotrexate during the clinidal. tp to 20 percent of the patients in the clitirial had previously been treated with a si
tumor necrosis factor (TNF) inhibitor. Patientglie clinical trial were randomized to receive pla@®r one of four dose regimens of VX-509
(100 mg once daily (QD), 150 mg once daily, 200ange daily or 100 mg given twice daily (BID)) fo# 2veeks.




The primary endpoints of the clinical trial were throportion of patients who achieved a 20 pertceptovement in signs and symptoms
RA, as measured by the ACR improvement criteridd@R20, response at week 12 and the change froglibasn Disease Activity Score for
28 joints, or DAS28, at week 12. Additional secaydandpoints were used to evaluate the clinicaviggtof VX-509, including the proportion
of patients who achieved 50 percent and 70 perggrbvement in signs and symptoms of RA, or ACRBA ACR70, respectively, at week
12. In all VX-509 treatment arms, the proportiorpatients achieving ACR20 and ACR50 and the deerfras baseline in DAS28 were
significantly greater than in placebo. The thraghkist dose groups showed ACR20 responses of bebfeeercent and 68 percent, compared
to 18 percent for placebo, and statistically sigaiit ACR70 responses versus placebo.

From week 12 to 24, data from this clinical trinbs/ed continued improvements in the signs and symgif RA as measured by ACR;
ACR50 and ACR70. At week 24, all doses of VX-508wed statistically significant ACR20, ACR50 and RTD responses versus placebo.
Across the four VX509 dose groups, the ACR20, ACR50 and ACR70 regsowsre between 61 and 63 percent, 38 and 47 penceri5 an
25 percent, respectively, through 24 weeks oftneat. The ACR20, ACR50 and ACR70 responses faepatwho received placebo were
7 and 3 percent, respectively, through 24 weeks.

Safety results through 12 and 24 weeks of treatmveng similar. Through 24 weeks, the discontinuatate due to adverse events was 9.
percent for the pooled VX-509 treatment group aidp@rcent for the placebo group. Overall, adverant rates through 24 weeks were 59.9
percent in the pooled VX-509 treatment groups caeghéo 42.3 percent for those who received plac@liwere were two deaths in the clinical
trial, including one death in the VX-509 200 mg @iup in a patient with pancytopenia and pneumanthone death in the VX-509 100 mg
BID group in a patient who had cardiac failure.

In addition to the Phase 2b clinical trial in RA¢ Wwave completed several drug-drug interactioniessuaf VX-509 in healthy volunteers.
These studies demonstrate that dosing of VX-50bitshCYP3A4 and indicates that dose modificatiathvrequently prescribed medicines
(e.g., atorvastatin and methylprednisone) or lichitencomitant use of certain medications (e.g. midhzolam) with VX-509 may be required.
We are seeking a collaborator for VX-509.

INFLUENZA
Background: Effects and Prevalence of Influenza

The CDC has estimated that in the United State riian 200,000 patients with influenza infectios laospitalized annually with
respiratory and cardiac-related complications. &/ttile number of influenza-related deaths variesfgigntly depending on the severity of the
influenza season, the CDC has estimated the nuaileffuenza-related deaths in the United Statesayes approximately 25,000 per year. Ir
addition to vaccinations designed to prevent threagb of infection, we believe that there is a gigant market for antiviral agents that could
potentially be used to treat influenza. Currentiguraminidase inhibitors oseltamivir (Tamiflu) axahamivir (Relenza) are the antiviral agents
that are used to treat influenza infection, buséhérugs must be administered within 24 to 48 hofimsitial infection in order to be effective
and do not produce responses in a significantqrodf patients.

VX-787

VX-787 is an investigational drug candidate intendedHe treatment of influenza A, which is typicathe predominate strain of influen
and includes H1 (pandemic) and H5 (avian) influestzains. VX-787 aims to treat influenza A throuymechanism that is different from
neuraminidase inhibitors. In March 2013, we annedndata from a randomized, double-blind, placelhdrotled Phase 2 clinical trial that
enrolled and dosed 104 healthy people (72 in thef8X arms; 32 in the placebo arm), 18 to 45 yehagie, who volunteered to be
experimentally exposed to an attenuated form ef HKBN2 influenza A virus. In this clinical trial,erevaluated four dosing regimens of VX-
787 given once daily for five days beginning 24 tsoafter infection with the influenza virus. Thénatal trial met its primary endpoint, and
patients treated with VX-787 had a statisticallynsiicant decrease in the amount of virus in nasaletions (viral shedding) over the sedeary-
evaluation period as compared to patients who vedgblacebo. Patients in the highest VX-787 dosemexperienced influenza-like
symptoms for a median of 1.9 days, compared ta&ys in the placebo group. In addition, 93 percépatients in this dose group showed no
clinical symptoms of influenza after three daysreftment, compared to 41 percent of patientsearpthcebo group. In this clinical trial, VX-
787 was generally well-tolerated, and all patieatsipleted treatment. There were no serious adexesats or adverse events that led to
discontinuation of treatment. Overall, the most
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frequently reported class of adverse events iVik&87 and placebo arms were those typically asgediwith influenza-like illness. We are
seeking a collaborator to advance VX-787 develofrbeyond this stage.

COMMERCIAL ORGANIZATION

Our commercial organization focuses on supportaigssof KALYDECO in the United States, Europe, Gimand Australia. Our sales
force and managed markets organizations are reify@ifier promoting products to health care providand obtaining reimbursement for
products from thirdsarty payors, including regulatory and governmeatghnizations in the United States and internatiomarkets. Following
our October 2013 restructuring, we no longer halleS field-based sales force focused on suppostes of INCIVEK.

Our U.S. field-based CF commercial team includgs@pmately 15 therapeutic specialists who eaclelasperience with CF. We focus
our CF marketing efforts in the United States @alatively small number of physicians and healttegaofessionals who write most of the
prescriptions for CF medicines. Many of these ptigsis and health care professionals are locatedeabf the approximately 110 accredited
centers in the United States focused on the tre#tofeCF. In international markets, we have a ssalés force to promote KALYDECO.

We market our products and educate physicians limgan individual physicians, advertising, serglidirect mail, public relations
activities and other activities. In addition, owvernment affairs and public policy group advocétegolicies that promote life sciences
innovation and increase awareness of the diseasebich we are focusing, with state and federaklatures, government agencies, public
health officials and other policyrakers. We also have established programs in titedJStates that provide our products to qualifiachsurec
or underinsured patients at no charge or at a eztiaarge, based on specific eligibility criteria.

RESEARCH

We believe that our integrated drug design apprbashsignificantly enhanced our ability to discoaed develop small molecule drug
candidates directed at biologically complex targetsociated with serious diseases. Our platforegiates biology, pharmacology, drug
metabolism and pharmacokinetics, toxicology, matestiences, biophysics, medicinal chemistry amtgss chemistry, automation and
information technologies in a coordinated fashimotighout the discovery process. We believe thatipproach has been validated through
our success in moving novel drug candidates intocell trials and obtaining marketing approvals K&xLYDECO and INCIVEK. Currently,
the disease areas of highest priority to us frawsaarch perspective are: CF and other genetiassisecancer; neurological diseases and
disorders and autoimmune diseases. We focus ceanasactivities on products that would be presctiby specialist physicians for the
treatment of rare or life-threatening diseasesctvhre referred to as specialty markets. In CFresgarch group is working to identify
additional corrector compounds that could be inetuth future dual- and/or triple-combination treatrhregimens that have the potential to
provide additional benefits to patients with CF.

Driven by the complexity of the disease areas sedeeve attempt to identify multiple approachesmiteach indication that, either as a
stand-alone therapy or combination therapy, coubgtige treatment options that are transformatiagmalature. We select disease areas by
mapping our research strengths onto disease artrabigh unmet medical need, with an emphasis dications, where based on scientific
insights, we believe that we, independently oraliadoration with other third parties, will be aliediscover, develop and commercialize
important medicines for serious diseases.

Our past drug discovery efforts have produced getyaof drug candidates that have been commereidla are in preclinical or clinical
development. We believe our ongoing research prognaill continue to create value for us by genagatiew drug candidates in areas of
significant unmet medical need. We expect one aensompounds from our research programs to erteclimical development in 2014.

To augment our internal research programs, we teeetdlaborate with leading academic researchtingiins, government laboratories,
foundations and other organizations in order tcaade research in our areas of therapeutic intasestll as in areas of basic technological
enablement. We have established relationshipsavghnizations and consortia of organizations froouad the world with expertise in areas
of interest to us and intend to leverage that égpee to further our research efforts.
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COLLABORATIONS

We have entered into collaborations with pharmacaland other companies and organizations thatigeeaus financial and other
resources, including capabilities in research, ibgreent, manufacturing and sales and marketingJiaedses to intellectual property. These
collaborations have provided us with drug candislated/or important financial and non-financial rgses that have contributed to our
products and a number of the drug candidates itwuwent development pipeline. We may seek to Beaor acquire drugs, drug candidates
other technologies that have the potential to adult pipeline or to provide us with new commeroigportunities. Furthermore, we may seek
collaborators to support, develop and/or commeesialome of our current drug candidates and/ortiaddil drug candidates that may emerge
from our research activities.

Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Therapeutics | ncorporated

We began working with CFFT in 1998. We entered thocurrent collaboration agreement with CFFTG0£2and amended it several
times to support research and development actviéiated to potentiator compounds and correctompounds, including ivacaftor, lumacaftor
and VX-661. Pursuant to an April 2011 amendmerh¢ocollaboration agreement, CFFT agreed to prdouecial support for development
activities for VX-661, a corrector compound discadunder the collaboration, and additional redeara development activities directed at
discovering new corrector compounds. We retain dvaide rights to develop and commercialize ivacafiiemacaftor, VX-661 and any other
compounds discovered during the course of the relseallaboration with CFFT and are obligated tg @& FT tiered royalties ranging from
single digits to sub-teens, calculated as a peaigendf net sales, on ivacaftor, as well as lumacaftX-661 and any other compounds
discovered during the original research term ordsearch term that began in 2011. We have madatheommercial milestone payments
required under the collaboration agreement uporeaement of certain sales levels of KALYDECO. Unttex collaboration agreement, we
also are obligated to make a total of two one-timemercial milestone payments upon achievemengmdio sales levels for CFTR corrector
compounds.

For each compound commercialized under this cotktin, we will have royalty obligations to CFFTtilithe expiration of patents
covering that compound. We have patents in theddritates and European Union covering the compnsiti-matter of ivacaftor that expire
in 2027 and 2025, respectively, subject to potéptsent life extensions. We have patent applicatio the United States and European Unior
covering the composition-ofiatter of lumacaftor that expire in 2026, subjegbotential patent life extensions. CFFT may teaterits funding
obligations under the collaboration, as amendedeitain circumstances, in which case there wilhlproportional reduction in the royalty re
and commercial milestone payments for certain CE@iRRector compounds. The collaboration also matebreinated by either party for a
material breach by the other, subject to noticeand provisions.

Alios BioPharma, Inc.

In June 2011, we entered into a license and caltdiom agreement with Alios, a privately-held btaology company. Pursuant to the
agreement, we are collaborating on the researefela@ment and commercialization of VX-135, an HOQ\tleotide analogue discovered by
Alios. In 2012, we ended development of ALS-2158eeond HCV nucleotide analogue discovered by Adias licensed to us pursuant to the
agreement. We are responsible for all costs relatelévelopment and commercialization of VX-135r @search program with Alios directed
to the discovery of additional HCV nucleotide amples that act on the HCV polymerase has ended.

Under the terms of the agreement, we have exclusirilwide development and commercialization right¥X-135. Upon entering into
the agreement, we paid Alios a $60.0 million umfrpayment. As of December 31, 2013, Alios had edian aggregate of $ 60.0 million in
development milestone payments pursuant to theeagget. The agreement provides for development toilespayments to Alios of up to an
additional $ 312.5 million if VX-135 is approveddinommercialized. Alios also is eligible to recec@mmercial milestone payments of up to
$750.0 million , as well as tiered royalties on s&les of approved drugs.

We may terminate our agreement with Alios (i) u@@ndays’ notice to Alios if we cease development¥f135 after it has experienced a
technical failure and/or (ii) upon 60 days’ nottoeAlios at any time after we complete Phase 2addi trials. The agreement also may be
terminated by either party for a material breachih®yother, and by Alios for our inactivity or ifenchallenge certain Alios patents, in each cas
subject to notice and cure provisions. Unless eatdirminated, the agreement will continue in eftetil the expiration of our royalty
obligations, which expire on a country-by-countasls on the later of (a) the date the laststpire patent covering a licensed product expir
(b) ten years after the
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first commercial sale in the country. In the Unifédites and European Union, there are patent afiplis pending covering the composition-
of-matter of VX-135 that, if granted, would expire2031.

Janssen Pharmaceutica NV

In June 2006, we entered into a license, developmeamufacturing and commercialization agreemetti yanssen. Under the agreement,
we collaborated with Janssen on the developmentamunercialization of telaprevir. We have exclusieenmercial rights to telaprevir in
North America and led the development programétagrevir in North America and the Janssen teigsorJanssen has exclusive right
commercialize INCIVO (telaprevir) outside of Nomerica and the Far East. In the fourth quarte2aif3, we entered into an amendment to
our agreement with Janssen, the 2013 Janssen AneahdPursuant to the 2013 Janssen Amendmentn@kéda paid us $152.0 million in the
fourth quarter of 2013, (ii) Janssen's obligatitmpay us royalties on net sales of INCIVO termaadaafter the fourth quarter of 2013, and (iii)
Janssen received a fully-paid license to commezeidNCIVO in its territories, subject to the canied payment of certain third-party royalties
on net sales of INCIVO in its territories.

The agreement will continue in effect until thesladf (i) the expiration of the last-to-expire pateovering INCIVO or (ii) the last to
expire third-party royalty payment on net salefN&€IVO. In the European Union, there is a patentecing the composition-of-matter of
INCIVO that expires in 2026.

Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporation

We have a collaboration agreement with Mitsubisdmdbe pursuant to which Mitsubishi Tanabe haslgfaid license to manufacture
and commercialize TELAVIC (telaprevir) to treat H@ection in Japan and other specified countmethée Far East. This agreement was
entered into in 2004 and amended in 2009. Purgaahts agreement, Mitsubishi Tanabe provided fai@rand other support for the
development and commercialization of telaprevirdena $105.0 million payment to us in connectiorhwlite 2009 amendment of the
collaboration agreement and made a $65.0 milligmmeant to us in the fourth quarter of 2011 relatethe commercialization of TELAVIC in
Japan. There are no further payments due to ug timdecollaboration agreement. Mitsubishi Tanabeesponsible for its own development
and manufacturing costs in its territory. Mitsulishnabe may terminate the agreement at any tirtteowt cause upon 60 days’ prior written
notice to us. The agreement also may be termirtegither party for a material breach by the oteahject to notice and cure provisions.
Unless earlier terminated, the agreement will cargiin effect until the expiration of the last-igpere patent covering TELAVIC. In Japan, we
have a patent covering the composition-of-matterEif AVIC that expires in 2021.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

We actively seek protection for our products armppetary information by means of U.S. and forgigiients, trademarks and copyrights,
as appropriate. In addition, we rely upon tradeetqurotection and contractual arrangements tceeptatertain of our proprietary information
and products. We have patents and pending patphitagions that relate to potential drug targetsnpounds we are developing to modulate
those targets, methods of making or using thoseooomds and proprietary elements of our drug disgopkatform.

Much of our technology and many of our processgené upon the knowledge, experience and skillegfdcientific and technical
personnel. To protect our rights to our proprietemgw-how and technology, we require all employ@ssyell as our consultants and advisors
when feasible, to enter into confidentiality agreens that require disclosure and assignment td igeas, developments, discoveries and
inventions made by these employees, consultanta@vidors in the course of their service to us.
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While we have numerous issued patents and pendiggipapplications in our patent portfolio, we bed that the patents and patent
applications in the United States and the Europé@ion that are the most important to our businesstase that claim the composition-of-
matter of our drugs and drug candidates that heagressed at least into Phase 2 clinical trial& fbflowing table sets forth the status of the
primary patents and patent applications in the égh@&tates and the European Union covering the csitippo-of-matter of these drugs and drug
candidates:

Status of United States Patent Status of European Union Patent
(Anticipated Expiration, (Anticipated Expiration,

Drug/Drug Candidate Subject to Potential Extensions) Subject to Potential Extensions)
KALYDECO (ivacaftor) Granted (2027 Application Pending (202!
lumacaftor Application Pending (202¢ Application Pending (202¢
VX-661 Granted (2027 Application Pending (202°
INCIVEK/INCIVO (telaprevir) Granted (2025 Granted (202€
VX-135 Application Pending (203: Application Pending (203:
VX-509 Granted (202€ Application Pending (202!
VX-787 Application Pending (203( Application Pending (203(

We hold issued patents and pending patent apgitain the United States, and in foreign countriesleem appropriate, claiming
intellectual property developed as part of our aesie and development programs. In addition to treposition-of-matter patents and patent
applications listed above, our intellectual propénldings include:

* U.S. and foreign patent applications coverinteptiator compounds and corrector compounds foCfHER protein, including
ivacaftor, lumacaftor and VX-661 and many otheated compounds, and the use of those potentiatdre@rectors to treat CF.

» U.S. and foreign patents and patent applicatiavering telaprevir and other HCV protease angmerase inhibitors and the use of
these compounds to treat HCV infection.

* U.S. and foreign patent applications licensednfAlios covering VX-135 and the use of VI35 to treat HCV infectio

» U.S. and foreign patents and patent applicattavering inhibitors of a variety of kinase protgimcluding VX-509, and the use of
those inhibitors to treat autoimmune disease, dinlyrheumatoid arthritis.

* U.S. and foreign patents and patent applicattavering influenza virus inhibitors, including V87

 U.S. and foreign patents and patent applicatiavering the manufacture, pharmaceutical compmosstirelated solid forms,
formulations, dosing regimens and methods of ughesfe compounds, including our two marketed prisdivacaftor and telaprevir.

We cannot be certain, however, that issued pavefitse enforceable or provide adequate protectinthat pending patent applications
will result in issued patents.

From time to time we enter into non-exclusive lisemgreements for proprietary third-party technplaged in connection with our
research activities. These license agreementsafypigrovide for the payment by us of a license fag may also include terms providing for
milestone payments or royalties for the developragifor commercialization of our drug productsiaggrom the related research.

Ivacaftor was granted orphan drug status in theddrfstates and the European Union. We have a dt&nfpthat covers the composition-
of-matter of ivacaftor that we expect will provitigellectual property protection in the United $tathrough its expiration date in 2027. We ar
entitled to orphan drug exclusivity for ivacaftarthe United States, which means that the FDA nuyapprove another application to market
ivacaftor for the same indication for a period e¥an years from approval except in very limited¢wmnstances. As a result of the seven-year
orphan drug marketing exclusivity period, even dfompetitor successfully challenges the ivacaftdepts, it could not obtain approval from
the FDA to market ivacaftor for the treatment ofigrats with a G551D mutation in theédTRgene in the United States until January 2019.
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MANUFACTURING
Manufacturing Approach and Philosophy

As we market and sell our approved products andrmcl our drug candidates through clinical develaogrnevard commercialization, we
continue to build and maintain our supply chain gudlity assurance resources. We rely on an intiema network of third parties, including
sole source suppliers of certain components opoaducts and drug candidates, to manufacture astdhdite our products for commercial sale
and post-approval clinical trials and to manufaetaind distribute our drug candidates for clinicals. We expect that we will continue for the
foreseeable future to rely on third parties to nmest of our commercial supply needs and some o€lknical supply needs. We are in the
process of establishing our own small-scale matufig capabilities, which we plan to use for diali trial supplies and as a secondary sourc
for commercial supplies.

Our supply chain for sourcing raw materials and nfacturing drug product ready for distribution isalti-step international endeavor.
Third-party contract manufacturers, including sam€hina, supply us with raw materials, and cortraanufacturers in the European Union
and the United States convert these raw matertdsdirug substance, and convert the drug substatwénal dosage form. Establishing and
managing this global supply chain for each of auigd and drug candidates requires a significaanfirel commitment and the creation and
maintenance of numerous third-party contractualti@hships.

We have developed systems and processes to tracktomand oversee our third-party manufacturecsivdies, including a quality
assurance program intended to ensure that ourphiry manufacturers comply with current Good Matifiring Practices, or cGMP. We
regularly evaluate the performance of our thirdyparanufacturers with the objective of confirmitngir continuing capabilities to meet our
needs efficiently and economically. Manufacturiagilities, both foreign and domestic, are subjedhspections by or under the authority of
the FDA and other U.S. and foreign government aitibe.

Manufacture of KALYDECO (ivacaftor)

We obtain ivacaftor to meet our commercial andictihsupply needs through a third-party manufaoturietwork. A disruption in the
commercial supply of KALYDECO would have a signéit effect on patients, our business and our ptagwenues. A disruption in the
clinical supply of ivacaftor could delay the conmpde of clinical trials and/or affect timelines feubmitting an sSNDA or NDA. Our supply
chain includes a sole-source manufacturer thatiesapability of providing its services to us fromaltiple sites. In 2013, we obtained an
alternative source for the active ingredient otaftor.

Manufacture of Co-formulated | vacaftor/Lumacaftor

We are planning to use a continuous manufactuninggss in order to manufacture co-formulated lurftacand ivacaftor tablets. We
have established continuous manufacturing capiasilétt our third-party manufacturer in the Unitddddom, which was used to produce a
portion of the clinical trial supplies for our Plea3 clinical trials of lumacaftor in combinationttvivacaftor, and are in the process of
establishing continuous manufacturing capabilitied seeking validation for these capabilities atraw facility located in Boston,
Massachusetts. We are upgrading the continuousfaretanung process at our third-party manufacturet are scheduled to begin producing
co-formulated lumacaftor and ivacaftor intendeddommercial use in mid-2014. Continuous processufigturing connects the processes
used in traditional batch manufacturing and usen@nmonitoring in order to increase control o ttnanufacturing process. The goal of
continuous process manufacturing is to reduce mahteaste and cycle times and improve yield, whitdy result in reduced cost, reduced
development and production timelines, lower invee®and increased market response flexibility. l@/bontinuous process manufacturing
been used in many industries, we believe that wadvoe the first company to seek approval for anANI3ing a continuous manufacturing
process. As a result, we also have designed atatitasion-continuous process for manufacturingocorilated lumacaftor and ivacaftor
tablets that we would seek to utilize if we expecie delays associated with the continuous manufagtprocess.

COMPETITION

The pharmaceutical industry is characterized bgresite research efforts, rapid technological pregend intense competition. There are
many public and private companies, including phaenécal companies and biotechnology companiesagedyin developing products for the
indications our drugs are approved to treat andhémpeutic areas we are targeting with our rebeamd development activities. Many of our
competitors have substantially greater financial,
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technical and human resources than we do. We faopetition based on the safety and efficacy ofpyaducts and drug candidates, the tirr
and scope of regulatory approvals, the availabdlity cost of supply, marketing and sales capads|iteimbursement coverage, price, patent
protection and other factors. Our competitors mayetbp or commercialize more effective, safer oreraffordable products than we are able
to develop or commercialize or obtain more effexipatent protection. As a result, our competitoay sommercialize products more rapidh
effectively than we do, which would adversely affear competitive position, the likelihood that airug candidates, if approved, would
achieve and maintain market acceptance and outyatbilgenerate meaningful revenues from our priéglueuture competitive products may
render our products, or future products, obsolet@acompetitive.

Cystic Fibrosis

A number of companies are seeking to identify aenetbp drug candidates for the treatment of CRuding Novartis, Pfizer, Genzyme,
which is a division of Sanofi, and several privatenpanies. While we are the first company to siefolg develop a drug that treats the
underlying cause of CF, KALYDECO is approved tatrenly a small portion of patients with CF. Ounguetitors have research and
development programs directed at identifying angetigping CFTR potentiators, CFTR correctors andydrandidates with other mechanisms
of action that seek to address the underlying cati€d=, and our success in rapidly developing asmdroercializing KALYDECO may increa
the resources that our competitors allocate tal&welopment of these potential treatments for CE.d&/ not believe that any of these
competitive programs yet have entered late-stageal development. However, in the future, if @mramore competing therapies are
successfully developed as a treatment for patigithksCF, our revenues from KALYDECO and/or our ati¥ drug candidates, if then
approved, could face significant competitive pressu

HCV Infection

The number and type of treatments for HCV infectias changed, and likely will continue to changejdly. Factors that may affect the
market for any specific HCV treatment regimen inl@uhe introduction of new competitive drugs orgdcombinations, increased sales from
currently-approved drugs, adverse information reig@rthe safety characteristics or efficacy of thgimen, significant new information
regarding potential treatment regimens being evatli clinical trials and enroliment by patientclinical trials being conducted by us or our
competitors.

Since 2011, we have marketed INCIVEK in direct cetitipn with Merck & Co., Inc.'s VICTRELIS (bocepiie), another HCV protease
inhibitor. In the fourth quarter of 2013, the FDppaioved Gilead's SOVALDI (sofosbuvir), an HCV nuatide analogue NS5B polymerase
inhibitor and Janssen's OLYSIO™ (simeprevir), thiedt HCV protease inhibitor. Each of these direttirey antiviral drugs are generally
prescribed in combination with peg-IFN and RBV. Doéncreased competition from newly introduced petitive therapies and our reduced
promotion of INCIVEK, we expect that only a smatirpjon of our net product revenues in 2014 willcage to INCIVEK.

On the basis of clinical data reported by our cotitgrs from numerous late-stage clinical trialsapears likely that the recent approval o
SOVALDI and OLYSIO could be quickly followed by dys to be co-administered in all-oral regimens tlwahot require peg-IFN, an
injectable. Many companies are seeking to devdlepral treatment regimens for HCV infection thatutd render uncompetitive current and
future treatment regimens that include the adnetisin of peg-IFN by injection. Many of our comgets' potential albral treatment regimel
are more advanced than VX-135 combination regimienjding all-oral treatment regimens that arengedvaluated in Phase 3 clinical trials
being conducted by Gilead, Abbvie and BMS. Whilke development and regulatory timelines for thesg dandidates are subject to risk and
uncertainty, we believe that (i) substantial aduditl clinical data regarding potential all-oraldient regimens will become available in 2014
and (ii) it is possible that one or more all-oralatment regimens for genotype 1 HCV infection ddaé commercially available as soon the
second half of 2014. As a result, if we are sudoégs developing an all-oral treatment regimenttimeludes VX-135, we expect that our all-
oral treatment regimen would compete directly veigveral all-oral treatment regimens that were amgiceveral years prior to the approval o
our all-oral treatment regimen.
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Where companies have control of multiple drug cdattis that span different mechanisms of actiory, tyygcally are investigating
combination regimens of those drug candidates, arithithout the addition of RBV. In addition, maocgmpanies, including us, are pursuing a
strategy of evaluating drug candidates they comrobmbination with drug candidates controlledthiyd parties. For example, we entered intc
a non-exclusive collaboration to evaluate VX-13%@ambination with BMS's HCV NS5A inhibitor daclat@s and BMS is evaluating
daclatasvir in combination with Gilead's SOVALDh@re can be no assurance that third parties wileatp enter into or expand existing
collaborative arrangements with respect to the ldgweent of combination regimens for the treatmdriiGV infection that include VX-135.

GOVERNMENT REGULATION

The research, development, testing, manufactuaditgeontrol, approval, labeling, packaging, starecord keeping, promotion,
advertising, distribution and marketing of our prots and drug candidates are subject to extensgdation by United States and foreign
governmental authorities.

United States Government Regulation
New Drug Application Approval Process

In the United States, the FDA regulates drugs uttdeFederal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, or th€ APand implementing regulatior
The process of obtaining regulatory approvals aedstibsequent compliance with applicable fedetate slocal and foreign statutes and
regulations require the expenditure of substatitizé and financial resources. Failure to comphhwiite applicable U.S. requirements at any
time during the drug development process, appnoradess or after approval, may subject us to adinative or judicial sanctions, any of
which could have a material adverse effect on bes€ sanctions could include:

» refusal to approve pending applicatic

» withdrawal of an approvz

e imposition of a clinical holc

* warning letters

e product seizure

» total or partial suspension of production or disition; ol

* injunctions, fines, disgorgement, or civil or crimal penaltie:

The process required by the FDA before a drug neamarketed in the United States generally invotiiesollowing:

» completion of preclinical laboratory tests, aalmtudies and formulation studies conducted adegrid Good Laboratory Practices, or
GLP, and other applicable regulations;

e submission to the FDA of an investigational rdnwg, or IND, application, which must become effeebefore clinical trials in the
United States may begin;

» performance of adequate and well-controlledicdihtrials according to Good Clinical Practices GCP, to establish the safety and
efficacy of the proposed drug for its intended use;

e submission to the FDA of an ND

» satisfactory completion of an FDA inspectiortted manufacturing facility or facilities at whichet product will be produced to assess
compliance with cGMP to assure that the facilitregthods and controls are adequate to presery@dldect’s identity, strength,
quality and purity; and

» FDA review and approval of the ND
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Once a drug candidate is identified for developmi¢rinters the preclinical testing stage. Prectihtests include laboratory evaluations of
product chemistry, toxicity and formulation, as lad animal pharmacology and toxicology studiesIMB sponsor must submit the results of
the preclinical tests, together with manufactuiimfgrmation and analytical data, to the FDA as pédithe IND. Preclinical or nonclinical
testing typically continues even after the INDubmitted. In addition to including the results b&tpreclinical studies, the IND also will
include a protocol detailing, among other thingg, bbjectives of the initial clinical trial and tparameters to be used in monitoring safety. Th
IND automatically becomes effective 30 days afeeeipt by the FDA, unless the FDA, within the 3@-tiene period, places the IND on
clinical hold. If an IND is placed on clinical hglthe IND sponsor and the FDA must resolve anytanting concerns before clinical trials can
begin. A clinical hold may occur at any time durthg life of an IND, and may affect one or moredifie clinical trials or all clinical trials
conducted under the IND.

All clinical trials must be conducted under the eyision of one or more qualified investigatorsagtordance with GCP. They must be
conducted under protocols detailing the objectofethe trial, dosing procedures, subject selectiog exclusion criteria and the safety and
effectiveness criteria to be evaluated. Each padtacd any amendments must be submitted to the &Dpart of the IND, and progress reports
detailing the results of the clinical trials mustdubmitted at least annually to the FDA and m@gifently in other situations, including the
occurrence of serious adverse events. An institaticeview board, or IRB, at each institution pap@ating in the clinical trial must review and
approve the protocol and any amendments befori@iaalltrial commences or continues at that insitity, approve the information regarding
the clinical trial and the consent form that mustgovided to each trial subject or his or her legpresentative, and monitor the clinical trial
until completed and otherwise comply with IRB regidns.

Clinical trials typically are conducted in threejsential phases that may overlap or be combined:

e Phase 1The drug initially is introduced into healthy humsubjects and tested for safety, dosage tolerafserption, metabolism,
distribution and elimination. In the case of somagdcandidates for severe or life-threatening dissasuch as cancer, especially whe
the drug candidate may be inherently too toxicthacally administer to healthy volunteers, theialihuman testing is often conducted
in patients.

* Phase 2Clinical trials are initiated in a limited patiepopulation intended to identify possible adverdea$ and safety risks, to
preliminarily evaluate the efficacy of the drug dafate for specific targeted diseases and to déterdosage tolerance and optimal
dosage.

* Phase 3Clinical trials are undertaken to further evaludsage, clinical efficacy and safety in an expanuitéent population at
geographically dispersed clinical trial sites. TéneBnical trials are intended to establish theraiteisk-benefit ratio of the drug
candidate and provide an adequate basis for regulapproval and product labeling.

Phase 1, Phase 2 and Phase 3 testing may not Ipdetednsuccessfully within any specified periodgtifall. The FDA or the sponsor may
suspend a clinical trial at any time for a varietyeasons, including a finding that the healthjunteers or patients are being exposed to an
unacceptable health risk. Similarly, an IRB carpgsusl or terminate approval of a clinical trialtatinstitution if the clinical trial is not being
conducted in accordance with the IRB’s requiremeni§the drug candidate has been associatedumiéixpected serious harm to healthy
volunteers or patients.

We estimate that it generally takes 10 to 15 yearppssibly longer, to discover, develop and btmgharket a new pharmaceutical prot
in the United States, as outlined below:

Phase Estimated Duration
Discovery 2 to 4 years
Preclinical 1to 2 years
Phase 1 1to 2 years
Phase 2 2to 4 years
Phase 3 2to 4 years
FDA approval 6 months to 2 years

During the development of a new drug, sponsorgiaen opportunities to meet with the FDA at cerfadints. These points may be prior
to submission of an IND, at the end of Phase 2igsand before an NDA is submitted. Meetings heotimes may be requested. These
meetings can provide an opportunity for the spofsshare information about the data gathered t®, d@r the FDA to provide advice, and for
the sponsor and FDA to reach agreement on thepiase of
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development. Sponsors typically use the end of @Rameeting to discuss their Phase 2 clinical tesuld present their plans for the pivotal
Phase 3 clinical trial that they believe will suppapproval of the drug candidate.

Concurrently with clinical trials, companies usyalbmplete additional animal safety studies and alsst develop additional information
about the chemistry and physical characteristidh®frug and finalize a process for manufactutfiregproduct in accordance with cGMP
requirements. The manufacturing process must bebtaypf consistently producing quality batcheshef drug candidate, and the manufacture
must develop methods for testing the quality, puaitd potency of the final products. Additionabypropriate packaging must be selected an
tested and stability studies must be conducte@moahstrate that the drug candidate does not undergcceptable deterioration over its shelf-
life.

The results of drug development, preclinical steidird clinical trials, along with descriptions loétmanufacturing process, analytical test:
conducted on the chemistry of the drug candidatggsed labeling and other relevant informationsatemitted to the FDA as part of an NDA
requesting approval to market the drug candiddte. ADA reviews each NDA submitted to ensure thistsufficiently complete for
substantive review before it accepts it for filiiigmay request additional information rather tlzaeept an NDA for filing.

Once the submission is accepted for filing, the Ri&yins an in-depth review. The FDA may not apprawveDA if the applicable
regulatory criteria are not satisfied or may reguidditional clinical or other data. Even if suettadare submitted, the FDA may ultimately
decide that the NDA does not satisfy the critesiadpproval. The FDA reviews an NDA to determimapag other things, whether a drug
candidate is safe and effective for its intendezlarsd whether its manufacturing is cGMP-compliaragsure and preserve the drug candidate
identity, strength, quality and purity. The FDA mafer the NDA to an advisory committee for reviamd recommendation as to whether the
NDA should be approved and under what conditioh& FDA is not bound by the recommendation of arismidly committee, but it general
follows such recommendations. Before approving 8#Nthe FDA will inspect the facility or facilitiee/here the drug candidate is
manufactured and tested.

The FDA may require, as a condition of approvagdfrieted distribution and use, enhanced labelipgcl packaging or labeling,
expedited reporting of certain adverse eventsaprgroval of promotional materials, restrictionsdirect-to-consumer advertising or
commitments to conduct additional research posteagh. The FDA will issue a complete response tdftthe agency decides not to approve
the NDA in its present form. The complete respdetier usually describes all of the specific defiaiies in the NDA identified by the FDA. If
a complete response letter is issued, the applinagteither resubmit the NDA, addressing all ofdkeéciencies identified in the letter, or
withdraw the application.

Expedited Review and Approy

The FDA has various programs, including Fast Traciarity review, and accelerated approval, thatiatended to expedite or simplify 1
process for reviewing drug candidates, and/or pi@¥or approval on the basis of surrogate endpdiivsn if a drug candidate qualifies for ¢
or more of these programs, the FDA may later dettidethe drug candidate no longer meets the dondifor qualification or that the time
period for FDA review or approval will not be shemed. Generally, drug candidates that may be #idilv these programs are those for sel
or life-threatening conditions, those with the pai@ to address unmet medical needs, and thosefilea meaningful benefits over existing
treatments. For example, Fast Track is a procesigred to facilitate the development, and expatigereview of drug candidates to treat
serious diseases and fill an unmet medical neéarityrreview is designed to give drug candidatest bffer major advances in treatment or
provide a treatment where no adequate therapysexisinitial review within six months as comparedtstandard review time of ten months.
Although Fast Track and priority review do not atféhe standards for approval, the FDA will attertgpfacilitate early and frequent meetings
with a sponsor of a Fast Track designated drugidateland expedite review of the application falriag candidate designated for priority
review. Accelerated approval provides an earligrapal of drugs that treat serious diseases, aatdithan unmet medical need based on a
surrogate endpoint, which is a laboratory measunéimephysical sign used as an indirect or sulistituieasurement representing a clinically
meaningful outcome. As a condition of approval, HBA may require that a sponsor of a product réngiaccelerated approval perform post-
marketing clinical trials.

Pos-approval Requirements

Once an approval is granted, the FDA may withdiasvapproval if compliance with regulatory standasdsot maintained or if problems
occur after the product reaches the market. Laseodery of previously unknown problems with a prodmay result in restrictions on the
product or complete withdrawal of the product frtme market. In addition, under
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the FDCA the sponsor of an approved drug in theéddnBtates may not promote that drug for unapprowedff-label, uses, although a
physician may prescribe a drug for an off-label imsgccordance with the practice of medicine. Aéipproval, some types of changes to the
approved product, such as adding new indicatiomasufacturing changes and additional labeling claams subject to further FDA review and
approval. In addition, the FDA may require testamgl surveillance programs to monitor the effeamgroved products that have been
commercialized, and the FDA has the power to preeelimit further marketing of a product basedtba results of these post-marketing
programs.

Products manufactured or distributed by us pursttaRDA approvals are subject to continuing regafaby the FDA, including, among
other things:

» recordkeeping requiremen

» reporting of adverse experiences with the pro

« providing the FDA with updated safety and efficatfprmation

» drug sampling and distribution requireme

« notifying the FDA and gaining its approval of sged manufacturing or labeling chang
« complying with certain electronic records and stgnarequirements; a

» complying with FDA promotion and advertising reauirents

Drug manufacturers and other entities involvechi anufacture and distribution of approved praglacte required to register with the
FDA and certain state agencies, and are subjgartodic unannounced inspections by the FDA andesstaite agencies for compliance with
cGMP and other laws.

We rely, and expect to continue to rely, on thiagtigs for the production of our products. FutuBsAFand state inspections may identify
compliance issues at the facilities of our contraahufacturers that may disrupt manufacture oridigion of our products, or require
substantial resources to correct.

From time to time, new legislation is enacted tfenges the statutory provisions governing the@@br manufacturing and marketing of
products regulated by the FDA. In addition, FDAukgions and guidance often are revised or reingéep by the agency in ways that may
significantly affect our business and our produltts impossible to predict whether legislativeanlges will be enacted, or FDA regulations,
guidance or interpretations changed.

Patent Term Restoration and Marketing Exclusi

Depending upon the timing, duration and specificSDA approval of the use of our drugs, some of duoited States patents may be
eligible for limited patent term extension undes thrug Price Competition and Patent Term Restaraiict of 1984, referred to as the Hatch-
Waxman Amendments. The Hatch-Waxman Amendmentsiparnpatent restoration term of up to five years@smpensation for patent term
lost during product development and the FDA reguiateview process. However, patent term restanatgnnot extend the remaining term of
a patent beyond a total of 14 years from the proslapproval date. The patent term restorationqokis generally one-half the time between
the effective date of an IND, and the submissiaie ddan NDA, plus the time between the submissiate of an NDA and the approval of that
application. Only one patent applicable to an apgdaoroduct is eligible for the extension and thieesion must be applied for prior to
expiration of the patent. The United States PatadtTrademark Office, in consultation with the FD&views and approves the application for
any patent term extension or restoration. In ther&y we may apply for restorations of patent tesnsome of our currently owned or licensed
patents to add patent life beyond their currentratipn date, depending on the expected lengtHimital trials and other factors involved in 1
submission of the relevant NDA.

Market exclusivity provisions under the FDCA alsmaelay the submission or the approval of cedpjpiications. The FDCA provides a
five-year period of non-patent marketing exclusivitithin the United States to the first applicamgiin approval of an NDA for a new
chemical entity. For a new chemical entity thatldjes for Orphan Drug designation, the FDCA prasdsuch marketing exclusivity for a
period of seven years. A product is a new chengintty if the FDA has not previously approved aitlyes new product containing the same
active moiety, which is the molecule responsibletfi@ action of the drug substance. During thelesieity period, the FDA may not accept for
review an abbreviated new drug application, or ANDAa 505(b)(2) NDA submitted by another compamyahother version of such product
where the
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applicant does not own or have a legal right oémexfice to all the data required for approval. H@vean application may be submitted after
four years if it contains a certification of patémealidity or non-infringement. The FDCA also pides three years of marketing exclusivity for
an NDA, 505(b)(2) NDA or supplement to an existMDA if new clinical investigations, other than bi@dlability studies, that were conduct
or sponsored by the applicant are deemed by the te& essential to the approval of the applicationexample, for new indications,
dosages, or strengths of an existing drug. Thisetlyear exclusivity covers only the conditions aiged with the new clinical investigations
and does not prohibit the FDA from approving ANDi&s drugs containing the original active agent.

Pediatric Exclusivity

Section 505A of the FDCA, as amended by the FDA Adneents Act of 2007, permits certain drugs to ob&a additional six months of
exclusivity, if the sponsor submits information wegted in writing by the FDA, or a written requestating to the use of the drug in children.
The FDA may not issue a written request for clihicals on unapproved or approved indications bere it determines that information
relating to the use of a drug in a pediatric pofpoitg or part of the pediatric population, may padduce health benefits in that population.

Foreign Regulation

In addition to regulations in the United States,ame subject to a variety of foreign regulationsegaing clinical trials and commercial
sales and distribution of our products. Whethenairwe obtain FDA approval for a drug candidate ,meest obtain approval by the comparable
regulatory authorities of foreign countries or emaiic areas, such as the European Union, beforeweammence clinical trials or market
products in those countries or areas. The apppregless and requirements governing the condudiméal trials, product licensing, pricing
and reimbursement vary greatly from place to placé,the time may be longer or shorter than tteatired for FDA approval.

Under European Union regulatory systems, a compaay submit marketing authorization applicationb@itunder a centralized or
decentralized procedure. The centralized procedhieh is compulsory for medicines produced by dédbinology or those medicines intended
to treat AIDS, cancer, neurodegenerative disoragrdiabetes and optional for those medicinesahahighly innovative, provides for the gr
of a single marketing authorization that is vabd &ll European Union member states. The decenddlprocedure provides for approval by
or more “concerned” member states based on ansassatsof an application performed by one membée skmown as the “referencaiembe
state. Under the decentralized approval procedurepplicant submits an application, or dossied,refated materials to the reference membe
state and concerned member states. The referenobanstate prepares a draft assessment and dréits elated materials within 120 days
after receipt of a valid application. Within 90 dayf receiving the reference member state’s assagsport, each concerned member state
must decide whether or not to approve the assesgamort and related materials. If a member statsghot recognize the marketing
authorization, the disputed points are eventualfgmred to the European Commission, whose decisibimding on all member states.

Orphan Drug Designation

Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grant orptiarg designation to drug candidates intendecetat tn rare disease or condition,
which is generally a disease or condition thatafféewer than 200,000 people in the United Statesjore than 200,000 people in the United
States and for which there is no reasonable exji@tténat the cost of developing and making avadéai the United States a drug for this type
of disease or condition will be recovered from satethe United States for that drug. Orphan dregjghation must be requested before
submitting an NDA. After the FDA grants orphan ddgignation, the identity of the therapeutic agant its potential orphan use are
disclosed publicly by the FDA. Orphan drug desigratioes not convey any advantage in or shorteduh&tion of the regulatory review and
approval process. KALYDECO and lumacaftor have tgramted designation as orphan drugs by the FDA.

If a drug candidate that has orphan drug designatitsequently receives the first FDA approvatfierdisease for which it has such
designation, the product is entitled to orphan dragjusivity, which means that the FDA may not apgrany other applications to market the
same drug for the same indication, except in vienitéd circumstances, for seven years. Orphan dratusivity, however, also could block t
approval of our drug candidates for seven yeaaicibmpetitor obtains approval of the same prodsiciedined by the FDA or if our drug
candidate is determined to be contained withincthrapetitor’'s product for the same indication oredise.

As in the United States, we may apply for desigmatif a drug candidate as an orphan drug for trartrent of a specific indication in the
European Union before the application for marketinthorization is made. Orphan drugs in

21




Europe enjoy economic and marketing benefits, hioly up to 10 years of market exclusivity for thgpeoved indication unless another
applicant can show that its product is safer, nedfective or otherwise clinically superior to theban-designated product.

The FDA and foreign regulators expect holders afusivity for orphan drugs, such as KALYDECO, teas the availability of sufficient
guantities of their orphan drugs to meet the ne¢gstients. Failure to do so could result in ththdrawal of marketing exclusivity for the
orphan drug.

Breakthrough Therapy Designation

In July 2012, the Food and Drug Administration $and Innovation Act, or FDASIA, was enacted, adiag the FDCA. As part of
FDASIA, Congress created a new drug designatidedaBreakthrough Therapy.” This designation ieimied to facilitate expedited
development and review of a compound which, alaria oombination with one or more other compounsglétended to treat a serious or life-
threatening disease or condition and for whichigrielary clinical evidence indicates that the commmay demonstrate substantial clinical
improvement over existing therapies. Breakthrougbrapy designation may be requested at the filfngraas an amendment to, an IND baset
on criteria established by the FDA.

Actions identified in FDASIA that may expedite tlevelopment and review of a Breakthrough Theraplpite, as appropriate: holding
meetings with the sponsor and the review team tirout the development of the drug; involving semi@nagers and experienced review <
as appropriate, in a collaborative, cross-discilirreview; and assigning a cross-disciplinary gebjead for the FDA review team to facilitate
efficient review of the development program and/sexs a scientific liaison between the review teaah the sponsor. We expect that over tim
the FDA will develop regulations and/or provide giddhal guidance regarding the development of dragdidates that receive Breakthrough
Therapy designation. As this is an evolving regulatiesignation, we cannot determine the spedifiglications of the Breakthrough Therapy
designations on our development programs.

Reimbursement

Sales of our products depend, in part, on the experwhich our products will be covered by thirddygpayors, such as government health
programs, commercial insurance and managed heahotganizations. These third-party payors inéngsare reducing reimbursements for
medical products and services. Additionally, thatatmment of health care costs has become a yrioirfiederal and state governments, anc
prices of drugs have been a focus in this effdne U.S. government, state legislatures and forgayernments have shown significant interest
in implementing costontainment programs, including price controlstriettons on reimbursement and requirements fosstion of generic
products. Adoption of price controls and cost-comtent measures, and adoption of more restrictoligips in jurisdictions with existing
controls and measures, could limit our revenuesré&seses in third-party reimbursement for a produet decision by a third-party payor to not
cover a product could reduce physician usage optbduct.

The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, andibtaization Act of 2003, or the MMA, established tfiedicare Part D program to
provide a voluntary prescription drug benefit todvbare beneficiaries. Under Part D, Medicare beraiies may enroll in prescription drug
plans offered by private entities, which will prdeicoverage of outpatient prescription drugs. UnMedicare Part A and B, Part D coverag
not standardized. Part D prescription drug plamspos are not required to pay for all covered Pattugs, and each drug plan can develop its
own drug formulary that identifies which drugs itleover and at what tier or level. However, Parprescription drug formularies must
include drugs within each therapeutic category@asls of covered Part D drugs, though not necdgsdirthe drugs in each category or class.
Any formulary used by a Part D prescription drugrpinust be developed and reviewed by a pharmacthenapeutic committee. Government
payment for some of the costs of prescription dimgy increase demand for products for which weivecmarketing approval. However, any
negotiated prices for our products covered by & Parescription drug plan likely will be lower thahe prices we might otherwise obtain.
Moreover, while the MMA applies only to drug benefior Medicare beneficiaries, private payors ofalow Medicare coverage policy and
payment limitations in setting their own paymeriesa Any reduction in payment that results fromMMA may result in a similar reduction
payments from non-governmental payors.

The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 20@®ides funding for the federal government to careghe effectiveness of
different treatments for the same illness. A plantfie research will be developed by the Departroghtealth and Human Services, or HHS,
the Agency for Healthcare Research and QualitythedNational Institutes of Health,
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and periodic reports on the status of the reseamdirelated expenditures will be made to the Udhgtess. Although the results of the
comparative effectiveness studies are not intetal@sbndate coverage policies for public or priyadgors, it is not clear what effect, if any,
research will have on the sales of our producis.pbssible that comparative effectiveness rebedemonstrating benefits of a competitor’s
product could adversely affect the sales of oudpets. If third-party payors do not consider ouwrdurcts to be cost-effective compared to othe
available therapies, they may not cover our praslasta benefit under their plans or, if they de,l@vel of payment may not be sufficient to
allow us to sell our products on a profitable basis

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Acam®&nded by the Health Care and Education Affordatitleconciliation Act of 2010,
which is referred to as the ACA, was enacted indfi&010 and is designed to expand coverage farrtmsured while at the same time
containing overall health care costs. With regargharmaceutical products, among other thingsAtbA is designed to expand and increase
industry rebates for drugs covered under Medicedgjiams, impose an annual fee on branded pharniealemanufacturers and make change:
to the coverage requirements under the MedicartelParogram. In 2013, 2012 and 2011, our rebatescated with the Medicare Part D
“donut hole” were $1.9 million, $1.8 million and gimillion, respectively. In 2013 and 2012, we melaal $10.4 million and $1.8 million,
respectively, in sales, general and administrakmenses related to the branded prescription d@mig$tablished pursuant to the ACA. We \
not subject to this fee prior to 2012. The branpegbcription drug fee is not tax deductible. Wengdrpredict all of the effects of the ACA on
pharmaceutical companies as many of the ACA refaagaire the promulgation of detailed regulatianplementing the statutory provisions,
which has not yet occurred.

In Europe and many other foreign countries, thessg of KALYDECO, and any other drug candidatesnag develop, depends largely
on obtaining and maintaining government reimbursdeecause in many foreign countries patientaialigely to use prescription
pharmaceutical products that are not reimbursetthdéiy governments. Negotiating reimbursement riatésreign countries can delay the
commercialization of a pharmaceutical product asdegally results in a reimbursement rate thatiselahan the net price that companies can
obtain for the same product in the United States.

In some countries, such as Germany and France, eociahsales of a product can begin while the reirebment rate that a company will
receive in future periods is under discussion.theocountries, a company must complete the reisgment discussions prior to the
commencement of commercial sales of the pharmaedytioduct. The requirements governing drug pgisiary widely from country to
country. For example, the European Union providgeas for its member states to restrict the rasfgirugs for which their national health
insurance systems provide reimbursement and taaldhe prices of drugs for human use. A membeestaay approve a specific price for the
drug or it may instead adopt a system of direéhdirect controls on the profitability of the commaplacing the drug on the market. Recently,
many countries in the European Union have increttedmount of discounts required on pharmaceusteadl these efforts could continue as
countries attempt to manage healthcare expenditesggcially in light of the severe fiscal and daifiges experienced by many countries in th
European Union. There can be no assurance thataamjry that has price controls or reimbursemenitditions for pharmaceutical products
will allow favorable reimbursement and pricing agaments for any of our products.

Other United States Regulations

Pharmaceutical companies also are subject to \@afameral and state laws pertaining to health femad and abuse,” including anti-
kickback laws and false claims laws, and the répgif payments to physicians and teaching hospital

Anti-kickback Laws

U.S. federal laws prohibit fraud and abuse invajvétate and federal health care programs, suchedéckte and Medicaid. These laws are
interpreted broadly and enforced aggressively biioua state and federal agencies, including theteeifior Medicare & Medicaid Services, or
CMS, the Department of Justice, the Office of ItdpeGeneral for HHS and various state agenciess@ lanti-kickback laws prohibit, among
other things, knowingly and willfully offering, payg, soliciting, receiving or providing remuneratjalirectly or indirectly, in exchange for or
to induce either the referral of an individual tlee furnishing, arranging for or recommending oftem or service that is reimbursable, in
whole or in part, by a federal health care progrBemuneration is broadly defined to include anyhofvalue, such as, cash payments, gif
gift certificates, discounts, or the furnishingsefvices, supplies or equipment. The anti-kickdauwks are broad and prohibit many
arrangements and practices that are lawful in lessies outside of the health care industry.
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The penalties for violating the anti-kickback lagen be severe. The sanctions include criminal anldpenalties, and possible exclusion
from the federal health care programs. Many staéee adopted laws similar to the federal anti-kadtblaws, and some apply to items and
services reimbursable by any payor, including tpiadty payors.

State and Federal Prohibitions on False Claims

The federal False Claims Act imposes liability @y @erson or entity that, among other things, kmali presents, or causes to be
presented, a false or fraudulent claim for paynetihe federal government. Under the False Claicts &Aperson acts knowingly if he has
actual knowledge of the information or acts in ldetate ignorance or in reckless disregard of thté tor falsity of the information. Specific
intent to defraud is not required. Provisions & Halse Claims Act allow a private individual tangran action on behalf of the federal
government and to share in any amounts paid bgefendant to the government in connection withatttéon. The number of filings under
these provisions has increased significantly iemégears. When an entity is determined to haviatdd the False Claims Act, it may be
required to pay up to three times the actual damagstained by the government, plus civil penaftegach false claim. Conduct that violates
the False Claims Act may also lead to exclusiomftbe federal health care programs. Given the numibaaims likely to be at issue, poten
damages under the False Claims Act for even aesingppropriate arrangement could be significanaddition, various states have enacted
similar laws modeled after the False Claims Act Hpply to items and services reimbursed under béediand other state health care
programs, and, in several states, such laws apglaims submitted to all payors.

Federal Prohibitions on Health Care Fraud and FaB&tements Related to Health Care Mat

Under the administrative simplification provisioofsthe Health Insurance Portability and Accouniibihct of 1996, or HIPAA, and state
laws there are numerous regulations for protedtiegorivacy and security of protected health infation. Additional administrative
simplification provisions created the following &Fdl crimes: health care fraud, false statemeifdtimg to health care matters, theft or
embezzlement in connection with a health benefigam and obstruction of criminal investigatiorheglth care offenses. The health care
fraud statute prohibits knowingly and willfully exgting a scheme to defraud any health care bgmefifram, including a private insurer. The
false statements statute prohibits knowingly antfully falsifying, concealing, or covering up a teaial fact or making any materially false,
fictitious, or fraudulent statement in connectioitivthe delivery of or payment for health care Haagitems, or services. The theft or
embezzlement statute prohibits knowingly and wiNfembezzling, stealing or otherwise convertingrasapplying the money or property of a
health care benefit program. The obstruction ahoral investigations of health care offenses stapubhibits willfully preventing, obstructing,
misleading or delaying the communication of infotima and records relating to a violation of a fedérealth care offense to a criminal
investigator. A violation of any of these laws ifetony and may result in fines, or exclusion frire federal health care programs.

Physician Payment Sunshine ,

The Physician Payment Sunshine Act will requirerptaeutical manufacturers to report annually toSkeretary of HHS payments or
other transfers of value made by that entity togptigns and teaching hospitals. In February 204@.lations were released that contain
detailed guidance regarding the information thasinme collected and reported. We were requiredtieat information regarding such
payments starting in August 2013 and will be reeghito begin reporting such information in March 200@ver the next several years, we will
need to continue to dedicate significant resoureg@nhance our systems and processes in ordentplyavith these regulations. Failure to
comply with the reporting requirements would resulsignificant civil monetary penalties. Similaws have been enacted or are under
consideration in foreign jurisdictions, includingaRce which has adopted thei Bertrand, or French Sunshine Act, which became effective i
2013.

The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act

The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act prohibits U.9npanies and their representatives from offeringnpsing, authorizing or making
payments to foreign officials for the purpose ofading or retaining business abroad. In many atesitthe health care professionals we
regularly interact with may meet the definitionaoforeign government official for purposes of therdign Corrupt Practices Act.

24




Other Regulations

In addition to the statutes and regulations deedrébove, we also are subject to regulation irthieed States under the Occupational
Safety and Health Act, the Environmental Protectioh the Toxic Substances Control Act, the Rese@onservation and Recovery Act and
other federal, state, local and foreign statutesragulations, now or hereafter in effect.

EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2013 , we had approximatelyd giployees, which was a decrease of 18% from appately 2,200 on
December 31, 2012 . Of these employees, approxXiynbte00 were based in the United States, appraeiiyp200 were based in Europe and
approximately 100 were based in Canada. Our stiestaff members have diversified experience axmkdise in molecular and cell biology,
biochemistry, synthetic organic chemistry, protéinay crystallography, protein nuclear magnetioresce spectroscopy, microbiology,
computational chemistry, biophysical chemistry, ral chemistry, clinical pharmacology and clidio@edicine. Our clinical development
personnel have extensive expertise in designingeaaduting clinical trials. Employees in our compi&irorganization have extensive
experience in selling and marketing pharmaceupicadiucts as well as seeking reimbursement from mowent and third-party payors for
pharmaceutical products. Our employees are notredvgy a collective bargaining agreement, excepafemall number of employees in
France and Spain. Science magazine named Vertaxeasf its top employers in the life sciences in2®012 and 2013. We consider our
relations with our employees to be good.

OTHER MATTERS
Financial Information and Significant Customers

Financial information about (i) our net producteaues and other revenues generated in the prirgdoglraphic regions in which we
operate and our significant customers is set fiortkote X, "Segment Information," to our consoligfinancial statements included in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, (ii) net income (lops)y share attributable to Vertex common sharehslded our total assets are provided in
our consolidated financial statements includedhis Annual Report on Form 10-K and (iii) our resdmand development expenses in each of
the last three fiscal years and our deconsolidaifoios as of December 31, 2013 is provided énit7, "Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Gytiems." A discussion of the risks attendant tointernational operations is set forth in the
“Risk Factors” section of this Annual Report on Rot0-K.

Information Available on the I nternet

Our internet address www.vrtx.comOur annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly report$=orm 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K,
and all amendments to those reports, are avaitalyleu free of charge through the “Investors-SEIh§$” section of our website as soon as
reasonably practicable after those materials haea lelectronically filed with, or furnished to, tBecurities and Exchange Commission.

Corporate | nformation

Vertex was incorporated in Massachusetts in 1989 car principal executive offices are located@iN®rthern Avenue Boston,
Massachusetts 02210. We have research sites ldoa®aoh Diego, California; Coralville, lowa; Monale Canada and Milton Park, U.K. We
also have an office in Washington, D.C. We haval#isthed our European headquarters in Switzerladchave offices in Australia, France,
Germany, Ireland, Spain, the Netherlands and theetdiKingdom.
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DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The names, ages and positions held by our execuffivers and directors are as follows:

Name Age Position

Jeffrey M. Leiden, M.D., Ph.D. 58 Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer drdsident

Stuart A. Arbuckle 48 Executive Vice President and Chief Commercial @ffic

Kenneth L. Horton, J.D. 47 Executive Vice President and Chief Legal Officer

Peter Mueller, Ph.D. 57 Executive Vice President, Global Research and @g@weént, and Chief
Scientific Officer

lan F. Smith 48 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office

Thomas Connolly 56 Senior Vice President, Human Resources

Megan Pace 41 Senior Vice President, Corporate Communications

Amit K. Sachdev, J.D. 46 Senior Vice President, Global Government Stratétprket Access and Value

Paul M. Silva 48 Senior Vice President and Corporate Controller

David Altshuler, M.D., Ph.D. 49 Director

Joshua S. Boger, Ph.D. 62 Director

Terrence C. Kearney 59 Director

Yuchun Lee 48 Director

Margaret G. McGlynn 54 Director

Wayne J. Riley, M.D. 54 Director

Bruce I. Sachs 54 Director

Elaine S. Ullian 66 Director

Dr. Leiden is our Chairman, Chief Executive Offiegrd President. He has held the positions of (Ewetutive Officer and President sit
February 2012 after joining us as CEO Designeedodmber 2011. He has been a member of our Boddexftors since July 2009, the
Chairman of our Board of Directors since May 20dra] served as our lead independent director frotol@c 2010 through December 2011.
Dr. Leiden was a Managing Director at Clarus Vessua life sciences venture capital firm, from 2€@6®ugh January 2012. Dr. Leiden was
President and Chief Operating Officer of Abbott bediories, Pharmaceuticals Products Group, andnabmeof the Board of Directors of
Abbott Laboratories from 2001 to 2006. From 1982@600, Dr. Leiden held several academic appointsyémtiuding the Rawson Professor of
Medicine and Pathology and Chief of Cardiology &nckctor of the Cardiovascular Research Instittitine University of Chicago, the Elkan
R. Blout Professor of Biological Sciences at thewded School of Public Health, and Professor of Mieg& at Harvard Medical School. He is
an elected member of both the American Academyrtsf &and Sciences, and the Institute of MedicinthefNational Academy of Sciences.
Dr. Leiden is a senior advisor to Clarus Ventubs.Leiden was a director and the non-executivee\Ghairman of the board of Shire plc, a
specialty biopharmaceutical company, from 2006iwuary 2012, and was also a member of the Boaddre€tors of Millennium
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. from October 2007 until isv@aquired in June 2008. Dr. Leiden received hid.WPh.D. and B.A. degrees from the
University of Chicago.

Mr. Arbuckle is our Executive Vice President andeZiCommercial Officer, a position he has held sigeptember 2012. Prior to joining
us, Mr. Arbuckle held multiple commercial leadepstoles at Amgen, Inc., a 17,000 person biotechgyotmmpany, from July 2004 through
August 2012. Mr. Arbuckle has worked in the biophaceuticals industry since 1986, including moratha years at GlaxoSmithKline plc,
where he held sales and marketing roles of inangagisponsibility for medicines aimed at treatiagpiratory, metabolic, musculoskeletal,
cardiovascular and other diseases. He currendyni@mber of the Board of Directors of the Cancgp®u Community, an international non-
profit organization dedicated to providing suppeducation and hope to people affected by cancerANbuckle holds a BSc in pharmacology
and physiology from the University of Leeds.

Mr. Horton is our Executive Vice President and €hiegal Officer, a position he has held since J2@#2. Prior to joining us, Mr. Horton
served as General Counsel and Executive Vice Rratsad Corporate Development at Nordion Inc. (forlmn&IDS Inc.), a global health scier
company, from 2005 to 2011. He joined MDS from ReEkmer, Inc., where he was Vice President, Acdiaiss, Ventures and General
Counsel for the Life and Analytical Sciences busienit. Mr.
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Horton began his legal career practicing corpdateat Ropes & Gray in Boston after working asrategyy consultant in the United States an
Europe. Mr. Horton currently serves on the Boarddvisors for Beth Israel Deaconess-Needham Hdsqitd was formerly Chairman of
Lumira Capital. Mr. Horton holds an A.B. from Daxioth College, a J.D. from Harvard Law School ang aaarded the D.A.A.D.
Direktstipendium for study at the Universitaet Bonn

Dr. Mueller is our Executive Vice President, GloRasearch and Development, a position he has lmld Blay 2009, and has been our
Chief Scientific Officer since July 2003. Dr. Musllwas our Executive Vice President, Drug Innovatiad Realization, from February 200t
May 2009, and our Senior Vice President, Drug Discg and Innovation, from July 2003 to February @0@rior to joining us, Dr. Mueller
was the Senior Vice President, Research and Dewelop of Boehringer Ingelheim Pharmaceuticals, Wwith responsibility for the
development of all drug candidates in the compapgtsfolio in North America. He led research praggain the areas of immunology,
inflammatory cardiovascular disease and gene tygyam global basis. During his time with Boehringrgelheim, Dr. Mueller oversaw the
discovery of numerous development candidates aludseseral positions in basic research, medicihahustry and management. Dr. Mueller
received both an undergraduate degree and a FPhdbeimistry at the Albert Einstein University ofnJlGermany, where he also holds a
Professorship in Theoretic Organic Chemistry. Hagleted fellowships in quantum pharmacology at @xfdniversity and in biophysics at
Rochester University.

Mr. Smith is our Executive Vice President and Cliigfancial Officer, a position he has held sincbrbary 2006. From November 200:
February 2006, he was our Senior Vice PresidenCinef Financial Officer, and from October 200INovember 2003, he served as our Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer. Prior tanjog us, Mr. Smith served as a partner in the Biéeence and Technology Practice Group of
Ernst & Young LLP, an accounting firm, from 19992@01. Mr. Smith initially joined Ernst & Young's.K. firm in 1987, and then joined its
Boston office in 1995. Mr. Smith currently is a nmisen of the Boards of Directors of Acorda Therapeytinc., a drug development company,
and Infinity Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a drug develeptrtompany. Mr. Smith holds a B.A. in accounting &inance from Manchester
Metropolitan University, U.K., is a member of thenArican Institute of Certified Public Accountantglds a Chartered Accountant of England
and Wales.

Mr. Connolly is our Senior Vice President, Humars®&ces, a position he has held since August 28L.3Connolly served as our Vice
President, Human Resources from September 201@ghraugust 2013. From January 2009 to Septembe2, 20d. Connolly was a Senior
Vice President and the Chief Human Resources Qfit®F Global. Prior to MF Global, he held humasaurces leadership positions at U
Goldman Sachs, Citibank, Aetna and Lehman Broth¢gscurrently serves as a special advisor on hueswurces and other organizational
matters to Save the Children, and serves on thésdgvBoard of the Center for Innovation & Changmatership at Suffolk University. Mr.
Connolly holds a B.S. in Psychology from the Unsigr of Connecticut, an M.B.A. from Leonard N. S$t&chool of Business at New York
University, an M.S. in Industrial/Organizationalyesology from Stevens Institute of Technology andVaS. in Health Care Administration
from the University of Phoenix.

Ms. Pace is our Senior Vice President, Corporatam@onications, a position she has held since July 2Bs. Pace served as our Vice
President, Corporate Communications from May 20@it6ugh July 2012. Prior to joining us, Ms. Pace w&senior Director at Genentech, It
a biotechnology company, from 2005 through April@0where she led the team responsible for pulfliirge, product public relations and
patient advocacy. Prior to Genentech, she heldrgovent affairs and public relations roles at Elly& Company, and worked at Porter
Novelli, a global public relations firm, where smanaged disease awareness and public health campaigeveral biopharmaceutis
companies and government agencies. Ms. Pace h@ds. &rom the College of Charleston.

Mr. Sachdev is our Senior Vice President, Global€&oment Strategy, Market Access and Value, alrelassumed in February 2013. As
a Senior Vice President, he has led our governaiiaits, public policy and patient advocacy funnsaince he joined us in July 2007 and |
and managed our Canadian business operations fobab€ 2010 through February 2013. Mr. Sachdevesktas Executive Vice President,
Health of the Biotechnology Industry Organizati@&i@) from April 2005 through June 2007. Mr. Sachaeas the Deputy Commissioner for
Policy at the FDA from April 2004 through April 2BPpand held several other senior positions withenEDA from September 2002 through
April 2004. From 1998 to 2002, Mr. Sachdev served/ajority Counsel to the Committee on Energy andth@erce in the United States
House of Representatives. From 1993 to 1997, Meh&eav practiced law, first at the Chemical Manufaets Association, and then with the
law firm of Ropes & Gray. Mr. Sachdev holds a Bi@& Carnegie Mellon University, and a J.D. from Eyndniversity School of Law.
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Mr. Silva is our Senior Vice President and Corpei@ontroller, a position he has held since April2OMr. Silva joined us in August 20!
as Senior Director, Accounting Operations and wasvice President and Corporate Controller fromt8eyoer 2008 through April 2011. Pr
to joining us, he was the Vice President, InteRapborting at Iron Mountain Incorporated from Jug08 until August 2007 and a consultant to
Iron Mountain’s financing department from April 2DQntil July 2006. He was the Finance Directorhe&f Bioscience Technologies Division of
Thermo Electron Corporation from 2002 to April 200&. Silva holds a B.S. in accounting from AssuioptCollege.

Dr. Altshuler has been a member of our Board oé&twrs since May 2012. Dr. Altshuler is the Direabthe Program in Medical and
Population Genetics at the Broad Institute of HedMadniversity and the Massachusetts Institute ahiPelogy, a position he has held since
2003. He has served as the Institute's Deputy @iremd Chief Academic Officer since 2009. He is of four founding members of the Brc
Institute, a research collaboration of Harvard, MI'ie Whitehead Institute and the Harvard Hospitats Altshuler joined the faculty at
Harvard Medical School and the Massachusetts GeHespital in 2000 and has held the academic rdikrofessor of Genetics and Medicine
since 2008. He has served as Adjunct Professorobd@/ at MIT since 2012. Dr. Altshuler earned &Bfrom MIT, a Ph.D. from Harvard
University and an M.D. from Harvard Medical Schdat. Altshuler completed his clinical training inteérnal Medicine, and in Endocrinology,
Diabetes and Metabolism, at the Massachusetts @ladespital.

Dr. Boger is the founder of Vertex and has beeimextbr since our inception in 1989. He was ourefkixecutive Officer from 1992
through May 2009. He was our Chairman of the Bdiamesh 1997 until May 2006 and our President from imgeption until December 2000,
and from 2005 through February 2009. He was oueiCtientific Officer from 1989 until May 1992. Brito founding Vertex in 1989,

Dr. Boger held the position of Senior Director afdic Chemistry at Merck Sharp & Dohme Research taibdes in Rahway, New Jersey,
where he headed both the Department of Medicinah@$try of Immunology & Inflammation and the Depaent of Biophysical Chemistry.
Dr. Boger holds a B.A. in chemistry and philosofitom Wesleyan University and M.S. and Ph.D. degireehemistry from Harvard
University.

Mr. Kearney has been a member of our Board of Borecsince May 2011. Mr. Kearney served as thef@perating Officer of
Hospira, Inc., a specialty pharmaceutical and nagitio delivery company, from April 2006 to Janu@Bi1. From April 2004 to April 20086,
he served as Hospira’'s Senior Vice President, Emaand Chief Financial Officer, and he served etsng Chief Financial Officer through
August 2006. Mr. Kearney served as Vice PresidedtTaeasurer of Abbott Laboratories from 2001 tailA2004. From 1996 to 2001,

Mr. Kearney was Divisional Vice President and Coltér for Abbott’s International Division. He reeid his B.S. in biology from the
University of lllinois and his M.B.A. from the Unérsity of Denver.

Mr. Lee has been a member of our Board of Direciorse September 2012. Mr. Lee has served as asufixe in Residence (XIR) and
Partner of General Catalyst Partners, a venturiatdipm, since April of 2013. Mr. Lee was the \@dresident of IBM's Enterprise Marketing
Management Group from November 2010 through Jan2@t. Mr. Lee co-founded Unica Corporation, a pier of software and services
used to automate marketing processes, in 1992yvaadJnica’'s President and/or Chief Executive Offioem 1992 through November 2010,
when Unica was acquired by IBM. From 1989 to 19dP,Lee was a senior consultant at Digital Equiptr@arporation, a supplier of general
computing technology and consulting services. Mee holds a B.S. and an M.S. in electrical engingesind computer science from the
Massachusetts Institute of Technology and an M.B@m Babson College.

Ms. McGlynn has been a member of our Board of Dinecsince May 2011. Since July 2011, Ms. McGlyas kerved as the President
Chief Executive Officer of the International AIDSavcine Initiative, a global not-for-profit organtizm whose mission is to ensure the
development of safe, effective and accessible Hi¥tines for use throughout the world. Ms. McGlyarved as President, Vaccines and
Infectious Diseases of Merck & Co., Inc. from 200%8il 2009. Ms. McGlynn joined Merck in 1983 andva in a variety of marketing, sales
and managed care roles. Ms. McGlynn serves as aareshthe Board of Directors for Air Products aldemicals, Inc., a company
specializing in gases and chemicals for industisals, and Amicus Therapeutics, Inc., a biopharnte¢gompany. She is also a member of
the National Industrial Advisory Committee at theilersity at Buffalo School of Pharmacy and Pharmugical Sciences. Ms. McGlynn holds
a B.S. in Pharmacy and an M.B.A. in Marketing friiva State University of New York at Buffalo.

Dr. Riley has been a member of our Board of Dinecgince July 2010. Dr. Riley is Clinical ProfesebMedicine, Vanderbilt University
School of Medicine and Adjunct Professor of HealtiecManagement, Owen Graduate School of Managem&tanderbilt University. From
January 2007 until July 2013, Dr. Riley was Presidand Chief Executive Officer of Meharry Medicadlfeége. At Meharry he held the rank of
tenured Professor of Internal Medicine and wasraddélealth Policy Associate at the Robert Woodndoim Center for Health Policy at
Meharry. From May 2004 to
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December 2006, Dr. Riley served as a corporateafind member of the executive management teafitas’resident and Vice Dean for
Health Affairs and Governmental Relations and AigedProfessor of Medicine at Baylor College of litgue, and Assistant Chief of
Medicine at Ben Taub General Hospital. Dr. Rileg member of the Board of Directors of HCA Holdin., the parent company of Hosp
Corporation of America, a leading operator of htadpiand health facilities, where he serves orfilgit & Compliance Committee and the
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee sutitei Chair of the Patient Safety and Quality Cottemi Dr. Riley formerly served as
Director of Pinnacle Financial Partners and ofashville Branch Board of the Federal Reserve BdrAtlanta. Dr. Riley earned a B.A. from
Yale University, an M.P.H. in health systems mamaget from Tulane University School of Public Heati ropical Medicine, an M.D. from
the Morehouse School of Medicine and an M.B.A. fieice University's Jones Graduate School of Managgm

Mr. Sachs has been a member of our Board of Direstnce 1998. He is a General Partner at Chailes Rentures, a venture capital
firm he joined in 1999. From 1998 to 1999, he sdras Executive Vice President and General Managkscend Communications, Inc. From
1997 until 1998, Mr. Sachs served as PresidentCdmef Executive Officer of Stratus Computer, Incofs 1995 to 1997, he served as
Executive Vice President and General Manager ofrttegnet Telecom Business Group at Bay Networks, From 1993 to 1995, he served as
President and Chief Executive Officer at Xylogits. Mr. Sachs was a director of BigBand Netwolks,, a network-based platform
company, from 2005 through June 2009. Mr. SachdsaIB.S.E.E. in electrical engineering from Budkdaiversity, an M.E.E. in electrical
engineering from Cornell University, and an M.Bffam Northeastern University.

Ms. Ullian has been a member of our Board of Doexsince 1997. From 1996 through January 2010setvwed as President and Chief
Executive Officer of Boston Medical Center, a ptesenot-for-profit, 626-bed, academic medical cemtith a community-based focus. From
1994 to 1996, she served as President and Chieluixe Officer of Boston University Medical Centdospital. From 1987 to 1994,

Ms. Ullian served as President and Chief Execufifficer of Faulkner Hospital. She also serves dgector of Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc.
and Hologic, Inc. Ms. Ullian holds a B.A. in potitil science from Tufts University and an M.P.Hnirthe University of Michigan.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
RISK FACTORS

Investing in our common stock involves a high degferisk, and you should carefully consider theksiand uncertainties described below
in addition to the other information included ocrporated by reference in this Annual Report onnkd0-K. If any of the following risks or
uncertainties actually occurs, our business, firahcondition or results of operations would likedyffer, possibly materially. In that case, the
trading price of our common stock could decline.

Risks Related to Our Business

We are investing significant resourcesin our development program for lumacaftor (VX-809) in combination with ivacaftor and, if the results
of clinical trials of this combination therapy, the anticipated or actual timing of marketing approvals for this combination therapy, or the
market acceptance of this combination therapy, if approved, including treatment reimbursement levels agreed to by third-party payors, are
unfavorable or do not meet the expectations of investors or public market analysts, our business will be materially harmed and the market
price of our common stock would likely decline.

We are investing significant resources in our demelent program for lumacaftor in combination witagaftor as a potential treatment for
patients with CF who have two copies (homozygotish® F508del mutation in the@BFTRgene. In February 2013, we initiated the Phase 3
clinical development program for lumacaftor in cangtion with ivacaftor. We initiated this prograraded primarily on data from a Phase 2
clinical trial in which a relatively small numbef patients received lumacaftor as a monotherap28&wdays, followed by lumacaftor in
combination with ivacaftor for 28 days. The pattefung function response observed in both CoBahd Cohort 3 of our Phase 2 clinical
trial was similar, with a decline in FEMuring the lumacaftor monotherapy dosing periotbfeéd by a statistically significant increase inWF
1during the lumacaftor and ivacaftor combinationidgsperiod. In addition, the increase in FE&bserved in our Phase 2 clinical trial of
lumacaftor in combination with ivacaftor was lekar the increase in FENObserved in comparable Phase 2 clinical trialvaéaftor in
patients with CF who have one copy of the G551 Datin in theirCFTRgene.

We have enrolled approximately 550 patients withw@e are homozygous for the F508del mutation irheddhe two Phase 3 clinical
trials evaluating lumacaftor in combination witlaoaftor, which are referred to as TRAFFIC and TRRRT, for a total of approximately
1,100 patients. We expect that we will obtain deden this Phase 3 clinical development program id-2014. In TRAFFIC and
TRANSPORT, lumacaftor is being evaluated in comtidmawith ivacaftor over a significantly longer dieg period of 24 weeks and without
the monotherapy lead-in period that was part ofthase 2 clinical trial. In order to obtain appidea lumacaftor in combination with
ivacaftor, we will need to show that lumacaftoccombination with ivacaftor is safe and effectivaaisignificantly larger number of patients
than were involved in the Phase 2 clinical triaeothe significantly longer 24-week combinatiorsihg period.

If the data from our ongoing clinical trials or rolinical studies of lumacaftor in combination witkacaftor regarding the safety or
efficacy of this combination are not favorable, EFi2A and comparable foreign regulatory authoritiesy not approve this combination
regimen and/or we may be forced to delay or tertrittze development of this combination regimen civhiould materially harm our
business. Further, even if we gain marketing apgeofor this combination therapy from the FDA awtnparable foreign regulatory authorit
in a timely manner, we cannot be sure that thiskipation therapy will be commercially successftithe results of TRAFFIC and
TRANSPORT, the anticipated or actual timing of neditkg approvals for this combination therapy, @ mtharket acceptance of this
combination therapy, if approved, including treatteimbursement levels agreed to by third-partyops, do not meet the expectations of
investors or public market analysts, the marketepaf our common stock would likely decline.

We expect to incur future losses, and we may not become profitable in future periods.

Over the past three years a majority of our revemase been due to sales of INCIVEK. As a resutteafines in INCIVEK revenues, we
expect to incur a significant operating loss in2@hd expect to continue to incur operating lossdi we are able to substantially increase
product revenues from the sale of therapies fotrstment of CF. There can be no assurance thatiee successful in expanding the label
for ivacaftor or obtaining approval for lumacaftorcombination with ivacaftor. Our net losses \idive an adverse effect on, among other
things, our shareholders' equity, total assetsmoriling capital. We expect that losses will fludeiérom quarter to quarter and year to year,
and that such fluctuations may be substantial. Wwat predict when we will become profitable, ieev
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Our future revenues from KALYDECO are dependent, among other factors, on the outcomes of reimbursement discussionsin international
markets, our ongoing clinical trials and discussionswith regulatory authorities regarding the potential for ivacaftor as a treatment for
additional patient populations.

In 2012, we obtained approval to market KALYDECE@a(aftor) for the treatment of patients with CFyg®ars of age and older with the
G551D mutation in th€FTRgene. S ince its approval in the first quarter@f2, most patients six years of age and oldererlLthited States
and Europe who have the G551D mutation inGRFRgene have started treatment with KALYDECO. We ardiscussions with relevant
agencies in Australia and Canada regarding publinlsursement for the cost of KALYDECO for patientish CF six years of age and older in
these countries who have the G551D mutation irr tDETRgene. There can be no assurance that we will lgetatadbtain, or obtain on a
timely basis, appropriate reimbursement for KALYDE® these international markets.

In order to expand the market for ivacaftor, wechiEedemonstrate that ivacaftor is safe and effedti additional patient populations. We
submitted an sNDA to the FDA and an MAA variatiorthie European Union in September 2013 and Oc®®E3, respectively, seeking
approval to market ivacaftor for the treatment atignts with CF six years of age and older who tepeified other mutations in th&FTR
gene. These submissions incorporated clinical flata our first ivacaftor label-expansion Phaseiichl trial. In December 2013, we
announced data from a Phase 3 clinical trial evelgavacaftor as a potential treatment for pasemith CF who have the R117H mutation in
their CFTRgene. This clinical trial did not meet its primawydpoint. However, we believe that a pre-spec#igogroup analysis demonstrated
a clinical benefit for patients 18 years of age alr with CF who have the R117H mutation on aste@ne allele. We plan to meet with the
FDA in early 2014 to discuss these results angttential submission of an SNDA for patients with @ho have the R117H mutation on at
least one allele. We also are conducting a Pha$iai8al trial to evaluate ivacaftor as a potentialtment for patients two to five years of age
with CF who have specific mutations in th€iFTRgene and a Phase 2 clinical trial to evaluate itaca patients with CF who have residual
CFTR function.

These clinical trials and our discussions with fatpry authorities are subject to the same risksuatertainties that are described in thes
risk factors with respect to the development of durg candidates. There can be no assurance thegghlts from our clinical trials of ivacaft
or the data included in our submissions to regwadoithorities will be sufficient to obtain appré¥ar use of ivacaftor in patients with other
mutations in theiCFTRgene or in any children two to five years of agthv@F.

If our competitors bring drugs with superior product profiles to market, our drugs may not be competitive and our revenues could decline.

KALYDECO and any drugs we develop in the future may be able to compete effectively with marketaehd or new drugs that may be
developed by competitors. There are many other emiep developing drugs for the same indicationswigaare pursuing. In order to compete
successfully in these areas, we must demonstraeirad safety, efficacy and/or tolerability, andeaf manufacturing, and gain and maintair
market acceptance over competing drugs. Many otompetitors, including major pharmaceutical conpaisuch as Abbvie, Bristol-Myers
Squibb, Gilead, Johnson & Johnson, Merck, NovaRizer, Sanofi and Roche, possess substantiadigter financial, technical and human
resources than we possess.

A number of companies are seeking to identify aenetbp drug candidates for the treatment of CRuding Novartis, Pfizer, Genzyme,
which is a division of Sanofi, and several privatenpanies. Our competitors have research and dawelat programs directed at identifying
CFTR potentiators, CFTR correctors and drug caned#aith other mechanisms of action that seek tlvezs the underlying cause of CF, and
our success in rapidly developing and commerciaiXALYDECO may increase the resources that ourpstitors allocate to the
development of these potential treatments for CRil&\Wve do not believe that any of these competifivograms have entered late-stage
clinical development, if one or more competing #pées are successfully developed as a treatmepaf@nts with CF, our revenues from
KALYDECO and/or other compounds, if then approvesljld face competitive pressures.

We are aware of a number of companies that ardaEag new treatments for HCV infection, includirRCV nucleotide analogues, HCV
protease inhibitors, non-nucleoside HCV polymeiakéitors and HCV NS5A inhibitors. We expect tloaer the next several years several
all-oral treatment treatment regimens for HCV i@t will be approved in the United States andwlsere in the world. Due in part to these
competitive factors, two drug candidates, VX-138 &X-222, that we were developing as treatment$Hiol infection became impaired in
2013 resulting in aggregate intangible asset impait charges of $663.5 million . The commerciabpexts for VX-135, if approved, will
depend on, among
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other factors, the efficacy, safety, tolerabilitydeother characteristics of any combination theiapjuding VX-135 relative to existing and
future treatments for HCV infection, and the cladidata obtained and timing of marketing approf@sirug candidates being developed by
our competitors. If we develop an all-oral treatimegimen that includes VX-135, we expect thatal:oral treatment regimen would comp
directly with several all-oral treatment regimehattwere approved several years prior to the agbivany all-oral treatment regimen that
includes VX-135.

If we discover safety issueswith any of our products or if we fail to comply with continuing U.S. and applicable foreign regulations,
commercialization efforts for the product could be negatively affected, the approved product could lose its approval or sales could be
suspended, and our business could be materially harmed.

Our products are subject to continuing regulatamrsight, including the review of additional safe@tjormation. Drugs are more widely
used by patients once approval has been obtairtetharefore side-effects and other problems magtiserved after approval that were not
seen or anticipated, or were not as prevalentvarseduring pre-approval clinical trials or nonatal studies. For example, in December 2012
we updated the INCIVEK label in the United State#clude a Boxed Warning stating that fatal and-fedal serious skin reactions have been
reported in patients taking INCIVEK combinationatment. The subsequent discovery of previously anknproblems with a product could
negatively affect commercial sales of the prodregult in restrictions on the product or lead ® withdrawal of the product from the market.
The reporting of adverse safety events involvingmreducts or public speculation about such eveotsd cause our stock price to decline or
experience periods of volatility.

If we or our collaborators fail to comply with apgalble continuing regulatory requirements, we ar aallaborators may be subject to fir
suspension or withdrawal of regulatory approvaissfiecific products, product recalls and seizuspsyating restrictions and/or criminal
prosecutions. In addition, the manufacturers weagago make our products and the manufacturingjtfasiin which our products are made
subject to periodic review and inspection by theARihd foreign regulatory authorities. If problenme @entified during the review or
inspection of these manufacturers or manufactuaniities, it could result in our inability to ugke facility to make our product or a
determination that inventories are not safe for mancial sale.

If physicians, patients and third-party payors do not accept our drugs, we may be unable to generate significant revenuesin future periods.

Our drugs may not gain or maintain market accegamgong physicians and patients. Effectively mamgedur products and any of our
drug candidates, if approved, requires substagfiafts, both prior to launch and after approvdidy$icians may elect not to prescribe our dr
and patients may elect not to request or take tfiema, variety of reasons including:

» lower demonstrated efficacy, safety and/or tolditghtompared to other dru¢

e prevalence and severity of adverse sffects

* lack of costeffectivenes:

» lack of reimbursement availability from thiphrty payors

» adecision to wait for the approval of other thézapn development that have significant perceedantages over our dri
» convenience and ease of administra

« other potential advantages of alternative treatmethods; ar

» ineffective marketing and/or distribution supp

If our drugs fail to achieve or maintain marketegtance, we will not be able to generate significamenues in future periods.
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Government and other third-party payors seek to contain costs of health care through legidative and other means. If they fail to provide
coverage and adeguate reimbursement rates for our products, our revenueswill be harmed.

In both domestic and foreign markets, our salgwodflucts depend in part upon the availability aflaursement from third-party payors.
Third-party payors include government health programhb asdVledicare and Medicaid in the United Statestheachational health care syste
in many international markets, managed care prosjqeivate health insurers and other organizati@uwvernments and other third-party
payors seek to contain or reduce the costs ofthealt through various means, and in certain fargigrkets, pricing or profitability of
therapeutic and other pharmaceutical productshiestito governmental control. For example, KALYDEB®as been approved in Australia
and Canada, but we are still in discussions wilivent agencies regarding public reimbursementhercost of KALYDECO in these
countries. In the United States, there have beahye expect that there will continue to be, a nendd federal and state proposals to
implement similar governmental control. The ACAuggs discounts under the Medicare drug benefigam and increases the rebates paid
by pharmaceutical companies on drugs covered byiddied The ACA also imposes an annual fee, whichaases annually, on sales by
branded pharmaceutical manufacturers.

In addition, third-party payors attempt to conth&alth care costs by demanding price discountslmates and limiting both the types and
variety of drugs that they will cover and the amisuhat they will pay for drugs. As a result, thagy not cover or provide adequate payment
for our products. We might need to conduct postkeigmg studies in order to demonstrate the costesiffeness of our products or any other
future products to such payors’ satisfaction. Sstcldies might require us to commit a significanbant of management’s time and our
financial and other resources. Our products mightitimately be considered cost-effective. Adegquthird-party reimbursement might not be
available to enable us to maintain price leveldigeht to realize an appropriate return on ourestynent in product development.

Reimbursement rates vary according to the useeodithg and the clinical setting in which it is usety be based on payments allowec
lower-cost products that already are reimbursed, Inoeaincorporated into existing payments for ottr@ducts or services and may reflect
budgetary constraints and/or imperfections in thadised to calculate these rates. Net pricesréolugts are reduced by mandatory discounts
or rebates required by government health care pnogiand privately-negotiated discounts. While weehimplemented policies in an effort to
comply with mandated reimbursement rates, the féd®ral government, state governments and privaerg frequently pursue actions age
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies alletfiagthe companies have overstated prices in ¢odeflate reimbursement rates. Any
such action could adversely affect the pricingrod eevenues from our products.

Specialty pharmaceuticals are drugs that are pbestby specialist physicians to treat rare ortlifeeatening conditions and typically
address smaller patient populations. Each of ooalysets is a specialty pharmaceutical product, amdesearch and development programs ar
focused on developing additional specialty pharmgcal products. The increasing availability ane o$ innovative specialty pharmaceutici
combined with their relative higher cost as comgdoeother types of pharmaceutical products, isrivéngg to generate significant third-party
payor interest in developing cost-containment sgiats targeted to this sector. The increasing fiseaith technology assessments in markets
around the world and the financial challenges fanedhany governments may lead to significant advefects on our business.

Any legislation or regulatory changes or relaxatditaws that restrict imports of drugs from otleeuntries also could reduce the net price
we receive for our products.

If we market any of our productsin a manner that violates federal or state health care laws, including fraud and abuse laws, laws prohibiting
off-label promotion, disclosure laws or other similar laws, we may be subject to civil or criminal penalties.

We are subject to health care fraud and abuse kws, as the federal False Claims Act and thekdekback provisions of the federal
Social Security Act, laws prohibiting off-label ghact promotion and other similar state and fedieras and regulations. While we have a
corporate compliance program designed to actiwEptify, prevent and mitigate risk through the igmkntation of compliance policies and
systems and the promotion of a culture of compkaifove are found not to be in full compliance wihese laws our business could be
materially harmed.

The federal antkickback law prohibits knowingly and willfully offéng, paying, soliciting, receiving or providingmeineration, directly ¢
indirectly, in exchange for or to induce either thérral of an individual, or the ordering, furnisg, arranging for or recommending of an item
or service that is reimbursable, in whole or intpay a federal health care program, such as MeglicaMedicaid. The federal statute has beer
interpreted to apply to arrangements between
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pharmaceutical manufacturers on the one hand astfibers, patients, purchasers and formulary neasam the other hand, and therefore
constrains our marketing practices and our vargaugice arrangements with physicians, includingsptigns who make clinical decisions to
use our products. Although there are a numberadfitstry exemptions and regulatory safe harborseptioiy certain common activities from
prosecution, the exemptions and safe harbors avendnarrowly, and practices that involve remuneraihtended to induce prescribing,
purchasing or recommending may be subject to sgrati penalty if they do not qualify for an exengptior safe harbor.

Federal false claims laws prohibit any person fikgrawingly presenting, or causing to be presentddisa claim for payment to the fede
government, or knowingly making, or causing to ke a false statement to get a false claim paiarrRaceutical companies have been
prosecuted under these laws for a variety of atlggemotional and marketing activities, such asjuliag free product to customers with the
expectation that the customers would bill federabpams for the product; reporting to pricing seed inflated average wholesale prices that
were then used by federal programs to set reimmeserates; engaging in promotion for uses thaFfbA has not approved, known as “off-
label” uses, that caused claims to be submittédedicaid for non-covered off-label uses; and subngtinflated “best price” information to
the Medicaid Rebate Program.

Although physicians are permitted, based on theidical judgment, to prescribe products for indmagi other than those approved by the
FDA, manufacturers are prohibited from promotingitiproducts for such off-label uses. We market AIECO for patients six years of age
and older with CF who have the G551D mutation girt@FTRgene and INCIVEK for adults with genotype 1 HCVeafion and provide
promotional materials and training programs to ptigas regarding the use of KALYDECO and INCIVEKthese patient populations. If the
FDA determines that our promotional materialsnirad or other activities constitute off-label pration, it could request that we modify our
training or promotional materials or other actedtior subject us to regulatory enforcement actioefyding the issuance of a warning letter,
injunction, seizure, civil fine and criminal pene#. It also is possible that other federal, stat®reign enforcement authorities might take
action if they believe that the alleged impropamotion led to the submission and payment of cldonsn offlabel use, which could result
significant fines or penalties under other stattrthorities, such as laws prohibiting false ckifior reimbursement. Even if it is later
determined we were not in violation of these laws,may be faced with negative publicity, incur #igant expenses defending our actions
have to divert significant management resourcas fother matters.

Also applicable to some of our practices is HIPA® éts implementing regulations, which created fatleriminal laws that prohibit
executing a scheme to defraud any health care ibpnefram or making false statements relatingealt care matters and which also impc
certain regulatory and contractual requirementandigg the privacy, security and transmission dhiidually identifiable health information.

The majority of states also have statutes or réiguis similar to the federal anti-kickback law datbe claims laws, which apply to items
and services reimbursed under Medicaid and otlgz programs, or, in several states, apply regssdiEthe payor. In addition, certain states
have laws governing the privacy of certain heaiforimation, which may differ from each other inrgfgcant ways and often are not preemg
by HIPAA, complicating compliance efforts. Sancgsamder these federal and state laws may includentonetary penalties, exclusion of a
pharmaceutical manufacturer’s products from reirsborent under government programs and criminal fidesn if we are not determined to
have violated these laws, government investigatiatosthese issues typically require the expenditfrsignificant resources and generate
negative publicity, which could harm our business.

In recent years, several states and localities bageted legislation requiring pharmaceutical camgmto establish marketing compliance
programs, file periodic reports with the state @k periodic public disclosures on sales, markepiniging, clinical trials, health care provider
payments and other activities. Additionally, astdithe ACA, the federal government recently eaddhe Physician Payment Sunshine Act
provisions. The Physician Payment Sunshine Actipions require pharmaceutical manufacturers tonteggmnually to the Secretary of HHS
payments or other transfers of value made by thigttyeo physicians and teaching hospitals. In Baby 2013, regulations were released that
contain detailed guidance regarding the informati@at must be collected and reported. We were requo begin collecting information
regarding such payments starting in August 2013veitidbe required to begin reporting such infornoatin March 2014. We are dedicating
significant resources to enhance our systems asakpses in order to comply with these regulatibagure to comply with the reporting
requirements would result in significant civil méagy penalties. The ACA also includes various mimns designed to strengthen significantly
fraud and abuse enforcement, such as increasethéuftat enforcement efforts and the lowering of thient requirement of the federal anti-
kickback statute and criminal health
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care fraud statute such that a person or entitpmger needs to have actual knowledge of this ®atuspecific intent to violate it.

If our past or present operations are found tanbgalation of any such laws or any other governtakregulations that may apply to us,
may be subject to penalties, including civil andninal penalties, damages, fines, exclusion frodefal health care programs and/or the
curtailment or restructuring of our operations. Tis& of our being found in violation of these laigsncreased by the fact that many of them
have not been fully interpreted by the regulatartharities or the courts, and their provisions subject to a variety of interpretations. Any
action against us for violation of these laws, efeve successfully defend against them, could eaussto incur significant legal expenses and
divert our management’s attention from the openatibour business.

The sales and marketing practices of our indusagetbeen the subject of increased scrutiny frorariddand state government agencies,
and we believe that this trend will continue. Weda place policies to govern how we may retaialtiecare professionals as consultants tha
reflect the current climate on this issue and ao®iding training on these policies. Any action exgaus for violation of these laws, even if we
successfully defend against them, also could casige incur significant legal expenses and divartrnanagement’s attention from the
operation of our business.

Changesin health care systems could hinder or prevent commercial success of our products and drug candidates.

The United States federal government and otherrgovents are pursuing various changes in the healthsystem. Any government-
adopted measures could adversely affect the prfifgalth care products, including our approvestipcts and/or any future drug candidates
approved for sale. The continuing efforts of goweents, insurance companies, managed care orgamgatnd other payors for health care
products to contain or reduce health care costsadagrsely affect our ability to set prices we &ati are fair for our products or any drugs we
may develop and commercialize.

New laws, regulations and judicial decisions, ovmeterpretations of existing laws, regulations aedisions, relating to health care
availability, methods of delivery or payment fouds, or sales, marketing or pricing, may limit potential revenues, and we may need to
revise our research and development or commeraializ programs. The pricing and reimbursement enwirent may change in the future and
become more challenging for any of several reasnokiding policies advanced by the U.S. governnoerforeign governments, new health
care legislation or fiscal challenges faced by gowent health administration authorities. Specifigan the United States and some foreign
jurisdictions, there have been a number of legi@aind regulatory proposals and initiatives tongethe health care system in ways that ¢
affect our ability to sell products. Some of theseposed and implemented reforms have resultezhdd result, in reduced reimbursement
rates for our current or future products, which ldaadversely affect our business, operations amahfiial results. The ACA has far-reaching
consequences for biopharmaceutical companies $ikAsia result of this legislation, substantialres are being made to the current system
for paying for health care in the United States|uding changes made in order to extend medicatfiterio those who would otherwise lack
health insurance coverage. If reimbursement fopooducts is substantially less than we expedténftiture, or rebate obligations associated
with them are substantially increased, our busigestd be materially and adversely affected.

Further federal and state proposals and healthrefoems in and outside of the United States céioid the prices that can be charged for
our products and may further limit our commercipportunity. Our results of operations could be mally adversely affected by the ACA, by
the Medicare prescription drug coverage legislatinthe possible effect of such current or futeggslation on amounts that private insurers
will pay and by other health care reforms that hayenacted or adopted in the future.

Risks Related to Development, Clinical Testing anBegulation of Our Products and Drug Candidates

Our drug candidates remain subject to clinical testing and regulatory approval. |f we are unable to successfully devel op additional drug
candidates, our business will be materially harmed.

Our business depends upon the successful develdamérommercialization of additional drug candédafThese drug candidates are in
various stages of development and must satisfyaigostandards of safety and efficacy before tlaeybe approved for sale by the FDA or
comparable foreign regulatory authorities. To $atisese standards, we must allocate resources@ounvarious development programs and
must engage in expensive and lengthy testing oflowg candidates. Discovery and development effortaew pharmaceutical products,
including new combination therapies, are resountenisive and may take 10 to 15 years or longeedoh drug candidate. Despite our efforts,
our drug candidates may not:
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» offer therapeutic or other improvement over exgiompetitive drug

* be proven safe and effective in clinical tri

* meet applicable regulatory standa

» be capable of being produced in commercial quast#it acceptable costs

» if approved for commercial sale, be successfullyked as pharmaceutical produ

We have ongoing or planned clinical trials for igkor, ivacaftor in combination with lumacaftor aiwdcaftor in combination with VX-
661. The strength of our company’s product portfalind pipeline will depend in large part upon thecomes of these clinical trials and our
ability to develop combination treatments for CRttimclude ivacaftor in combination with (i) lumdima or VX-661 and/or (ii) a next-
generation CFTR corrector compound. Results ottbnical trials and findings from our nonclinicalglies, including toxicology findings in
nonclinical studies conducted concurrently witimicial trials, could lead to abrupt changes in araopment activities, including the possible
cessation of development activities associated avjparticular drug candidate or program. Furtheanmsults from our clinical trials may not
meet the level of statistical significance requibydthe FDA or other regulatory authorities for epgl of a drug candidate.

Many companies in the pharmaceutical and bioteagyoindustries, including us, have suffered sigaifit setbacks in later-stage clinical
trials even after achieving promising results ifieastage clinical trials. Accordingly, the resufrom completed preclinical studies and
clinical trials may not be replicated in later fial trials, and ongoing clinical trials for ounudy candidates may not be predictive of the results
we may obtain in latestage clinical trials or of the likelihood of apped of a drug candidate for commercial sale. Inithoid, from time to time
we report interim data from our clinical trialsténm data from a clinical trial may not be predietof final results from the clinical trial.

We are planning to develop co-formulated lumacaftor/ivacaftor using a continuous manufacturing process, and any failure to establish and
validate our manufacturing process could adversely affect our ability to obtain approval for and launch lumacaftor in combination with
ivacaftor.

We are planning to use a continuous manufactuninggss to manufacture co-formulated lumacaftoraftac tablets. Continuous process
manufacturing connects the processes used initmagitbatch manufacturing and uses on-line momgpin order to increase control of the
manufacturing process. We have not previously aesigimplemented or utilized a continuous manufaoguprocess to produce commercial
guantities of a pharmaceutical product and beltbaé we would be the first company to seek appriraan NDA or an MAA using this
method of manufacturing. As a result, there ish that we will encounter technical difficultiestime design, implementation or use of our
continuous manufacturing process for the manufaaéico-formulated lumacaftor/ivacaftor that welwibt be able to overcome, or overcome
in a timely manner. In addition, it may be mordidiflt to satisfy regulators that our process ipatale of consistently producing commercial
guantities of co-formulated lumacaftor/ivacaftodahat our methods for testing the quality, puaitd potency of the final products are
sufficient. We also initially plan to primarily niebn a single validated third-party source to paalumacaftor in combination with ivacaftor,
and to use the new manufacturing facility we atal#ishing as a secondary source. Our continuousifaaturing process will be subject to
inspections by or under the authority of the FDA &y or under the authority of other federal, statd foreign regulatory authorities. Any
failure to establish and validate our continuousiafacturing process for co-formulated lumacaft@daftor or any disruption in our supply
chain could increase costs or adversely affecability to launch lumacaftor in combination withaisaftor in a timely manner. In addition,
there can be no assurance that if we fail, or emesulelays with respect to our continuous manufaw process of lumacaftor/ivacaftor, that
we will be able to establish and validate, or dshland validate in a timely manner, a non-cordgimimanufacturing process to manufacture
lumacaftor/ivacaftor.

If we are unable to obtain regulatory approval, we will be unable to commercialize our drug candidates.

Our drug candidates are subject to extensive gavental regulations relating to their developmelmja@al evaluation, manufacturing and
commercialization. Rigorous nonclinical testing afidical trials and an extensive regulatory aptqrocess are required in the United State
and in most other countries prior to the commersddd of drug candidates. Satisfaction of theseoéimer regulatory requirements is costly,
time-consuming, uncertain and subject to unanticipatdayd. It is possible that none of the drug cand&lave are developing will be appro
for marketing.

36




The time required to complete clinical trials andétisfy the FDA and other countries’ regulatayiew processes is uncertain and
typically takes many years. Our analysis of dataiolkd from nonclinical and clinical activitiesgabject to confirmation and interpretation by
regulatory authorities, which could delay, limitmmevent regulatory approval. We also may encoumanticipated delays or increased costs
due to government regulation from future legislatiys administrative action or changes in governm@gmlicy during the period of drug
development, clinical trials and governmental ragpry review.

Any failure to obtain regulatory approvals for agicandidate would prevent us from commercializivg drug candidate. Any delay in
obtaining required regulatory approvals could maligradversely affect our ability to successfutiymmercialize a drug candidate.
Furthermore, any regulatory approval to marketugenay be subject to limitations that we do noteztn the indicated uses for which we
may market the drug. Any such limitations couldueglthe size of the market for the drug.

We also are subject to numerous foreign regulateguirements governing the conduct of clinicallgriananufacturing and marketing
authorization, pricing and third-party reimbursemé&ioreign jurisdictions have different approvabgedures than those required by the FDA,
and these jurisdictions may impose additional mgstequirements for our drug candidates. The foreggulatory approval process includes all
of the risks associated with the FDA approval pssagescribed above, as well as risks attributabileet satisfaction of foreign requirements.
Approval by the FDA does not ensure approval byilagry authorities outside the United States gut@val by a foreign regulatory author
does not ensure approval by the FDA. In additiba,RDA may not favorably consider data from clihic&ls conducted in foreign
jurisdictions.

If clinical trials are prolonged or delayed, our development timelines for the affected devel opment program could be extended, our coststo
develop the drug candidate could increase and the competitive position of the drug candidate could be adversely affected.

We cannot predict whether or not we will encoumteblems with any of our completed, ongoing or pkahclinical trials that will cause
us or regulatory authorities to delay or suspeimcell trials, or delay the analysis of data froor completed or ongoing clinical trials. Any of
the following could delay our development programs:

e ongoing discussions with the FDA or comparableifgn authorities regarding the scope or desigsuoftlinical trials and the number
of clinical trials we must conduct;

» delays in enrolling volunteers or patients ioliaical trials, including as a result of low nunmb@f patients that meet the eligibility
criteria for the trial;

» alower than anticipated retention rate of volurde® patients in clinical trial
» the need to repeat clinical trials as a resulhobnclusive results, unforeseen complicationsstirtg or clinical investigator errc
* inadequate supply or deficient quality of drug ddate materials or other materials necessary ®ctnduct of our clinical trial

» unfavorable FDA or foreign regulatory authoiitgpection and review of a manufacturing facilltat supplied clinical trial materials
or its relevant manufacturing records or a clinicial site or records of any clinical or precliaignvestigation;

» unfavorable scientific results from clinical triz

» serious and unexpected drug-related side-eféegisrienced by participants in our clinical triatsby participants in clinical trials
being conducted by our competitors to evaluate deuglidates with similar mechanisms of action arcttires to drug candidates that
we are developing;

« favorable results in testing of our competitaiglg candidates, or FDA or foreign regulatory autly approval of our competitors’
drug candidates; or

» action by the FDA or a foreign regulatory authotiyplace a clinical hold or partial clinical hadd a trial or compoun
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Our ability to enroll patients in our clinical tisain sufficient numbers and on a timely basisuisjsct to a number of factors, including the
size of the patient population, the nature of tteqzol, the proximity of patients to clinical Stehe availability of effective treatments for the
relevant disease, the number of other clinicaldmemgoing and competing for patients in the samdéation and the eligibility criteria for the
clinical trial. In addition, patients may drop aftour clinical trials or may be lost to follow-upedical evaluation after treatment ends, and thi
could impair the validity or statistical significes of the trials. Delays in patient enroliment nfareseen drop-out rates may result in increase
costs and longer development times.

We, our collaborators, the FDA or other applicalkeigulatory authorities may suspend clinical triafl& drug candidate at any time if we or
they believe the healthy volunteers or patientsigpating in such clinical trials are being expdde unacceptable health risks or for other
reasons. Any such suspension could materially adleaffect the development of a particular drugdidate and our business.

In July 2013, the FDA placed our U.S. clinical trial evaluating VX-135, a drug candidate for the treatment of HCV infection, on partial
clinical hold, and our business may be adversely affected if we cannot develop VX-135.

We have a collaboration for the development oftéGiv nucleotide analogue VX-135 as a potential treatt for HCV infection. In July
2013, the FDA placed a partial clinical hold on oagoing Phase 2 clinical trial in the United SsatéVX-135 in combination with RBV in
patients with genotype 1 HCV infection followingsasvation of reversible elevated liver enzymesatignts who received 400 mg of VX-135
in combination with RBV in a Phase 2 clinical trialEurope. Until the partial clinical hold has beesolved, we cannot pursue further
evaluation of VX-135 in the United States. Theradsassurance that the FDA will lift the partiahatal hold or that we will be able to
successfully develop VX-135. If we are not ableléwelop VX-135, or if our progress in developing &5 continues to be slowed
significantly, our business may be adversely aéféct

If our processes and systems are not compliant with regulatory requirements, we could be subject to restrictions on marketing our products
or could be delayed in submitting regulatory filings seeking approvals for our drug candidates.

We have a number of regulated processes and sy#tatrare required to obtain and maintain reguegamproval for our drugs and drug
candidates. These processes and systems are goljeatinual review and periodic inspection by Ei2A and other regulatory bodies. If
compliance issues are identified at any point edbvelopment and approval process, we may experigglays in filing for regulatory
approval for our drug candidates, or delays iniobig regulatory approval after filing. Any lateisdovery of previously unknown problems or
safety issues with approved drugs or manufactipingesses, or failure to comply with regulatoryuiegments, may result in restrictions on
such drugs or manufacturing processes, withdrafvéiugs from the market, the imposition of civilaiminal penalties or a refusal by the
FDA and/or other regulatory bodies to approve pegdipplications for marketing approval of new dragsupplements to approved
applications, any of which could have a materialemge effect on our business. In addition, we grarty to agreements that transfer
responsibility for complying with specified reguay requirements, such as filing and maintenanaearketing authorizations and safety
reporting or compliance with manufacturing requiests, to our collaborators and third-party manuwfises. If our collaborators or third-party
manufacturers do not fulfill these regulatory obtigns, any drugs for which we or they obtain apptenay be subject to later restrictions on
manufacturing or sale, which could have a matakrse effect on our business.

Risks Related to Collaborators, Manufacturing and Reliance on Third Parties

We face risksin connection with existing and future collaborations with respect to the development, manufacture and commercialization of
our products and drug candidates.

The risks that we face in connection with our cotri@nd any future collaborations include the follogy

»  Our collaborators may change the focus of teirelopment and commercialization efforts or mayehasufficient resources to
effectively develop our drug candidates. The gbiit some of our products and drug candidatesdolréheir potential could be
limited if collaborators decrease or fail to incsealevelopment or commercialization efforts relatethose products or drug
candidates.

« Any future collaboration agreements may haveetffect of limiting the areas of research and depelent that we may pursue, either
alone or in collaboration with third parties.
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e Collaborators may develop and commercializdyegitilone or with others, drugs that are similasrtoaompetitive with the drugs or
drug candidates that are the subject of their boHations with us.

» Our collaboration agreements are subject to tertivinander various circumstanc

We in-license VX-135 from Alios, and any loss ofsticense would materially harm our efforts to eiop an all-oral treatment regimen
for HCV infection.

We depend on third-party manufacturers, including a sole source manufacturer, to manufacture our products and the materials we require
for our clinical trials. We may not be able to maintain these relationships and could experience supply disruptions outside of our control.

We rely on a worldwide network of third-party maacturers to manufacture and distribute KALYDECa@aftor) and INCIVEK
(telaprevir) for commercial sale, and our drug ddatks for clinical trials. As a result of our eice on these third-party manufacturers and
suppliers, including a sole source supplier of oheur manufacturing processes, we could be subjesignificant supply disruptions outside
our control. Our supply chain for sourcing raw miatle and manufacturing drug product ready forribstion is a multi-step international
endeavor. Third-party contract manufacturers, idiclg some in China, supply us with raw materiafg] eontract manufacturers in the
European Union and the United States convert tteegenaterials into drug substance and convert thg slubstance into final dosage form.
Establishing and managing this global supply chedruires a significant financial commitment and ¢heation and maintenance of numerous
third-party contractual relationships. Although ateempt to effectively manage the business relakigps with companies in our supply chain,
we do not have control over their operations.

Supply disruptions may result from a number ofdagtincluding shortages in product raw materialsor or technical difficulties,
regulatory inspections or restrictions, shippingastoms delays or any other performance failurarythird-party manufacturer on which we
rely. Any supply disruptions could disrupt saleaf products and/or the timing of our clinicahts. Furthermore, we may be required to
modify our production methods to permit us to ecoimally manufacture our drugs for sale and our draigdidates for clinical trials. These
modifications may require us to re-evaluate ououeses and the resources of our third-party manurfeis, which could result in abrupt
changes in our production methods and supplies.

We require a supply of ivacaftor for commerciaks@s KALYDECO) and ivacaftor, lumacaftor and otlrey drug candidates for use in
our clinical trials. We obtain ivacaftor and lum#oato meet our commercial and clinical supply adeérough a third-party manufacturing
network. Our supply chain for KALYDECO includes@essource supplier for one of our manufacturingcpsses. A disruption in the
commercial supply of KALYDECO for patients wouldvgea significant impact on patients, our businegsaur product revenues. A
disruption in the clinical supply of ivacaftor aaicaftor in combination with lumacaftor could dethg completion of clinical trials and impact
timelines for filing an SNDA, NDA and comparabledign regulatory submissions. There can be no assarthat we will be able to establis
secondary manufacturer for all of our ivacaftorymeeds on a timely basis or at all.

In the course of providing its services, a contraahufacturer may develop process technology tlat¢he manufacture of our products
or drug candidates that the manufacturer ownsgeittdependently or jointly with us. This would iease our reliance on that manufacturer ol
require us to obtain a license from that manufaetur order to have our products or drug candidatesufactured by other suppliers utilizing
the same process.
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We may not be able to attract collaborators or external funding for the development and commercialization of certain of our drug candidates.

As part of our ongoing strategy, we may seek aatuli collaborative arrangements or external fundangertain of our development
programs and/or seek to expand existing collabmmatio cover additional commercialization and/oredepment activities. We have a number
of research programs and early-stage clinical dg@rneént programs, and we have entered into a ndnsxe collaboration agreement with
BMS to evaluate VX-135 in combination with daclatasAt any time, we may determine that in ordectmtinue development of a drug
candidate or program or successfully commerciaideug we need to identify a collaborator or amenelxpand an existing collaboration.
Potentially, and depending on the circumstancesnas desire that a collaborator either agree td faortions of a drug development program
led by us, or agree to provide all the funding dindctly lead the development and commercializatiba program. No assurance can be giver
that any efforts we make to seek additional coltabee arrangements will be successfully completed timely basis or at all. If we are une
to enter into acceptable collaborative relationshgme or more of our development programs couldeteeyed or terminated and the possibility
of our receiving a return on our investment in phegram could be impaired.

Werely on third partiesto conduct our clinical trials, and those third parties may not perform satisfactorily, including failing to meet
established deadlines for the completion of such trials or regulatory regquirements.

We rely on third parties such as contract researghnizations to help manage our clinical trialgess and on medical institutions and
clinical investigators to enroll qualified patiersisd conduct our clinical trials. Our reliance bade third parties for clinical development
activities reduces our control over these actigitigccordingly, these thirgarty contractors may not complete activities dmesitile, or may ni
conduct our clinical trials in accordance with riegory requirements or our trial design. If thelsied parties do not successfully carry out their
contractual duties or meet expected deadlines, aeba required to replace them. Although we belibat there are a number of other third-
party contractors we could engage to continue theBeities, it may result in a delay of the affetttrial. If clinical trials are not conducted in
accordance with our contractual expectations auleggry requirements, action by regulatory autl@sitnight significantly and adversely aff
the conduct or progress of these trials or in $pegircumstances might result in a requirement ¢haxial be redone. Accordingly, our efforts to
obtain regulatory approvals for and commercialiaedrug candidates could be delayed.

Risks Related to Intellectual Property
If our patents do not protect our drugs, or our drugsinfringe third-party patents, we could be subject to litigation and substantial liabilities.

We have numerous issued patents and patent ajpptisgtending in the United States, as well as @patts in other countries. Our
success will depend, in significant part, on odulitgito obtain and maintain U.S. and foreign patprotection for our drugs, their uses and our
processes, to preserve our trade secrets and tatepgthout infringing the proprietary rights dfitd parties. In particular, we believe that
composition-of-matter claims are the most signifigaatent claims for companies in our segment efpfiarmaceutical industry, which focuses
on small molecules that are new chemical compounisle we have patents or patent applications witmposition-of-matter claims for each
of our products and clinical drug candidates, @fyortion of these patents have been granted. Weothe certain that any patents will issue
from our patent applications or, even if patengsiésor have issued, that the issued claims willigeous with any significant protection against
competitive products or otherwise be valuable conciably.

Due to evolving legal standards relating to theeptbility, validity and enforceability of paterdsvering pharmaceutical inventions and
the scope of claims made under these patentspdity & maintain, obtain and enforce patentsnsertain and involves complex legal and
factual questions. U.S. and foreign patent apptioattypically are maintained in confidence foremipd of time after they initially are filed
with the applicable patent office. Similarly, pudation of discoveries in the scientific literaturféen lag behind actual discoveries.
Consequently, we cannot be certain that we orioensors were the first to invent, or the firsfite patent applications on, our products or (
candidates or their use. If a third party alsofilad a U.S. patent application relating to ourgwots or drug candidates or a similar invention,
we may have to participate in interference proaegsiio determine priority of invention and coulddmur patent position. Furthermore, we
may not have identified all U.S. and foreign patemt published applications that affect our busi®sblocking our ability to commercialize
our drugs or drug candidates.
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Our patents may be challenged by third partiesiltiag in the patent being deemed invalid, unerdalde or narrowed in scope, or the
third party may circumvent any such issued pateéxlsn, our pending patent applications may notéssund we may not receive any additional
patents. Our patents might not contain claimsdhatsufficiently broad to prevent others from aiiig our technologies. For instance, the
issued patents relating to our products or druglicites may be limited to a particular moleculenmlecules and may not cover similar
molecules that have similar clinical propertiesn€aquently, our competitors may independently agvebmpeting products that do not
infringe our patents or other intellectual property

The laws of many foreign jurisdictions do not paitmtellectual property rights to the same extnin the United States and many
companies have encountered significant difficuliregrotecting and defending such rights in forgignsdictions. If we encounter such
difficulties in protecting or are otherwise preatadfrom effectively protecting our intellectual pesty rights in foreign jurisdictions, our
business could be substantially harmed.

Because of the extensive time required for devetgntesting and regulatory review of a drug caatdidit is possible that, before a drug
candidate can be commercialized, the related patagtexpire or remain in force for only a shortipeifollowing commercialization of such
drug candidate, thereby reducing any advantagteeqgiatent. To the extent our drug candidates @reammercialized significantly ahead of
the expiration date of any applicable patent, dh&oextent we have no other patent protectioruch grug candidates, those drug candidates
would not be protected by patents, and we would tké/ solely on other forms of exclusivity, suchragulatory exclusivity provided by the
FDCA.

Risks Related To Our Operations
If we are unable to successfully implement our strategic plan, our business may be materially harmed.

Our strategy is to make focused investments tonhaad develop innovative drugs, while we contitmienarket our products to eligible
patients to generate revenues and maintain a stirmemgial position. We expect our total revenuedécline significantly in 2014 as compared
to 2013 as a result of expected decreases in INKI&d INCIVO revenues. While we are seeking toéase our revenues from KALYDEC
we do not believe that in the near term these pialeéncreased revenues will be sufficient to offsgpected declines in INCIVEK and INCIV
revenues. In order to maintain a strong finanaiesifion, we are focusing our investment on CF athdhacing our other research and early-
stage development programs.

We may not be able increase or sustain our revenostherapies for the treatment of CF, which vdomnake it difficult to maintain a
strong financial position and continue our researmth development investments at the levels we etlyrplan. In addition, there can be no
assurance that our development programs will beesstul or that our research programs will resuttrugs that we can successfully develop
and commercialize.

If we fail to manage our operations effectively, our business may suffer.

We have expanded our global operations and capesilivhich has placed, and will continue to plaignificant demands on our
management and our operational, research and geweld and financial infrastructure. To effectivalanage our business, we need to:

* implement and clearly communicate our corpovgitde strategie:
« enhance our operational and financial infrastrugtincluding our controls over records and infoiiog

* enhance our operational, financial and managéeprecesses, including our cross-functional denisi@king processes and our buc
prioritization systems;

e train and manage our global employee

» transition from a U.S.-centric company into agamization capable of developing and commerciadiznultiple drug candidates in
international markets; and

» enhance our compliance and legal resou
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Our transition to our new corporate headquarters in Boston, Massachusetts could materially disrupt our business operations.

Our transition to our new corporate headquarteBoston, Massachusetts is complicated and requgés expend significant logistical
and financial resources in 2014. Our corporate tpeaders and primary research facilities were ledta Cambridge, Massachusetts in close
proximity to numerous other biotechnology compasiese our founding in 1989. While we do not exghetmove to result in significant
turnover, we cannot be sure that we will be ablestain all our key scientific, commercial and mgement employees.

We are conducting a staggered move of employeéese@ind laboratory supplies and certain equiprfremt our previous facilities to our
new corporate headquarters. The transition mayecdigsuptions to our business operations in Masss#tts, including disruptions to our use
of certain laboratories and other research andldpwent facilities that were not included in theudary 2014 move of a majority of our
employees. We also need to complete the decommisgiof our existing facilities in Cambridge, Maskasetts in a timely and cost-effective
manner. Our business operations could be matehalisned if the disruptions to our use of certabolatories and other research and
development facilities are more significant thapested.

Our business has a substantial risk of product liability claims. |f we do not obtain appropriate levels of insurance, product liability claims
could adversely affect our business.

Our business exposes us to significant potentadypet liability risks that are inherent in the dieyenent, clinical testing, manufacturing
and sales and marketing of human therapeutic ptediée have product liability insurance and clihicil insurance in amounts that we
believe are adequate to cover this risk. Howewuarjrmsurance may not provide adequate coveragastgatential liabilities. If a claim is
brought against us, we might be required to pagillagd other expenses to defend the claim, asasgihy uncovered damages awards resi
from a claim brought successfully against us aeddétdamages could be significant and have a madsiarse effect on our financial
condition. Furthermore, whether or not we are wdtialy successful in defending any such claims, wghhbe required to direct significant
financial and managerial resources to such defandeadverse publicity is likely to result.

Risks associated with operating in foreign countries could materially adversely affect our business.

We have expanded our international operations thepast several years in order to market KALYDE&d expand our research and
development capabilities. In 2013, a substantidiqmo of our revenues and expenses were associatiedur foreign operations. In addition, a
significant portion of our commercial supply chaim;luding sourcing of raw materials and manufdotyris located in China, Japan and the
European Union. Consequently, we are, and williooetto be, subject to risks related to operatinfpieign countries. Risks associated with
conducting operations in foreign countries include:

» differing regulatory requirements for drug apprevahd regulation of approved drugs in foreign coes
» collectibility of accounts receivab

* unexpected changes in tariffs, trade barriers agdlatory requiremen

e economic weakness, including inflation, or politizestability in particular foreign economies andrikets
» compliance with tax, employment, immigration anbidalaws for employees living or traveling abrc

» foreign taxes, including withholding of payroll &s

» foreign currency fluctuations, which could resolincreased operating expenses or reduced regeand other obligations incident to
doing business or operating in another country;

» workforce uncertainty in countries where labor @hie more common than in the United St:
» production shortages resulting from any eventsctifig raw material supply or manufacturing capébii abroad; ar

* business interruptions resulting from gaalitical actions, including war and terroris
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These and other risks associated with our intesnatioperations could materially adversely affeatlousiness.

In addition, our international operations are sabje regulation under U.S. law. For example, theelgn Corrupt Practices Act prohibits
U.S. companies and their representatives fromiaffjepromising, authorizing or making paymentsdmefgn officials for the purpose of
obtaining or retaining business abroad. In manyht@s, the health care professionals we regulatgract with may meet the definition of a
foreign government official for purposes of the &gn Corrupt Practices Act. We also are subjeanfmort/export control laws. Failure to
comply with domestic or foreign laws could resalvarious adverse consequences, including thelpgestlay in approval or refusal to
approve a product, recalls, seizures, withdrawalofpproved product from the market, the impasitibcivil or criminal sanctions, the
prosecution of executives overseeing our internatioperations and corresponding bad publicity rmeghtive perception of our company in
foreign countries.

If we acquire or license technologies, resources or drug candidates, we will incur a variety of costs and may never realize benefits from the
transaction.

If appropriate opportunities become available, wghtlicense or acquire technologies, resourcagysior drug candidates. We might
never realize the anticipated benefits of suckastction, and we may later incur impairment clargkated to assets acquired in any such
transaction. In particular, due to the risks innéie drug development, we may not successfullyettgy or obtain marketing approval for the
drug candidates we acquire. For example, in 2018waared intangible asset impairment charges 68% million relating to drug candidates
for the treatment of HCV infection. Future licensesacquisitions could result in potentially dikdiissuances of equity securities, the
incurrence of debt, the creation of contingentiliads, impairment expenses related to goodwilld @mpairment or amortization expenses
related to other intangible assets, which coulanhaar financial condition.

If wefail to attract and retain skilled employees, our business could be materially harmed.

Because our drug discovery and development aetsvire highly technical in nature, we require #r@ises of highly qualified and trained
scientists who have the skills necessary to contheéste activities. In addition, we need to atteaxdt retain employees with experience in
marketing and commercialization of medicines. Weefantense competition for our personnel from ampetitors and other companies
throughout our industry. Moreover, the growth afdbbiotechnology companies and the expansion gdmpharmaceutical companies into the
Boston area have increased competition for thdahlaipool of skilled employees, especially in taichl fields, and the high cost of living in
Massachusetts makes it difficult to attract empémsyffom other parts of the country to Massachudet@ddition, our October 2013
restructuring activities may make it more diffictdtattract and retain qualified employees. Oulitglib commercialize our products, and
achieve our research and development objectivegndis on our ability to respond effectively to theemands. If we are unable to hire and
retain qualified personnel, there could be a matedverse effect on our business.

The loss of the services of key employees or the failure to effectively integrate key employees could negatively affect our business.

Our future success will depend in large part onatnility to retain the services of our key sciagntdnd management personnel and to
integrate new scientific and management persomt@lour business. A loss of key personnel or aifaito properly integrate new personnel
could be disruptive. We have entered into employtragreements with some executives and provide cosgpen-related benefits to all of our
key employees that vest over time and thereforedadhem to remain with us. However, the employnagméements can be terminated by the
executive on relatively short notice. The valuemaployees of stock-related benefits that vest tiee—such as options and restricted stock—
is significantly affected by movements in our stpeice, and may at any point in time be insuffitiencounteract more lucrative offers from
other companies. A failure to retain, as well asHrain and effectively integrate into our orgaation a sufficient number of qualified
scientists, professionals, sales personnel andrser@nagement would negatively affect our business.

If we do not comply with laws regulating the protection of the environment and health and human safety, our business could be adversely
affected.

Our research and development efforts involve throtied use of hazardous materials, chemicalsvanidus radioactive compounds.
Although we believe that our safety procedureshondling and disposing of these materials compti tie standards prescribed by state,
federal and foreign regulations, the risk of acotdecontamination or injury from these materiads ©ot be eliminated. If an accident occurs,
we could be held liable for resulting damages, Witiculd be substantial. We also are subject to nomseenvironmental, health and workplace
safety laws and regulations, including
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those governing laboratory procedures, exposubdotad-borne pathogens and the handling of bioharerdnhaterials. Although we maintain
workers’ compensation insurance to cover us fotscage may incur due to injuries to our employeasilteng from the use of these materials,
this insurance may not provide adequate coveragmsigpotential liabilities. We maintain insurartoecover pollution conditions or other
extraordinary or unanticipated events relatinguouwse and disposal of hazardous materials thédieleve is appropriate based on the small
amount of hazardous materials we generate. Additif@uleral, state and local laws and regulatiofectihg our operations may be adopted in
the future. We may incur substantial costs to cgmpth, and substantial fines or penalties if welaie, any of these laws or regulations.

Risks Related to Holding Our Common Stock and Potdial Financing Activities
Our stock price may fluctuate.

Market prices for securities of companies suchuas are highly volatile. From January 1, 2012 te@&@wgber 31, 2013, our common stock
traded between $32.04 and $89.96 per share. Theetrfar our stock, like that of other companieshia biotechnology industry, has
experienced significant price and volume fluctuagioThe future market price of our securities cdddsignificantly and adversely affected by
factors such as:

» the information contained in our quarterly eags releases, including our net product revenudoparating expenses for completed
periods and guidance regarding future periods;

» announcements of FDA actions with respect todsugs or our competitors’ drugs, or regulatorindis for our drug candidates or
those of our competitors, or of results of clinité@ls or nonclinical studies relating to our dsudrug candidates or those of our
competitors;

e prescription data and other information disctbbg thirdparties regarding our business or prodi

» technological innovations or the introduction ofwng@rugs by our competitol

e government regulatory actic

* public concern as to the safety of drugs develdpeds or our competitol

» developments in patent or other intellectual propeghts or announcements relating to these g

» developments in domestic and international goveraigolicy or regulation, for example, relatingimdellectual property right

» developments relating specifically to other camips and market conditions for pharmaceuticalldogtchnology stocks or stocks in
general;

» business development, capital structuring or fiframactivities; an
» general worldwide or national economic, politicatiacapital market conditior
Our quarterly operating results are subject to significant fluctuation.

Our operating results have fluctuated from quddejquarter in the past, and we expect that thelyowittinue to do so in the future. Factors
that have caused quarterly fluctuations in the pedtide variable amounts of net product revenuescallaborative revenues, impairment
charges, charges for excess and obsolete invesitotianges in the fair value of derivative instrateend the deconsolidation of Alios. We
cannot accurately predict our future revenues fooimproducts, and our revenues from our produatédoeary on a quarterly basis. Our
revenues from our products may be affected by, gnotimer factors, seasonality and the timing of cadieom our significant customers. Our
quarterly results also could be significantly aféztby significant charges, which may or may nosipailar to charges we have experienced in
the past. Most of our operating expenses relateitoesearch and development activities, do not giectly with the amount of revenues and
are difficult to adjust in the short term. As auksif revenues in a particular quarter are betoyectations, we are unlikely to proportionately
reduce operating expenses for that quarter. Themaes are only illustrative and other risks, udthg those discussed in these “Risk
Factors,” could also cause fluctuations in our regmbfinancial results. Our operating results dgiamy one period do not necessarily suggest
the results of future periods.
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We expect that results from our clinical development activities and the clinical development activities of our competitorswill continue to be
released periodically, and may result in significant volatility in the price of our common stock.

Any new information regarding our products and dragdidates or competitive products or potentiedlynpetitive drug candidates can
substantially affect investorgerceptions regarding our future prospects. Wegcollaborators and our competitors periodicallyvitle update
regarding drug development programs, typically tigio press releases, conference calls and preserstati medical conferences. These
periodic updates often include interim or finaluks from clinical trials conducted by us or oungeetitors and/or information about our or our
competitors’expectations regarding regulatory filings and sugsions as well as future clinical development ofmeducts or drug candidat:
competitive products or potentially competitive glieandidates. The timing of the release of inforomaby us regarding our drug development
programs is often beyond our control and is infekeshby the timing of receipt of data from our dalitrials and by the general preference
among pharmaceutical companies to disclose cligiatl during medical conferences. In addition,itfiemation disclosed about our clinical
trials, or our competitors' clinical trials, may based on interim rather than final data that maglve interpretation difficulties and may in a
event not accurately predict final results.

We could be negatively affected by securities class action complaints.

On September 6, 2012, a purported securities alas®n lawsuit was commenced in the United Staisgitt Court for the District of
Massachusetts under the captity of Bristol Pension Fund v. Vertex Pharmacealidncorporated, et al. naming as defendants us and
certain of our current and former officers and clioes. The lawsuit alleges that we made materiatepresentations and/or omissions of
material fact in our public disclosures during gregiod from May 7, 2012 through June 28, 2012inalliolation of Section 10(b) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, atal Rb-5 promulgated thereunder. By order datecebBber 12, 2012, the court appointed
the City of Bristol lead plaintiff and appointecetiCity of Bristol's attorneys lead counsel. Thenifis filed an amended complaint on Febrt
11, 2013. We filed a motion to dismiss the comglaimApril 12, 2013. On May 28, 2013, the plairgified an opposition to our motion to
dismiss the complaint. On June 27, 2013, we fileepdy in further support of our motion to dismike plaintiffs' complaint. The court
conducted a hearing on our motion to dismiss ondither 25, 2013. The plaintiffs seek unspecified etay damages on behalf of the
putative class and an award of costs and expeinshsgling attorney's fees, as well as disgorgeroéttie proceeds from certain individual
defendants' sales of our common stock. We belieakethis action is without merit and intend to chefét vigorously. This action will take time
and money to defend and may distract us from miardyztive activities. No assurance can be provitiatdwe will be successful in defending
this claim or that insurance proceeds will be sigfit to cover any liability under such claims.

We may need to raise additional capital that may not be available.

We expect to incur significant losses in 2014 alithough we do not have any plans to do so in &a term, we may in the future need to
raise additional capital. Any potential public affe or private placement may or may not be sintitathe transactions that we have complete
in the past. Any debt financing may be on terms, #ta@ong other things, include conversion feattlmas could result in dilution to our then-
existing security holders and restrict our abitiiypay interest and dividends—although we do niatnid to pay dividends for the foreseeable
future. Any equity financings would result in dilut to our then-existing security holders. If adagufunds are not available on acceptable
terms, or at all, we may be required to curtaihgigantly or discontinue one or more of our reséadrug discovery or development programs
including clinical trials, incur significant caskiecosts, or attempt to obtain funds through ageaments with collaborators or others that may
require us to relinquish rights to certain of ceehinologies, drugs or drug candidates. Based ory faators, including general economic
conditions, additional financing may not be avdiatin acceptable terms, if at all.

I ssuances of additional shares of our common stock could cause the price of our common stock to decline.

As of December 31, 2013 , we had 233.8 million skaf common stock issued and outstanding. As céBwer 31, 2013, we also had
outstanding options to purchase 15.7 million shafemmmon stock with a weighted-average exercige wf $44.40 per share. Outstanding
vested options are likely to be exercised if thekagprice of our common stock exceeds the appkcakercise price, and, in the future, we
expect to issue additional options and restrictedksto directors and employees. In addition, we saue additional common stock or
restricted securities in the future as part oftiiciag activities or business development activitied any such issuances may have a dilutive
effect on our then-existing shareholders. Salesib§tantial amounts of our common stock in the aparket, or the availability of such shares
for sale, could adversely affect the price of aummon stock. The issuance of restricted commorksipcommon stock upon
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exercise of any outstanding options would be diejtand may cause the market price for a shararaf@mmon stock to decline.

We have adopted anti-takeover provisions and are subject to Massachusetts corporate laws that may frustrate any attempt to remove or
replace our current management or effectuate a business combination involving Vertex.

Our corporate charter and by-law provisions andddelusetts state laws may discourage certain dffesnsactions involving an actual
or potential change of control of Vertex that migktbeneficial to us or our security holders. Charter provides for staggered terms for the
members of the Board of Directors. Our by-laws gtha directors a right to adjourn annual meetiofgshareholders, and certain provisions of
our by-laws may be amended only with an 80% shaddeh@ote. We may issue shares of any class aessefipreferred stock in the future
without shareholder approval and upon such ternmia8oard of Directors may determine. The rigtitthe holders of common stock will be
subject to, and may be adversely affected by,igigs of the holders of any class or series oferefl stock that may be issued in the future.
Massachusetts state law prohibits us from engagisgecified business combinations, unless the awatibn is approved or consummated
prescribed manner, and prohibits voting by anyeimader who acquires 20% or more of our voting lsteithout shareholder approval. As a
result, shareholders or other parties may findaterdifficult to remove or replace our current mgemaent.

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K and, in particutae description of our Business set forth in Itenthe Risk Factors set forth in this
Item 1A and our Management’s Discussion and AnalgsiFinancial Condition and Results of Operatiseisforth in Item 7 contain or
incorporate a number of forward-looking statemevithin the meaning of Section 27A of the Securitted of 1933, as amended, and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1834amended, including statements regarding:

e our expectations regarding the amount of, tinahgnd trends with respect to our revenues, @sisexpenses and other gains and
losses, including those related to net productmegs from KALYDECO and INCIVEK;

e our expectations regarding clinical trials, depenent timelines and regulatory authority filingsd submissions for ivacaftor,
lumacaftor, VX-135 and VX-661;

* our expectations regarding the timing of daterfrour clinical trials of ivacaftor and lumacafiorcombination with ivacaftor, the
possibility of using that data to support regulgtsubmissions and the timing of those potentiahsigbions;

e our ability to successfully market our productsay of our other drug candidates for which we abtagulatory approve

* our expectations regarding the timing and stmecof clinical trials of our drugs and drug carades, including, ivacaftor, lumacaftor,
VX-135 and VX-661, and the expected timing of ceceipt of data from our ongoing and planned clinicals;

« the data that will be generated by ongoing dadned clinical trials and the ability to use thata to advance compounds, continue
development or support regulatory filings;

» our beliefs regarding the support provided ligichl trials and preclinical and nonclinical stesliof our drug candidates for further
investigation, clinical trials or potential useaayeatment;

* our plan to continue investing in our reseancti development programs and our strategy to devaloplrug candidates, alone or with
third party-collaborators;

» the establishment, development and maintenancellaborative relationship
» potential business development activit

e our estimates regarding the charges associatecbwitctober 2013 workforce reduction and our otkstructuring activitie
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e our ability to use our research programs totiieand develop new drug candidates to addressiusediseases and significant unmet
medical needs; and

» our liquidity and our expectations regarding thegibility of raising additional capiti

Any or all of our forward-looking statements inglAnnual Report on Form 10-K may turn out to bengroThey can be affected by
inaccurate assumptions or by known or unknown risicg uncertainties. Many factors mentioned in #miaual Report on Form 10-K will be
important in determining future results. Conseqglyenio forward-looking statement can be guarantéetlial future results may vary
materially from expected results. We also providaationary discussion of risks and uncertaintieden “Risk Factors” above in this Item 1A.
These are factors and uncertainties that we thonlkdccause our actual results to differ materifdiyn expected results. Other factors and
uncertainties besides those listed there couldadsersely affect us.

Without limiting the foregoing, the words “belieyé&anticipates,” “plans,” “intends,” “expects” argimilar expressions are intended to
identify forward-looking statements. There are enbar of factors and uncertainties that could caaseal events or results to differ materially
from those indicated by such forwalmbking statements, many of which are beyond ouatro, including the factors and uncertaintiesfeeth
under “Risk Factors” above in this Item 1A. In aduh, the forward-looking statements contained imerepresent our estimate only as of the
date of this filing and should not be relied upsmrepresenting our estimate as of any subsequent\thile we may elect to update these
forward-looking statements at some point in therfeitwe specifically disclaim any obligation to simto reflect actual results, changes in
assumptions or changes in other factors affectileh $orward-looking statements.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

We did not receive any written comments from theusies and Exchange Commission prior to the d&8@days before the end of the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 regardingitimgg$ under the Securities Exchange Act of 193amended, that have not been resolvec

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
Corporate Headquarters

In the first quarter of 2014, we relocated our cogte headquarters from Cambridge, Massachusetistoonnected buildings that were
built in Boston, Massachusetts. We lease approxiydtl million square feet of office and laborgtspace in these two buildings pursuant to
two leases that we entered into in May 2011. Thede commenced in December 2013 and will exteridadember 2028. We have an
option to extend the term of the leases for antamtdil ten years. In addition, in connection witlr celocation to Boston, we entered into a
lease in June 2012 for approximately 100,000 sdfieeteof space in the Boston Marine Industrial Parlclose proximity to our corporate
headquarters. We are using this additional spaceeftain logistical and laboratory operations arahufacturing equipment that will
complement the office and laboratory facilitieoat corporate headquarters.

Transition to Corporate Headquarters

We are completing the transition to our new corfleeadquarters in Boston from our previous faedjtwhich were located in
Cambridge, Massachusetts. A majority of our Masssetis-based employees were relocated to the ngwrabe headquarters in January
2014. We expect to complete the relocation of oasshchusetts-based employees to our new facititise first half of 2014.

Existing Facilities in Cambridge, Massachust

We currently lease approximately 100,000 squaredekaboratory and office space for our formerpmmate headquarters, which were
located at 130 Waverly Street, and approximateB;a30 square feet of laboratory and office spa@®datSidney Street, located adjacent ta
former corporate headquarters. The 130 WaverheSted 200 Sidney Street leases expire on DeceBih@015. We lease approximately
145,000 square feet at 88 Sidney Street, CambriMgssachusetts under a lease that expires in Di#e /e are in the process of
decommissioning our existing laboratory facilitetshese locations.

The lease for our Kendall Square, Cambridge, Mdmssatts facility will expire in 2018. We have swdsed approximately 145,000 square
feet of the Kendall Square facility, and used #maining 147,000 square feet of space we
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lease for our research operations prior to thece¢ion. The subleases are for terms ending in 20th,one sublease having an extension
option to 2018.

Additional United States and Worldwide Locati

In addition to our facilities in Massachusetts, le@se an aggregate of approximately 242,000 sdeet®f space in facilities located in
California, Washington D.C., lowa, Canada, Switzed, the United Kingdom, France, Germany, Austréledand, Spain and the Netherlands.
This includes laboratory and office space to suppor research and development organizations inCiago, California, Montreal, Canada,
Coralville, lowa and Milton Park, Abingdon, England

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On September 6, 2012, a purported shareholder atdiss, City of Bristol Pension Fund v. Vertex Pharmacealidncorporated, et al.
was filed in the United States District Court foetDistrict of Massachusetts, naming us and cedfagur current and former officers and
directors as defendants. The lawsuit alleges tleatmade material misrepresentations and/or omissibmeterial fact in our public disclosures
during the period from May 7, 2012 through JuneZt8,2, all in violation of Section 10(b) of the 8dties Exchange Act of 1934, as amen
and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder. By ordexddBiecember 12, 2012, the court appointed thedEiBristol lead plaintiff and appointed
the City of Bristol's attorneys lead counsel. Thariffs filed an amended complaint on February 2013. We filed a motion to dismiss the
complaint on April 12, 2013. On May 28, 2013, thaimtiffs filed an opposition to our motion to digsa the complaint. On June 27, 2013, we
filed a reply in further support of our motion tisihiss the plaintiffs' complaint. The court condutt hearing on our motion to dismiss on
November 25, 2013. The plaintiffs seek unspecifiexhetary damages on behalf of the putative cladsaraward of costs and expen:
including attorney's fees, as well as disgorgemétite proceeds from certain individual defendasafes of our common stock. We believe
this action is without merit and intend to defendigorously.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOC KHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market I nformation

Our common stock is traded on The NASDAQ Globak8eMarket under the symbol “VRTX.” The followinghile sets forth for the
periods indicated the high and low sale pricesspare of our common stock as reported by NASDAQISktarket LLC:

Year Ended December 31, 2013: High Low

First quarter $ 55.9: $ 42.7:

Second quarter 87.4% 51.2¢

Third quarter 89.9¢ 73.45

Fourth quarter 78.3¢ 58.0¢
Year Ended December 31, 2012: High Low
First quarter $ 43.1: % 32.0¢
Second quarter 66.1( 35.2¢
Third quarter 59.9¢ 46.0¢
Fourth quarter 60.0C 38.4¢

Shareholders
As of January 31, 2014 , there were 1,844 holdersaord of our common stock.

Performance Graph

CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
Based on Initial Investment of $100 on December2808
with dividends reinvested (fiscal years ended Ddimm31)
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In 2013, we became part of the Standard & Poofs(SB&P 500 ") Stock Index. As a result, this year we are idatg the cumulative
total return of that index in addition to the brasglity market indexes we included in our annupbreon Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2012.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocommon stock, and we currently expect thgtfature earnings will be retained
for use in our business.

I ssuer Repurchases of Equity Securities

The table set forth below shows all repurchasesotirities by us during the three months ended kee31, 2013 :

Total Number of Shares Maximum Number of
Purchased as Part of Shares that May Yet
Total Number Average Price Publicly Announced be Purchased Under
Period of Shares Purchased Paid per Share Plans or Programs the Plans or Programs
Oct. 1, 2013 to Oct. 31, 2013 21,837 $ 0.01 — —
Nov. 1, 2013 to Nov. 30, 2013 462,19¢ $ 0.01 — —
Dec. 1, 2013 to Dec. 31, 2013 20,287 $ 0.01 — —

The repurchases were made under the terms of oended and Restated 2006 Stock and Option Plan.rihideplan, we award shares
restricted stock to our employees that typically subject to a lapsing right of repurchase by us.ritdy exercise this right of repurchase if a
restricted stock recipient’s service to us is teated. If we exercise this right, we are requiedepay the purchase price paid by or on behalf
of the recipient for the repurchased restrictedeshavhich typically is the par value per shar8@01. Repurchased shares returned to the
Amended and Restated 2006 Stock and Option Plaavaikable for future awards under the terms ofptiag.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following unaudited selected consolidated foialndata are derived from our audited consolidéitezhcial statements. These data

should be read in conjunction with our audited afidated financial statements and related notesatteincluded elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K and with “Management’s Discassind Analysis of Financial Condition and Resaft©perations” included in Item 7
below.

@)

@)

(©)

4)
®)

(6)

Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Consolidated Statements of Operations Datz

Product revenues, net $ 837,64: $ 1,33345 $ 950,88¢ $ — —
Royalty revenues 156,59: 141,49t 50,01¢ 30,24 28,32(
Collaborative revenues (1) 217,73t 52,08¢ 409,72: 113,12¢ 73,56¢

Total revenues 1,211,97! 1,527,04. 1,410,62 143,37( 101,88t
Total costs and expenses (2) 2,115,42. 1,524,711 1,296,80 839,44 715,90:
Income (loss) from operations (903,449 2,33 113,82( (696,07") (614,017
Net loss (income) attributable to noncontrolling

interest (Alios) (3) 242 ,52: (55,897 (11,609 — —

Net income (loss) attributable to Vertex (4) $  (445,02) $  (107,03) $ 29,57¢ § (754,620 $ (642,179

Net income (loss) per diluted share attributable
to Vertex common shareholders $ (1.9¢) $ (050 $ 01£ $ 3.77) % (3.7

Shares used in per diluted share calculation: 224,90t 211,94t 208,80 200,40: 173,25¢

As of December 31,
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable

securities $ 1,46507 $ 1,321,21' $ 968,92: $ 103141 $ 1,284,911
Total assets 2,319,04 2,759,28: 2,204,28! 1,725,441 1,955,48:
Total current liabilities 397,82 432,62: 392,34¢ 474,78 284,88:
Long-term debt obligations (5) — 400,00( 400,00( 400,00( 159,97:
Construction financing lease obligation (6) 440,93 268,03: 55,95( — —
Other long-term obligations 123,871 424,25: 390,47( 346,69( 414,28

In 2013, we recorded $203.4 million of cobbastive revenues from Janssen Pharmaceutica N\¢hwiras primarily attributable to a 2013 amendment t
our collaboration agreement with Janssen. In 2@&lrecognized $318.5 million in milestone reveniuesm Janssen and Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma
Corporation. See Note B, "Collaborative Arrangeragnt

In 2013 and 2012 , total costs and expens#isdad an aggregate of $10.4 million and $133.3anil, respectively, of write-offs for excess arbsolete
inventories. See Note G, "Inventories." In 201&taltcosts and expenses included intangible asgetirment charges of $663.5 million . In 2011 atot
costs and expenses included an intangible asseirimgnt charge of $105.8 million . See Note J digfible Assets and Goodwill."

Net loss (income) attributable to noncontrollingeiest (Alios) relates to our collaboration withigs BioPharma, Inc, which we deconsolidated &
December 31, 2013. See Note B, "Collaborative Ayeanments," and Note J, "Intangible Assets and Gdbtiwi

In 2013, net loss attributable to Vertex int#d a deconsolidation gain of $68.2 million reddteAlios. See Note B, "Collaborative Arrangemer

In 2013, $400.0 million in aggregate print¢ipmount of convertible senior subordinated notkee (2015) was converted into common stock or reddem
See Note L, "Convertible Senior Subordinated Nbtes.

In 2011 , we entered into two leases for arporate headquarters, which we occupied in Dece2®E3. We are deemed for accounting purposes to be
the owner of the buildings. See Note I, "Fan Pieades."
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL C ONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
OVERVIEW

We are in the business of discovering, developimgnufacturing and commercializing small moleculegdt We invest in scientific
innovation to create transformative medicines fatignts with serious diseases in specialty markats.business is focused on developing anc
commercializing therapies for the treatment of icysibrosis, or CF, and advancing our other redeartd early-stage development programs,
while maintaining our financial strength.

Since mid-2011, we have obtained approval for,iaitidted commercial sales of, our first two prothlud{ALYDECO (ivacaftor) and
INCIVEK (telaprevir). KALYDECO is approved in therited States and international markets for thermeat of patients six years of age anc
older with CF who have a specific genetic mutatiotheir cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductaregeilator, oiICFTR,gene, which is
referred to as the G551D mutation. INCIVEK is apa in the United States and Canada for the tregtofeadults with genotype 1 hepatiti:
virus, or HCV, infection. Our collaborators, Jamsg$armaceutica NV, or Janssen, and Mitsubishi Bafdarma Corporation, or Mitsubishi
Tanabe, market telaprevir in other internationatkats. Our fourth quarter 2013 net product revennelsided KALYDECO net product
revenues of $109.4 million and INCIVEK net produetenues of $19.4 million .

Cystic Fibrosis

Our plan is to (i) increase the number of patiethtgible for treatment with ivacaftor, (ii) evalgaivacaftor in combination with lumacaftor
for the treatment of patients with CF who havertiwst prevalent mutation in thédFTRgene and (iii) research and develop earlier-stage
compounds for the treatment of CF.

Our net product revenues from KALYDECO have incegbsn a quarterly basis since we obtained markejopgoval in the first quarter
2012. KALYDECO was approved in 2012 in the Unitadt8s and European Union as a treatment for pateith CF six years of age and
older who have the G551D mutation in theFTRgene. We believe that most patients with CF sixgye&age and older who have the G551D
mutation in the United States and Europe haveestdreatment with KALYDECO. In 2013, we submittedupplemental New Drug
Application, or sNDA, to the U.S. Food and Drug Adistration, or FDA, and a Marketing Authorizatidypplication, or MAA, variation in th
European Union seeking approval to market ivacdttothe treatment of patients with CF six yearagé and older who have specified other
mutations in theiCFTRgene, which were studied in our first label-expansilinical trial for ivacaftor. The FDA has setaaiget date of March
27, 2014 to complete its review of this SNDA unttex Prescription Drug User Fee Act (PDUFA). We as® seeking to expand the number o
patients eligible for treatment with ivacaftor bydvaluating ivacaftor as a potential treatmemtfatients with CF who have residual CFTR
function, including patients with CF who have the1RH mutation in theiCFTRgene, and (ii) evaluating ivacaftor as a potetitedtment for
patients with CF two to five years of age who hapecific mutations in theltFTRgenes. In addition, we are in discussions withviaaté
agencies in Australia and Canada regarding puelinbiursement of the cost of KALYDECO for patients$tmCF six years of age and older in
these countries who have the G551D mutation irr tBETRgene.

In October 2013, we completed enroliment in a Pl3adevelopment program to evaluate combinationgamfaftor and lumacaftor, our
most advanced investigational CFTR corrector comgdoithe Phase 3 development program includes twsd8 clinical trials, referred to as
TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT, that each enrolled patid2tyears of age and older with CF who have twoenffiomozygous) of the F508del
mutation in theilCFTRgene. We expect data from TRAFFIC and TRANSPORioh2014. If TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT are successful,
we plan to submit a New Drug Application, or NDA,the FDA and an MAA in the European Union, in seeond half 2014.

We are evaluating VX-661, a second investigati@mI'R corrector, in combination with ivacaftor, ihde 2 clinical development. We
also are seeking to identify and develop next-geier CFTR corrector compounds that could be evetlian regimens combining ivacaftor
with two CFTR corrector compounds.

HCV Infection

Over the past several years, we have obtained ohosir product revenues from INCIVEK sales and fmmlia large portion of our
resources on commercializing INCIVEK and seekindawelop other drug candidates for the treatmeht@V infection. Our INCIVEK net
product revenues have been declining on a quattedis since reaching a peak in the fourth quaft2011, and declined rapidly over the
course of 2013, including a 77% decline in INCIVEEt product
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revenues in the fourth quarter of 2013 as comptardiae third quarter of 2013. We expect this tremdontinue as a result of the introduction ir
the fourth quarter of 2013 of new competitive tipdea for the treatment of HCV infection.

In 2013, in response to declining sales of INCIV&#d increased competition, we reduced our focublN@iVEK, and based on addition
information regarding our HCV drug development dgdatks and advances made by our competitors, werétt significant impairment
charges related to our HCV drug development canegas follows:

Impairment of VX-222n the first quarter of 2013, we recorded a $41ilon intangible asset impairment charge based on
determination that the fair value of our indefiditeed in-process research and development asisg¢deto VX-222, a drug we were
developing for the treatment of HCV infection, tdetreased to zero. In connection with this impaiebarge, we recorded a credit
of $127.6 million in our provision for income taxemd the net effect of this impairment charge am@crease in the net loss
attributable to Vertex of $285.3 million in 2013.

Workforce Reductionin the fourth quarter of 2013, we reduced our wairgé by eliminating approximately 370 full-time gams
globally, representing an approximately 15% redaurctn our workforce. The eliminated positions irded the portion of our U.S.
field-based sales force focused on promoting INGHVE the second half of 2013, we incurred appratety $39.0 million in
restructuring charges related to this workforceuotidn. We expect the restructuring to result sigmificant reduction in our sales,
general and administrative expenses in 2014 as axadpo 2013.

VX-135.In the fourth quarter of 2013, we recorded a $2BailBon intangible asset impairment charge, based determination that
the fair value of our indefinite-lived in-procesesearch and development asset related to our HEMatide analogue (VX-135)
program was impaired. In connection with this innpeEnt charge, a benefit for income taxes was rebrédlated to the reversal of a
deferred tax liability, and we deconsolidated oarable interest entity, Alios BioPharma, Inc. Adios, as of December 31, 2013. The
consolidation of Alios into our financial statemeifitom June 2011 through December 2013, the impaitrcharge related to our HC
nucleotide analogue program in the fourth quart®04.3 and the related deconsolidation of Aliosehbad a material effect on our
consolidated statements of operations. The impaiticigarge resulted in the deconsolidation of Aliag a gain of $68.2 million
attributable to Vertex in 2013. The gain of $68.lion is approximately equal to the differenceweeén (i) losses we recorded in
2011 and 2012 based on increases in the fair wdloentingent milestone payments and royalties pkgyby us to Alios and (ii) an
aggregate of $120.0 million in up-front and miles@ayments that we made to Alios. We are in dsons with Alios and Bristol-
Myers Squibb, or BMS, regarding potential next st further clinical evaluation of VX-135 in comnlation with BMS's daclatasvir.

In 2014, we expect that only a small portion of pat product revenues will be due to INCIVEK anditth relatively small portion of our
research and development expenses will be relatedrtdrugs and drug candidates for the treatmieiHxy infection.

Research and Early-Stage Development

We are engaged in a number of other research alydstage development programs, including programkarateas of oncology, multig
sclerosis and other serious and rare diseases.t@y&ast year, we have evaluated in Phase 2 alitrials: VX-509, our JAK3 inhibitor, in
patients with rheumatoid arthritis and VX-787, aglicandidate for the treatment of influenza A. \WWeeseeking collaborators to advance the
clinical development of VX-509 and VX-787. We plancontinue investing in our research programs@bag our early-stage development
programs, and fostering scientific innovation iderto identify and develop transformative medisin&'e believe that pursuing research in
diverse areas allows us to balance the risks inb@redrug development and may provide drug candglthat will form our pipeline in future
years.

Balance Sheet

As of December 31, 2013, we had cash, cash equisaded marketable securities of approximately Bbillion , which represented an
increase of $143.9 million from $1.32 billion as@écember 31, 2012. This increase was the reschsif received from product sales,
royalties, issuances of common stock pursuant fg@ae benefit plans and other financing activjtaffset by cash expenditures to operate
our business. We amended our collaboration agreewiinJanssen to provide Janssen a fully-paichiegto market INCIVO in return for a
$152.0 million payment. Beginning in 2014, we witl longer receive royalties based on sales of INZIW order to further strengthen our
balance sheet, we converted $400.0 million in agapeprincipal amount of our 3.35% convertible sesubordinated notes due 2015, or 201!
Notes, intc8.3
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million shares of our common stock in 2013, redganr future cash commitments by the principal anmhad the 2015 Notes plus the
associated future interest payments.

Drug Discovery and Development

Discovery and development of a new pharmaceutizalyzt is a difficult and lengthy process that fieggisignificant financial resources
along with extensive technical and regulatory etipetand can take 10 to 15 years or more. Potedrigl candidates are subjected to rigorous
evaluations, driven in part by stringent regulatooysiderations, designed to generate informatiorwerning efficacy, side-effects, proper
dosage levels and a variety of other physical dmnical characteristics that are important in deieing whether a drug candidate should be
approved for marketing as a pharmaceutical proddicst chemical compounds that are investigatecbéenpial drug candidates never progr
into development, and most drug candidates thaiddance into development never receive marketipgospl. Because our investments in
drug candidates are subject to considerable ng&slosely monitor the results of our discoveryessh, clinical trials and nonclinical studies,
and frequently evaluate our drug development progrim light of new data and scientific, business eammercial insights, with the objective
of balancing risk and potential. This process esult in relatively abrupt changes in focus andryi as new information becomes available
and we gain additional understanding of our ong@irggrams and potential new programs as well asetlob our competitors.

If we believe that data from a completed registrapprogram support approval of a drug candidatesuinnit an NDA to the FDA
requesting approval to market the drug candidatearlnited States and seek analogous approvatsdomparable regulatory authorities in
foreign jurisdictions. To obtain approval, we mushong other things, demonstrate with evidenceegathin nonclinical studies and well-
controlled clinical trials that the drug candidaeafe and effective for the disease it is intenidetreat and that the manufacturing facilities,
processes and controls for the manufacture of thg candidate are adequate. The FDA and foreigmatary authorities have substantial
discretion in deciding whether or not a drug caatidshould be granted approval based on the beaefit risks of the drug candidate in the
treatment of a particular disease, and could déayt, or deny regulatory approval. If regulatorgldys are significant or regulatory approval is
limited or denied altogether, our financial resualtal the commercial prospects for the drug candinablved will be harmed.

Regulatory Compliance

Our marketing of pharmaceutical products, whichareip 2011, is subject to extensive and compleslamd regulations. We have a
corporate compliance program designed to actiwEptify, prevent and mitigate risk through the igmkntation of compliance policies and
systems and the promotion of a culture of compkaranong other laws, regulations and standardsre@eubject to various U.S. federal and
state and comparable foreign laws pertaining tdtheare fraud and abuse, including anti-kickbac# false claims statutes, and laws
prohibiting the promotion of drugs for unapprovedpff-label, uses. Anti-kickback laws make it gkd for a prescription drug manufacturer to
solicit, offer, receive or pay any remuneratiorekthange for, or to induce, the referral of busipesluding the purchase or prescription of a
particular drug. False claims laws prohibit any&oen presenting for payment to third-party payamsjuding Medicare and Medicaid, claims
for reimbursed drugs or services that are falseamdulent, claims for items or services not predds claimed or claims for medically
unnecessary items or services. We expect to cantmdevote substantial resources to maintain, midtar and expand these compliance
programs globally.

Continuous Manufacturing

We are planning to use a continuous manufactuninggss to manufacture co-formulated lumacaftoriaachaftor tablets. We have
established continuous manufacturing capabilittesua third-party manufacturer in the United Kingaowhich was used to produce a portion
of the clinical trial supplies for our Phase 3 wal trials of lumacaftor in combination with ivdtar, and are in the process of establishing
continuous manufacturing capabilities and seekalglation for these capabilities at our new fagildcated in Boston, Massachusetts. We are
upgrading the continuous manufacturing processiathird-party manufacturer and are scheduled tproproducing co-formulated lumacaftor
and ivacaftor intended for commercial use in mid£20Continuous process manufacturing connectsrbeepses used in traditional batch
manufacturing and uses on-line monitoring in otdancrease control of the manufacturing processil®\ive believe continuous process
manufacturing has a number of benefits, we hav@ramtiously designed a continuous manufacturinggss to produce commercial quantities
of a pharmaceutical product, and we believe thaivaeld be the first company to seek approval foN&A or an MAA using this method of
manufacturing. As a result, we also have designedested a
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non-continuous process for manufacturing co-forteaddumacaftor and ivacaftor tablets that we waddk to utilize if we experience delays
associated with the continuous manufacturing pmces

Operations

We are moving our corporate headquarters from abeurof buildings in Cambridge, Massachusetts intorew facility in Boston,
Massachusetts. A majority of our Massachusettsebas®loyees were relocated to our new corporatddusaters in January 2014. We expec
to complete the relocation of our Massachusettedamployees to our new facilities in the firstfledl2014. This move allows us to
consolidate our headquarters into one campus asatepur physical infrastructure, including ourdediories and other research facilities. In
order to manage the expansion of our internatiopafations and move to our new headquarters, wen@eld to enhance our cross-functional
operational, financial and management processde whitinuing to attract and maintain highly sldllemployees. We are decommissioning
our existing laboratory facilities at our Cambridgeations. We expect to incur restructuring changgated to lease obligations for facilities in
Cambridge through 2018, with the majority of thebarges being incurred during 2014.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

2013/2012 2012/2011
Comparison Comparison
Increase/(Decrease) Increase/(Decrease)
2013 2012 2011 $ % $ %
(in thousands) (in thousands, except percentages)
Revenues $ 1,211,970 $ 1,527,04. $ 1,410,621 $ (315,06) )% $ 116,41¢ 8%
Operating costs and expenses 2,115,42. 1,524,711 1,296,801 590,71 39% 227,90« 18%
Other income (loss), net 215,89¢ (53,46 (72,64) n/a n/a 19,17 26%
Net loss (income) attributable to noncontroll
interest (Alios) 242,52. (55,89) (11,609 n/a n/a 44,29: 382%
Net income (loss) attributable to Vertex $ (445029 $ (107,03) $ 29,57+ (337,990 (316% n/a n/a

Net I ncome (Loss) Attributable to Vertex

Net income (loss) attributable to Vertex, revenaied operating expenses have been affected by ydhidtuating INCIVEK and
KALYDECO net revenues and significant intangibleetsmpairment charges and inventory write-offamtyithe three year period ended
December 31, 2013. In 2014, we expect most of eugnmues will be due to KALYDECO sales and that vilkimcur a substantial net loss.

Comparison of Net Income (Loss) Attributable tot®e2013 vs. 2012

Net loss attributable to Vertex was $445.0 millior2013 compared to net loss attributable to Veae®107.0 million in 2012 . Our
revenues decreased in 2013 as compared to 201t duk695.5 million decrease in INCIVEK revenueriplly offset by a $199.6 million
increase in KALYDECO revenues and a $165.7 millierease in collaborative revenues. Our operatoggscand expenses increased in 2013
as compared to 2012 primarily due to an aggrede®®@s.5 million in intangible asset impairment aies related to VX-222 and VX-135 and
a $112.6 million increase in research and developmepenses, partially offset by a $74.5 milliocmase in sales, general and administrative
expenses and an aggregate of $133.2 million inafgstoduct revenues due to charges for excessbsalete INCIVEK inventories that we
incurred in 2012.

In 2013, the deconsolidation of Alios resulted igaen of $68.2 million attributable to Vertex. T$68.2 million gain is approximately
equal to the difference between (i) losses we dEmbin 2011 and 2012 based on increases in thedhie of contingent milestone payments
and royalties payable by us to Alios and (ii) thgr@gate of $120.0 million in upfront and milestgayments that we made to Alios. In 2012 ,
the fair value of contingent milestone and royalyments payable by us to Alios increased by $1d#llbn , which increased net loss
attributable to Vertex in 2012 on a dollar-for-@dolbasis.

Comparison of Net Income (Loss) Attributable tot®e2012 vs. 2011

Net loss attributable to Vertex was $107.0 millior2012 compared to net income attributable to &edf $29.6 million in 2011 . Our
revenues increased in 2012 as compared to 201tbdu$210.9 million increase in INCIVEK net produevenues and a $171.6 million
increase in KALYDECO net product revenues, patftiaffset by a significant decrease in collaboratieéenues. Our operating costs and
expenses increased in 2012 as compared to 201andyirdue to a $98.5 million increase in reseanctl development expenses, a $36.1
million increase in sales, general and administeagixpenses and an aggregate of $133.2 millionshaf product revenues due to charges for
excess and obsolete INCIVEK inventories that weiired in 2012. These increases were partially bffgea $105.8 million intangible asset
impairment charge in 2011 that had a net effeaietrincome attributable to Vertex of $73.1 milliom 2012 and 2011, the fair value of
contingent milestone payments and royalties paylaples to Alios increased by $115.0 million and $7@illion , respectively, which
increased the net loss attributable to Vertex ihi228nd decreased net income attributable to Vémt@011 on a dollar-for-dollar basis.

Stock-based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense was $127.3 milath4.3 million and $118.2 million in 2013 , 2042d 2011 , respectively.
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Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Vertex per Ditlfghare

In 2013 and 2012, net loss attributable to Vertexs %1.98 and $0.50 , respectively, per dilutedesHar2011 , we had net income
attributable to Vertex of $0.14 per diluted share.

Common Shares Outstanding

Our shares of outstanding common stock increasedi®ymillion shares from 217.3 million shares cecBmber 31, 2012 £33.8 million
shares on December 31, 2013 due to our issuarR@. B of approximately 8.3 million shares of comnstock in connection with the
conversions of our 2015 Notes and 8.2 million shafecommon stock issued pursuant to our emplogiaéyeprograms. Our shares of
outstanding common stock increased by 8.0 millizaras from 209.3 million shares on December 31120217.3 million shares on
December 31, 2012 as a result of shares issuedgnirt our employee equity programs.

Revenues
2013/2012 2012/2011
Comparison Comparison
Increase/(Decrease) Increase/(Decrease)
2013 2012 2011 $ % $ %
(in thousands) (in thousands, except percentages)
Product revenues, net $ 83764 $ 133345 $ 950,88¢ $ (495,81) 3% $ 382,56 40%
Royalty revenues 156,59: 141,49¢ 50,01¢ 15,09« 11 % 91,48: 182 %
Collaborative revenues 217,73t 52,08¢ 409,72; 165,65: 31 % (357,63 (87)%
Total revenues $ 1,211,970 $ 1,527,04 $ 1,410,620 $ (315,06) (1% $ 116,41 8%
Product Revenues, Net
2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)
INCIVEK $ 466,36( $ 1,161,81 $ 950,88
KALYDECO 371,28t 171,64! —
Total product revenues, net $ 837,64! $ 133345 $ 950,88¢

Our total net product revenues decreased by 3726018 as compared to 2012 due to decreased INCI\&Enoduct revenues, partially
offset by increased KALYDECO net product revenu@st total net product revenues increased by 402012 as compared to 2011 due to
increased INCIVEK net product revenues and KALYDE@G# product revenues in 2012 for which there wereomparable revenues in
2011 . In 2014, we expect that total net produeemneies will decline due to significant expectedrdases in INCIVEK net product revenues,
partially offset by expected increases in KALYDE@E&X product revenues.

Our KALYDECO net product revenues have increased qnarterly basis since we began marketing KALYQEG the first quarter of
2012. We believe that most patients with CF sixyed age and older who have the G551D mutatigherlUnited States and Europe have
started treatment with KALYDECO. We expect that KADECO net product revenues will increase furthe2di4 as a result of geographic
expansion, including potentially obtaining publ&mbursement for the cost of KALYDECO in Austradiad/or Canada, and potential label
expansions that could increase the number of patieith CF who are eligible for treatment with KADECO.

We began recognizing net product revenues frons sIENCIVEK in the second quarter of 2011. INCIVEt product revenues have
been declining on a quarterly basis since reachipgak in the fourth quarter of 2011 and were $i#ldon in the fourth quarter of 2013. Our
net product revenues from sales of INCIVEK declisezkply over the course of 2013, including a 7#dide in INCIVEK net product
revenues in the fourth quarter of 2013 as compirdioe third quarter of 2013. We expect INCIVEK pedduct revenues to continue to
decrease due to increased competition from thectwapetitive direct-acting antiviral therapies fhettreatment of HCV infection that were
approved by the FDA in the fourth quarter of 2013.
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Royalty Revenues

Janssen obtained approval to market INCIVO in thegean Union in the third quarter of 2011. Ouralbyrevenues increased by $15.1
million in 2013 as compared to 2012 principally dae $13.1 million increase in royalty revenuesiirsales of INCIVO by Janssen. Our
royalty revenues increased by $91.5 million in 2@$Zompared to 2011 due to $117.6 million of reresrecognized in 2012 from sales of
INCIVO by Janssen for which there were limited camgble revenues in 2011 . Beginning in the firgrtgr of 2014, Janssen has a fully-paid
license to market INCIVO in its territories, sultjgz continued payment of certain third-party raiges. In future periods, these third-party
royalties will result in royalty revenues and cepending offsetting royalty expenses. As a resdtexpect our royalty revenues to decrease
significantly in 2014 as compared to 2013. MitshbiBanabe's license to market telaprevir in Japdully paid.

We recognized royalty revenues related to saleSlayoSmithKline of an HIV protease inhibitor thaasvdiscovered and developed
pursuant to our collaboration with GlaxoSmithKlioe$25.6 million , $23.9 million and $29.7 millidn 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , respectively.
We sold our rights to these HIV royalties in 20084 one-time cash payment of $160.0 million .

Collaborative Revenues

Our collaborative revenues have fluctuated sigaiftty on an annual basis. This variability has béesto, among other things: the 2013
amendment of our collaboration agreement with dJam#sat resulted in significant collaborative rewesin the fourth quarter of 2013; the
recognition of significant milestone revenues frédamssen and Mitsubishi Tanabe in 2011; the 2009idment of our collaboration agreement
with Mitsubishi Tanabe, which provided for an up+ft payment that was recognized over the periat fiwe third quarter of 2009 through the
second quarter of 2012; and variable revenues easved from services we provided to Janssen ansluidishi Tanabe through our third-party
manufacturing network.

The table presented below is a summary of our lootktive revenues for 2013 , 2012 and 2011 :

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)

Collaborative revenues:

Janssen $ 203,437 $ 16,17¢ $ 274,39:
CFFT 14,32: 16,96( 13,65¢
Mitsubishi Tanabe — 18,87¢ 121,67t
Other (21) 69 =

Total collaborative revenues $ 217,73t $ 52,08t $ 409,72.

We recognized $203.4 million in Janssen collabeeatévenues in 2013, which were primarily attritilgato the $152.0 million payment
we received in the fourth quarter of 2013 purstiammtur amendment to the Janssen collaboration agnee These collaborative revenues also
included the acceleration of the remaining deferesgnues related to the up-front payment we reckfrom Janssen in 2006. In 2011, we
recognized $250.0 million in milestone revenuesaurlir collaboration agreement with Janssen fockttiere were no corresponding
milestone revenues in 2012 or 2013. As of DecerBheP013, there was $5.0 million in deferred revemnrelated to the Janssen collaboration.
We do not expect to recognize significant collabivearevenues related to the Janssen collaboratifuture periods.

In 2011, we recognized a $65.0 million commercidéstone payment from Mitsubishi Tanabe. In additivom the beginning of 2011
through the first quarter of 2012, we recognized$8illion per quarter in collaborative revenuelated to a one-time payment that we
received from Mitsubishi Tanabe in 2009. In 201l #re first half of 2012, we also recognized revesnelated to manufacturing services we
provided to Mitsubishi Tanabe through our thirdtpamanufacturing network. We have not recognizegdaoilaborative revenues from
Mitsubishi Tanabe since the first half of 2012 avill not recognize any future collaborative revesyirsuant to our collaboration agreement
with Mitsubishi Tanabe.
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Operating Costs and Expenses

2013/2012 2012/2011
Comparison Comparison
Increase/(Decrease) Increase/(Decrease)
2013 2012 2011 $ % $ %
(in thousands) (in thousands, except percentages)

Cost of product revenues $ 88,97¢ $ 236,74 $ 63,62 $ (147,76) 62% $ 17311 272 %
Royalty expenses 41,29¢ 43,14 16,88( (1,845 (4% 26,26 15€ %
Research and development expenses 918,78: 806,18! 707,70 112,59¢ 14 % 98,47¢ 14 %
Sales, general and administrative expense 362,34: 436,79t 400,72: (74,454 (17)% 36,07t 9 %
Restructuring expenses 40,52: 1,84« 2,074 38,671 2,097 % (230) (11)%
Intangible asset impairment charges 663,50( — 105,80( 663,50( n/a (105,801) (100)%
Total costs and expenses $ 211542, $ 1,524,711 $ 1,296,800 $ 590,71 3c0, $  227,90: 18 %

Cost of Product Revenues

Our cost of product revenues includes the costadycing inventories that corresponded to prodex¢nues for the reporting period, plus
the third-party royalties payable on our net saldCIVEK and KALYDECO. In addition, cost of prodtirevenues in 2013 and 2012
included an aggregate of $10.4 million and $133illan , respectively, in write-offs for excess aallsolete inventories.

Our cost of product revenues decreased in 2013 amdo 2012 as a result of decreased product uegesnd the $133.2 million in
charges for excess and obsolete INCIVEK inventdtias we incurred in 2012. Our cost of product resas increased in 2012 compared to
2011 due to our increased product revenues anchérges for excess and obsolete INCIVEK inventdtias we incurred in 2012, As of
December 31, 2013, we had $0.9 million in rema@riMNCIVEK inventories.

Royalty Expenses

Royalty expenses include third-party royalties fyaipon net sales of telaprevir by our collabasatnd royalty expenses related to a
subroyalty payable to a third party on net salesroHIV protease inhibitor sold by GlaxoSmithKlirRoyalty expenses in 2013 decreased
slightly as compared to 2012. Royalty expense®i?ancreased compared to 2011 primarily due toessed third-party royalties payable on
net sales of INCIVO by Janssen. Our royalty expemséuture periods will be dependent on our callalbors' net sales of telaprevir in their
territories. Royalty expenses also include a suditpypayable to a third party on net sales of av pilotease inhibitor sold by
GlaxoSmithKline. The subroyalty expense is offsealrorresponding amount of royalty revenues oassay GlaxoSmithKline of an HIV
protease inhibitor, the rights to which we solétthird party in 2008.

Research and Development Expenses

2013/2012 2012/2011

Comparison Comparison
Increase/(Decrease) Increase/(Decrease)

2013 2012 2011 $ % $ %

(in thousands) (in thousands, except percentages)
Research expenses $ 252,98¢ $ 235,58 $ 216,90: $ 17,40: % $ 18,68t 9%
Development expenses 665,79: 570,59 490,80: 95,19° 17% 79,79¢ 16%
Total research and development expense$ 918,78 ¢  806,18! $ 707,70t $ 112,59 14% $ 98,47¢ 14%

Our research and development expenses includaatt@nd external costs incurred for research amdldpment of our drugs and drug
candidates. We do not assign our internal costs) as salary and benefits, stock-based compensatimense, laboratory supplies and
infrastructure costs, to individual drugs or dragdidates, because the employees within our rédseart development groups typically are
deployed across multiple research and developnregtgms. These internal costs are significanthagnethan our external costs, such as the
costs of services provided to us by clinical reslear
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organizations and other outsourced research, whéctio allocate by individual program. All reseaestd development costs for our drugs anc
drug candidates are expensed as incurred.

To date, we have incurred in excess of $6.4 bililoresearch and development expenses associatedmg discovery and development.
The successful development of our drug candidatbgghly uncertain and subject to a number of ritkaddition, the duration of clinical tria
may vary substantially according to the type, caripy and novelty of the drug candidate and thealg indication being targeted. The FDA
and comparable agencies in foreign countries impabstantial requirements on the introduction efdlpeutic pharmaceutical products,
typically requiring lengthy and detailed laboratatyd clinical testing procedures, sampling actgitaind other costly and time-consuming
procedures. Data obtained from nonclinical andadinactivities at any step in the testing proaesy be adverse and lead to discontinuation c
redirection of development activities. Data obtdiffrem these activities also are susceptible tgingrinterpretations, which could delay, limit
or prevent regulatory approval. The duration amst ob discovery, nonclinical studies and clinigéls may vary significantly over the life of a
project and are difficult to predict. Thereforecaate and meaningful estimates of the ultimatésdmsbring our drug candidates to market are
not available.

Over the three year period ended December 31, 26dsts related to our CF and HCV programs haveesemted the largest portion of
development costs. Any estimates regarding devedopiaind regulatory timelines for our drug candidates highly subjective and subject to
change. We expect data from a Phase 3 clinicalldewent program to evaluate lumacaftor in combaorativith ivacaftor in mid-2014. If this
clinical development program is successful, we ptasubmit an NDA to the FDA and an MAA in the Epean Union in the second half of
2014. We cannot make a meaningful estimate whevgef, our other clinical development programs géherate revenues and cash flows.

Research Expenses

2013/2012 2012/2011
Comparison Comparison
Increase/(Decrease) Increase/(Decrease)
2013 2012 2011 $ % $ %
(in thousands) (in thousands, except percentages)
Research Expenses:
Salary and benefits $ 86,49¢ $ 78,48¢ $ 76,358 $ 8,011 10% $ 2,13: 3%
Stock-based compensation expense 27,59¢ 25,14 25,30 2,45; 10 % (15¢8) (1)%
Laboratory supplies and other direct

expenses 46,17: 40,00t 35,64: 6,16¢ 15% 4,364 12%
Contractual services 23,60( 21,47 13,21t 2,12¢ 10 % 8,25¢ 62 %
Infrastructure costs 69,11¢ 70,47 66,38¢ (1,359) (2)% 4,08¢ 6 %
Total research expenses $ 25298 $ 23558t $ 216,90. $ 17,40: 7% $ 18,68t 9%

Over the past three years we have maintained daslad investment in research activities resuliimg@ 7% increase in research expenses
in 2013 as compared to 2012 and a 9% increasesdareh expenses in 2012 as compared to 2011 . Péete continue to invest in our
research programs with a focus on identifying dvagdidates for specialty markets.
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Development Expenses

2013/2012 2012/2011
Comparison Comparison
Increase/(Decrease) Increase/(Decrease)
2013 2012 2011 $ % $ %
(in thousands) (in thousands, except percentages)
Development Expenses:
Salary and benefits $ 170,04: $ 147,57 $ 126,44. $ 22,46¢ 15% $ 21,13 17 %
Stock-based compensation expense 53,86¢ 46,38¢ 50,26¢ 7,48 16% (3,889 (8%
Laboratory supplies and other direct

expenses 47,79« 36,58¢ 33,58¢ 11,20¢ 31% 2,991 9%
Contractual services 244,77t 217,40t 149,03: 27,37. 13% 68,37: 46 %
Drug supply costs 38,76 14,04« 34,13: 24,72: 17€% (20,089 (59%
Infrastructure costs 110,54! 108,60: 97,33¢ 1,94¢ 2% 11,26¢ 12 %
Total development expenses $ 66579 $ 57059 $ 490,800 $ 95,197 17% $ 79,79¢ 16 %

Our development expenses increased by $95.2 mjllaorl7% , in 2013 as compared to 2012 and by8%T#llion , or 16% , in 2012 as
compared to 2011 . The increases in 2013 compar2di2 were principally due to the expansion aficll development programs in cystic
fibrosis, including the initiation of the Phaser®gram for the combination of lumacaftor and iva@afand increased drug supply costs
primarily related to lumacaftor. The increases®2in comparison to 2011 were principally duentréases in headcount and the expansi
our development efforts as we completed the registr programs for ivacaftor, prepared the reguefitings needed to obtain approval for
ivacaftor and continued the development of our iotlieg candidates.

Sales, General and Administrative Expenses

2013/2012 2012/2011
Comparison Comparison
Increase/(Decrease) Increase/(Decrease)
2013 2012 2011 $ % $ %
(in thousands) (in thousands, except percentages)
Sales, general and administrative expenses$  362,34: $ 436,79 $  400,72. $ (74,452 an% $ 36,07t 9%

Sales, general and administrative expenses dedrbgskEr% in 2013 compared to 2012, primarily duddoreased INCIVEK commercial
expenses and our October 2013 restructuring g@esyipartially offset by increased KALYDECO commiaf@xpenses. Sales, general and
administrative expenses increased by 9% in 201%eo0@d to 2011, primarily due to the expansion afglabal commercial organization to
support the launch of KALYDECO in North America aBdrope and increased INCIVEK marketing expenseseWpect that our sales,
general and administrative expenses will decraa2014 as compared to 2013 due to decreased comahsngport for INCIVEK.

Restructuring Expense

We reduced our workforce primarily related to comerad support of INCIVEK in the fourth quarter 0023, and we recorded $39.0
million of restructuring charges related to thesgtnucturing activities. We estimate that we wiltur aggregate restructuring charges of
approximately $2.0 million to $2.5 million in thatfire related to this restructuring. In 2013, weodlegan incurring restructuring charges
related to the relocation of our corporate headeusito Boston, Massachusetts from Cambridge, Massatts. These charges were not
significant in 2013, but we expect to incur appnoately $50.0 million in restructuring charges rethto this relocation in 2014.

Prior to the third quarter &013, our restructuring expense primarily relatecemaining lease obligations following restruatgractivities
in 2003. As of December 31, 2013, our accrueduesiring liability related to these lease obligasavas $19.1 million . In 2013, 2012 and
2011, we recorded restructuring expense relatedt@003 restructuring activities of $0.4 millip1.8 million and $2.1 million respectively
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Intangible Asset Impairment Charges

In 2013, we recorded a $412.9 million impairmerdrgfe related to VX-222, a non-nucleoside HCV polsase inhibitor. In connection
with this impairment charge, we recorded a creti#1®7.6 million in our provision for income taxessulting in a net effect on net loss
attributable to Vertex related to this impairmenaige of $285.3 million in 2013. In 2013, we alsoarded a $250.6 millioimpairment charg
related to the HCV nucleotide analogue (VX-135)goaon and a benefit for income taxes of $102.1 anilli

In 2011, we recorded a $105.8 million impairmerdarge related to VX-759, a non-nucleoside HCV polgase inhibitor. In connection
with this impairment charge, we recorded a crefi§32.7 million in our provision for income taxessulting in a net effect on net income
attributable to Vertex related to this impairmenage of $73.1 million in 2011.

There were no corresponding intangible asset impait charges in 2012.
Other Income (Loss), Net
Interest Expense, Net

Net interest expense increased by $7.7 million5186 , in 2013 from $15.0 million in 2012. Net irgst expense decreased by $22.7
million , or 60% , in 2012 from $37.7 million in 20Q.

Other Income (Expense), Net

In 2013, we recorded net other expense of $49.8omil primarily related to the deconsolidationAdfos. In 2011 , we recorded net other
expense of $15.7 million , primarily related to #mabedded and free-standing derivatives assoaigthdwo financial transactions that we
entered into in September 2009. Net other incon2di? was approximately $0.3 million .

Provision for (Benefit from) Income Taxes

In 2013, we recorded a benefit from income taxeb2®8.6 million . This benefit from income taxessymincipally due to a benefit of
$166.1 million attributable to noncontrolling ingst (Alios) and a benefit of $127.6 million relatecour impairment charge for the VX-222
intangible asset.

In 2012, we recorded a provision for income taxe$38.8 million . This provision for income taxessvprimarily due to a provision of
$39.0 million attributable to noncontrolling intst€Alios).

In 2011, we recorded a provision for income taxe$1®.3 million . This provision for income taxessvdue to a provision &48.8 millior
attributable to noncontrolling interest (Alios)attd to the accounting for the collaboration betw&kos and us, partially offset by a benefit
from income taxes of $32.7 million related to ompairment charge related to the VX-759 intangilsieet

Noncontrolling Interest (Alios)

A summary of net loss (income) attributable to rertoolling interest (Alios) in 2013 , 2012 , and120s as follows:

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)
Loss before provision for (benefit from) incomedax $ 283,74° $ 20,04 $ 9,53¢
Decrease (increase) in fair value of contingenéestdne and royalty payments 124,92( (114,970 (69,95()
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes (166,14%) 39,02¢ 48,80¢
Net loss (income) attributable to noncontrollinteiest (Alios) $ 242,52. $ (55,897 $ (11,609

In 2013, the impairment charge related to VX-138 eslated tax credit and the decrease in fair vafitthe contingent milestone payments
and royalties payable by us to Alios of $124.9imrllresulted in a net loss attributable to Aliossa#2.5 million .

The fair value of the contingent milestone paymemid royalties payable by us to Alios increase®b5.0 million and $70.0 million , in
2012 and 2011 , respectively, due to the advanceaieur HCV nucleotide analogue program. Increases
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in the fair value of the contingent milestone papteeand royalties payable by us to Alios resulted decrease in net income attributable to
Vertex (or an increase in net loss attributablgeéatex) on a dollar-for-dollar basis.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As of December 31, 2013 we had cash, cash equisaed marketable securities of approximately $biftion , which represented an
increase of $143.9 million from approximately $118fon as of December 31, 2012. This increase dwesto cash receipts from product sale:
and royalties, the $152.0 million payment we reedifrom Janssen in the fourth quarter of 2013 &&5® million in cash we received from
issuances of common stock pursuant to employedibptans, partially offset by cash expendituresmade during 2013 related to, among
other things, research and development expensesaées] general and administrative expenses, ajpmatedy $64.8 million in build-out costs
for our new corporate headquarters, and $135.0omifbr capital expenditures for property and equemt. In addition, in 2013, we began
supporting $31.9 million in irrevocable stand-bitdes of credit issued in support of property lsamed other similar agreements with an
unsecured credit facility with a one-year term. pveviously had cash-collateralized these standetigris of credit. As a result of this credit
facility, our restricted cash decreased by $3118aninet of other activity recorded during 2013Jasur cash and cash equivalents increased f
a corresponding amount.

As of December 31, 2012, we had $400.0 millionggragate principal amount of 2015 Notes. In additmthe $400.0 million in
aggregate principal amount, which was scheduledature on October 1, 2015, we were scheduled t@nma&rest payments in an aggregate
amount of $33.5 million during the period from J@B®% 2013 through October 1, 2015. In the secordtquof 2013, we called the 2015 Notes
for redemption. In response, the holders of thes20dtes converted their notes into 8.2 million sisasf our common stock and received an
additional 0.1 million shares of our common stazkdmpensate them for the semi-annual interest paythat would have been payable on
October 1, 2013. As of December 31, 2013, we ha20i® Notes outstanding and our future cash comemnitenhave been reduced by the
$400.0 million in aggregate principal of the 2018téE plus the associated future interest payments.

Sources of Liquidity

We intend to rely on cash flows from product sa@s®ur primary source of liquidity. Our cash flofnem product sales have been
decreasing in recent periods and, beginning in 2@&4will no longer receive cash flows from roya#tibased on sales of INCIVO by Janssen.
Our near-term cash flows from product sales wiltlbeendent on continued sales of KALYDECO, the amuies of our reimbursement
discussions with regulatory authorities in Austtalnd Canada, the outcomes of ongoing lekpknsion programs for ivacaftor and the Phe
clinical trials of lumacaftor in combination witkidcaftor. In recent periods, we also have recepiguificant proceeds from the issuance of
common stock under our employee benefit planstHaiamount and timing of future proceeds from erygdobenefits plans is uncertain. Othel
possible sources of liquidity include strategida@iobrative agreements that include research anéislopment funding, commercial debt,
public and private offerings of our equity and dséturities, development milestones and royaltiesabes of products, software and equipr
leases, strategic sales of assets or businessdimancial transactions.

Future Capital Requirements

We are incurring substantial operating expensesialuct research and development activities ancatpeur organization. In addition,
we have substantial facility and capital leasegaions, including leases for two buildings in BogtMassachusetts that continue through
2028.

We expect that cash flows from our products togethith our current cash, cash equivalents and ntabke securities will be sufficient to
fund our operations for at least the next twelvenths. The adequacy of our available funds to meefuiure operating and capital
requirements will depend on many factors, includimgamounts of future revenues generated by aatuysts and the potential introduction or
one or more of our other drug candidates to th&ketaand the number, breadth, cost and prospedsraesearch and development programs

Financing Strategy

Although we do not have any plans to do so in @ herm, we may raise additional capital througblip offerings or private placements
of our securities. In addition, we may raise additil capital through securing new collaborativeeagrents or other methods of financing. We
will continue to manage our capital structure amddnsider all financing opportunities, whenevaytmay occur, that could strengthen our
long-term liquidity profile. There can be no assumthat any such financing opportunities will baiable on acceptable terms, if at all.
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CONTRACTUAL COMMITMENTS AND OBLIGATIONS
The following table sets forth our commitments abdlgations as of December 31, 2013 :

Payments Due by Period

2014 2015-2016 2017-2018 2019 and later Total
(in thousands)
Fan Pier Leases $ 67,20t $ 134,41 $ 134,41 $ 752,79¢ % 1,088,82:
Facility operating leases, excluding Fan Pier Lease 60,64 87,59( 52,34 75,34 275,91¢
Capital lease obligations 19,957 30,15¢ 21,32¢ 2,121 73,55¢
Research, development and drug supply costs 17,617 — — — 17,61%
Other 6,76( 5,04( 84 — 11,88¢
Total contractual commitments and obligations $ 172,18. $ 257,197 $ 208,16: $ 830,26 $ 1,467,80:

Leases

In 2011, we entered into leases for two buildirga tvere constructed at Fan Pier in Boston, Massatts during the period from 2011
through 2013. These two buildings became our catpdreadquarters in January 2014. We commencesl pagsnents in December 2013 and
the initial lease periods end in December 2028.

Our future minimum commitments under our Kendall&g lease are included in "Facility operatingdsasxcluding Fan Pier Leases."
We have entered into two subleases for a portidghefentable square footage at the Kendall Scfaaility to offset our on-going contractual
lease obligations. The future minimum committecbime from the subleases is $8.5 million for 2014 $4d million for 2015 These amoun
are not offset against our obligations set fortthimtable above. See Note R, "Restructuring Exggh$o our consolidated financial statements
for further information.

The table also reflects leases of equipment, ledda@mprovements and software licenses that arewatted for as capital leases.
Research, Development and Drug Supply Costs

"Research, development and drug supply costs," doEisiclude certain payments we are obligated akerto clinical research
organizations, or CROs because these contractaaoelable, at our option, with notice. However,historically have not cancelled such
contracts. As of December 31, 2013, we had acc36dB million related to these contracts for castsirred for services provided through
December 31, 2013, and we have approximately $188li®n in cancelable future commitments baseceristing contracts as of
December 31, 2013 . These amounts reflect planxgehelitures based on existing contracts and doefiect any future modifications to, or
terminations of, existing contracts or anticipabegotential new contracts.

Collaborative Arrangements

We have entered into certain research and developro#iaboration agreements with third parties thalude the funding of certain
development, manufacturing and commercializatidoref with the potential for future milestone amyalty payments by us upon the
achievement of pre-established developmental, adgnyl and/or commercial targets. Our obligatiofuted these efforts is contingent upon
continued involvement in the programs and/or tlok laf any adverse events that could cause themiscmnce of the programs. Pursuant to
our collaboration with Alios, Alios is eligible t@ceive development milestone payments from updd$312.5 million if VX435 is approve
and commercialized. As of December 31, 2013, Aiad earned $60.0 million of these milestone payseti of which had been paid as of
December 31, 2013 . Alios also is eligible to reeesommercial milestone payments from us of upA®0$0 million , as well as tiered royalties
on net sales of approved drugs. We also have yogall milestone obligations to the Cystic Fibrdsisindation Therapeutics Incorporated.
Contingent payments under these agreements beaserend payable only upon achievement of certaiastuhes and are not included in the
contractual obligations table above.
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Tax-related Obligations

We exclude liabilities pertaining to uncertain fgositions from our summary of contractual obligati@s we cannot make a reliable
estimate of the period of cash settlement withréspective taxing authorities. As of December 31,2, we have $2.0 million of liabilities
associated with uncertain tax positions. As of Datzer 31, 2013 , we cannot reasonably estimatenttoeiat we expect to pay within the next
twelve months in connection with such settlements.

Other Funding Commitments

Our table detailing contractual commitments andgalblons does not include severance payment oliggto certain of our executive
officers in the event of a not-for-cause employntennination under existing employment contracte. Wwovide information regarding these
obligations annually in our proxy statement for annual meeting of shareholders.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Our discussion and analysis of our financial caaditind results of operations is based upon ousaatated financial statements prepz
in accordance with generally accepted accountiimgimes in the United States. The preparatiorhese financial statements requires us to
make certain estimates and assumptions that dfffeceported amounts of assets and liabilitiesdibelosure of contingent assets and liabil
at the date of the consolidated financial statemant the reported amounts of revenues and expduseg the reported periods. These items
are monitored and analyzed by management for clsandgacts and circumstances, and material chaingbegse estimates could occur in the
future. Changes in estimates are reflected in tegaesults for the period in which the change o&cWe base our estimates on historical
experience and various other assumptions that Vievbeao be reasonable under the circumstancesiahotsults may differ from our estimates
if past experience or other assumptions do notdutrio be substantially accurate.

We believe that our application of the followingcaanting policies, each of which requires significudgments and estimates on the par
of management, are the most critical to aid inyfuthderstanding and evaluating our reported fireneisults:

. revenue recognitio

. intangible asset

. consolidation and deconsolidation of variable ias¢entity
. accruals

. commercial supplies and inventor

. income taxes; ar

. leases

Our accounting policies, including the ones diseddselow, are more fully described in the Notesupconsolidated financial statements,
including Note A, "Nature of Business and Accougtiolicies," included in this Annual Report on FatfiK.

Revenue Recognition
Product Revenues, Net

We generate product revenues from sales in theeidtates and in international markets. We selpooducts principally to a limited
number of major and selected regional wholesaledssaecialty pharmacy providers in North Americavad as government-owned and
supported customers in international markets, ctillely, our customers. Our customers in North Aiceesubsequently resell our products to
patients and health care providers. Separatelfrave arrangements with numerous third-party payokrth America that provide for
government-mandated and privately-negotiated rebatargebacks and discounts. We recognize netigroglvenues from sales of our
products upon delivery to our customers as long as:

. there is persuasive evidence that an arrangemests éetween us and our custor
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. collectability is reasonably assured;
. the price is fixed or determinak

In order to conclude that the price is fixed oredgtinable, we must be able to calculate our grosdyet revenues from our customers anc
reasonably estimate our net product revenues. fagsgroduct revenues are based on the fixed fmicaur products that we charge our
customers. We estimate our net product revenueedycting from our gross product revenues (i) tittevances, such as invoice discounts
for prompt payment and customer fees, (ii) estiohgi@vernment and private payor rebates, chargelzacksliscounts, (iii) estimated reserves
for expected product returns and (iv) estimatedscosincentives offered to certain indirect cuséos; including patients. We make significant
estimates and judgments that materially affectreaognition of net product revenues. Changes irestimates of net product revenues could
have a material effect on net product revenuesdechbin the period in which we determine that cleaogcurs.

In certain instances, we may be unable to reasymaliclude that the price is fixed or determinadiléhe time of delivery, in which case
we defer the recognition of revenues. Once we laleeta determine that the price is fixed or deterabie, we recognize the revenues assoc
with the units in which revenue recognition wasealefd.

The value of the rebates, chargebacks and discpuntgded to third-party payors per course of tmeit vary significantly and are based
on government-mandated discounts and our arrangemith other third-party payors. Typically, govereant-mandated discounts in the
United States and Canada are significantly larggn tiscounts provided to other third-party paybrarder to estimate our total rebates,
chargebacks and discounts, we estimate the pegeeafgrescriptions that will be covered by eadhdtparty payor, which is referred to as the
payor mix. We track available information regardoignges, if any, to the payor mix for our produgiur contractual terms with third-party
payors and to applicable governmental programgeguations and levels of our products in the itistion channel. We adjust our estimated
rebates, chargebacks and discounts based on nesmatfon, including information regarding actudbaes, chargebacks and discounts for oL
products, as it becomes available. Claims by thady payors for rebates, chargebacks and discéuapsently are submitted to us
significantly after the related sales, potentia#igulting in adjustments in the period in which tiesv information becomes known. If we
increased our estimate of the percentage of patreceiving our products covered by third-partygrayentitled to government-mandated
discounts by two percentage points, our net prothwenues would decrease by less than one pewrethief three months ended December 31
2013.

Our customers generally have the right to returmpened unprescribed packages subject to contrdohitions. To date returns have
been minimal and, based on inventory levels helduycustomers and our distribution model, we belithat returns of products will continue
to be minimal. We track actual returns by individpeoduction lots and will continue to monitor imtery levels in the distribution channel. If
necessary, we will adjust our estimated productrnstbased on new information as it becomes availab

Collaborative Revenues

We recognize revenues generated through collaberegsearch, development and/or commercializaipaeanents. The terms of these
agreements typically include payment to us of anmare of the following: nonrefundable, up-frorddinse fees; development and commercia
milestone payments; funding of research and/orldeweent activities; payments for services we prewigrough our third-party manufacturing
network; and royalties on net sales of licensedipets. Each of these types of payments resultsliaborative revenues, except for revenues
from royalties on net sales of licensed productsctvare classified as royalty revenues.

For each collaborative research, development andfomercialization agreement that results in reesnwe determine (i) whether
multiple deliverables exist, (ii) whether the unideted elements have value to the customer onna-steone basis, (iii) how the deliverables
should be separated and (iv) how the considerationld be allocated to the deliverables. For aearents entered into or materially modified
after January 1, 2011, we allocate consideratianiarrangement using the relative selling pricghogtbased on our best estimate of selling
price of deliverables if we do not have vendor-#jeobjective evidence or third-party evidence. pert of the accounting for these
agreements, we must develop assumptions that eeguigment to determine the best estimate of gefiice. We utilize key assumptions to
determine the best estimate of selling price, whigly include patient enrollment requirements fregutatory authorities, development
timelines, reimbursement rates for personnel castspunt rates, and estimated third-party devetgroosts.

In the fourth quarter of 2013, we amended our boltation agreement with Janssen, and were requanedke significant estimates
regarding (i) the determination of whether or & agreement was materially modified and (ii) the
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estimated selling price for the remaining telaprel@velopment activities. We recognized $182.4iarilbf collaborative revenues pursuant to
the collaboration agreement in the fourth quarte?0d 3. This amount was primarily attributable ifjatlje new consideration received from
Janssen, including the $152.0 million fourth qua2@13 payment and the remaining deferred reverelated to the 2006 up-front payment
less (ii) our best estimate of selling price foe temaining telaprevir development activities. ABecember 31, 2013, the remaining deferred
revenue balance related to Janssen was $5.0 millidmich will be recognized as collaborative revemas telaprevir development program
activities are completed.

I ntangible Assets

We maintain an indefinite-lived in-process reseamtl development asset on our consolidated bakdress until either the research and
development project underlying it is completedhe asset becomes impaired. When we determineritedset has become impaired or we
abandon a project, we write down the carrying valuthe related intangible asset to its fair vednel take an impairment charge in the peric
which the impairment occurs.

We assess the fair value of assets, including giltéa assets such as in-process research and genehb assets, using a variety of
methods, including present-value models that asedapon multiple probability-weighted scenariogliing the development and potential
commercialization of the acquired drug candidaié® present-value models require us to make sggmfiassumptions regarding the estimate
that market participants would make in evaluatirdywg candidate, including the probability of sussfally completing clinical trials and
obtaining regulatory approval to market the drugdidate, the timing of and the expected costs toptete in-process research and
development projects, future net cash flows froreptial drug sales, which are based on estimatdseddales price of the drug, the number of
patients who will be diagnosed and treated ancdcompetitive position in the marketplace, and appad@ discount and tax rates.

We test our intangible assets for impairment oaramual basis as of October 1, and more frequefithglicators are present or changes in
circumstance suggest that impairment may existnivhat could result in an impairment, or triggarinterim impairment assessment, include
the receipt of additional clinical or nonclinicatd regarding our drug candidate or a potentiaiypetitive drug candidate, changes in the
clinical development program for a drug candidateew information regarding potential sales for dneg. In connection with each annual
impairment assessment and any interim impairmesgsasnent, we compare the fair value of the asa#tthe date of the assessment with the
carrying value of the asset on our consolidatedrizs sheet.

In 2013, we incurred intangible asset impairmertrghs totaling $663.5 milliotihat all related to drug candidates for the treatnoé HCV
infection. As of December 31, 2013, we had no igiale assets.

ViroChem Acquisition

As of December 31, 2010, the intangible assetsieadjfrom ViroChem that were reflected on our cditksted balance sheet related to
two drug candidates, VX-222 and VX-759. VX-222 afng-759 had estimated fair values on the acquisitiate and December 31, 2010 of
$412.9 million and $105.8 million , respectivelhéestimated fair values ascribed to VX-222 and®6%-on the acquisition date were based
on the estimated fair value that would have beerilzed to each of these drug candidates by a mpegétipant that acquired both drug
candidates in a single transaction.

In the third quarter of 2011, we recorded a $105il8on intangible asset impairment charge relate®X-759 and in the first quarter of
2013, we recorded a $412.9 million intangible asspgirment charge related to VX-222. The timingla#se impairment charges were based
on changes in our estimates regarding the potdntiddvelop these assets and the competitive lapdsevhich were reflected in the reported
results for the period in which they became known.

Alios Collaboration

We recorded $250.6 million of intangible asset®onconsolidated balance sheet based on our estwh#te fair value of Alios' HCV
nucleotide analogue program as of June 13, 201 v significant estimates regarding: the probigluf obtaining regulatory approval of
an HCV nucleotide analogue; the timing and expectats of clinical trials and other developmentiits; future potential cash flows from
sales of drugs and the appropriate discount anchtas. In the fourth quarter of 2013, a $250.8ionlintangible asset impairment charge
related to the HCV nucleotide analogue (VX-135)goaon was recorded. The timing of this impairmergrge was based on changes in our
estimates regarding the potential to develop thieand the competitive landscape, which wereateftl in our reported results in the perio
which they became known.

67




Consolidation and Deconsolidation of Variable I nterest Entity

In 2011, we entered into an agreement with Aliospant to which we agreed to collaborate on theare$, development and
commercialization of ALS-2200 (now formulated as\%5) and ALS-2158, two HCV nucleotide analoguessaivered by Alios. In 2012, we
received data from Phase 1 clinical trials in whidios evaluated ALS-2200 and ALS-2158. Based da di@m these clinical trials, we ended
all development activities related to ALS-2158 aondtinued to develop VXA35. We are responsible for all expenses relatéidetalevelopme
and commercialization of VX-135. We paid Alios e03® million up-front payment in connection with teeecution of the agreement &b@D.C
million in milestone payments through DecemberZ11,3. Alios is eligible to receive research andel@ment milestone payments,
commercial milestone payments and tiered royatireset sales of any approved drugs licensed byderithe collaboration agreement. Our
interests in Alios are limited to those accordedd@ursuant to our collaboration agreement wiibsiland we have no equity interest, or right
to acquire any equity interest, in Alios. In adalitito Alios’ activities related to HCV nucleotidealogues, Alios is engaged in separate
programs directed at developing novel drugs.

Our collaboration with Alios requires us to appbcaunting policies that involve significant judgnt®and that have a material effect on
our consolidated financial statements. Under appleeaccounting guidance, as a result of the oslgliip established through the collaboratior
agreement, Alios was deemed to be a variable sitergity, or VIE, our license to ALS-2200 (VX-13&)d ALS-2158 was deemed to be a
variable interest in Alios as a whole, and we wdemed to be Alios' primary beneficiary. As a resué were required to consolidate Alios’
financial statements into our financial stateméotshe period from June 2011 through Decembe2813. As a result of the impairment of
HCV nucleotide analogue program in the fourth qeraof 2013, we determined that we no longer hadreable interest in Alios as a whole and
deconsolidated Alios effective as of December 31,32

We believe that the following effects of the comdation and deconsolidation of Alios on our condated financial statements are the r
significant:

. In 2013, the deconsolidation of Alios resultedigain of $68.2 million attributable to Vertexhel'$68.2 million gain is approximately
equal to the difference between (i) losses we dEmbin 2011 and 2012 based on increases in thedhie of contingent milestone
payments and royalties payable by us to Alios @hthe aggregate of $120.0 million in dmnt and milestone payments that we m
to Alios pursuant to the Alios collaboration.

. In each period, we recorded net loss (incontepatable to the Alios noncontrolling interest.igmet loss (income) reflected Alios’
net loss (income) for the period as adjusted fanggand losses in the fair value of the contingeiféstone payments and royalties
payable by us to Alios. Determining the fair vabfeéhe contingent milestone payments and royafissble by us to Alios required
to make significant estimates regarding the prdlglaind potential timing of achieving each of timlestones pursuant to the
agreement, future potential net sales of the HC8eutide analogues licensed from Alios and appageriliscount and tax rates. We
based our estimate of the probability of achievhegyrelevant milestones on industry data for simdksets and our own experience.
The discount rates used in the valuation modeksspted a measure of credit risk associated witlingethe liability. Significant
judgment was used in determining the appropriateotthese assumptions at each reporting periegedses in 2011 and 2012 in
fair value of the contingent milestone payments iaydlties payable by us to Alios resulted in ardase in net income attributable to
Vertex (or an increase in net loss attributablgéotex) on a dollar-for-dollar basis.

. From June 2011 through December 31, 2013, wedtisiated all of Alios’ expenses and revenues @upconsolidated statements of
operations, eliminating all intercompany balanass tiansactions. As of December 31, 2013, our datzted balance sheet excludes
Alios' balances.

. We continue to have significant involvement wAtlios due to the Alios agreement; therefore, theahsolidation of Alios does not
qualify for discontinued operations presentationun consolidated financial statements as of Deeer@l, 2013. We will evaluate
whether we continue to have significant involvemeith Alios for a period of one year from the Dedmn 31, 2013 deconsolidation
date. If we determine that we no longer have sicgnift continuing involvement with Alios during thear following the
deconsolidation of Alios, we will retroactively adf our consolidated financial statements to réfléscontinued operations
presentation.
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Accruals

Research and development expenses, including amftunded through research and development colléibonsa and sales, general and
administrative expenses are expensed as incurrkdn\tthird-party service providers' billing termsriat coincide with our period-end, we are
required to make estimates of our obligations ts¢hthird parties, including clinical trial and pimaceutical development costs, contractual
services costs, costs for drug supply, marketimgerges and infrastructure expenses incurred imes giccounting period and record accruals
at the end of the period. We base our estimatesioknowledge of the research and development anogjrservices performed for the period,
past history for related activities and the expa:cteration of the third-party service contract, vehapplicable.

Commercial Supplies and I nventories

We began capitalizing the costs of our INCIVEK int@ries on January 1, 2011 and the costs of our XBECO inventories on January
2012. We capitalize inventories produced in prejianeor initiating sales of a drug candidate witlea related drug candidate is considered to
have a high likelihood of regulatory approval ahd telated costs are expected to be recoveraldeghrsale of the inventories. In determining
whether or not to capitalize such inventories, walate, among other factors, information regardiregdrug candidate's safety and efficacy,
the status of regulatory submissions and commuoitatvith regulatory authorities and the outlookdommercial sales, including the
existence of current or anticipated competitivegdrand the availability of reimbursement. In addhifiwe evaluate risks associated with
manufacturing the drug candidate and the remaistiif life of the inventories. After we begin cabiting inventories, we perform an
assessment of the recoverability of capitalize@imuery during each reporting period, and write d@amg excess and obsolete inventories to
their net realizable value in the period in whibb tmpairment is first identified.

Treatment of HCV infection is a highly competitifteld characterized by rapid technological advant@2013 and 2012, following
periodic assessments of the recoverability of nuemtories, we recorded within cost of product maes an aggregate of $10.4 million and
$133.2 million , respectively in charges primariiyated to excess and obsolete INCIVEK inventdo@sed on our analysis of our INCIVEK
inventory levels in relation to our commercial aatk for INCIVEK. Periodic assessments of the recabiity of capitalized costs involve
significant estimates and judgments on the pamafiagement. As of December 31, 2013, we had $illiérmn remaining INCIVEK
inventories.

Income Taxes

We maintain a valuation allowance on our net ofiggabsses and other deferred tax assets becausawgean extended history of annual
losses. Our U.S. federal net operating loss cammgads totaled approximately $2.7 billion as of Beber 31, 2013 . On an annual basis, we
reassess the valuation allowance for deferred iectax assets. After consideration of all the evigemoth positive and negative, we continue
to maintain a valuation allowance on the defereedaisset as of December 31, 2013 because it islikelethan not that the deferred tax asset
will not be realized. In future periods, if we deténe that it is more likely than not that the dede tax asset will be realized, (i) the valuation
allowance would be decreased, (ii) a portion ophthe deferred tax asset would be reflected orconsolidated balance sheet and (iii) we
would record noreash benefits in our consolidated statements afatipes related to the reflection of the defer@eddsset on our consolidai
balance sheet.

Leases

In 2011, we entered into two leases for our congon@adquarters. Our corporate headquarters wételbring the period from 2011
through December 2013. We lease our corporate h@ays pursuant to leases that expire in 2028esuto our right to extend the leases for
an additional 10 years. Because we were involveddrconstruction project, we were deemed for attiog purposes to be the owner of the
buildings during the construction period. Accordingve recorded project construction costs incubygdhe landlord as an asset and a related
financing obligation in “Property and equipmentt’rend “Construction financing lease obligationgspectively, on our consolidated balance
sheets.

We evaluated the leases in the fourth quarter ®82Mhd determined that the leases did not meatitegia for “sale-leaseback” treatment.
Accordingly, we began depreciating the asset aadriing interest expense related to the financiolggation during the fourth quarter of 2013.
We bifurcate our lease payments pursuant to thsefeimto (i) a portion that is allocated to thedings and (ii) a portion that is allocated to the
land on which the buildings were constructed. Toeipn of the lease obligations allocated to threllés treated as an operating lease that
commenced in 2011. In connection with the leasesdo corporate headquarters, in 2014, we expdacto approximately $60.0 million in
interest expense, $14.0 million in depreciationemge and $6.5 million in operating expenses.
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RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Refer to Note A, "Nature of Business and Accounfugdicies,” in the accompanying notes to the cadat#d financial statements for a
discussion of recent accounting pronouncements.€lliere no new accounting pronouncements adoptéigd2013 that had a material effect
on our financial statements.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

As part of our investment portfolio, we own fina@dnstruments that are sensitive to market rigke investment portfolio is used to
preserve our capital until it is required to furkeations, including our research and developmettities. None of these market risk-sensitive
instruments are held for trading purposes. We ddawee derivative financial instruments in our istreent portfolio.

Interest Rate Risk

We invest our cash in a variety of financial ingtents, principally securities issued by the U.S/ggoment and its agencies, investment-
grade corporate bonds and commercial paper, anéynmoarket funds. These investments are denomimaidds. dollars. All of our interest-
bearing securities are subject to interest rakeansl could decline in value if interest rates fllate. Substantially all of our investment porti
consists of marketable securities with active sdaonor resale markets to help ensure portfolioidiqy, and we have implemented guidelines
limiting the term-to-maturity of our investment tnements. Due to the conservative nature of thesteuments, we do not believe that we have
a material exposure to interest rate risk.

Foreign Exchange Market Risk

As a result of our foreign operations, we face axpe to movements in foreign currency exchange rat@marily the Euro, Swiss Franc,
British Pound, Australian Dollar and Canadian Doélgainst the U.S. dollar. The current exposuriae garimarily from cash, accounts
receivable, intercompany receivables, payablesrarahtories. Both positive and negative affectedonet revenues from international proc
sales from movements in foreign currency exchaatgsrare partially mitigated by the natural, opjgoaffect that foreign currency exchange
rates have on our international operating costseapenses.

In December 2013, we implemented a foreign currenagagement program with the objective of redudigimpact of exchange rate
fluctuations on our operating results and forechst@enues and expenses denominated in foreigarmies. The change in fair value of these
foreign currency forward contracts included in anolated other comprehensive loss and the grossdaie of foreign currency forward assets
and liabilities included on the consolidated batasbeet as of December 31, 2013 were not material.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
The information required by this Item 8 is contairmn pages F-1 through F-45 of this Annual ReporEorm 10-K.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Not applicable.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(1) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedur The Companys chief executive officer and chief financial offi¢ after evaluatin
the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure odsaind procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15@@Rae 15d-15(e) promulgated under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) #seafnd of the period covered by this Annual ReporEorm 10-K, have concluded that,
based on such evaluation, the Company’s disclasumrols and procedures were effective. In desigaind evaluating the disclosure controls
and procedures, the Company’s management recogtiiaedny controls and procedures, no matter hollvdesigned and operated, can
provide only reasonable assurance of achievingléseged control objectives, and the Companyanagement necessarily was required to
its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relasioip of possible controls and procedures.
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(2) Management’'s Annual Report on Internal ControlOver Financial Reporting. The management of the Company is responsible fol
establishing and maintaining adequate internalroboter financial reporting. Internal control ovi@grancial reporting is defined in Rule 13a-1-
(f) and Rule 15d-15(f) promulgated under the Sei@srExchange Act of 1934, as amended, as a prdesggned by, or under the supervision
of, the Company’s principal executive and princifi@gncial officers and effected by the Companioard of Directors, management and o
personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regatttireliability of financial reporting and thegpiaration of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepteduatiog principles. The Company’s internal contreéofinancial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that:

. pertain to the maintenance of records thateasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflecttthasactions and dispositions of the
assets of the Company;

. provide reasonable assurance that transactienmgeorded as necessary to permit preparationarfi¢ial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, #ad receipts and expenditures of the Company eirggbmade only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directorthefCompany; and

. provide reasonable assurance regarding preveatiimely detection of unauthorized acquisitiose or disposition of the Company’s
assets that could have a material effect on tlenéial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdeénaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

The Company’s management assessed the effectiveh#esCompany’s internal control over financigporting as of December 31,
2013 . In making this assessment, it used therieriset forth in the Internal Control—Integrateéfework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commis§i®82 framework)(COSO). Based on its assessnmenCompany’s management has
concluded that, as of December 31, 2013, the Coypénternal control over financial reporting iextive based on those criteria.

The Company’s independent registered public ac@ogifitm, Ernst & Young LLP, issued an attestatreport on the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting. See Section 4dlbel

(3) Changes in Internal Controls.During the quarter ended December 31, 2013, tlvere no changes in the Company's internal contro
over financial reporting that materially affected,are reasonably likely to materially affect, empany's internal control over financial
reporting.
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(4) Report of Independent Registered Public Accountg Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated

We have audited Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorpoiateteérnal control over financial reporting asizécember 31, 2013based on criter
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framédwssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organinatiaf the Treadway Commission
(1992 framework)(the COSO criteria). Vertex Phareudicals Incorporated’s management is responsillenfiintaining effective internal
control over financial reporting, and for its assesnt of the effectiveness of internal control direncial reporting included in the
accompanying Management's Annual Report on Inte@aadtrol Over Financial Reporting. Our respondipils to express an opinion on the
company’s internal control over financial reportiogsed on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti@d&nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet dndbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigianternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe®is:. audit included obtaining an understanding térimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness etasting and evaluating the design and operatifegéfeness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsre® considered necessary in the circumstancefeliéve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableaaesuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordantiegeinerally accepted accounting princip

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiincludes those policies and procedures thai€ftpin to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbettransactions and dispositions of the assdtseocfompany; (2) provide reasonable assuranc
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@anith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureh®ttbmpany are being made only in accordance witibaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabsurance regarding prevention or timely detecfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzanweterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdeénaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporatesintained, in all material respects, effectiietinal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2013, based on the COSO ariteri

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Vertex Pharmac&utit@orporated as of December 31, 2013 and 2@h2 the related consolidated statement
of operations, comprehensive income (loss), shadlers equity and noncontrolling interest, and cfistvs for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2013 of Vertex Pharmmedsitncorporated and our report dated Februan2@14 expressed an unqualified
opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
Boston, Massachusetts
February 11, 2014
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Not applicable.
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PART IlI

Portions of our definitive Proxy Statement for #6814 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, or 2014 Pistatement, during which, we exp
to, among other things, (i) elect our Class | Dioes, (ii) conduct the non-binding advisory voteaur executive compensation program and
(iii) ratify the appointment of our independentistgred accounting firm, are incorporated by rafeecinto this Part Il of our Annual Report
Form 10-K.

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

The information regarding directors required by tiem 10 will be included in our 2014 Proxy Stageinand is incorporated herein by
reference. We expect this information to be progidader “Election of Directors,” “Corporate Govenga and Risk Management,”
“Shareholder Proposals for the 2014 Annual Meedind Nominations for Director,” “Section 16(a) Beio&fl Ownership Reporting
Compliance” and “Code of Conduct.” The informatiegarding executive officers required by this Itétnas well as certain information
regarding our directors is included in Part | aétAnnual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item 11 will beciaded in the 2014 Proxy Statement and is incotpdrherein by reference. We expect
this information to be provided under “CompensaBommittee Interlocks and Insider ParticipatiorCdmpensation Discussion and
Analysis,” “Compensation and Equity Tables,” “DitecCompensation,” “Management Development and Gareation Committee Report”
and/or “Corporate Governance and Risk Management.”

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item 12 will becinded in the 2014 Proxy Statement and is incotpdrherein by reference. We expect
this information to be provided under “Security QGasship of Certain Beneficial Owners and Managemant! “Equity Compensation Plan
Information.”

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item 13 will becinded in the 2014 Proxy Statement and is incotpdrherein by reference. We expect
this information to be provided under “ Election@ifectors,” “Corporate Governance and Risk Managetyi “Approval of Related Person
Transactions” and “Transactions with Related PexSon

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item 14 will beciaded in the 2014 Proxy Statement and is incotpdrherein by reference. We expect
this information to be provided under “Ratificatiohthe Appointment of Independent Registered Rubticounting Firm.”
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a)(1) The Financial Statements required to bel filg ltems 8 and 15(c) of Form 10-K, and filed lwégtk, are as follows:

Page Number in
this Form 10-K

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfinm F-1
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeaaded December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 F-2
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive IncomssilLfor the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012@1H F-3
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&012012 F-4
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ EquityNortontrolling Interest for the years ended Decendd, 2013, 2012 and 2011 F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the ye@ied December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-7

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules have beeriazhfiecause they are either not applicable oraeired information is included in the
consolidated financial statements or notes thdigtd in (a)(1) above.

(a)(3) Exhibits.

The following is a list of exhibits filed as patftthis Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Incorporated by
Reference herein

Exhibit Filed with from—Form Filing Date/ SEC File/
Number Exhibit Description this report or Schedule Period Covered  Reg. Number
3.1 Restated Articles of Organization of Vertex Pharendicals Incorporated, as 10-Q August 11, 2008 0009318
amended. (Exhibit 3.1)
3.2 By-laws of Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporatecaraended and restated as of 8-K February 5, 2014 0009318
February 5, 2014. (Exhibit 3.1)
4.1 Specimen stock certificate. S-1 July 18, 1991 330966
(Exhibit 4.1)
Collaboration Agreements
10.1 License, Development, Manufacturing and Commematibn Agreement, dated 10-K February 22, 2012 0019319
June 30, 2006, by and between Vertex Pharmaceutimabdrporated and Janssen (Exhibit 10.1)
Pharmaceutica, N.V.t
10.22013 Amendment, dated November 19, 2013, to therisie, Development, X

Manufacturing and Commercialization Agreement bgt batween Vertex
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated and Janssen Pharritackivt.

10.3 License, Development and Commercialization Agreendated as of June 11, 10-Q November 9, 2009 0009318
2004, between Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporatddvitsubishi Pharma (Exhibit 10.1)
Corporation.t

10.4 Second Amendment to License, Development and Couniatieation Agreement, 10-Q November 9, 2009 0009318
dated July 30, 2009, between Mitsubishi TanaberRa&orporation and Vertex (Exhibit 10.2)
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated.t

10.5Research, Development and Commercialization Agregrdated as of May 24, 10-Q/A August 19, 2011 0009318
2004, between Vertex Pharmaceuticals IncorporatddCystic Fibrosis (Exhibit 10.2)
Foundation Therapeutics Incorporated.t

10.6 Amendment No. 1 to Research, Development and Coniafieation Agreement, 10-K March 16, 2006 0009318
dated as of January 6, 2006, between Vertex Phautieals Incorporated and (Exhibit 10.9)
Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Therapeutics Incorpatdte

10.7 Amendment No. 2 to Research, Development and Coniafigation Agreement, 10-Q/A August 19, 2011 0009318
dated as of March 17, 2006, between Vertex Phamtiaeés Incorporated and (Exhibit 10.6)

Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Therapeutics Incorpatate
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Incorporated by
Reference herein
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Exhibit Filed with from—Form Filing Date/ SEC File/
Number Exhibit Description this report or Schedule Period Covered  Reg. Number
10.8 Amendment No. 5 to Research, Development and Coniafigation Agreement, 10-Q August 9, 2011 0009318
effective as of April 1, 2011, between Vertex Phaceuticals Incorporated and (Exhibit 10.3)
Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Therapeutics Incorpatdte
10.9 License and Collaboration Agreement, dated Jun@QRBl, by and between Alios 10-Q August 9, 2011 0029318
BioPharma, Inc. and Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incatgorand Vertex (Exhibit 10.1)
Pharmaceuticals (Switzerland) LLC.T
10.10Lease, dated May 5, 2011, between Fifty Northerane LLC and Vertex 10-Q August 9, 2011 0009318
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated.t (Exhibit 10.4)
10.11Lease, dated May 5, 2011, between Eleven Fan PigleBard LLC and Vertex 10-Q August 9, 2011 0029318
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated.t (Exhibit 10.5)
10.12 Lease, dated as of January 18, 2001, between Kglzdre, LLC and Vertex 10-K March 26, 2001 00@931¢
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated.t (Exhibit 10.16)
Equity Plans
10.131996 Stock and Option Plan, as amended and restateidMarch 14, 2005.* 10-K March 16, 2005 0009318
(Exhibit 10.3)
10.14 Form of Stock Option Grant under 1996 Stock andddg®lan.* 8-K February 9, 2005 000931¢
(Exhibit 10.1)
10.15Amended and Restated 2006 Stock and Option Plan.* 10-Q August 8, 2012 0029318
(Exhibit 10.3)
10.16 Form of Stock Option Grant under 2006 Stock andddg®lan.* 8-K May 15, 2006 0009318
(Exhibit 10.2)
10.17Form of Restricted Stock Award under 2006 Stock @ptlon Plan.* 8-K May 15, 2006 000:931¢
(Exhibit 10.3)
10.18 Form of Restricted Stock Award (Performance Aceekt Restricted Stock) 8-K May 15, 2006 0009318
under 2006 Stock and Option Plan.* (Exhibit 10.4)
10.19 Form of Stock Option Grant-Performance Acceler@@@9 Stock-Options.* 10-K February 19, 2010 0009319
(Exhibit 10.33)
10.202013 Stock and Option Plan.* 8-K May 8, 2013 00@9319
(Exhibit 10.1)
10.21 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement ungei3 Stock and Option 000-1931¢
Plan.*
10.22 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under 2013 SsoekOption Plan.* 00019319
10.23Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under 28i&k and Option Plan.* 000-1931¢
10.24 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement underended and Restated 00019319
2006 Stock and Option Plan (granted on or after 30) 2013).*
10.25Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under AmendebRestated 2006 Stock 00019319
and Option Plan (granted on or after July 30, 2013)
10.26 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under Aneghdnd Restated 2006 00019319
Stock and Option Plan (granted on or after July28d,3).*
10.27 Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated Employee SRagkhase Plan, as amended 10-Q August 8, 2012 0009318
and restated.* (Exhibit 10.4)
Agreements with Executive Officers and Directors
10.28 Agreement between Jeffrey M. Leiden and Vertexed&ecember 14, 2011.* 10-K February 22, 2012 0009319
(Exhibit 10.34)
10.29 Employee Non-disclosure, Non-competition and Inicerst Agreement between 10-K February 22, 2012 0019319
Jeffrey M. Leiden and Vertex, dated December 14120 (Exhibit 10.35)
10.30Transition Agreement between Matthew W. Emmens\éenrtex, dated 10-K February 22, 2012
December 14, 2011.* (Exhibit 10.38) 000-1931¢
10.31 Employment Agreement, dated as of August 27, 2B&Ryeen Vertex 10-Q November 6, 2012 0009318
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated and Stuart Arbuckle.* (Exhibit 10.1)
10.32Change of Control Agreement, dated as of Augus@2, between Vertex 10-Q November 6, 2012 0009318
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated and Stuart Arbuckle.* (Exhibit 10.2)
10.33Employment Agreement, dated as of June 11, 201&clea Vertex 10-Q August 8, 2012 0029318
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated and Kenneth L. Hatrton. (Exhibit 10.1)




Incorporated by
Reference herein

Exhibit Filed with from—Form Filing Date/ SEC File/
Number Exhibit Description this report or Schedule Period Covered  Reg. Number
10.34 Change of Control Agreement, dated as of June@12,between Vertex 10-Q August 8, 2012 0009318
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated and Kenneth L. Hatrton. (Exhibit 10.2)
10.35Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreereget] 8lovember 15, 10-K March 1, 2013 0009318
2012, between Peter Mueller and Vertex Pharmaadstincorporated.* (Exhibit 10.38)
10.36 Second Amended and Restated Change of Control gt dated November 10-K March 1, 2013 0009318
15, 2012, between Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorpdrand Peter Mueller.* (Exhibit 10.39)
10.37 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datetiNevember 8, 2004, 10-Q November 9, 2004 000931¢
between Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated ané .|&mith.* (Exhibit 10.13)
10.38 Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employegrgement between lan 10-K February 17, 2009 0009319
F. Smith and Vertex Pharmaceuticals IncorporatatediDecember 29, 2008.* (Exhibit 10.66)
10.39Form of Employee Non-Disclosure and Inventions Agnent.* S-1 May 30, 1991 3310966
(Exhibit 10.4)
10.40Vertex Employee Compensation Plan.* X
10.41 Vertex Pharmaceuticals Non-Employee Board Compimsat 10-K February 22, 2012 0009319
(Exhibit 10.57)
Subsidiaries
21.1 Subsidiaries of Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorpotated X
Consent
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing, Ernst & Young LLP. X
Certifications
31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer undgection 302 of the Sarbanes- X
Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer undgection 302 of the Sarbanes- X
Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer ancethief Financial Officer under X
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS XBRL Instance X
101.SCFXBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema X
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation X
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels X
101.PREXBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation X
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition X

* Management contract, compensatory plan oreagest.

tConfidential portions of this document have betsdfseparately with the Securities and Exchangerfiisgion pursuant to a request for confidential

treatment.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regitthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatyp authorized.

Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated

February 11, 2014 By: /sl Jeffrey M. Leiden

Jeffrey M. Leiden
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities and ord#tes indicated.

Name Title Date

/sl Jeffrey M. Leiden Chair of the Board, President and Chief Executi¥ficér (Principal Executiv

Jeffrey M. Leiden Officer) February 11, 2014
/sl lan F. Smith Executive Vice President and Chief Financial OffitRrincipal Financial
lan F. Smith Officer) February 11, 2014

/s/ Paul M. Silva
Paul M. Silva

Senior Vice President and Corporate Controllem@pial Accounting Officer February 11, 2014

/s/ David Altshuler

Direct
David Altshuler rector February 11, 2014
/sl Joshua S. Boger )
Director
Joshua S. Boger February 11, 2014
/sl Terrence C. Kearney .
Director
Terrence C. Kearney February 11, 2014
/s/ Yuchun Lee )
Director
Yuchun Lee February 11, 2014
/sl Margaret G. McGlynn .
Director
Margaret G. McGlynn February 11, 2014
/sl Wayne J. Riley .
. Director
Wayne J. Riley February 11, 2014
/sl Bruce |. Sachs Direct
Bruce I. Sachs rector February 11, 2014
/s/ Elaine S. Ullian Direct
Elaine S. Ullian rector February 11, 2014
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated Becember 31, 2013 and
2012, and the related consolidated statementpartions, comprehensive income (loss), sharehsldgquity and noncontrolling interest, and
cash flows for each of the three years in the pgeginded December 31, 2013 . These financial statisnaee the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to egpran opinion on these financial statements basedr audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet dndbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on Blasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digds in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princied and significant estimates made by managenenelaas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referdlbove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated financial position of Vertex
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated at December 31, 20d2@12 , and the consolidated results of its djmraand its cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2Bil8onformity with U.S. generally accepted accanmprinciples.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), Vertex
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated’s internal controlr divencial reporting as of December 31, 2013 glasn the criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the CommitteSponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Casaion (1992 framework) and our
report dated February 11, 2014 expressed an ufigdadpinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Boston, Massachusetts

February 11, 2014
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VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED

Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenues:
Product revenues, net
Royalty revenues
Collaborative revenues
Total revenues
Costs and expenses:
Cost of product revenues
Royalty expenses
Research and development expenses
Sales, general and administrative expenses
Restructuring expenses
Intangible asset impairment charges
Total costs and expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Interest expense, net
Other income (expense), net
Income (loss) before provision for (benefit fromgome taxes
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes
Net income (loss)
Net loss (income) attributable to noncontrollinteiest (Alios)
Net income (loss) attributable to Vertex
Net income (loss) per share attributable to Vecmxmon shareholders:
Basic
Diluted
Shares used in per share calculations:
Basic
Diluted

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdnsolidated financial statements.

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
$ 837,64 1,333,45 950,88¢
156,59: 141,49t 50,01¢
217,73¢ 52,08¢ 409,72
1,211,97' 1,527,04: 1,410,62:
88,97¢ 236,74: 63,62t
41,29¢ 43,14: 16,88
918,78: 806,18! 707,70¢
362,34: 436,79 400,72:
40,52 1,844 2,074
663,50( — 105,80
2,115,42; 1,524,711 1,296,80
(903,449) 2,33¢ 113,82(
(22,730 (15,029 (37,68
(49,939 30¢ (15,699
(976,11) (12,38) 60,44t
(288,56 38,75¢ 19,26t
(687,55() (51,139 41,17¢
242,52: (55,89) (11,609
$ (445,02 (107,03)) 29,57+
$ (1.95) (0.50) 0.1¢
$ (1.95) (0.50) 0.1¢
224,90¢ 211,94¢ 204,89:
224,90¢ 211,94¢ 208,80°




VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (ks)

(in thousands)

Year ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Net income (loss) $ (687,55() $ (51,139 $ 41,17¢
Changes in other comprehensive income (loss):

Unrealized holding gains (losses) on marketablaritées (154) 30E (119

Unrealized losses on foreign currency forward cmis (23 — —

Foreign currency translation adjustment 421 19¢ 13¢
Total changes in other comprehensive income (loss) 244 503 14
Comprehensive income (loss) (687,30¢) (50,637) 41,19:
Comprehensive loss (income) attributable to norrotiittg interest (Alios) 242 ,52; (55,897 (11,608
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Vertex $ (444,78) $ (106,529 $ 29,58¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdnsolidated financial statements.
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VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

December 31,

2013(1) 2012(1)
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 569,29¢ $ 489,40
Marketable securities, available for sale 895,77 831,80t
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (Alios) — 69,98:
Accounts receivable, net 85,517 143,25(
Inventories 14,14° 30,46«
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 23,83¢ 24,67:
Total current assets 1,588,57! 1,589,58!
Restricted cash 13C 31,93«
Property and equipment, net 696,91: 433,60
Intangible assets — 663,50(
Goodwill 30,99: 30,99:
Other assets 2,43 9,66¢
Total assets $ 2,319,04 $ 2,759,28
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 49327 % 101,29:
Accrued expenses 271,07 264,88
Deferred revenues, current portion 21,51( 27,56¢
Accrued restructuring expense, current portion 14,28¢ 4,75¢
Capital lease obligations, current portion 16,89: 13,70"
Income taxes payable (Alios) — 71t
Other liabilities, current portion 24.73¢ 19,70:
Total current liabilities 397,82¢ 432,62
Deferred revenues, excluding current portion 49,45¢ 96,24
Accrued restructuring expense, excluding currentiquo 14,06 18,57(
Capital lease obligations, excluding current partio 48,75: 15,17(
Convertible senior subordinated notes (due 2015) — 400,00(
Deferred tax liability — 280,36
Construction financing lease obligation 440,93 268,03:
Other liabilities, excluding current portion 11,59( 13,90:
Total liabilities 962,63t 1,524,90
Commitments and contingencies (Note T and Note V)
Redeemable noncontrolling interest (Alios) — 38,53(
Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 1,000,000 star#®rized; none issued and outstanding at Dece®ih@013 and 2012 — —
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 300,000,000 shatt®azed at December 31, 2013 and 2012; 233,73%88 217,286,868
shares issued and outstanding at December 31,82@{13012, respectively 2,32( 2,14¢
Additional paid-in capital 5,321,28 4,519,44
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (306) (550
Accumulated deficit (3,966,89) (3,521,86)
Total Vertex shareholders’ equity 1,356,40 999,18(
Noncontrolling interest (Alios) — 196,67.
Total shareholders’ equity 1,356,40 1,195,85

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 2,319,04 $ 2,759,28




Q) Amounts as of December 31, 2012 include the assetdiabilities of Vertex’s variable interest ent{tVIE”), Alios BioPharma, Inc. (“Alios”). The Coipany
deconsolidated Alios as of December 31, 2013 .ex&tinterests and obligations with respect toMHe' s assets and liabilities are limited to those adedto Vertex i
its agreement with Alios. See Note B, "Collaboratirangements,” to these consolidated financiéstents for amounts.

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdnsolidated financial statements.
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VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity antiloncontrolling Interest

(in thousands)

Accumulated

Common Stock Other Total Vertex Total Redeemable
Additional Comprehensive Accumulated Shareholders’ Noncontrolling Shareholders’ Noncontrolling
Shares Amount Paid-in Capital Loss Deficit Equity Interest (Alios) Equity Interest (Alios)
Balance, December 31, 2010 203,52: $ 2,01¢ $ 394743 $ (1,067 $ (3,444,40) $ 50397: $ — $ 50397 $ =
Unrealized holding losses on
marketable securities (119 (119 (119
Foreign currency translation
adjustment 113 133 13:
Netincome 29,57 29,57 11,60¢ 41,17¢
Issuance of common stock under | ,
benefit plans 5,781 56 133,36: 133,41t (25) 133,39¢
Stock-based compensation expense 118.96: 118.96: 304 119 26¢
Tax benefit from equity
compensation 90C 90C 90C
Alios noncontrolling interest
upon consolidation 130,48t 130,48t 36,29¢
Change in liquidation value of _ _ _
noncontrolling interest (737) (737) 731
Balance, December 31, 2011 209,300 $ 2,07 $ 4,200,65 $ (1,059 $ (3,41483) $ 786,84 $ 141,63 $ 92847t $ 37,03¢
Unrealized holding gains on
marketable securities 30% 30¢ 30¢E
Foreign currency translation
adjustment 19¢ 19¢ 19¢
Netincomel(loss) (107,03) (107,03) 55,89: (51,13
Issuance of common stock under
benefit plans 7,98: 77 201,76( 201,83 15¢ 201,99.
Stock-based compensation exper 115.05¢ 115.05! 481 115.53¢
Tax benefit from equity
compensation 1,971 1,97! 1,971
Change in liquidation value of
noncontrolling interest (1,499 (1,499 1,49
Balance, December 31, 2012 217,28 $ 2,14¢ $ 451944 $ (550 $ (3,521,86) $ 999,18 $ 196,67. $1,19585 $ 38,53(
Unrealized holding losses on
marketable securities (1549 (154) (154)
Unrealized losses on foreign
currency forward contracts (29) (23) (23)
Foreign currency translation
adjustment 421 421 421
Net loss (445,029 (445,029 (242,52) (687,55()
Issuance of common stock under
benefit plans 8,22¢ 88 271,718 271,80: (63 271,73t
Convertible senior subordinated
notes (due 2015) conversion 8,27¢ 83 402,18: 402,26! 402,26!
Stock-based compensation exper 127.88: 127.88: 46€ 128 35’
Restructuring expense related to
benefit plans 1,312 1,31: 1,312
Tax benefit from equity
compensation (1,252 (1,252 (1,257)
Alios noncontrolling interest upon
deconsolidation — 45,44* 45,44* (38,53()
Balance, December 31, 2013 233,78¢ $ 2,32( $ 532128 % (306) $ (3,966,89) $ 1,356,40 $ — $1356,40 $ =

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdnsolidated financial statements.
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VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income (loss)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to mshgrovided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization expense

Stock-based compensation expense

Other non-cash based compensation expense
Intangible asset impairment charges

Secured notes (due 2012) discount amortizationresgpe
Change in fair value of derivative instruments
Deferred income taxes

Non-cash restructuring charges

Deconsolidation of variable interest entity (Alios)
Write-downs of inventories to net realizable value
Excess tax benefit from share-based payment amzenfs

Other non-cash items, net

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, exetuthe effects of the acquisition and deconsaiitedf a

variable interest entity (Alios):
Accounts receivable, net

Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Accrued restructuring expense
Deferred revenues
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of marketable securities
Sales and maturities of marketable securities
Payment for acquisition of variable interest enijios)
Expenditures for property and equipment
Decrease in restricted cash and cash equivalents
Decrease (increase) in restricted cash and casvaéents (Alios)
Decrease (increase) in other assets
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Excess tax benefit from share-based payment amasrjs
Issuances of common stock under benefit plans
Payments to redeem secured notes
Settlement of milestone derivatives
Payments on capital lease obligations
Payments on construction financing lease obligation
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of changes in exchange rates on cash
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents—beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents—end of period

Crimmlanmnmnmital dimalamiiva ~f anals flaces infavianadi

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
(687,55() (51,13 $ 41,17¢
48,36 38,19 35,04
127,30: 114,28 118,22
5,86( 10,26: 8,52t
663,50( = 105,801
— — 18,40¢
— — 16,80:
(285,05 36,66( (7,501)
7,59¢ — —
55,11( — —
10,35¢ 133,18t =
1,25; (1,971 (900
6,74 17¢ 31¢
53,36¢ 39,91 (170,601
7,14: (29,929 (111,38)
(12,06)) (23,619 10,35¢
(49,23 14,89: 37,46¢
43,72 29,23; 116,82
5,02t (2,985 (3,287
(53,01) (39,329 (71,539
(51,570) 267,84: 143,73!
(2,412,41) (1,705,82) (721,54)
2,348,29! 1,367,92 1,016,04
— — (60,000)
(51,39) (71,140 (34,59
31,80¢ 2,15¢ —
27,88 (18,10%) 12,69t
1,69¢ (826) (189)
(54,13() (425,81) 212,41.
(1,257) 1,971 90C
265,87 191,72 124,86:
(15¢) — (155,00()
— — (95,000)
(16,05 (2,615) —
(67,52) (18,879 —
180,88 172,20 (124,23)
4,70¢ (141) 214
79,89: 14,08: 232,12
489,40 475,32 243,19
569,29 489,40 $ 475,32




Cash paid for interest

Cash paid for income taxes

Conversion of convertible senior subordinated n@des 2015) for common stock
Capitalization of construction in-process rela@anstruction financing lease obligation

Assets acquired under capital lease obligations

Unamortized deferred debt issuance costs exchanged

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdnsolidated financial statements.
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VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A. Nature of Business and Accounting Policit
Busines:

Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated (“Vertex” @ t@ompany”) is in the business of discovering,aleping, manufacturing and
commercializing small molecule drugs for patientdhwerious diseases in specialty markets. The @Gowylp two products are: KALYDECO
(ivacaftor), which the Company markets in the UthiBtates and international markets for the treatrofpatients six years of age and older
with cystic fibrosis (“CF"), who have the G551D mation in their cystic fibrosis transmembrane condace regulator (CFTR”) gene, and
INCIVEK (telaprevir), which is approved in the Uait States and Canada for the treatment of aduttsgenotype 1 hepatitis C virus (“HCV")
infection.

The Company began recognizing net product revefnagssales of INCIVEK and KALYDECO in the secondayter of 2011 and first
quarter of 2012, respectively. The Company’s calialor, Janssen Pharmaceutica NV (“Janssen”), begaketing telaprevir in its territories
under the brand name INCIVO in September 2011.dd¢mmpany’s net loss attributable to Vertex for 20d% $445.0 million , or $1.98 per
share. As of December 31, 2013 , the Company hsttl cash equivalents and marketable securitiepprbaimately $1.47 billion . The
Company expects that cash flows from the salets giroducts, together with the Company’s cash, egsiivalents and marketable securities,
will be sufficient to fund its operations for abkt the next twelve months.

Vertex is subject to risks common to companiessiindustry including, but not limited to, the degence on revenues from KALYDEC
competition, uncertainty about clinical trial outces and regulatory approvals, uncertainties rgjatrpharmaceutical pricing and
reimbursement, rapid technological change, uncepsitection of proprietary technology, the needdmply with government regulations,
share price volatility, dependence on collaboratetationships and potential product liability.

Basis of Presentatio

The consolidated financial statements reflect ferations of (i) the Company and (ii) its wholly-4o&d subsidiaries. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements for the periodfdune 13, 2011 through December 31, 2013, rdfieavperations of Alios BioPharma, Inc.
(“Alios™), a collaborator that is a variable intste=ntity (a “VIE") for which the Company was deamender applicable accounting guidance tc
have a variable interest and be the primary beiaeficAs of December 31, 2013, the Company decadesteld Alios, and the Company's
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, &@13des Alios. All material intercompany balaneesl transactions have been eliminated.
The Company operates in one segment, pharmaceutiiahse refer to Note X, "Segment Informatioar"enterprise-wide disclosures
regarding the Company’s revenues, major custonmerdcang-lived assets by geographic area.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial stateménticcordance with accounting principles gengiatkcepted in the United States of
America (“GAAP”) requires management to make certain estimatesssoengtions that affect the reported amounts oftassel liabilities an
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitiehatdate of the consolidated financial statememtd,the amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reported periods. Significant estimétebese consolidated financial statements have brele in connection with the calculatiol
revenues, inventories, research and developmeenseg, stockased compensation expense, restructuring expeaeskir value of intangibl
assets, noncontrolling interest (Alios), the coitstion and deconsolidation of a VIE, leases ardrtitome tax provision. The Company base:s
its estimates on historical experience and varather assumptions, including in certain circumsgarfuture projections, that management
believes to be reasonable under the circumstaActisal results could differ from those estimatela@ges in estimates are reflected in
reported results in the period in which they becémawn.




VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contirad)

Revenue Recognitic
Product Revenues, Net

The Company sells its products principally to aitéd number of major and selected regional whosgsadnd specialty pharmacy provic
in North America as well as government-owned argpsued customers in Europe (collectively, its “@users”). The Company's Customers
in North America subsequently resell the produetgdtients and health care providers. The Compaeggnizes net revenues from product
sales upon delivery as long as (i) there is peige@&vidence that an arrangement exists betwee@dhgpany and the Customer,

(ii) collectibility is reasonably assured and (e price is fixed or determinable.

In order to conclude that the price is fixed oredegtinable, the Company must be able to (i) caleutatgross product revenues from sales
to Customers and (ii) reasonably estimate its nedyct revenues upon delivery to its Customer'atlons. The Company calculates gross
product revenues based on the price that the Coymgdaarges its Customers. The Company estimategitsroduct revenues by deducting
from its gross product revenues (a) trade allowsnsech as invoice discounts for prompt paymentGmstomer fees, (b) estimated
government and private payor rebates, chargebakdiacounts, (c) estimated reserves for expeatadgst returns and (d) estimated costs of
incentives offered to certain indirect customans|uding patients.

The Company makes significant estimates and jud¢gribat materially affect the Company’s recognitidmet product revenues. In
certain instances, the Company may be unable smnably conclude that the price is fixed or deteahle at the time of delivery, in which
case it defers the recognition of revenues. One€thmpany is able to determine that the pricexedfior determinable, it recognizes the
revenues associated with the units in which reveaaegnition was deferred.

Trade AllowancesThe Company generally provides invoice discountprmaluct sales to its Customers for prompt payraadtpays
fees for distribution services, such as fees forage data that Customers provide to the Compahg. fayment terms for sales to
Customers in the United States generally inclug@badiscount for payment within 30 days. The Compaxpects that, based on its
experience, its Customers will earn these discoamtisfees, and deducts the full amount of thesmdigs and fees from its gross product
revenues and accounts receivable at the time swelmues are recognized.

Rebates, Chargebacks and Discouiiise Company contracts with government agenciewaridus private organizations
(collectively, its “Third-party Payors”) so thatqatucts will be eligible for purchase by, or partalfull reimbursement from, such Third-
party Payors. The Company estimates the rebataeggeiacks and discounts it will provide to Thirdtpdayors and deducts these
estimated amounts from its gross product revenutredime the revenues are recognized. For eawdupt, the Company estimates the
aggregate rebates, chargebacks and discounts wilifgrovide to Third-party Payors based upontli¢g Company’s contracts with these
Third-party Payors, (ii) the government-mandatestaints applicable to government-funded prograiijsinformation obtained from the
Company’s Customers regarding the payor mix fohguroduct and (iv) historical experience.

Product ReturnsThe Company estimates the amount of each prodatiifi be returned and deducts these estimatediatadrom
its gross revenues at the time the revenues aogmezed. The Company’s Customers have the righdgtton unopened unprescribed
packages, subject to contractual limitations. Tie ggoduct returns have been minimal and, basadwamtory levels held by its Custom
and its distribution model, the Company believed tlturns of its products will continue to be miai.

Other IncentivesOther incentives that the Company offers includg@ag mitigation rebates provided by the Company to
commercially insured patients who have coveragevemreside in states that permit co-pay mitigapoograms. The Company’s co-pay
mitigation programs are intended to reduce eacticgzating patient’s portion of the financial respibility for a product’s purchase price
to a specified dollar amount. Based upon the teftlse Company's co-pay mitigation programs, thenGany estimates average co-pay
mitigation amounts for each of its products in oreestablish its accruals for co-pay mitigatiebates and deducts these estimated
amounts from its gross product revenues at the d¢diténe date (i) the revenues are recognizedth@ incentive is offered. The
Company’s co-pay mitigation rebates are subjeejmration.




VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contirad)

The following table summarizes activity in eachtttd product revenue allowance and reserve categonig¢he three years ended
December 31, 2013 :

Rebates,
Trade Chargebacks Product Other
Allowances and Discounts Returns Incentives Total
(in thousands)
2013
Beginning Balance $ 541¢ $ 63,56( $ 285 % 3,568 % 75,39:
Provision related to current period sales 31,39 204,45¢ 5,79 9,29t 250,94«
Adjustments related to prior period sales 342 4,47¢ 15,14¢ (22¢) 19,73¢
Credits/payments made (35,619 (204,249 (7,997) (11,077 (258,94
Ending Balance $ 153t % 68,24: $ 15,79¢ $ 1558 % 87,13
2012
Beginning Balance $ 11,16: $ 52,65¢ $ 34C $ 520: $ 69,36:
Provision related to current period sales 55,91: 216,94 2,067 19,10:¢ 294,02!
Adjustments related to prior period sales 29 3,88: 1,49¢ 72 5,48:
Credits/payments made (61,689 (209,929 (1,059 (20,817 (293,47)
Ending Balance $ 541¢ $ 63,56( $ 285 $ 3565 $ 75,39¢
2011
Beginning Balance $ — — — % — % —
Provision related to current period sales 38,22¢ 75,14* 558 9,69 123,61t
Credits/payments made (27,06¢) (22,48¢) (213 (4,490 (54,25
Ending Balance $ 11,162 $ 52,65¢ $ 34C S 520z $ 69,36

Based on the current information available to then@any, cumulative adjustments related to prioiogesales represent 0.7% and 1.3% ,
respectively, of the gross product revenues tha¢wnecorded in the years ended December 31, 204 2Gil.

Royalty Revenues

The Company’s royalty revenues on commercial saliéCIVO (telaprevir) by Janssen are based orsatds of licensed products in
licensed territories as provided by Janssen. Thag2oy recognizes royalty revenues in the periocg#hes occur.

The Company has sold its rights to receive cer@jalties on sales of an HIV protease inhibitos@mprenavir) and recognizes the
revenues related to this sale as royalty reveringke circumstance where the Company has sofifjti$s to future royalties under a license
agreement and also maintains continuing involverretite royalty arrangement (but not significanbtdouing involvement in the generatior
the cash flows payable to the purchaser of thedutnyalty rights), the Company defers recognitsbthe proceeds it receives for the royalty
stream and recognizes these deferred revenueshaviifie of the license agreement pursuant to tiitstof-revenue method. The Company’s
estimates regarding the estimated remaining roya{yments due to the purchaser have changed pateand may change in the future.

Collaborative Revenues

The Company recognizes revenues generated thraligharative research, development and/or commléateon agreements. The terms
of these agreements typically include paymentéoGbmpany of one or more of the following: nonrefainle, up-front license fees;
development and commercial milestone payments;ifignof research and/or development activities; payts for services the Company
provides through its third-party manufacturing netlky and royalties on net sales of licensed pralieach of these types of payments results
in collaborative revenues, except for revenues froyalties on net sales of licensed products, whiehclassified as royalty revenues.




VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contirad)

For each collaborative research, development andfmmercialization agreement that result in reventiee Company determines (i)
whether multiple deliverables exist, (ii) whethlee uindelivered elements have value to the customarstand-alone basis, (iii) how the
deliverables should be separated and (iv) how d¢ihsideration should be allocated to the delivesaldfer arrangements entered into or
materially modified after January 1, 2011, the Campallocates consideration in an arrangement ubimgelative selling price method based
on management’s best estimate of selling pricestiferables if it does not have vendor-specificechije evidence or third-party evidence. As
part of the accounting for these agreements, thepgaay must develop assumptions that require judgtoetetermine the best estimate of
selling price. Key assumptions utilized by the Campto determine the best estimate of selling prieg include patient enrollment
requirements from regulatory authorities, developtienelines, reimbursement rates for personndisca$scount rates, and estimated third-
party development costs.

The Company evaluates amendments to its existiag@ements to determine whether they have beermiaigtenodified. In making its
determination that an arrangement has been méyamatified, the Company considers whether thergeHzeen significant changes to the
consideration under the arrangement, the delivesalnhder the arrangement, the timing of delivesaatel the period of the arrangement. If the
arrangement is determined to have been materiailjifired, the Company allocates fixed consideratiader the arrangement using its best
estimate of selling price to the remaining undetaeelements at the date of material modificathmy consideration remaining after the
allocation is recognized as revenue.

Collaborative research, development and/or commalkzation agreements entered into prior to Jan@ia®011 that contained multiple
elements of revenue were divided into separate whificcounting if certain criteria were met, irthg whether the delivered element had
standalone value to the collaborator and whether thexs @bjective and reliable evidence of the fair gafithe undelivered obligation(s). T
Company allocated consideration it received ambegseparate units either on the basis of eactsuait' value or using the residual method,
and applied the revenue recognition criteria thezdhe separate units.

Up-front License Feedf the license to the Company's intellectual properas determined to have stand-alone value fraother
deliverables identified in the arrangement, the Gany recognized revenues from nonrefundable, uptfroense fees upon delivery. If
these licenses did not have stand-alone value;dingpany recognized revenues from nonrefundablé;amdicense fees on a straighte
basis over the contracted or estimated period dbpeance. The Company evaluated the period obperdnce each reporting period and
adjusted the period of performance on a prospebthgss if there were changes to be made.

Milestone Payment#t the inception of each agreement that includegaech and development milestone payments, the &omp
evaluated whether each milestone was substantheeCbmpany recognized revenues related to substantiestones in full in the period
in which the substantive milestone was achieveadyiment was reasonably assured. If a milestonenatasonsidered substantive, the
Company recognized the applicable milestone paymesitthe period of performance.

Research and Development Activities/Manufacturieyies:If the Company was entitled to reimbursement frtsrcollaborators for
specified research and development expenses amdfoentitled to payments for specified manufactuservices that the Company
provided through its third-party manufacturing netky the Company determined whether the reseamdtdanelopment funding would
result in collaborative revenues or an offset &eesgch and development expenses.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject@mmpany to concentration of credit risk consish@ipally of money market funds and
marketable securities. The Company places thesstiments with highly rated financial institutioasd, by policy, limits the amounts of cre
exposure to any one financial institution. Thes@ants at times may exceed federally insured linfite Company has not experienced any
credit losses in these accounts and does not batiesexposed to any significant credit risk bage funds. The Company implemented a
foreign exchange hedging program in December 288&f December 31, 2013, the notional amount aivd/édue of these hedges was not
significant.
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VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contirad)

The Company also is subject to credit risk fromaitsounts receivable related to its product saldscallaborators. The Company evalu
the creditworthiness of each of its customers asldetermined that all of its material customeescaeditworthy. To date, the Company has
not experienced significant losses with respetiiéocollection of its accounts receivable. The Canys receivables from Greece and ltaly
were not material in 2013, and the Company hadeneivables from Spain or Portugal in 2013. The Camyrbelieves that its allowance for
doubtful accounts was adequate at December 31, 2BE&se refer to Note X, "Segment Informationr‘fiirther information.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmansith original maturities of three months or lesshee date of purchase to be cash
equivalents.

Restricted Cas

Restricted cash consists of balances held in deptki certain banks to collateralize conditiontral-by letters of credit in the names of
the Company’s landlords pursuant to certain opsgdéase agreements. The Company also separagelgsi#d on its consolidated balance
sheet restricted cash and cash equivalents (Ad®®f December 31, 2012. The Company deconsoliddies as of December 31, 2013. Ple
refer to Note B, "Collaborative Arrangements," forther information.

Marketable Securitie

The Company's marketable securities consist ofsimvents in government-sponsored enterprise sexgjriiorporate debt securities and
commercial paper that are classified as availateséle. The Company classifies marketable seesrévailable to fund current operations as
current assets on its consolidated balance shéat&etable securities are classified as long-tesaets on the consolidated balance sheets if
(i) they have been in an unrealized loss posit@ridnger than one year and (ii) the Company hastility and intent to hold them (a) until 1
carrying value is recovered and (b) such holdingopgemay be longer than one year. The Company'&etaile securities are stated at fair
value with their unrealized gains and losses iretbds a component of accumulated other compreleelosis, which is a separate component
of shareholders’ equity, until such gains and lssze realized. The fair value of these securigiémsed on quoted prices for identical or
similar assets.

The Company reviews investments in marketable g@sufor other-than-temporary impairment whenetherfair value of an investment
is less than the amortized cost and evidence itefidhat an investmesttarrying amount is not recoverable within a reabte period of time
To determine whether an impairment is other-tteanporary, the Company considers whether it haatant to sell, or whether it is more like
than not that the Company will be required to sb#, investment before recovery of the investmemt®rtized cost basis. Evidence considere
in this assessment includes reasons for the impairncompliance with the Company’s investment pgolihe severity and the duration of the
impairment and changes in value subsequent togmdri a decline in the fair value is considerélieothan-temporary, based on available
evidence, the unrealized loss is transferred fridmrocomprehensive income (loss) to the consolitlstgtements of operations.

There were no charges recorded for other-than-teanpdeclines in fair value of marketable secusiii® 2013 , 2012 or 2011 . Realized
gains and losses are determined using the spatgfidification method and are included in otheoime (expense), net in the consolidated
statements of operations. There were no groszeehtjains or losses recognized in 2013 , 2012 bt 20

Stock-based Compensation Expense

The Company expenses the fair value of employexk iptions and other forms of stoblesed employee compensation over the asso
employee service period on a straight-line basis.a@wards with performance conditions, the Compastimates the likelihood of satisfaction
of the performance conditions, which affects thequkover which the expense is recognized, andg®izes the expense using the acceleratec
attribution model. Stock-based compensation expisndetermined based on the fair value of the awatte grant date, including estimated
forfeitures, and is adjusted each period to refiettal forfeitures and the outcomes of certaiioperance conditions.
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VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contirad)

Research and Development Exper

The Company expenses as incurred all researchearedoppment expenses, including amounts fundeddsareh and development
collaborations. The Company capitalizes nonrefutelabivance payments made by the Company for rdsaartdevelopment activities and
expenses the payments as the related goods arerddlior the related services are performed.

Research and development expenses are comprisedtefincurred by the Company in performing redeard development activities,
including salary and benefits; stock-based compamsaxpense; laboratory supplies and other degpenses; contractual services costs,
including clinical trial and pharmaceutical devailmgnt costs; expenses associated with drug sugphésire not being capitalized; and
infrastructure costs, including facilities costslatepreciation expense.

Advertising Expense

The Company expenses the costs of advertisingydingg promotional expenses, as incurred. Advedisixpenses, recorded in sales,
general and administrative expenses, were $191®m;jl$58.6 million and $30.8 million in 2013 , PP and 2011 , respectively.

Inventories

The Company values its inventories at the lowecast or market. The Company determines the cdst ofventories, which includes
amounts related to materials and manufacturinghmaat, on a first-in, first-out basis. The Compaagfgrms an assessment of the
recoverability of capitalized inventory during eaelporting period, and writes down any excess drsblete inventories to their realizable
value in the period in which the impairment isffidentified. Shipping and handling costs incurfedinventory purchases are capitalized and
recorded upon sale in cost of product revenuesdrtonsolidated statements of operations. Shipgidghandling costs incurred for product
shipments are recorded as incurred in cost of mtodwenues in the consolidated statements of tpesa

The Company capitalizes inventories produced ipamation for initiating sales of a drug candidateew the related drug candidate is
considered to have a high likelihood of regulatapproval and the related costs are expected tedowerable through sales of the inventories.
In determining whether or not to capitalize suckeimtories, the Company evaluates, among otherriadgtdormation regarding the drug
candidate’s safety and efficacy, the status ofletgry submissions and communications with reguasmthorities and the outlook for
commercial sales, including the existence of curoeranticipated competitive drugs and the avdilgbdf reimbursement. In addition, the
Company evaluates risks associated with manufactihie drug candidate and the remaining shelfeliftne inventories.

Property and Equipmel

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Digpieat expense is recorded using the straight#ie¢hod over the estimated useful life
of the related asset, generally seven to ten yeafarniture and equipment, three to five yeansdomputers and software, 40 years for
buildings and for leasehold improvements, the udiééuof the improvements or the estimated rentagrife of the associated lease.
Maintenance and repairs to an asset that do nabirepor extend its life are charged to operatidden assets are retired or otherwise
disposed of, the assets and related accumulatedaiagion are eliminated from the accounts andrasylting gain or loss is reflected in the
Company’s consolidated statements of operations.ddmpany performs an assessment of the fair dlthe assets if indicators of
impairment are identified during a reporting perardl records the assets at the lower of the nét balae or the fair value of the assets.

The Company capitalizes internal costs incurredeteelop software for internal use during the aion development stage. The
Company expenses costs related to the planningastdimplementation phases of development of soéiv@r internal use as these costs are
incurred. Maintenance and enhancement costs (imgubsts in the post-implementation stages) apersed as incurred, unless such costs
relate to substantial upgrades and enhancemetits software resulting in added functionality, ihigh case the costs are capitalized.
Amortization of capitalized internally developedtaa@re costs is recorded in depreciation expense the useful life of the related asset.
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The Company records certain construction costsiadwy a landlord as an asset and correspondiagding obligation on the Compar
consolidated balance sheets as the owner of thdifmys for accounting purposes.

Capital Leases

The assets and liabilities associated with cafgtede agreements are recorded at the presentofaluie minimum lease payments at the
inception of the lease agreement. The assets aydiaed using the straight-line method over thénestied useful life of the related asset or the
remaining life of the associated lease. Amortizatb assets that the Company leases pursuantapitaldease is included in depreciation
expense. The Company performs an assessmentfairtivalue of the assets if indicators of impairmare identified during a reporting period
and records the assets at the lower of the net balole or the fair value of the assets. Assetsrdmzbunder capital leases are recorded within
"Property and equipment, net" and liabilities rethto those assets are recorded within "Capitaklebligations, current portion" and "Capital
lease obligations, excluding current portion," ba Company's consolidated balance sheets.

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recogniaethe expected future tax consequences of termpditierences between the financial
statement carrying amounts and the income tax lidsessets and liabilities. A valuation allowans@pplied against any net deferred tax asse
if, based on the available evidence, it is moreljikhan not that some or all of the deferred tssets will not be realized.

The Company records liabilities related to uncertak positions by prescribing a minimum recogmitibreshold and measurement
attribute for the financial statement recognitioml aneasurement of a tax position taken or expedotée taken in a tax return. The Company
does not believe any such uncertain tax positionseatly pending will have a material adverse dffatits consolidated financial statements.

Variable Interest Entities

The Company reviews each collaboration agreemeasupat to which the Company licenses assets owynedcbllaborator in order to
determine whether or not the collaborator is a \HEhe collaborator is a VIE, the Company assesdesther or not the Company is the
primary beneficiary of that VIE based on a numtdéaotors, including (i) which party has the povtedirect the activities that most
significantly affect the VIE's economic performan¢é the parties’ contractual rights and respbilgies pursuant to the collaboration
agreement and (iii) which party has the obligatmabsorb losses or the right to receive bengfits fthe VIE. If the Company determines it is
the primary beneficiary of a VIE at the onset af tollaboration agreement, the collaboration iateé as a business combination and the
Company consolidates the financial statementseoMit into the Company’s consolidated financiatestaents. The Company evaluates
whether it continues to be the primary beneficiafrany consolidated VIEs on a quarterly basishéf Company determines that it is no longer
the primary beneficiary of a consolidated VIE, orlanger has a variable interest in the VIE, itatemlidates the VIE in the period that the
determination is made.

Business Combinatior

The Company assigns the value of consideratiotydintg contingent consideration, transferred inibess combinations to the appropr
accounts on the Company's consolidated balance Ishsed on their fair value as of the effectiveedstthe transaction. If a collaboration has
been treated as a business combination and trematingent payments, increases in the fair vafuke contingent payments pursuant to
collaborations accounted for as business combimatiesult in a decrease in net income attributioléertex (or an increase in net loss
attributable to Vertex) on a dollar-for-dollar basTransaction costs and any restructuring costecaed with these transactions are expense
as incurred.

Fair Value of Ir-process Research and Development Assets and GentiRayments in Business Combinations

The present-value models used to estimate thedaies of research and development assets anahgentipayments pursuant to
collaborations incorporate significant assumptiansluding: assumptions regarding the probabilitplotaining marketing approval and/or
achieving relevant development milestones for g dandidate; estimates regarding the timing of
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and the expected costs to develop a drug candigsiiejates of future cash flows from potential prcidsales and/or the potential to achieve
certain commercial milestones with respect to g dandidate; and the appropriate discount andatizs r

In-process Research and Development Assets

The Company records the fair value of in-proceseaech and development assets as of the transadetierof a business combination.
Each of these assets is accounted for as an iftdeffired intangible asset and is maintained onGbenpany’s consolidated balance sheet unti
either the project underlying it is completed ce #sset becomes impaired. If the asset become#éuma is abandoned, the carrying value of
the related intangible asset is written down tddtsvalue, and an impairment charge is recordettié period in which the impairment occurs.
If a project is completed, the carrying value & tkelated intangible asset is amortized as a padsi of product revenues over the remaining
estimated life of the asset beginning in the pemoahich the project is completed. In-process aedle and development assets are tested for
impairment on an annual basis as of October 1 nzor@ frequently if indicators are present or charigecircumstances suggest that
impairment may exist.

Goodwill

The difference between the purchase price andaihedlue of assets acquired and liabilities assuime business combination is alloce
to goodwill. Goodwill is evaluated for impairment an annual basis as of October 1, and more frélguémdicators are present or change:
circumstances suggest that impairment may exist.

Deconsolidation and Discontinued Operatic

Upon the occurrence of certain events and on daebasis, the Company evaluates whether it nodphgs a controlling financial intere
in its subsidiaries, including deemed subsidiasiash as consolidated VIEs. If it is determined thatCompany no longer has a controlling
interest, the subsidiary is deconsolidated. The @y records a gain or loss on deconsolidationchasehe difference on the deconsolidatior
date between (i) the aggregate of (a) the fairevafuany consideration received, (b) the fair vadtiany retained noncontrolling investment in
the former subsidiary and (c) the carrying amodratiy noncontrolling interest in the subsidiaryrgedeconsolidated, less (ii) the carrying
amount of the former subsidiary’s assets and Ii#sl

The Company assesses whether a deconsolidatiequised to be presented as discontinued operatidtsconsolidated financial
statements on the deconsolidation date. This aseetss based on whether or not (i) the operatambscash flows to the former subsidiary
have been or will be eliminated from the Companygoing operations as a result of the deconsatidavent and (ii) the Company will have
any significant continuing involvement in the ogéras of the former subsidiary after the deconsl@h event. If the Company determines
that a deconsolidation requires presentation ascantinued operation on the deconsolidation datat any point during the one year period
following such date, it will present the former sidiary as a discontinued operation in current @mdparative period financial statements.

Derivative Instruments, Embedded Derivatives andditey Activities

The Company has entered into financial transaciiovalving free-standing derivative instruments amdbedded derivatives in the past.
Embedded derivatives are required to be bifurchtad the host instruments because the derivatikesat clearly and closely related to the
host instruments. The Company determines the &irevof each derivative instrument or embedded/dgve that is identified on the date of
issuance and at the end of each quarterly perioel €6timates of the fair value of these derivatipasticularly with respect to derivatives
related to the achievement of milestones in theldgment of telaprevir, included significant asstions regarding the estimates market
participants would make in order to evaluate thies@vatives.

The Company recognizes the fair value of hedgistriments that are designated and qualify as hgdaggtruments pursuant to GAAP,
primarily foreign currency forward contracts, ather assets or liabilities on the consolidated iedasheets. Changes in the fair value of
hedging instruments are recorded each period innaglated other comprehensive loss until the datetifement, at which point the
cumulative change in the fair value since the itioepof the hedge is
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recognized in "Product revenues, net," in its cbdated statements of operations. The Companyifilesshe cash flows from hedging
instruments in the same category as the cash fimnsthe hedged items.

The Company assesses, both at inception and ongaing basis, whether the foreign currency forwardtracts used in hedging
transactions are highly effective in offsetting thenges in cash flows of the hedged items. Thepaogalso assesses hedge ineffectiveness
quarterly and, if determined to be ineffective,aiels the gain or loss related to the ineffectivdipo to earnings in "Other income (expense),
net" in the consolidated statements of operations.

Restructuring Expenst

The Company records costs and liabilities assatiatth exit and disposal activities based on edmaf fair value in the period the
liabilities are incurred. In periods subsequerthwinitial measurement, the Company measures elsanghe liability using the credit-adjusted
risk-free discount rate applied in the initial peti The Company evaluates and adjusts these fiabilis appropriate for changes in
circumstances at least on a quarterly basis.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) consists of net incass) and other comprehensive income (loss), winicludes foreign currency
translation adjustments and unrealized gains asgkkon foreign currency forward contracts andrernharketable securities. For purposes of
comprehensive income (loss) disclosures, the Coyngaes not record tax provisions or benefits, a@Gbmpany intends to permanently
reinvest undistributed earnings in its foreign sdibsies.

Foreign Currency Translation and Transactic

All material consolidated entities have the U.Sladas their functional currency. Non-U.S. dolfanctional currency subsidiaries have
assets and liabilities translated into U.S. dolirsates of exchange in effect at the end of #&.yRevenue and expense amounts are translal
using the average exchange rates for the periadumealized gains and losses resulting from foreigrrency translation are included in
accumulated other comprehensive loss, which iparate component of shareholders’ equity. Includeatcumulated other comprehensive
loss are net unrealized losses related to foraigrency translation of $0.3 million , $0.7 milli@md $0.9 million at December 31, 2013 , 2012
and 2011 , respectively. Net foreign currency ergearansaction gains or losses are included in ideme (loss)" on the Company’s
consolidated statement of operations. Net trarmagiins were $5.1 million and $0.7 million for 204nd 2011 , respectively, and net
transaction losses were $0.4 million in 2012 .

Net Income (Loss) Per Share Attributable to Ve@ermmon Shareholde

Basic and diluted net income per share attributabMertex common shareholders are presented ifoooity with the two-class method
required for participating securities. Under the{ass method, earnings are allocated to (i) Wertenmon shares, excluding unvested
restricted stock, and (ii) participating securitibased on their respective weightarage shares outstanding for the period. Sharasvestec
restricted stock granted under the Company's Antbadd Restated 2006 Stock and Option Plan haveddorfeitable right to receive
dividends on an equal basis with other outstandorgmon stock. As a result, these unvested shanesiicted stock are considered
participating securities under the twtass method. Potentially dilutive shares resoltnfthe assumed exercise of outstanding stock ap(ibe
proceeds of which are then assumed to have bedrtaisepurchase outstanding stock using the trgatack method) and the assumed
conversion of convertible notes.

Basic net loss per share attributable to Vertexmmomshareholders is based upon the weighted-avertagber of common shares
outstanding during the period, excluding restricteatk that has been issued but is not yet veBidited net loss per share attributable to
Vertex common shareholders is based upon the veslgdnterage number of common shares outstandinggitime period plus additional
weighted-average common equivalent shares outstgulliring the period when the effect is dilutive.

Recent Accounting Pronounceme

The Company did not adopt any new accounting procements during 2013 that had a material effe¢cherCompany’s consolidated
financial statements.
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B. Collaborative Arrangements
Janssen Pharmaceutica I

In 2006, the Company entered into a collaboratgneement with Janssen (the "2006 Janssen Agreenfienthe development,
manufacture and commercialization of telaprevirichhlanssen began marketing under the brand na@®/Mlin certain of its territories in
September 2011. Under the collaboration agreendanssen has exclusive rights to commercializeredapn its territories including Europe,
South America, the Middle East, Africa and Australn November 2013, the Company and Janssen achémeleollaboration agreement (the
"2013 Janssen Amendment," as amended the "Janggeament").

Janssen made a $165.0 million up-front license geyrio the Company in 2006. The Company amortizedip-front license payment
over the Company’s estimated period of performamader the Janssen Agreement through November 2@&13f November 2013, the
effective date of the 2013 Janssen Amendment, thase$32.1 million remaining in deferred revenusdated to this up-front license payment.

In addition to the up-front license payment, Jangsade contingent milestone payments for succedsftdlopment, approval and launch
of telaprevir as a product in its territories. Aetinception of the 2006 Janssen Agreement, thep@nyndetermined that all of the contingent
milestones were substantive and would result iemees in the period in which the milestone waseagd. The Company earned $350.0
million of these contingent milestone paymentsluding a $50.0 million milestone payment earnethmfirst quarter of 2011 in connection
with the European Medicines Agency’s acceptandé@fmarketing authorization application for INCI\&Dd an aggregate of $200.0 million
milestone payments earned in the third quarte0dfizelated to the approval of INCIVO by the Eurap&ommission and the launch of
INCIVO in the European Union. The Company will meteive any further milestone payments under thesém Agreement.

Under the Janssen Agreement, each party incunmaltand external reimbursable expenses and idtesed by the other party for 5086
these expenses. The Company recognized the fulliaihod the reimbursable costs it incurred as reseand development expenses on its
consolidated statements of operations. The Compasognized, including in 2013, the amounts Janesenobligated to pay the Company
with respect to reimbursable expenses, net of ngisale expenses incurred by Janssen, as collatoratenues. During 2012 and 2011,
Janssen incurred more reimbursable costs thandhgp@hy, and the net amounts payable by the Compareymburse Janssen were recorded
as a reduction of collaborative revenues. Each@parties were responsible for drug supply iteitstories. Until December 31, 2013, the
Company provided Janssen certain services thrdw@lompany’s third-party manufacturing networkttdaprevir.

Janssen paid the Company a tiered royalty averagitige mid-20% range as a percentage of net s&l®CIVO in Janssen'’s territories
through the fourth quarter of 2013. In additiomsken is responsible for certain third-party ragalon net sales of INCIVO in its territories.

Pursuant to the 2013 Janssen Amendment, (i) Janss@a a payment of $152.0 million to the Companth@nfourth quarter of 2013; (ii)
Janssen's obligations to pay the Company royaltiaset sales of INCIVO (telaprevir) terminated aftee fourth quarter of 2013; and (iii)
Janssen received a fully-paid license to commézeidNCIVO in its territories, subject to the canted payment of certain third-party royalties
on its net sales of INCIVO. The Company and Janssatinue to perform activities related to the petevir development program.

The Company determined the 2013 Janssen Amendnasndmaterial modification to the 2006 Janssen émgent because there was a
material change to the consideration and delivesabhder the agreement and determined that thereisndelivered element under the
agreement, as amended, which is the continuatieerdin telaprevir development activities. The @amy recognized $182.4 million of
collaborative revenues pursuant to the JanssereAwet in the fourth quarter of 2013. This amours wamarily attributable to (i) the residt
consideration received from Janssen, includingst®2.0 million fourth quarter 2013 payment andrémaining deferred revenues related to
the 2006 up-front payment less (ii) the best edeno& selling price for the remaining telaprevivdempment activities. As of December 31,
2013, the remaining deferred revenue balance tketatéhe Janssen collaboration was $5.0 millionaiticbe recognized as collaborative
revenues as telaprevir development program aetivdire completed.
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The agreement will continue in effect until the eapion of Janssen’s third-party royalty obligatomvhich expire on a country-by-country
basis on the later of (a) the last-to-expire patenering INCIVO or (b) the last required paymentlanssen to the Company pursuant to the
agreement. In the European Union, the Company Ipasesmt covering the composition-of-matter of INCIthat expires in 2026.

During the three years ended December 31, 2818 Company recognized the following revenueibatiable to the Janssen collaborati

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)

Royalty revenues $ 130,72 $ 117,59. $ 20,28¢
Collaborative revenues:

Up-front and amendment payments revenues $ 190,34 $ 12,42¢ $ 12,42¢

Milestone revenues — — 250,00(

Net reimbursement (payment) for telaprevir develeptitosts 2,79% (3,507 (8,41¢)

Reimbursement for manufacturing services 10,29¢ 7,257 20,38:

Total collaborative revenues attributaloléhte Janssen collaboration $ 203,43° $ 16,17¢ $ 274,39:

Total revenues attributable to the Janssen coltdioor $ 334,16. $ 133,77 $ 294,68

Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporatic

The Company has a collaboration agreement (the ‘®1ABreement”) with Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corpora("Mitsubishi Tanabe")
pursuant to which Mitsubishi Tanabe has a fullyddaiense to manufacture and commercialize TELAt& brand name under which
Mitsubishi Tanabe is marketing telaprevir) in Japad other specified countries in Asia. In Septen2idd 1, Mitsubishi Tanabe obtained
approval to market TELAVIC in Japan.

The parties entered into the MTPC Agreement in 20@dtamended it in 2009. Pursuant to the MTPC Agesd, Mitsubishi Tanabe
provided financial and other support for the depeient and commercialization of telaprevir, madd.@5$%0 million payment in connection
with the 2009 amendment of the collaboration agezerand made a $65.0 million commercial milestosmgnpent recognized as collaborative
revenues in the fourth quarter of 2011. There arturther payments under this collaboration agregniitsubishi Tanabe is responsible for
its own development and manufacturing costs iteitstory.

Mitsubishi Tanabe may terminate the MTPC Agreenagiainy time without cause upon 60 days’ priorteritnotice to the Company. The
MTPC Agreement also may be terminated by eithetlydar a material breach by the other, subjectdtice and cure provisions. Unless earlier
terminated, the MTPC Agreement will continue ireeffuntil the expiration of the last-to-expire pateovering telaprevir in Mitsubishi
Tanabe's territories. In Japan, the Company hasempcovering the composition-of-matter of telapréhat expires in 2021.

The $105.0 million payment that the Company reakinethe third quarter of 2009 in connection witle @mendment to the MTPC
Agreement was a nonrefundable, up-front licensedrd revenues related to the 2009 payment weognézed on a straighine basis over th
period of performance of the Company’s obligatiander the amended agreement. The final deferrexhtms related to the 2009 up-front
license payment were recognized in April 2012.dnreection with the amendment to the MTPC AgreentetCompany supplied
manufacturing services to Mitsubishi Tanabe, ulatitil 2012, through the Company’s third-party maathiring network for telaprevir.
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The Company did not record any collaborative reesmaitributable to the MTPC Agreement in 2013 . fEide below sets forth the total
collaborative revenues attributable to the MTPCe&gnent for 2012 or 2011 :

2012 2011
(in thousands)
Amortized portion of up-front payments $ 12,74  $ 38,23:
Milestone revenues 48t 68,51¢
Payments for manufacturing services 5,65( 14,92¢
Total collaborative revenues attributable to théshMishi Tanabe collaboration $ 18,87¢ $ 121,67!

Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Therapeutics Incorpochte

In April 2011, the Company entered into an amendr{tae “April 2011 Amendment”) to its existing cabloration agreement with Cystic
Fibrosis Foundation Therapeutics Incorporated (“Ciipursuant to which CFFT agreed to provide finahsupport for (i) development
activities for VX-661, a corrector compound discadunder the collaboration, and (ii) additionalearch and development activities directec
at discovering new corrector compounds.

The Company entered into the original collaboratigreement with CFFT in 2004 and amended it setienak prior to 2011 to, among
other things, provide partial funding for its cysfibrosis drug discovery and development effdri2006, the Company receive®a.5 million
milestone payment from CFFT. There are no additioni@stones payable by CFFT to the Company puitsigetine collaboration agreement
amended. Under the April 2011 Amendment, CFFT abtegrovide the Company with up to $75.0 millionfunding over approximately 5
years for correct-compound research and development activities.ddrapany retains the right to develop and commeéreidd ALYDECO
(ivacaftor), VX-809, VX-661 and any other compounlilscovered during the course of the researchlmmi&ion with CFFT. The Company
recognized collaborative revenues from this coltabon of $14.3 million , $17.0 million and $13.7llon , respectively, in 2013 , 2012 and
2011.

In the original agreement, as amended prior tAihrd 2011 Amendment, the Company agreed to pay TChéted royalties calculated a:
percentage, ranging from single digits to sub-teehannual net sales of any approved drugs disedveuring the research term that ended in
2008, including KALYDECO, lumacaftor and VX-661. &@pril 2011 Amendment provides for a tiered royatt the same range on net sales
of corrector compounds discovered during the resetarm that began in 2011. In each of the thirarggr of 2012 and the first quarter of 20
CFFT earned a commercial milestone payment of 8ll&n from the Company upon achievement of certales levels for KALYDECO.
These milestones were reflected in the Compangsaigroduct revenues. There are no additionalnsernial milestone payments payable by
the Company to CFFT related to sales levels for KRECO. The Company also is obligated to make d ttawo one-time commercial
milestone payments upon achievement of certairs $alels for corrector compounds such as lumacaftdfX-661.

The Company began marketing KALYDECO in the Unigdtes in the first quarter of 2012 and began ntiagkéSALYDECO in certain
countries in the European Union in the third quanfe2012. The Company has royalty obligations EFT for each compound commercialized
pursuant to this collaboration until the expirat@frpatents covering that compound. The Companyphtents in the United States and
European Union covering the composition-of-matfavacaftor that expire in 2027 and 2025, respatfivsubject to potential patent life
extensions. The Company has patent applicatiotigitunited States and European Union covering ¢ieposition-of-matter of lumacaftor
that expire in 2026, subject to potential patdetdixtensions. CFFT may terminate its funding @ilmns under the collaboration, as amended
in certain circumstances, in which case therelvélh proportional adjustment to the royalty rate$ @mmercial milestone payments for
certain corrector compounds. The collaboration edsg be terminated by either party for a mateniabbh by the other, subject to notice and
cure provisions.
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Alios BioPharma, Inc

License and Collaboration Agreement

In June 2011, the Company entered into a licendecaltaboration agreement (the “Alios AgreementijhwAlios, a privately-held
biotechnology company. The Company and Alios atialorating on the research, development and cowrialzation of an HCV nucleotide
analogue discovered by Alios, ALS-2200 (now forntedhas VVX-135), which is designed to act on the Hiolymerase.

Under the terms of the Alios Agreement, the Compaagived exclusive worldwide rights to ALS-2200{A2.35) and ALS-2158, a
second HCV nucleotide analogue discovered by Alas was developed pursuant to the Alios agreeheotigh the third quarter of 2012.
Alios and the Company began clinical developmerilo$-2200 (VX-135) and ALS-2158 in December 201heTCompany is responsible for
all costs related to development, commercializatiod manufacturing of each compound licensed t&tirapany pursuant to the Alios
Agreement and provided funding to Alios to condihet Phase 1 clinical trials for ALS-2200 and ARE58. In addition, the Company provic
funding for a research program, which ended in 2@ir8cted to the discovery of additional HCV nutide analogues that act on the HCV
polymerase.

Upon entering into the Alios Agreement, the Comppaig Alios a $60.0 million up-front payment. As@écember 31, 2013, Alios had
earned an aggregate of $ 60.0 million in develogrmeélestone payments pursuant to the Alios Agredniime Alios Agreement provides for
development milestone payments to Alios of up tadditional $ 312.5 million if VX135 is approved and commercialized. In additiong#\s
eligible to receive commercial milestone paymeifitspoto $750.0 million , as well as tiered royadtien net sales of VX-135.

The Company may terminate the Alios Agreementgdru30 days’ notice to Alios if the Company ceadeselopment after VX-135 has
experienced a technical failure and/or (ii) uponddys’ notice to Alios at any time after the Comypaompletes Phase 2a clinical trials. The
Alios Agreement also may be terminated by eithetypgfar a material breach by the other, and by #lior the Company’s inactivity or if the
Company challenges certain Alios patents, in easle subject to notice and cure provisions. Unlaggeterminated, the Alios Agreement
will continue in effect until the expiration of tli@ompany’s royalty obligations, which expire onauwtry-by-country basis on the later of
(a) the date the last-to-expire patent coverinigembed product expires or (b) 10 years aftefitetecommercial sale in the country.

Alios is continuing to operate as a separate ensitgngaged in other programs directed at devedppovel drugs that are not covered by
the Alios Agreement and maintains ownership ofithderlying patent rights that are licensed to tbenfany pursuant to the Alios Agreement.
Under applicable accounting guidance, the Compatgrohined that Alios was a VIE, its license to V35land ALS-2158 was a variable
interest in Alios, that Alios was a business arat the Company was Alios’ primary beneficiary foe period from June 13, 2011 through
December 31, 2013. The Company based these detdioms on, among other factors, the significancgliims of the licensed compounds and
on the Company’s power, through the joint steedognmittee for the licensed compounds establishéeine Alios Agreement, to direct the
activities that most significantly affect the ecario performance of Alios.

Accordingly, the Company consolidated Alios’ finaalcstatements with the Company’s consolidatednioia statements from June 13,
2011 through December 31, 2013. However, the Cogipamerests in Alios were limited to those acaxtdo the Company in the Alios
Agreement. In particular, the Company did not amany equity interest in Alios, any interest ino&l cash and cash equivalents or any
control over Alios’ activities that do not relatethe Alios Agreement. Alios does not have anytrighthe Company assets except as provic
in the Alios Agreement.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company determinedttha longer had a variable interest in Aliosaashole and did not possess the
power to direct the activities that most signifitgmffect the economic performance of Alios basagdamong other factors, the decline in
significance to Alios of the licensed HCV nucleetidnalogue program. A full impairment charge of@&85million related to the Alios
collaboration and a benefit for income taxes ofZ10nillion was recorded attributable to Alios. Tiempany deconsolidated Alios based on
this conclusion as of December 31, 2013. The detimlagion resulted in a gain of $68.2 million reded in other income (expense), net
attributable to Vertex in the consolidated statehodmmperations for the year ended December 313 20he gain of $68.2 million was
approximately the difference between (i) lossesGbmpany recorded in 2011 and 2012 based on ireseaghe fair value of contingent
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milestone and royalty payments payable by the CompaAlios and (ii) the aggregate of $120.0 millim up-front and milestone payments
that the Company has made to Alios to date purdoahe Alios Agreement.

The Company continues to have significant contigunvolvement with Alios due to the Alios Agreemgthierefore, the deconsolidation
of Alios is not presented as discontinued operatiarthe Company's consolidated financial statemastof December 31, 2013. The Compan
will evaluate whether it continues to have sigmifit continuing involvement with Alios for a perioflone year from the December 31, 2013
deconsolidation date.

Please refer to Note J, "Intangible Assets and @dbdfor further information regarding the impaient of the HCV nucleotide analogue
program.

Noncontrolling Interest (Alios)

Prior to the deconsolidation, the Company recort@ttontrolling interest (Alios) on two lines on @snsolidated balance sheets. The
noncontrolling interest (Alios) was reflected oroteeparate lines because Alios has both commoelsiiders and preferred shareholders tha
are entitled to redemption rights in certain cirstamces. The Company recorded net loss (incom#&u#tble to noncontrolling interest (Alic
on its consolidated statements of operations,gtfig Alios' net loss (income) for the reportingipd, adjusted for changes in the fair value of
contingent milestone payments and royalties paylapllie Company to Alios, which was evaluated eaglorting period. A summary of net
loss (income) attributable to noncontrolling intréAlios) for the three years ended December 8133s as follows:

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)
Loss before provision for (benefit from) incomeedax $ 283,74 % 20,04: % 9,53¢
Decrease (increase) in fair value of contingenéestdne and royalty payments 124,92( (114,970 (69,95()
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes (166,149 39,02¢ 48,80¢
Net loss (income) attributable to noncontrollinteiest (Alios) $ 242,52. $ (55,897) $ (11,605

In 2012 and 2011, the fair value of the contingaitéstone payments and royalties payable by VedeXios related to the in-licensed
HCV nucleotide analogue program increased by $1d8ldn and $70.0 million respectively, due to the advancement of the CoripdCV
nucleotide program, including the positive data@uenpany received in 2012 from a Phase 1 clinitall that evaluated ALS-2200. As of
December 31, 2013, the Company concluded thdathealue of the contingent milestone and royalayments was zero. This determination
was based on, among other factors, (a) safetyatuléy and efficacy data from a Phase 2a clintcal of VX-135 in combination with
daclatasvir that the Company received in late Dde#r2013 and analyzed and announced in January g8)l#he continuing partial clinical
hold on VX-135 by the U.S. Food and Drug Administra ("FDA"), (c) a review of the existing and ergarg data regarding all-oral regimens
for HCV infection being developed by the Compamgmpetitors, and (d) the risks associated withbdistaing collaborations for the potential
late-stage development of a combination regimetadoing VX-135 and drug candidates controlled hydtiparties.

The Company used present-value models to detertimnestimated fair value of the contingent milestand royalty payments until it
deconsolidated Alios, based on assumptions regattaprobability of achieving the relevant mileste, estimates regarding the time to
develop drug candidates, estimates of future priosiles and the appropriate discount and tax ratessCompany based its estimate of the
probability of achieving the relevant milestonesimiustry data for similar assets and its own eepee. The discount rates used in the
valuation model represented a measure of credtibgsociated with settling the liability. Signifitgudgment was used in determining the
appropriateness of these assumptions at eachireppgriod.
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Alios Balance Sheet Information

The Company included items related to Alios onGloenpany's consolidated balance sheet as of Dece3itb2012. Due to the
deconsolidation of Alios as of December 31, 20k8sé items were not included on the Company's tidased balance sheet as of December
31, 2013. The following table summaries items eglab the Alios included on the Company's constdididalance sheet as of December 31,
2012.

As of December 31, 2012
(in thousands)

Restricted cash and cash equivalents (Alios) $ 69,98:
Prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 672
Property and equipment, net $ 1,72¢
Intangible assets $ 250,60(
Other assets $ 861
Accounts payable $ 1,05¢
Accrued expenses $ 6,09¢
Income taxes payable (Alios) $ 71t
Deferred tax liability $ 152,78:
Other liabilities, excluding current portion $ 91C
Redeemable noncontrolling interest (Alios) $ 38,53(
Noncontrolling interest (Alios) $ 196,67:

As of December 31, 2012, the Company recorded Adiash and cash equivalents as restricted caskastdequivalents (Alios) because
(i) the Company did not have any interest in ortrdrover Alios’ cash and cash equivalents andtfi@ Alios Agreement did not provide for
these assets to be used for the development afeds that the Company licenses from Alios putdoahe Alios Agreement. Assets recordec
as a result of consolidating Alios’ financial cotial into the Company’s consolidated balance stieehot represent additional assets that
could have been used to satisfy claims againsCtmpany’s general assets.
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C. Net Income (Loss) Per Share Attributable to VertexCommon Shareholder.

The following table sets forth the computation abiz and diluted net income (loss) per share fetthhee years ended December 31,
2013:

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Basic net income (loss) attributable to Vertex p@mmon share calculation:

Net income (loss) attributable to Vertex commonrshalders $ (445,02 $ (107,03) $ 29,57«
Less: Undistributed earnings allocated to partibigasecurities — — (291)
Net income (loss) attributable to Vertex commorrshalders—basic $ (445,02) $ (107,03) $ 29,28:
Basic weighted-average common shares outstanding 224,90¢ 211,94« 204,89:
Basic net income (loss) attributable to Vertex @@nmon share $ 1.9 $ (050 $ 0.14
Diluted net income (loss) attributable to Vertex pemmon share calculation:
Net income (loss) attributable to Vertex commonrshalders $ (445,02 $ (107,03) $ 29,57«
Less: Undistributed earnings allocated to partidigasecurities — — (285)
Net income (loss) attributable to Vertex commonrshalders—diluted $ (445,02 $ (107,03) $ 29,28¢
Weighted-average shares used to compute basingwne (loss) per common share 224,90t 211,94¢ 204,89:
Effect of potentially dilutive securities:

Stock options — — 3,86¢

Other — — 53
Weighted-average shares used to compute dilutedecmne (loss) per common share 224,90t 211,94t 208,80’
Diluted net income (loss) attributable to Vertex pemmon share $ 1.9¢) $ 050 $ 0.14

The Company did not include the securities desdribehe following table in the computation of tthiéuted net income (loss) attributable
to Vertex per common share calculations becauseftbet would have been anti-dilutive during eaablsperiod:

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)
Stock options 15,72¢ 19,72¢ 9,62¢
Convertible senior subordinated notes — 8,19 8,197
Unvested restricted stock and restricted stocksunit 2,16 2,35( 8

D. Fair Value Measurement:

The fair value of the Company’s financial assets labilities reflects the Company’s estimate ofaamts that it would have received in
connection with the sale of the assets or paidimection with the transfer of the liabilities in arderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. In connestitnmeasuring the fair value of its assets aaldilities, the Company seeks to maximize
use of observable inputs (market data obtained founces independent from the Company) and to neeithe use of unobservable inputs
(the Company’s assumptions about how market ppaints would price assets and liabilities). Theofelhg fair value hierarchy is used to
classify assets and liabilities based on the oladdevinputs and unobservable inputs used in oodealtie the assets and liabilities:

Level 1:  Quoted prices in active markets for ideaitassets or liabilities. An active market forasset or liability is a
market in which transactions for the asset or liighdccur with sufficient frequency and volumegoovide
pricing information on an ongoing basis.

Level 2:  Observable inputs other than Level 1 tapExamples of Level 2 inputs include quoted fwiceactive markets
for similar assets or liabilities and quoted prit@sidentical assets or liabilities in marketstthee not active.

Level 3:  Unobservable inputs based on the Compasgsessment of the assumptions that market parisi would use
in pricing the asset or liability.
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The Company'’s investment strategy is focused oitalgpeservation. The Company invests in instrutsiéimat meet the credit quality
standards outlined in the Company’s investmentgolihis policy also limits the amount of credipp@sure to any one issue or type of
instrument. As of December 31, 2013 , the Compaimysstments were in money market funds, short-gorernment-sponsored enterprise
securities, corporate debt securities and commigyajzer.

As of December 31, 2013, all of the Company’sHiirial assets that were subject to fair value memsents were valued using observable
inputs. The Company’s financial assets valued basddevel 1 inputs consisted of a money market $usmtd government-sponsored enterpris
securities. The Company’s financial assets valwesgth on Level 2 inputs consisted of corporate sietatrities and commercial paper, which
consisted of investments in highly-rated investrrgmatde corporations. During 2013 , 2012 and 2Gh& Company did not record an other-
than-temporary impairment charge related to itarfoial assets.

The following table sets forth the Company’s finiahassets subject to fair value measurements:

Fair Value Measurements as
of December 31, 2013

Fair Value Hierarchy
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(in thousands)

Financial assets carried at fair value:
Cash equivalents:

Money market funds $ 255,68¢ $ 255,68¢ $ — 3 —
Marketable securities:

Government-sponsored enterprise securities 600,45( 600,45! — —
Commercial paper 83,49: — 83,49! —
Corporate debt securities 211,83 — 211,83 —

Total $ 1,151,461 $ 856,13¢ $ 29532° % —
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E. Marketable Securities

A summary of the Company’s cash, cash equivalerdswarketable securities is shown below:

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

(in thousands)
December 31, 2013

Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash and money market funds $ 569,29¢ $ —  $ — $ 569,29
Total cash and cash equivalents $ 569,29¢ $ — 8 — $ 569,29
Marketable securities:

Government-sponsored enterprise securities (dugnaityear) $ 600,49 $ 7 % (53 $ 600,45(

Commercial paper (due within 1 year) 83,38¢ 10¢ — 83,49:

Corporate debt securities (due within 1 year) 189,67 14 (34) 189,65¢

Corporate debt securities (due after 1 year thrdiigbars) 22,18: 6 (7) 22,18(
Total marketable securities $ 89573 $ 13¢  $ 94 $ 89577
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable sesurit $ 1,465,03 $ 13¢ $ (94 $ 1,465,07
December 31, 2012
Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash and money market funds $ 489,40 % —  $ — $ 48940
Total cash and cash equivalents $ 489,40 $ — 3 — $ 48940
Marketable securities:

U.S. Treasury securities (due within 1 year) $ 111,350 $ 2 3 2 $ 111,35¢

Government-sponsored enterprise securities (dugnaityear) 440,18: 49 (5) 440,22

Commercial paper (due within 1 year) 225,29: 15E — 225,44¢

Corporate debt securities (due within 1 year) 15,42¢ 1 ) 15,42¢

Corporate debt securities (due after 1 year thrdugbars) 39,35¢ 10 (13 39,35¢
Total marketable securities $ 831,61 $ 217 % (21) $ 831,80¢
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable sisurit $ 1,321,01 $ 217 % 21) $ 1,321,211

Alios’ $70.0 million of cash and money market furadsof December 31, 2012 , recorded on the Compamyisolidated balance sheet in
“Restricted cash and cash equivalents (Alios),"reoeincluded in the above table.

In December 2013, the Company initiated a hedgiognam intended to mitigate the changes in forexghange rates for a portion of the
Company’s product revenues denominated in Euroghaihcluded foreign currency forward contractsttivare designated as cash flow
hedges. The notional amount of Euro denominateglgarcurrency forward contracts as of Decembef813 was $17.5 million The change
in fair value of these foreign currency forward trants included in accumulated other compreheriss®and the gross fair value of foreign
currency forward assets and liabilities includedimconsolidated balance sheet as of Decemb&033B, were not material.
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F. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Los

The following table summarizes the changes in acdat®ad other comprehensive loss by component:

Unrealized
losses on
Foreign Unrealized foreign
currency holding gains currency
translation on marketable forward
adjustment securities contracts Total

(in thousands)

Balance at December 31, 2012 $ (74€) $ 196 $ — % (550)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before
reclassifications 421 (159 (23 244

Amounts reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive loss — — — _

Net current period other comprehensive income Yloss 421 (159 (23 244
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ (325 $ 42 $ (23 $ (306)

For the year ended December 31, 2013 , there vweeagnounts reclassified from accumulated other celmgrsive loss.

G. Inventories

Inventories consisted of the following:

As of December 31,

2013 2012
(in thousands)
Raw materials $ 48¢ $ 3,75¢
Work-in-process 9,981 11,310
Finished goods 3,671 15,39
Total $ 14,147 % 30,46¢

In 2013 , the Company recorded within cost of paddavenues $10.4 million of write-offs for excessl obsolete inventories. In 2012,
the Company recorded within cost of product reverf33.2 million of write-offs for excess and oletelINCIVEK inventories related to
declining sales. The write-offs for excess and @diednventories of $10.4 million and $133.2 mifli;» 2013 and 2012, respectively, affected
the net loss attributable to Vertex per sharephix, by $0.05 and $0.61 in 2013 and 2012 , retspaly.

H. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, net consisted of the falgw

As of December 31,

2013 2012
(in thousands)
Buildings $ 506,05t $ —
Furniture and equipment 190,55! 173,76t
Leasehold improvements 163,01¢ 123,77(
Software 102,52( 101,27¢
Computers 43,09¢ 40,77¢
Construction-in-process — 290,70¢
Total property and equipment, gross 1,005,24: 730,29:
Less: accumulated depreciation (308,33) (296,68

Total property and equipment, net $ 696,91: $ 433,60¢
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Buildings as of December 31, 2013 and construdtioprocess as of December 31, 2012 , related tetaaction costs for the buildings at
Fan Pier, which were placed in service in 2013agderefer to Note |, "Fan Pier Leases," for furih@armation.

Total property and equipment, gross, as of DecerdbgP013 and 2012 , included $76.4 million and.$3Million , respectively, for
property and equipment recorded under capital easecumulated depreciation, as of December 313 201 2012 , included $3.8 million and
$1.1 million , respectively, for property and equignt recorded under capital leases. Included ipeyty and equipment, net as of December
31, 2013 were $5.5 million and $0.5 millioncapitalized internally developed software c@stid related amortization, respectively. There v
no such costs included in property and equipmesitas of December 31, 2012.

The Company recorded depreciation expense of $4iflin , $35.7 million and $28.9 million , respeatly, in 2013 , 2012 and 2011 .
I. Fan Pier Lease

In 2011, the Company entered into two lease agretsnpursuant to which the Company leases appraglyna.1 million square feet of
office and laboratory space in two buildings (tBailldings") at Fan Pier in Boston, Massachuselis {Fan Pier Leases”). The Company
commenced lease payments in December 2013, anthekié lease payments pursuant to the Fan Pier $ #aseigh December 2028. The
Company has an option to extend the term of theHtanLeases for an additional 10 years.

Because the Company was involved in the constnugtioject, including having responsibility to pay & portion of the costs of finish
work and structural elements of the Buildings, @@npany was deemed for accounting purposes toebevther of the Buildings during the
construction period. Therefore, the Company reabmteject construction costs incurred by the lardilzs an asset and a related financing
obligation during the construction period. The Camyp evaluated the Fan Pier Leases in the fourthieyuaf 2013 and determined that the Far
Pier Leases did not meet the criteria for “salesddack” treatment. This determination was basedmong other things, the Company's
continuing involvement with the property in therfoof non-recourse financing to the lessor. Accagtlinthe Company began depreciating the
asset and incurring interest expense related téirthecing obligation during the fourth quarter2@fl3. The Company bifurcates its lease
payments pursuant to the Fan Pier Leases intop@yi#on that is allocated to the Buildings angl &iiportion that is allocated to the land on
which the Buildings were constructed. The portibthe lease obligations allocated to the landaatid as an operating lease that commence
in 2011.

Property and equipment, net, included $506.1 mnilaod $290.7 million as of December 31, 2013 ari?2Gespectively, related to
construction costs for the Buildings. The consfarcfinancing lease obligations related to the 8inigjs on the Company's consolidated bal:
sheets were $440.9 million and $268.0 million pesgively, as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 .

J. Intangible Assets and Goodwi
Intangible Asset

As of December 31, 2013, the Company had no intd@gissets recorded on its consolidated balaned. Shee intangible assets that were
previously reflected on the Company's consolidatddnce sheets related to drug candidates for¢aentent of HCV infection. The field of
HCV infection treatment is highly competitive arttbcacterized by rapid technological advances amdi¢dvelopment of drug candidates for
treatment of HCV infection is subject to numeroisks. Two of the Company's competitors receivedayad in the fourth quarter of 2013 for
new treatment regimens for HCV infection that imigipegylated-interferon and ribavirin, and sevefdhe Company's competitors are
conducting Phase 3 clinical trials evaluating afit@ombinations of their drug candidates for teatment of HCV infection.

ViroChem Acquisition

As of December 31, 2010, the intangible assetsieamjfrom ViroChem that were reflected on the Compaconsolidated balance sheet
related to two drug candidates, VX-222 and VX-788-222 and VX-759 had estimated fair
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values on December 31, 2010 of $412.9 million ab@b$ million , respectively. In the third quartér2011, the Company determined that the
fair value of VX-759 had become impaired and tkafair value was zero . As a result, the Compa&oprded an impairment charge in 2011 of
$105.8 millionthat was reflected as an intangible asset impaiticigarge on the Company's consolidated statemesgerhtions. In connectic
with this impairment charge, the Company recordbdrzefit from income taxes of $32.7 million . In140 the decrease to the Company's net
income attributable to Vertex related to this inmpent charge, net of tax credit, was $73.1 milliamd the net decrease to the Company's ne
income per share attributable to Vertex commoneai@ders was $0.35 per diluted share.

In 2013, the Company determined that there werneaars that the value of the VX-222 intangibleeadsad become impaired. This
determination was based on (a) preliminary safetgrability and efficacy data from a Phase 2 chitrial of VX-222, telaprevir and ribavirin,
which was received in March 2013 and analyzed tgnofypril 2013 and (b) a review of the existing arderging data regarding all-oral
regimens for HCV infection being developed by tt@pany's competitors that appeared to be genavallytolerated with high sustained vi
response rates for treatment-naive patients witlotype 1 HCV infection. After evaluating the datarfi this Phase 2 clinical trial, the
Company determined that regimens containing VX 222 unlikely to be competitive with the treatmesgimens being developed by the
Company's competitors. The Company evaluated thedaie of VX-222 from the perspective of a margatticipant and based on this
analysis determined that the fair value of VX-22&sveero as of March 31, 2013. Accordingly, the Canyrecorded a $412.9 million
impairment charge in 2013 . In connection with ihipairment charge, the Company recorded a cré&i1®7.6 million in its provision for
income taxes. In 2013, the increase to the Conipam@y loss attributable to Vertex related to tlmpairment charge, net of the tax credit, was
$285.3 million , and the net increase to the Comgisamet loss per share attributable to Vertex comsf@reholders was $1.27 per share.

Alios Collaboration

In June 2011, the Company recorded $250.6 millfantangible assets on its consolidated balancetdbeessed on the Company's estimate
of the fair value of Alios' HCV nucleotide analogu®gram, including the intellectual property rethto ALS-2200 and AL24158. In the thirc
quarter of 2012, after the Company discontinuedithelopment of ALS-2158, the Company evaluatedMiws HCV nucleotide analogue
program for impairment. The Company determined ttheite was no impairment to the program in thalthirarter of 2012 because of the
advancement of ALS-2200 (now formulated as VX-135).

In July 2013, the FDA placed a patrtial clinical ¢hon VVX-135, which is being evaluated in Phaserdicdl development. The partial
clinical hold, which prevents the Company from fignt evaluation of VX-135 in the United States, remaan place as of the date of this filing.

In connection with preparing its financial statetseior 2013, the Company determined that there \wetieators that the value of the H(
nucleotide analogue program intangible asset hadrbe impaired. This determination was based onngnather factors, (a) safety,
tolerability and efficacy data from a Phase 2aicéihtrial of VX-135 in combination with daclatas\that the Company received in late
December 2013 and analyzed and announced in JaR0ady (b) the continuing partial clinical hold ¥iX-135 by the FDA, (c) a review of tl
existing and emerging data regarding all-oral regisnfor HCV infection being developed by the Conymoompetitors, and (d) the risks
associated with establishing collaborations forgbtential late-stage development of a combinatigimen containing VX-135 and drug
candidates controlled by third parties. Based esdlrevised estimates, the Company evaluateditheafae of VX-135 from the perspective
a market participant and determined that the falue of VX-135 was zero as of December 31, 20180Adingly, a $250.6 million impairment
charge and a benefit from income taxes of $102lllomiwas recorded in the fourth quarter of 2013.

Goodwill

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012 , goodwill of §31illion was recorded on the Company's consolilatdance sheets. There was no
change to goodwill during the year ended DecemleP313 .
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K. Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities, Current Potion
Accrued expenses consisted of the following:

As of December 31,

2013 2012
(in thousands)

Product revenue allowances $ 85,51( $ 69,93¢
Payroll and benefits 76,78¢ 62,14(
Research, development and commercial contract costs 52,46¢ 63,96(
Royalty payable 18,33¢ 29,00%
Other 16,24: 18,93:
Professional fees 10,59: 11,22¢
Taxes payable 8,36: 2,18:
Unrecognized tax benefits 2,78¢ 4,10¢
Interest — 3,39¢

Total $ 271,07 % 264,88:

Other liabilities, current portion consisted of fo#owing:

As of December 31,

2013 2012
(in thousands)
Deferred rent $ 16,65: $ 14,30:
Customer deposits 7,692 —
Other 392 5,40(
Total $ 24,736 $ 19,70:

L. Convertible Senior Subordinated Note

In September 2010, the Company completed an offei$400.0 million in aggregate principal amouh835% convertible senior
subordinated notes due 2015 Notes (the "2015 Nof€kls offering resulted in $391.6 million of naibceeds to the Company. The
underwriting discount and other expenses of $8ldamiwere recorded as debt issuance costs and welteded in other assets on the
Company’s consolidated balance sheets. The 201&sNmtre interest at the rate of 3.35% per annuthttenCompany was required to make
semi-annual interest payments on the outstandimgipal balance of the 2015 Notes on April 1 anddBer 1 of each year.

The 2015 Notes were convertible at any time, abgten of the holder, into common stock at a pageal to approximately $48.83 per
share, or 20.4794 shares of common stock per $h006ipal amount of the 2015 Notes, subject tasiinent. If the closing price of the
Company’s common stock exceeded 130% of the coiwvepsice for at least 20 trading days within aipeof 30consecutive trading days, 1
Company had the right to redeem the 2015 Notds aption at a redemption price equal to 100% efgthincipal amount of the 2015 Notes to
be redeemed.

In the second quarter of 2013, the Company's constamk exceeded 130% of the conversion price o2€Hi& Notes for at least 20
trading days within a period of 30 consecutiveitrgadiays, and the Company notified the holderfief2015 Notes that it would redeem the
2015 Notes on June 17, 2013. In response to thep@ay's call of the 2015 Notes for redemption, icoadance with the provisions of the 2(
Notes, the holders $399.8 million in aggregate principal amount of 20otes elected to convert their 2015 Notes incoGompany's
common stock at the conversion price of approxiiye#48.83 per share. As a result of these convessithe Company issued 8,188,44@re:
of common stock. The remaining $0.2 million in aegate principal amount of 2015 Notes was redeemelline 17, 2013.
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Pursuant to the terms of the 2015 Notes, the Coynpeate an additional payment of $16.75 per $1@0@ipal amount, payable in sha
of the Company’s common stock, to the holders ef2@15 Notes that converted or redeemed their R@iés after the Company called the
2015 Notes for redemption. These payments resintdte issuance of an additional 87,109 sharesefompany's common stock. In the
second quarter of 2013, the Company recognizedjgregate of $6.7 million in interest expense relatethe 2015 Notes. Unamortized debt
issuance costs for the 2015 Notes of $4.2 milli@nenrecorded as an offset to additional paid-intahp

M. Common Stock, Preferred Stock and Equity Plan

The Company is authorized to issue 300,000,00Cestarcommon stock. Holders of common stock arigdl@mto one vote per share.
Holders of common stock are entitled to receivéddinds, if and when declared by the Company’s Boaidirectors, and to share ratably in
the Company’s assets legally available for distidouto the Companyg shareholders in the event of liquidation. Hold#rsommon stock hax
no preemptive, subscription, redemption or coneersights. The holders of common stock do not lawaulative voting rights.

The Company is authorized to issue 1,000,000 sldiigeferred stock in one or more series andxehfé powers, designations,
preferences and relative participating, optiontbeorights thereof, including dividend rights, gersion rights, voting rights, redemption
terms, liquidation preferences and the number afeshconstituting any series, without any furthae\or action by the Company's
shareholders. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012 Ctdmpany had no shares of preferred stock issuedtstanding.

Stock and Option Plans

The purpose of each of the Company’s stock andogtians is to attract, retain and motivate its leyges, consultants and directors.
Awards granted under these plans can be incerttiek sptions (“ISOs”), nonstatutory stock optiofld$0s”), restricted stock (“RSs”),
restricted stock units (“RSUs") or other equity-baswards, as specified in the individual plans.

Shares issued under all of the Company’s planfuaded through the issuance of new shares. Thewoih table contains information
about the Company’s equity plans:

As of December 31, 2013
Additional Awards

Type of Award Awards Authorized for
Title of Plan Group Eligible Granted Outstanding Grant

2013 Stock and Option Plan Employees, Non-employee NSO, ISO,

Directors and Consultants RS and RSU 1,170,82 2,129,17.
2006 Stock and Option Plan Employees, Non-employee NSO, ISO,

Directors and Consultants RS and RSU 15,748,94 3,282,17:
1996 Stock and Option Plan Employees, Non-employee NSO, ISO and RS 974,30: —

Directors, Advisors and

Consultants

Total 17,894,07 5,411,35

All options granted under the Company’s 2013 Sttt Option Plan ("2013 Plan"), 2006 Stock and OpEtan (“2006 Plan”) and 1996
Stock and Option Plan were granted with an exeqmige equal to the fair value of the underlyingnzoon stock on the date of grant. As of
December 31, 2013, the stock and option plansrumnidieh the Company makes new equity awards ar€tmpany’s 2006 Plan and 2013
Plan. Under the 2006 Plan and the 2013 Plan, rok stotions can be awarded with an exercise prieg tlean the fair market value on the date
of grant. The Company'’s shareholders authorized@BM®0 shares for issuance pursuant to the 2018?2013 and approved an increase in
the number of shares authorized for issuance puotsodhe 2006 Plan of 3,000,000 shares in 2012.

During the three years ended December 31, 201an{gto current employees and directors had a dgedatthat was the same as the date
the award was approved by the Company’s Board fdirs. During the three years ended Decembe2@®13 , for grants to new employees
and directors, the date of grant for awards wagthployee’s first day of employment or
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the date the director was elected to the CompaBg&d of Directors. All options awarded under th@pany’s stock and option plans expire
not more than ten years from the grant date.

During the three years ended December 31, 2013hates of outstanding restricted stock and sttistock units have been granted at ¢
price equal to $0.01 , the par value of the Comjgacymmon stock. Vesting of options, restrictectktand restricted stock units generally is
ratable over specified periods, usually four yeans] is determined by the Company’s Board of Daexct

The following table summarizes information relatedhe outstanding and exercisable options dutiegyear ended December 31, 2013 :

Weighted-average Aggregate

Weighted-average Remaining Intrinsic
Stock Options Exercise Price Contractual Life Value
(in thousands) (per share) (in years) (in thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 19,72¢ $ 38.0¢
Granted 484 $ 57.8i
Exercised (6,99t $ 35.2¢
Forfeited (1,827 $ 46.8¢
Expired (20) $ 46.64
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 15,72¢  $ 44.4C 6.67 $ 481,31:
Exercisable at December 31, 2013 795 $ 38.8¢ 513 $ 283,14¢
Exercisable and Expected to Vest at December 3113 20 1496 $ 43.9¢ 6.56 $ 463,881

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table abopeagents the total pre-tax amount, net of exeqise, that would have been received by
option holders if all option holders had exercigidptions with an exercise price lower than therket price on December 31, 2013, which
was $74.21 based on the average of the high angrio® of the Company’s common stock on that date.

The total intrinsic value (the amount by which fag market value exceeded the exercise pricejamksoptions exercised during 2013 ,
2012 and 2011 was $291.6 million , $148.7 milliow &90.5 million , respectively. The total casheiged by the Company as a result of
employee stock option exercises during 2013 , 20122011 was $246.8 million , $172.8 million an®@%$5 million , respectively.

The following table summarizes information abowicktoptions outstanding and exercisable at Decedibe?2013 :

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted-

average Weighted- Weighted-

Range of Exercise Number Remaining average Number average
Prices Outstanding Contractual Life Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price

(in thousands) (in years) (per share) (in thousands) (per share)
$ 9.09-$20.00 432 237 $ 15.3i 43z $ 15.37
$20.01-$30.00 1,05¢ 574 $ 29.3¢ 81z $ 29.2¢
$30.01-$40.00 6,84 5.07 $ 36.5¢ 477 $ 36.0¢
$40.01-$50.00 4,13¢ 8.74 $ 46.3: 787 % 46.62
$50.01-$60.00 1,71z 7.16 $ 53.7¢ 874 $ 54.3¢
$60.01-$70.00 80 9.08 $ 65.5¢ 14 % 63.2(
$70.01-$80.00 87 931 $ 77.58 9 3 77.7%
$80.01-$88.18 1,38¢ 950 $ 83.1] 24¢  $ 82.1:
Total 15,72¢ 6.67 $ 44.4( 7,95 $ 38.8¢
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The following table summarizes the restricted stactvity of the Company during the year ended Daoer 31, 2013 :

Weighted-average

Restricted Grant-date

Stock Fair Value

(in thousands) (per share)
Unvested at December 31, 2012 2270 % 42.9:2
Granted 1,35¢ $ 62.1¢
Vested (80C) $ 42.2i
Cancelled (780 $ 51.4;
Unvested at December 31, 2013 2,046 $ 52.6¢

The total fair value of restricted stock that vestering 2013 , 2012 and 2011 (measured on theddiatesting) was $50.9 million , $41.1
million and $34.6 million , respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase PI

The Company has an employee stock purchase pfiE®PP”). The ESPP permits eligible employeesitolkin a twelve -month
offering period comprising two six-month purchaseipds. Participants may purchase shares of thep@oy's common stock, through payroll
deductions, at a price equal to 85% of the fairkmvalue of the common stock on the first dayhef applicable twelve-month offering period,
or the last day of the applicable six-month purehaeriod, whichever is lower. Purchase dates uth@eESPP occur on or about May 14 and
November 14 of each year. In 2012, the Compangeesiolders approved an increase in the numberanésiof common stock authorized
issuance pursuant to the ESPP. As of Decembel03B, Zhere were 1,753,381 shares of common stattioazed for issuance pursuant to the
ESPP.

In 2013, the following shares were issued to eyg®s under the ESPP:

Year Ended December 31, 2013

(in thousands,
except per share amount)
Number of shares 527

Average price paid per share $ 36.21

N. Stock-based Compensation Expen:

The Company recognizes share-based payments toweeglas compensation expense using the fair wadtieod. The fair value of stock
options and shares purchased pursuant to the BESfitulated using the Black-Scholes option pricmaglel. The fair value of restricted stock
and restricted stock units typically is based amitttrinsic value on the date of grant. Stock-basmdpensation, measured at the grant date
based on the fair value of the award, is typicedlgognized as expense ratably over the serviceg€Fhe expense recognized over the service
period includes an estimate of awards that willdséeited.

The effect of stock-based compensation expenseglthie three years ended December 31, 2013 wali@asd:

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)

Stock-based compensation expense by line item:

Research and development expenses $ 81,467 $ 7153 $ 75,57¢
Sales, general and administrative expenses 45,83¢ 42 75: 42,65
Total stock-based compensation expense includedsts and expenses $ 127,30:  $ 114,28¢ % 118,22¢

F-31




VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contirad)

The stock-based compensation expense by type ofladuaing the three years ended December 31, 2@E3aw follows:

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)

Stock-based compensation expense by type of award:

Stock options $ 85,060 $ 79,047 $ 83,09¢
Restricted stock and restricted stock units 36,47¢ 29,19« 30,70¢
ESPP share issuances 6,80¢ 7,29¢ 5,462
Less: stock-based compensation expense capitatizadentories (1,049 (1,252 (1,042
Total stock-based compensation expense includedsits and expenses $ 127,30 % 114,28¢ $ 118,22¢

The Company capitalizes stock-based compensatipense to inventories, all of which is attributatdemployees who supported the
Company’s manufacturing operations for the Compsapsdducts.

The following table sets forth the Company’s ungrdeed stock-based compensation expense, netiofagst forfeitures, as of
December 31, 2013, by type of award and the wedlyavverage period over which that expense is eggdotbe recognized:

As of December 31, 2013
Weighted-average

Unrecognized Expense

Net of Recognition
Estimated Forfeitures Period
(in thousands) (in years)
Type of award:
Stock options $ 141,28: 2.56
Restricted stock and restricted stock units $ 73,49( 2.47
ESPP share issuances $ 5,95¢ 0.67

Stock Options

The Company issues stock options with service ¢mmdi, which are generally the vesting periodshefawards. In 2009, the Company
also issued, to certain members of senior managesteck options with performance conditions thested upon the satisfaction of
the performance conditions by the end of the §sdrter of 2012. The Company uses the Black-Sclug#en pricing model to estimate the
fair value of stock options at the grant date. Bleeck-Scholes option pricing model uses the opérercise price as well as estimates and
assumptions related to the expected price volatifithe Company’s stock, the rate of return ok-fige investments, the expected period
during which the options will be outstanding, ahd &xpected dividend yield for the Company'’s stimckstimate the fair value of a stock
option on the grant date. The options granted du2Bil3 , 2012 and 2011 had a weighted-average-deaatfair value per share of $25.79 ,
$19.72 and $20.88 , respectively.

The fair value of each option granted during 202812 and 2011 was estimated on the date of geamg the BlackScholes option pricir
model with the following weighted-average assumpio

2013 2012 2011
Expected stock price volatility 46.2(% 47.9%% 49.5%
Risk-free interest rate 1.25% 0.95% 2.09%
Expected term of options (in years) 5.81 5.7¢ 5.74

Expected annual dividends
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The weighted-average valuation assumptions weermétied as follows:

. Expected stock price volatilitOptions to purchase the Company’s stock with reingiterms of greater than one year are
regularly traded in the market. Expected stockepviolatility is calculated using the trailing on@mnth average of daily
implied volatilities prior to grant date.

. Risk-free interest rateThe Company bases the risk-free interest rate ®@intkrest rate payable on U.S. Treasury secuiities
effect at the time of grant for a period that isntoensurate with the assumed expected option term.

. Expected term of optionThe expected term of options represents the pefitithe options are expected to be outstanding.
The Company uses historical data to estimate eraplexercise and post-vest termination behavior.Jdrapany believes
that all groups of employees exhibit similar exeecand post-vest termination behavior and therefoes not stratify
employees into multiple groups in determining tkpeted term of options.

. Expected annual dividendThe estimate for annual dividends is $0.00 becthes€ompany has not historically paid, and
does not intend for the foreseeable future to palividend.

Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock L

The Company issues restricted stock and restrgtteak units with service conditions, which are gatig the vesting periods of the
awards. The Company also issues, to certain memsbsenior management, restricted stock and réstristock units that vest upon the earliel
of the satisfaction of (i) a performance conditar(ii) a service condition.

Employee Stock Purchase PI

The weighted-average fair value of each purchag# granted during 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $21$02.90 and $9.80 , respectively.
The following table reflects the weighted-averagsumptions used in the Black-Scholes option priaioglel for 2013 , 2012 and 2011 :

2013 2012 2011
Expected stock price volatility 54.6% 46.9(% 51.32%
Risk-free interest rate 0.08% 0.1€% 0.0¢%
Expected term (in years) 0.7¢4 0.7¢4 0.72

Expected annual dividends — — —

The expected stock price volatility for ESPP offigs is based on implied volatility. The Companydsathe risk-free interest rate on the
interest rate payable on U.S. Treasury securitiesfect at the time of grant for a period thatdgsnmensurate with the assumed expected tern
The expected term represents purchases and punghiasds that take place within the offering peridtle expected annual dividends estimate
is $0.00 because the Company has not historically, pnd does not for the foreseeable future intenghy, a dividend.

O. September 2009 Financial Transactior

2012 Notes

In September 2009, the Company sold $155.0 millicmggregate of secured notes due 2012 (the “2@t2Y) for an aggregate of $122.2
million pursuant to a note purchase agreement @ithsted Park S.A. (the “Purchaser”). The 2012 Noter issued at a discount and did not
pay current interest prior to maturity. The 2012ééowere scheduled to mature on October 31, 2@ble« to earlier mandatory redemptior
the extent that specified milestone events sel fiorthe Company’s collaboration with Janssen aecliprior to October 31, 2012. In February
2011, the Company received a milestone paymens@f0#million and subsequently redeemed $50.0 mikib2012 Notes pursuant to their
terms. The remaining $105.0 milliafi 2012 Notes were redeemed on October 31, 201h,the proceeds of milestone payments received
Janssen in October 2011. The 2012 Notes contaimedhdedded derivative related to the potential rag redemption or early repaymen
the 2012 Notes at the face amount prior to thetunity date. The fair value of this
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embedded derivative was evaluated quarterly, widnges in the fair value of the embedded derivatigalting in a corresponding gain or l¢
The Company recorded quarterly interest expensgekto the 2012 Notes using the effective intewstmethod.

Sale of Contingent Milestone Payments

In September 2009, the Company entered intopmwehase agreements with the Purchaser pursuaifiic¢h the Company sold its rights
an aggregate of $95.0 million in contingent milestpayments under the Janssen agreement relates ltunch of telaprevir in the European
Union, for nonrefundable payments totaling $32.8iom . The Purchaser received the $95.0 milliomiihestone payments from Janssen in the
fourth quarter of 2011. The Company determined tthiatsale of a future revenue stream should bewated for as a liability. The fair value
the rights sold to the Purchaser pursuant to thehaise agreements was evaluated each reportiragpeniil the payments were received in the
fourth quarter of 2011, with changes in the failuesof the derivative instruments based on the gdity of achieving the milestones, the
timing of achieving the milestones or discount satesulting in a corresponding gain or loss.

Expenses Related to September 2009 Financial Tctiosa

The Company had no expenses related to these d¢taomsain 2013 or 2012 . The table below sets ftrehtotal expenses related to the
September 2009 financial transactions for 2011 :

2011
(in thousands)

Expenses and Losses (Gains):

Interest expense related to 2012 Notes $ 21,68’
Change in fair value of embedded derivative reléte2012 Notes (400
Change in fair value of free-standing derivativelated to the sale of milestone
payments 17,20:
Total September 2009 financial transaction expenses $ 38,48¢

P. Sale of HIV Protease Inhibitor Royalty Strean

In 2008, the Company sold to a third party its tsgio receive royalty payments from GlaxoSmithKlIpie, net of royalty amounts to be
earned by and due to a third party, for a one-tiash payment of $160.0 million . These royalty pegta relate to net sales of HIV protease
inhibitors, which had been developed pursuantdol@boration agreement between the Company andoShaithKline plc. As of
December 31, 2013, the Company had $63.5 milliceferred revenues related to the one-time cagingat, which it is recognizing over the
life of the collaboration agreement with GlaxoSriihe plc based on the units-of-revenue methodddition, the Company continues to
recognize royalty revenues equal to the amourti®third-party subroyalty and an offsetting royaigpense for the third-party subroyalty
payment.

Q. Income Taxe!

The components of income (loss) before provisior(lienefit from) income taxes during the three gesarded December 31, 2013
consisted of the following:

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)
United States $ (390,009 $ 256,81t $ 343,51!
Foreign (586,109) (269,19 (283,07()
Income (loss) before provision for (benefit fromgome taxes $ (976,11) $ (12,38) $ 60,44"
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The components of the provision for (benefit fraingome taxes during the three years ended DeceBih@013 consisted of the
following:

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)

Current taxes:

United States $ (11,420 $ 2,057 $ 22,27¢

Foreign 1,08¢ (1,86%) (561)

State 2,13¢ 1,902 8,65¢
Total current taxes $ (8,2000 $ 2,09 % 30,36¢
Deferred taxes:

United States $ (131,28) $ 31,30¢ $ 19,62¢

Foreign (127,58 — (32,699

State (21,499 5,352 1,96(
Total deferred taxes $ (280,36") $ 36,66( $ (11,109
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes $ (288,56") $ 38,75« % 19,26¢

The difference between the Company’s “expected’ptavision (benefit), as computed by applying th& Uederal corporate tax rate of
35% to income (loss) before provision for (bentbin) income taxes, and actual tax is reconcilefbbews:

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)
Income (loss) before provision for (benefit fromgome taxes $ (976,11) $ (12,38) $ 60,44¢
Expected tax provision (benefit) (341,64) (4,339 21,15¢
State taxes, net of federal benefit (29,269 7,07t 10,62«
Foreign rate differential 72,96 62,42¢ 43,62¢
Tax credits (26,77%) (1,980 (51,08¢)
Unbenefited operating losses (43,57() (30,369) (6,286
Non-deductible expenses 9,61¢ 3,19¢ 1,958
Rate change 50,07¢ 3,27¢ —
Other 36 (542) (724)
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes $ (288,56") $ 38,75« % 19,26¢
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determbeeskd on the difference between financial stateargshtax bases using enacted tax rates
in effect for the year in which the differences axpected to reverse. The components of the deftares were as follows:

As of December 31,
2013 2012
(in thousands)

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss $ 850,94t $ 777,68
Tax credit carryforwards 180,38 147,07-
Property and equipment — 10,70:
Intangible assets 26,10¢ 63,35
Deferred revenues 25,15¢ 44,86
Stock-based compensation 63,52 83,97¢
Inventories 26,27¢ 56,56+
Accrued expenses 52,47( 27,94
Currency translation adjustment 217 —
Construction financing lease obligation 152,68t —
Gross deferred tax assets 1,377,76: 1,212,171
Valuation allowance (1,243,66) (1,211,56)
Total deferred tax assets 134,09¢ 60¢
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property and equipment (134,099 =
Unrealized gain — (37¢)
Contingent milestone and royalty payment obligation — (50,90¢)
Acquired intangibles — (229,699)
Net deferred tax liabilities $ — 3 (280,36)

For federal income tax purposes, as of Decembe2(@®l3 , the Company has net operating loss camgials of approximatel$2.7 billion
and tax credits of $120.1 million , which may bediso offset future federal income and tax liapilrespectively. Approximately $694.8
million of the federal net operating loss carryfard will result in an increase to additional paidzapital if and when these carryforwards are
used to reduce income taxes payable.

For state income tax purposes, the Company haspeeating loss carryforwards of approximately $868illion and tax credits of $66.9
million , which may be used to offset future stimgome and tax liability, respectively. Approximigt&204.5 million of the state net operating
loss carryforward will result in an increase to iiddal paid-in capital if and when these carryfards are used to reduce state income taxes
payable.

These federal and state operating loss carryforsvaind tax credits expire at various dates throl@#8 2After consideration of all the
evidence, both positive and negative, the Companyirtues to maintain a valuation allowance forftiileamount of the 2018eferred tax ass
because it is more likely than not that the defibtax asset will not be realized. In future peridfimmanagement determines that it is more
likely than not that the deferred tax asset wilkéalized, (i) the valuation allowance would berdased, (ii) a portion or all of the deferred tax
asset would be reflected on the Company’s condelitlbalance sheet and (iii) the Company would ikoon-cash benefits in its consolidated
statements of operations related to the refleaifdhe deferred tax asset on its consolidated loalaheets.

The valuation allowance increased by $32.1 milfirmm December 31, 2012 to December 31, 2013 priyndue to an increase in net
operating losses and credits.
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Unrecognized tax benefits during the two years dridlecember 31, 2013 consisted of the following:

2013 2012
(in thousands)

Unrecognized tax benefits beginning of year $ 4,106 $ 4,36(
Gross change for current year positions 1,32¢ 59¢
Increase for prior period positions — —
Decrease for prior period positions (290 _
Decrease due to settlements and payments — —
Decrease due to statute limitations (185) (852)
Deconsolidation of Alios (2,939 —

Unrecognized tax benefits end of year $ 2,02 % 4,10¢

The Company had gross unrecognized tax benef#2.6fmillion and $4.1 million , respectively, asd¥cember 31, 2013 and 2012 . At
December 31, 2013, $2.0 million represented theusrinof unrecognized tax benefits that, if recogdiavould result in a reduction of the
Company'’s effective tax rate. The Company recognigterest and penalties related to income taxescasnponent of income tax expense. As
of December 31, 2013, no interest and penalties baen accrued. In 2014, it is reasonably possibkethe Company will reduce the balance
of its unrecognized tax benefits by approximatélysmillion due to the application of statute afiiations and settlements with taxing
authorities, all of which would reduce the Compamgffective tax rate.

The Company files United States federal income¢txrns and income tax returns in various statslland foreign jurisdictions. The
Company is no longer subject to any tax assessfr@ntan income tax examination in the United Statfere 2008 or any other major taxing
jurisdiction for years before 2006, except where @ompany has net operating losses or tax creditfoavards that originate before 2006. *
Company is currently under examination by Revenuel@c and the Canada Revenue Agency for the ydadddecember 31, 2011. No
adjustments have been reported. The Company ismer examination by any other jurisdictions foy e year.

At December 31, 2013, foreign earnings, which weresignificant, have been retained indefinitelyfbseign subsidiary companies for
reinvestment; therefore, no provision has been nadacome taxes that would be payable upon te#ilution of such earnings, and it would
not be practicable to determine the amount of ¢éfeged unrecognized deferred income tax liabilitgon repatriation of those earnings, in the
form of dividends or otherwise, the Company woudshibject to U.S. federal income taxes (subjeantadjustment for foreign tax credits)
withholding taxes payable to the various foreigoraaes.

R. Restructuring Expense:
2003 Restructuring

In June 2003, Vertex adopted a plan to restrudtsi@perations to coincide with its increasing ined emphasis on advancing drug
candidates through clinical development to comnadimztion. The restructuring was designed to rexhet the Compang'relative investmen
in research and development to better support timegany’s long-term strategy. At that time, themasturing plan included a workforce
reduction, write-offs of certain assets and a degiaot to occupy approximately 290,000 square déspecialized laboratory and office space
in Cambridge, Massachusetts under lease to Vetiex'Kendall Square Lease”). The Kendall Squareseeeommenced in January 2003 and
has a 15 -year term. In the second quarter of 2B@5Company revised its assessment of its reafleestquirements and decided to use
approximately 120,000 square feet of the facilitipjsct to the Kendall Square Lease (the “Kendalle®g Facility”) for its operations,
beginning in 2006. The remaining rentable squaotafpe of the Kendall Square Facility currentlyubleased to third parties.

The Company’s initial estimate of its liability foet ongoing costs associated with the Kendall Bguease obligation was recorded in the
second quarter of 2003 at fair value. The restrijuexpense incurred from the second quarter 6828rough the end of the first quarter of
2005 (i.e., immediately prior to the Company’s de to use a portion of the Kendall
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Square Facility for its operations) relates toesmated incremental net ongoing lease obligatsssciated with the entire Kendall Square
Facility, together with imputed interest costs tialg to the restructuring liability. The restrudhg expense incurred in the period beginning in
the second quarter of 2005 relates only to thdqrodf the Kendall Square Facility that the Compamgs not occupying and did not intend to
occupy for its operations. The remaining leasegattions, which are associated with the portiorhefKendall Square Facility that the
Company occupies and uses for its operations.eamded as rental expense in the period incurre@014, the Company expects to cease
using this portion of the Kendall Square Facility fts operations, and to incur related cease baeges. The Company reviews its assumption
and estimates quarterly and updates its estimétbssdiability as changes in circumstances reguithe expense and liability recorded is
calculated using probability-weighted discounteshefiows of the Company’s estimated ongoing ledsigations, including contractual rental
and build-out commitments, net of estimated suleleantals, offset by related sublease costs.

In estimating the expense and liability under iemiall Square Lease obligation, the Company estiin@} the costs to be incurred to
satisfy rental and build-out commitments underl¢fase (including operating costs), (ii) the leadeinecessary to sublease the space, (iii) the
projected sublease rental rates, and (iv) theipatied durations of subleases. The Company usesdd-adjusted risk-free rate of
approximately 10% to discount the estimated cashid] The Company reviews its estimates and assangptin at least a quarterly basis,
intends to continue such reviews until the terniorabf the Kendall Square Lease, and will make @hat modifications the Company belie’
necessary, based on the Company’s best judgmemafléot any changed circumstances. The Comparsyisiates have changed in the past,
and may change in the future, resulting in addél@djustments to the estimate of the liabilityaBhes to the Company’s estimate of the
liability are recorded as additional restructur@xgpenses (credits). In addition, because the Coypastimate of the liability includes the
application of a discount rate to reflect the tivadde of money, the Company records imputed inte@sts related to the liability each quarter.
These costs are included in restructuring expemseéke Company’s consolidated statements of opaisti

The activity related to restructuring and othebility for 2003 was as follows:

Liability as of
Restructuring Cash Non-cash December 31,
Expense Payments Expense 2003
(in thousands)
Lease restructuring and other operating lease egpen $ 84,72t $ (15,200 $ — % 69,52¢
Employee severance, benefits and related costs 2,61¢ (2,616 — —
Leasehold improvements and asset impairments 4,48 — (4,487) _
Total $ 91,82: % (17,816 $ (4,487 $ 69,52¢

In 2003, the lease restructuring and other opagdtiase expense included $78.7 million of leaseuetsiring expense and $6.0 million of
lease operating expense incurred prior to the wecitot to occupy the Kendall Square Facility. Tastructuring accrual as of December 31,
2003 related only to the lease restructuring expens

The activity related to 2003 restructuring for 2@brbugh 2013 was as follows:

2013 2012 2011 2004-2013
(in thousands)

Liability, beginning of the period $ 23,32¢ % 26,31 $ 29,59t $ 69,52¢
Cash payments (15,259 (14,857 (14,909 (178,95:)
Cash received from subleases 10,67( 10,02« 9,54¢ 75,70¢
Credit for portion of facility Vertex decided to@gpy in 2005 — — — (10,019
Restructuring expense 37z 1,84¢ 2,074 62,85

Liability, end of the period $ 19,11¢ $ 23,32¢  $ 26,311 $ 19,11t

In each period, the Company records lease restingtaxpense attributable to imputed interest eeldb the restructuring liability. In
certain periods, the restructuring expense aldeatsfthe revision of certain key estimates andragsions about building operating expenses
and sublease income.
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Fan Pier Move Restructurin

In connection with the relocation of its Massaclttsseperations to Fan Pier in Boston, Massachyse#sCompany expects to incur
restructuring charges related to its remainingdesdigations at its facilities in Cambridge, Magsasetts, including lease obligations related t
the 120,00Gquare feet of the facility subject to the Ken@&ajlare lease that the Company began using fopésations in 2006. The Comps
started incurring these charges in the fourth guart 2013 and expects them to continue throughl 2p0.8. Most of these restructuring
charges will relate to cease use charges thabwilhcurred during the first half of 2014. The C@mp incurred $1.2 million of charges related
to this restructuring during 2013. The continuitgugyes will relate to the difference between thenfany’s estimated future cash flows rela
to its lease obligations and the actual cash flthasit incurs.

2013 Strategic Restructuring

In October 2013, the Company adopted a restrugfyofian. The restructuring plan included (i) a worke reduction primarily related to
the commercial support of INCIVEK following the dorued and rapid decline in the number of patibeisg treated with INCIVEK as new
medicines for the treatment of HCV infection neaapgroval and (ii) the write-off of certain asséthis action resulted from the Company's
decision to focus its investment on future oppaties in cystic fibrosis and other research andettggment programs.

The restructuring charges recorded during 201&&ch major type of cost associated with this resiring plan were as follows:

Liability as of
Restructuring Cash Non-cash December 31,
Expense Payments Expense 2013
(in thousands)
Employee severance, benefits and related costs $ 25,06 $ (21,459 $ (1,319 $ 2,29(
Asset impairments 6,282 — (6,289 —
Contract termination and other associated costs 7,60¢ (1,459 — 6,151
Total $ 38,95 $ (22,919 $ (7,599 % 8,441

The Company estimates that it will incur aggregatgructuring charges of approximately $2.0 millfor$2.5 million in 2014 and 2015
related to this restructuring plan. The Companycigrdtes cash payments of $7.9 million and $0.3ionilwill be made in 2014 and 2015,
respectively, related to the restructuring liabibis of December 31, 2013.

S. Employee Benefit:

The Company has a 401(k) retirement plan (the ‘®fe#01(k) Plan”) in which substantially all of germanent U.S. employees are
eligible to participate. Participants may contriup to 60% of their annual compensation to theexe401(k) Plan, subject to statutory
limitations. The Company may declare discretiormmagtching contributions to the Vertex 401(k) Plamoyees have the ability to transfer
funds from the stock fund invested in Vertex comrstotk, subject to certain restrictions. As of Daber 31, 2013, 755,000 shares of
common stock remained available for grant undeiMireex 401(k) Plan. Through mid-2013, the Comppaig matching contributions in
Vertex common stock in the form of fully-vesteddrgsts in a Vertex common stock fund. Beginningnid-2013, the Company began paying
matching contributions in the form of cash.

The Company declared matching contributions pafdlig-vested interests in the Vertex common sthgakd to the Vertex 401(k) Plan as
follows:

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)
Discretionary matching contributions during theryeaded December 31, $ 593( $ 10,26: $ 8,61¢
Shares issued during the year ended December 31, 9¢ 242 182
Shares issuable as of the year ended December 31, 0 53 62
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In 2013, the Company declared matching contribstipaid in fully-vested interests in the Vertex coomstock fund of $5.9 million , paid
matching contributions in the form of cash of $illion and accrued $2.4 million related to matahoontributions for the fourth quarter of
2013, which will be paid in the first quarter of12D

T. Commitments

The Company moved into its new corporate headguairielanuary 2014. Please refer to Note |, "F&n Béases," for additional
information regarding this commitment. The leagestie Company’s former headquarters expire in Béoer 2015.

The term of the Kendall Square Lease began in Jari2@93. The Company occupies and uses for itsatipais approximately 120,000
square feet of the Kendall Square Facility and ptancease using for its operations this portiothefKendall Square Facility in 2014. The
Company has sublease arrangements in place foerttaning rentable square footage of the KendallaBe Facility, with terms that expire in
April 2015 and August 2015. The Kendall Square keasl expire in 2018. Please refer to Note R, "fResturing Expenses," for further
information.

As of December 31, 2013, future minimum commitreamder the Fan Pier Leases, facility operatingdsavith terms of more than one
year and contractual sublease income under the &ay's subleases for the Kendall Square Facility wearéodows:

Total Lease
Kendall Sublease Other Commitments
Fan Pier Kendall Square Operating (Net of Sublease
Year Leases Lease Income Leases Income)
(in thousands)

2014 $ 67,20t $ 19,.87¢ $ (8,546) $ 40,76: $ 119,30:
2015 67,20¢ 19,87¢ (3,996 33,39¢ 116,48
2016 67,20¢ 19,87¢ — 14,43 101,51¢
2017 67,20¢ 19,87¢ — 12,99 100,08(
2018 67,20¢ 6,62¢ — 12,84: 86,67:
Thereafter 752,79 — — 75,34« 828,14:
Total minimum lease ‘ ) ) ‘
payments $ 1,088,821 $ 86,14: $ (12,54) $ 189,77: $ 1,352,20:

During 2013, 2012 and 2011, rental expense was/$&illion , $57.1 million and $49.4 million , resgevely.

The Company has outstanding capital leases fopawgrit, leasehold improvements and software licewgaserms through 2019. The
leases were accounted for as capital leases. dpimlleases bear interest at rates ranging f88m to 7% per year. The following table sets
forth the Company'’s future minimum payments dueaurgépital leases as of December 31, 2013 :

Year (in thousands)
2014 $ 19,957
2015 18,34¢
2016 11,80¢
2017 10,71«
2018 10,61:
Thereafter 2,121
Total payments 73,55¢
Less: amount representing interest (7,912
Present value of payments $ 65,64
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In addition, the Company has committed to makemi@tEfuture milestone and royalty payments pursterertain collaboration
agreements. Payments generally become due andlpayain the achievement of certain developmerggljlatory and/or commercial
milestones. Please refer to Note B, "Collaborafim@ngements," for further information.

In the second quarter of 2013, the Company begaposting $31.9 million in irrevocable stand-by &t of credit issued in support of
property leases and other similar agreements withnaecured credit facility with a one -year tefthe Company previously had cash-
collateralized these stand-by letters of creditaAesult of this credit facility, the restrictedst reflected on the Company's consolidated
balance sheets decreased by $31.8 million nethefr @ictivity during 2013, and the Company's cashcash equivalents increased by a
corresponding amount during 2013.

U. Legal Proceeding

On September 6, 2012, a purported shareholder atdiss, City of Bristol Pension Fund v. Vertex Pharmacealidncorporated, et al.
was filed in the United States District Court fbetDistrict of Massachusetts, naming the Companlycantain of the Company's current and
former officers and directors as defendants. Theué alleges that the Company made material missgmtations and/or omissions of mate
fact in the Company's disclosures during the pefiooh May 7, 2012 through June 28, 2012, all idation of Section 10(b) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Rule5Lptmmulgated thereunder. By order dated Decembe2d12, the court appointed the City
Bristol lead plaintiff and appointed the City ofi&pl's attorneys lead counsel. The plaintiffsdiEn amended complaint on February 11, 2013
The Company filed a motion to dismiss the complaim®pril 12, 2013. On May 28, 2013, the plaintifited an opposition to the Company's
motion to dismiss the complaint. On June 27, 2818 Company filed a reply in further support of @@mpany's motion to dismiss the
plaintiffs’ complaint. The court conducted a hegrim the Company's motion to dismiss on NovembeP@%3. The plaintiffs seek unspecified
monetary damages on behalf of the putative cladsaaraward of costs and expenses, including afrfiees, as well as disgorgement of the
proceeds from certain individual defendants' safédhe Company's common stock. The Company belithatsthis action is without merit and
intends to defend it vigorously. As of December 3113, the Company has not recorded any reservelisogpurported class action.

V. Contingencie!

The Company has certain contingent liabilities #ivége in the ordinary course of its business #iss The Company accrues a reserve fo
contingent liabilities when it is probable thatutg expenditures will be made and such expendizarse reasonably estimated. There we
material contingent liabilities accrued as of Debem31, 2013 or 2012 .

W. Guarantees

As permitted under Massachusetts law, the Compakisles of Organization and By-laws provide titta¢ Company will indemnify
certain of its officers and directors for certalaims asserted against them in connection withr device as an officer or director. The
maximum potential amount of future payments thatGompany could be required to make under thesarindication provisions is unlimite:
However, the Company has purchased directors’ #iwkis’ liability insurance policies that coulddece its monetary exposure and enable it
to recover a portion of any future amounts paid.imtemnification claims currently are outstandiagd the Company believes the estimated
fair value of these indemnification arrangementsiisimal.

The Company customarily agrees in the ordinary smof its business to indemnification provisionggneements with clinical trial
investigators and sites in its drug developmengnms, sponsored research agreements with acadadhiwot-for-profit institutions, various
comparable agreements involving parties performsenyices for the Company, and its real estate 8% Company also customarily agrees
to certain indemnification provisions in its drugabvery, development and commercialization colfabion agreements. With respect to the
Company’s clinical trials and sponsored researchagents, these indemnification provisions typycafpply to any claim asserted against the
investigator or the investigator’s institution réta to personal injury or property damage, viaast of law or certain breaches of the
Company'’s contractual obligations arising out & thsearch or clinical testing of the Company’s poumnds or drug candidates. With respect
to lease agreements, the indemnification provisigpigally apply to claims asserted against thellar relating to personal injury or property
damage caused by the Company, to violations oblathe Company or to certain breaches of the Cogipaontractual obligations. The
indemnification provisions appearing in the Compampllaboration agreements are similar to thosetfe other agreements discussed above
but in addition provide some limited
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indemnification for its collaborator in the eveffitbird-party claims alleging infringement of inettual property rights. In each of the cases
above, the indemnification obligation generalliyvsues the termination of the agreement for someredetd period, although the Company
believes the obligation typically has the mostvatee during the contract term and for a shorogeoi time thereafter. The maximum poter
amount of future payments that the Company coulceheired to make under these provisions is gelyaralimited. The Company has
purchased insurance policies covering personatinproperty damage and general liability that its exposure for indemnification and
would enable it in many cases to recover all ooi@n of any future amounts paid. The Companyrteger paid any material amounts to
defend lawsuits or settle claims related to thademnification provisions. Accordingly, the Compdrefieves the estimated fair value of these
indemnification arrangements is minimal.

X. Segment Information

The Company operates in one segment, pharmaceutitraierprise-wide disclosures about revenuesifisignt customers, and property
and equipment, net by location are presented below.

Revenues by Produ

Product revenues, net consisted of the following:

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)
INCIVEK $ 466,36( $ 1,161,81: $ 950,88¢
KALYDECO 371,28! 171,64! —
Total product revenues, net $ 837,64: $ 133345 § 950,88¢

Revenues by Geographic Locat

Total revenues from external customers and colktbos by geographic region consisted of the foll@yviProduct revenues are attributed
to countries based on the location of the custo@ellaborative revenues are attributed to the djmera of the Company in the United States.
Royalty revenues are attributed to countries baseithe location of the collaborator.

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)

United States $ 896,95. $ 1,373,511 $ 1,389,56!
Outside of the United States

Europe 279,55 129,78t 20,28¢

Other 35,46¢ 23,74( 76¢

Total revenues outside of the United States 315,02: 153,52¢ 21,05¢

Total revenues $ 1,211,97 % 1,527,04, $ 1,410,622

Significant Customers

Gross revenues and accounts receivable from edble @ompany’s customers who individually accouritedl0% or more of total gross
revenues and/or 10% or more of total gross accaentsvable consisted of the following:
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Percent of Total Gross Revenues

Percent of Gross Accounts Receivable

Year Ended December 31,

As of December 31,

2013 2012 2011 2013 2012
Janssen 22% <1C% 19% 28% 2€%
AmerisourceBergen Drug Corporation 21% 32% 259% <10% 22%
McKesson Corporation 21% 2% 24% <10% 2€%
Cardinal Health Incorporated <1C% 15% 15% <1t% <1(%
Bupa Home Healthcare Limited <1C% N/A N/A 14% N/A

Property and Equipment, Net by Locat

Property and equipment, net by location consistedenfollowing:

As of December 31,

2013 2012
(in thousands)

United States $ 657,58 $ 400,10:
Outside of the United States

United Kingdom 29,97( 30,62:

Other 9,35¢ 2,88t
Total property and equipment, net outside of théddnStates 39,32 33,50

Total property and equipment, net $ 696,91 $ 433,60¢
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Y. Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

Three Months Ended

March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,
2013 2013 2013 2013
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
Revenues:
Product revenues, net $ 267,38, % 254.78¢ $ 186,65: $ 128,82:
Royalty revenues 43,57 49,12( 27,01: 36,88
Collaborative revenues (1) 17,41« 6,841 8,03t 185,44
Total revenues 328,36¢ 310,75( 221,70( 351,15
Costs and expenses:
Cost of product revenues (2) 30,95¢ 24,69¢ 20,04¢ 13,28:
Royalty expenses 11,78¢ 13,23¢ 7,291 8,98:
Research and development expenses 218,09 222,45} 228,62 249,60¢
Sales, general and administrative expenses 92,87¢ 106,52: 87,75¢ 75,18¢
Restructuring expenses 39 77€ 12,04¢ 27,65¢
Intangible asset impairment charges (3)(4) 412,90( — — 250,60(
Total costs and expenses 766,65¢ 367,68: 355,76! 625,31¢
Loss from operations (438,289 (56,939 (134,069 (274,167)
Interest expense, net (3,46%) (6,557 (95) (12,619
Other income (expense), net (4) (1,187 27 4747 (53,479)
Loss before benefit from income taxes (442,940 (63,51) (129,41 (340,25)
Benefit from income taxes (3)(4) (130,31) (1,799 (751) (155,709
Net loss (312,62) (61,719 (128,663) (184,549
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interesti@a) 4,611 4,547 4,53( 228,83:
Net income (loss) attributable to Vertex $ (308,01 $ (57,165 $ (124,13) $ 44,28¢

Net income (loss) per share attributable to Vec@xmon
shareholders:

Basic $ (14% $ (0.2¢) $ (0549 % 0.1¢

Diluted $ (14% % (0.2¢) $ (0549 % 0.1¢
Shares used in per share calculations:

Basic 215,42: 222,05: 230,50! 231,26

Diluted 215,42: 222,05: 230,50! 235,71
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Three Months Ended

March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,
2012 2012 2012 2012
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
Revenues:
Product revenues, net $ 375,37" % 373,27 % 303,50 $ 281,30¢
Royalty revenues 38,98! 33,48( 25,58¢ 43,45
Collaborative revenues 24,38: 11,55: 6,91¢ 9,23¢
Total revenues 438,73 418,30! 336,00t 333,99:
Costs and expenses:
Cost of product revenues (2) 25,91¢ 104,54¢ 30,68( 75,59¢
Royalty expenses 13,29: 9,87¢ 7,85¢ 12,12(
Research and development expenses 196,37: 196,54« 200,16: 213,10¢
Sales, general and administrative expenses 111,14¢ 117,51 97,68 110,45:
Restructuring expenses 36C 594 69¢€ 194
Intangible asset impairment charge _ — — _
Total costs and expenses 347,08t 429,07! 337,07 411,47(
Income (loss) from operations 91,64¢ (10,77() (1,079 (77,47¢)
Interest expense, net (3,89 (3,819 (4,059 (3,267)
Other income (expense), net 15C 17¢ 13 33
Income (loss) before provision for (benefit fromgome taxes 87,90¢ (14,40%) (5,119 (80,777)
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 32 20,06: 21,35¢ (2,696
Net income (loss) 87,87¢ (34,469 (26,467 (78,076)
Net loss (income) attributable to noncontrollinteiest (Alios) 3,71¢ (30,467) (31,07¢) 1,92¢
Net income (loss) attributable to Vertex $ 91,59C $ (64,93) $ (57,549 $ (76,149

Net income (loss) per share attributable to Vec@xmon
shareholders:

Basic $ 044 $ 031) % 0.27) $ (0.3%)

Diluted $ 04: % 031) % 0.27) $ (0.35)
Shares used in per share calculations:

Basic 208,01¢ 211,34 213,76 214,60°

Diluted 219,26 211,34 213,76 214,60°

1. During the fourth quarter of 2013, the Compesgorded $182.4 million of collaborative revenulated to its Janssen collaboration, which was
primarily attributable to an amendment to its dodleation agreement with Janssen. See Note B, '@otdive Arrangements," for further information.

2. During 2013 and 2012, the Company recordedinvithst of product revenues lower-of-cost or madtetrges for excess or obsolete inventories. See
Note G, "Inventories,for further information.

3. During the first quarter of 2013, the Compaegorded a $412.9 million intangible asset impairmobiarge related to its VX-222 indefinite-lived in-
process research and development asset. In commedth this impairment charge, the Company rectm@eredit of $127.6 million in its provision for
income taxes. See Note J, "Intangible Assets arati@idl," for further information.

4. During the fourth quarter of 2013, the Compeagonsolidated Alios, which included certain changdated to deconsolidation recorded in other
income (expense), net, and was preceded by a $28lligh intangible asset impairment charge relatethe HCV nucleotide analogue program
indefinite-lived in-process research and develograsset. In connection with this impairment chaegeredit of $102.1 million was recorded to the
provision for income taxes attributable to AliogeNote B, "Collaborative Arrangements," and Noténlangible Assets and Goodwill," for further
information.
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2013 Amendment to License, Development, Manufacturg and Commercialization Agreement

This 2013 Amendment to the License, Developmentifiecturing and Commercialization Agreement (th2013
Amendment”) is effective as of November 19, 2013 (thArhendment Effective Date”) and is entered into by and between
Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated, a Massaclsusatporation with corporate offices at 130 Wav&tgeet, Cambridge, MA
02139-4242, United States of AmericaMgrtex ") and Janssen Pharmaceutica NV, a Belgium corjporatith corporate offices
at 30, Turnhoutsesteenweg, B-2340 Beerse, Beldiurar(ssen’).

Background

WHEREAS, Vertex and Janssen have entered intoenké& Development, Manufacturing and Commerciatiaat
Agreement effective June 30, 2006, as amendedié(tthe “Parent Agreement”) and the Website Cooperation Agreement d
January 4, 2011; and

WHEREAS, Vertex and Janssen have developed telapmed Janssen has commercialized Incivo (telaprevihe
Territory under the terms of the Parent Agreemeaemd,

WHEREAS, Vertex and Janssen each now wish to fughend the rights and obligations of the Partieteuthe Parent
Agreement and the Website Cooperation Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoimgrpises and the mutual covenants herein containedeceipt
and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledgkd,Rarties agree as follows.

Article 1 - Definitions

Capitalized terms used in this 2013 Amendmentdhanot defined herein will have the meaning asigo such terms in tl
Parent Agreement.

1.1 “Agreement” means the Parent Agreement as amended by this&8&B8dmen

1.2 “ELC Patents” means a Janssen Assigned Patent, which has thg thsignation VP1/00-131 as listed on Schedule
A.

1.3 “Extend Study” means the ongoing Clinical Trial entitled “A 3-Ye#irology Follow-up Study in Subjects
Previously Treated With Telaprevir in Select CladiStudies.”

1.4 “Janssen Assigned Patentsmeans the Patent Rights assigned to Janssenngx\ées defined in Section 10.2 of this
2013 Amendment.

1.5 “ Liaisons” means the persons designated by the PartiesgnirsuSection 2.2 of this 2013 Amendment and “
Liaison ” means any one of them.

1.6 “Pediatric Study” means the ongoing Clinical Trial entitled “An Opeabel Study of the Effect of Telaprevir in
Combination With Peginterferon Alfa-2b and Ribavii Pediatric Subjects Infected With Hepatitis {Lug.”

1.7 “Post-Collaboration Development Activities” mean any Development activities of a Party thairdtiated after the
Amendment Effective Date and that relate to thedbgyment of a Product containing VX-950.

1.8 “Specific Studies” means the following Clinical Trials entitle

1.8.1 *“A 2-Part, Open Label Study of Telaprevir in Comdttion With Peginterferon Alfa-2a (Pegasys®) and
Ribavirin (Copegus®) in Subjects Chronically InfetVith Genotype 1 Hepatitis C Virus Following Live
Transplantation;” (the Refresh study 117)
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2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

3.1

3.2

3.3

1.8.2 “An Open-Label, Phase 3b Study To Determine Effjcaicd Safety of Telaprevir, Pegylated-Interferdia-al
2a and Ribavirin in Hepatitis C Genotype 1 Infectgthble Liver Transplant Subjects;” (the study 3B5)

1.8.3 “An Open-Label, Phase 3b Study to Determine Effycaicd Safety of Telaprevir, Pegylated-Interferoia-ak
and Ribavirin in Hepatitis C Virus Treatment-Na&amd Treatment-Experienced Subjects With Genoty@arbnic
Hepatitis C and Human Immunodeficiency Virus Typ@CV-1/HIV-1) Coinfection;” (the study HPC3008) &n

1.8.4 “An Open Label, Phase 3 Study of Telaprevir in Coration With Peginterferon Alfa 2a (Pegasys®) and
Ribavirin (Copegus®) in Subjects Coinfected Withn@ype 1 Hepatitis C Virus and Human Immunodeficien
Virus Type 1(HCV/HIV-1).” (the Unite study 115)

Article 2 - Governance

Termination of Governance ProvisionsAtrticle 2 of the Parent Agreement shall terminatés entirety as of the
Amendment Effective Date.

Liaisons. Promptly after the Amendment Effective Date, thetiPa will designate Liaisons to receive commundaosg
and to communicate regarding (a) the conduct ofi€dl Trials by a Party during the Term in whiclo@uct
containing VX-950 is administered, including foetRediatric Study, and (b) the Agreement. Any exfee in the
Agreement to the JSC or any other governance cdeenitill be a reference to the Liaison of a Pastgppropriate.

Diligent Efforts. For clarity, except as specifically provided hereilh obligations of the Parties to use diligerfodab
under the Agreement are terminated.

Safety.For clarity, the governance provisions of the Plarowigilance Agreement, dated August 28, 2012,naly a
among the Parties and Mitsubishi Tanabe PharmadCaiipn (the “Pharmacovigilance Agreement), including
provisions relating to the DST and SOWG (as definettie Pharmacovigilance Agreement), are not &dfeby this
2013 Amendment.

Article 3 - Development

Termination of Development ProvisionsSections 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4, 3.5.1, 3.6, 3.7.2&Rd of the Parent
Agreement shall terminate in their entirety ashef Amendment Effective Date.

Post-Collaboration Development ActivitiesSection 3.5 of the Parent Agreement (excluding@ernance
provisions contained therein) shall continue t@pplicable to Additional Development Activitiestiated by a Party
prior to the Amendment Effective Date, and thedwihg shall be inserted after the final paragrap8extion 3.5:

“Each Party shall have the right to conduct PodtaBoration Development Activities at such Partgtde
expense. A Party may include results from any Badiaboration Development Activities conducted bg bther
Party with a Regulatory Authority to the extentttfitng such results is required for safety purge$y the
Regulatory Authority. A Party who wishes to inclutie results from the other Party’s Post-Collaborat
Development Activities in Regulatory Filings fohet than required safety reasons shall have thétogdo so to
support a label claim or a change in an approvieel ia such Party’s territorff**] .”

Regulatory Submissions and Regulatory ApprovalsSections 3.7.1, 3.7.3 and 3.7.4 of the Parent Ages¢ shall
continue in full force and effect. Drafts of magtrsubmissions made by a Party to, or corresporderib, Regulator
Authorities in such Party’s territory regarding fBeduct will be provided to the other Party to éxéent practicable a
reasonable period prior to such submission.

2
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3.4

3.5

3.6

3.7

Pediatric Study. The Parties agree to conduct the Pediatric Studgllasvs: (a) Vertex shall be responsible for using
Diligent Efforts, including compliance with applide law and Good Clinical Practice, to conductPeeliatric Study
as provided in the Global Development Plan as ®mendment Effective Date, and (b) Vertex shaltdimbursed
by Janssen for costs of the Pediatric Study asgedvn Section 9.3 of the Parent Agreement as deghereby. The
Parties’ Liaisons shall review any proposed amemdsi® the Pediatric Study presented by eitheryReard may
approve or disapprove any such proposed amendnpeatéged that such Pediatric Study shall be améhgethe
Parties to the extent required by any relevant Regry Authority. Disagreements regarding the Peidi&tudy that
cannot be resolved by the Liaisons shall be subdhftir resolution as Unresolved Matters under tiogipions of
Section 14.2 of the Parent Agreement.

[***]

Extend Study. The Parties agree to conduct the Extend Studyllasvi (a) the Parties shall be responsible fongisi
Diligent Efforts, including compliance with applige law and Good Clinical Practice, to conductlxéend Study as
provided in the Global Development Plan as of theeAdment Effective Date, and (b) each Party sleatebmbursed
by the other Party for costs of the Extend Studgrasided in Section 9.3 of the Parent Agreemersirasnded herek
The Parties’ Liaisons shall review any proposedraineents to the Extend Study presented by eitheéy Bad may
approve or disapprove any such proposed amendnpeatscded that such Extend Study shall be amengiatdd
Parties to the extent required by any relevant Regry Authority. Disagreements regarding the Egt&tudy that
cannot be resolved by the Liaisons shall be subthftir resolution as Unresolved Matters under tiogipions of
Section 14.2 of the Parent Agreement.

Specific StudiesNotwithstanding Section 3.5 of the Parent Agreenidet Parties have decided to share the results
the Specific Studies at no cost to the other Patig. Parties will make such disclosures to eacarptxecute such
documents and provide such rights of referenceable the other Party to submit to Regulatory Atities such
Janssen Know-How and Vertex Know-How generatedrasiat of these Specific Studies and to obtairritended
modifications to the Regulatory Approvals suppotigduch know-how. The Licenses of Sections 7.27afaf the
Parent Agreement will include a license to the ®eKnow-How and the Janssen Know-How resulting femm
know-how generated as a result of and any Vertéar®P&ights or Janssen Patent Rights resulting fnmentions
conceived or reduced to practice as a result oSgrexific Studies.

Wind-down. The Parties shall as promptly as practicable wimdrdall “other” activities, if any, contemplated the
Global Development Plan as of the Amendment Effedbate (“other” meaning other than the Pediatticl$, the
conduct of which shall be governed by Section 3#his 2013 Amendment, the Extend Study, the cohdfierhich
shall be governed by Section 3.5 of this 2013 Amesrt, and the Specific Studies).

Article 4 - Manufacture and Supply

4.1

4.2

Termination of Manufacture and Supply Provisions.Sections 4.1, 4.2, 4.3, 4.4, 4.5 and 4.7 of themakgreemer
shall terminate in their entirety as of the Amendtrigffective Date.

Clinical and Commercial Supplies.The Manufacture and supply of Product for bothicihand commercial
purposes will occur in accordance with the termthisf 2013 Amendment as follows:

(@) Clinical. Each Party shall use its own supply of VX-950 fdiniCal Trials conducted by or on behalf of such
Party in accordance with the licenses grantedeéniireement.

(b) Commercial. Janssen will be responsible for the Manufacturerofiuct for Commercialization in the Territory,
and Vertex will be responsible for the Manufactoféroduct for Commercialization in its territoridsJanssen
requests from Vertex any commercial quantities f3560, to the extent such commercial quantitiestiaee
available and will not adversely affect
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4.3

5.1

5.2

5.3

54

55

5.6

Vertex’s Commercialization of Products containing-950 in its territories, Vertex will provide sucjuantities
to Jansseft**] pursuant to the Supply Agreement dated July 9, ZO®9" Supply Agreement”) between the
Parties.

Supply Agreement and Quality Agreemen
4.3.1 Section 6.6 of the Supply Agreement is deletedsiemtirety and the following is substituted theref

“ Survival . Notwithstanding anything in this Supply Agreementhe contrary, the following provisions herein
shall survive the termination of this Supply Agres last sentence of Section 2.2, Sections 331,665, 9.1, 9.2,
9.4-9.13, and Articles 7 and 8, and the provisioinhe Quality Agreement which by their terms suevsuch
termination.”

4.3.2 The Supply Agreement, as amended by Section 4f3hisa2013 Amendment, is terminated as of the
Amendment Effective Date.

4.3.3 The Quality Agreement dated June 23, 2009, as amtemglterminated as of the Amendment EffectiveeDat

Article 5 - Commercialization

Termination of Commercialization Provisions.Sections 5.1, 5.2, 5.3, 5.4, 5.5, 5.8 and 5.9 @fRhrent Agreement
shall terminate in their entirety as of the Amendtrigffective Date.

Resource Allocation.Janssen will be permitted to allocate resourcéisea@Commercialization of the Product
according to its own internal decision making psscelanssen shall be solely responsible for aitides regarding
the prices charged for the Product in the Territasywell as discounts, rebates and all other dmhscfrom Net Sales
allowed under Section 1.77 of the Parent Agreement.

Referral of Orders; Returns. Section 5.6 of the Parent Agreement shall remafalifiorce and effect; provided that
if Product sold in the Territory is returned to Yéer, Vertex shall promptly ship such Product taeility designated k
Janssen, at Janssen’s expense.

Pharmacovigilance, Adverse Event and Product Compliat Reporting Procedures.

5.4.1 AgreementThe Pharmacovigilance Agreement shall continueotemn the rights and obligations of the
Parties regarding pharmacovigilance, adverse easatproduct complaint reporting procedures amabisnodified
by this 2013 Amendment. Section 5.7 of the Pargredment shall remain in full force and effect {sabto the later
executed Pharmacovigilance Agreement) excep{ttét .

5.4.2 DatabaseThe Parties agree to use commercially reasonatudsfo allow Janssen to, by March 1, 2014, (1)
cease processing VX-950 adverse events in Verfagas Global Safety Database and (2) begin excingnagverse
events electronically (E2B) with Vertex from JansseSafety Database; provided that this transidhnot occur

until the electronic exchange (a) meets the remerds set forth in ICH E2B (R2Maintenance of the ICH Guidelil
on Clinical Safety Data Management: Data ElementsTFansmission of Individual Case Safety Repaonts @)
requires only similar Vertex personnel resourcearasurrently required.

Medical Inquiries. Section 5.11.1 of the Parent Agreement is herelsnded by deleting (¢J**] and (b) the last
sentence of such Section 5.11.1 of the Parent Amgee

Website Cooperation AgreementThe establishment, content, operation, and maintanaf any site or domain on
the internet by the Parties for the Product isextttjp the Website Cooperation Agreement datedalgrl) 2011
except that Article 3 of the Website Cooperatioreggmnent shall terminate as of the Amendment Effeddiate.
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5.7

5.8

Advertising and Promotional Materials. Janssen will have the right, but not the obligattorcarry Vertex’'s name
and logo on its Product packaging, package indatis|s and containers, and on all printed, eleatrand digital
material related thereto, including educationaleriats and advertisements, with no size requirement

Continuing Commercial Provisions.Sections 5.7, 5.10 and 5.11.2 of the Parent Agraesfll remain in full force
and effect.

Article 6 - Philanthropic Program.

6.1Philanthropic Program. Article 6 of the Parent Agreement has been delietéd entirety and the following is substituted

7.1

7.2

7.3

7.4

7.5

7.6

7.7

therefor:

“Each Party shall have the right but no obligatiorwonduct philanthropic programs with respecti®diagnosis,
prevention, treatment and cure of HCV infectioncliE®arty will be free to qualify a bona fide pragréor the
diagnosis, prevention, treatment and cure of H@¥(dition as philanthropic.”

Article 7 - License Grants

License Grants.Article 7 of the Parent Agreement, as supplemeatetimodified by this 2013 Amendment, shalll
remain in full force and effect.

Additional Non-exclusive Know-How License from Vere x. Vertex and its Affiliates hereby grant to Jamsaenon-
exclusive, worldwidg***] license to use the Information disclosed by Vedeits Affiliates under the Agreement to
Janssen or its Affiliates for any purpose withinsken and its Affiliates consistent with Janssehlgation of
confidentiality with respect to Third Parties puastito the Agreement. The license contained inSkistion 7.2 of thi
2013 Amendment may be sublicensed in accordanteSeittion 7.7, first paragraph, of the Parent Auere.

Additional Licenses from JanssenJanssen hereby grants to Vertex a perpdttfd], , non-exclusive license in the
Territory to Manufacture VX-950 and Products comitag) VX-950 for Commercial use outside the Tergtander
Janssen Assigned Patents. Janssen hereby grafadds a perpetual***] , non-exclusive license in the Territory
under the Janssen Assigned Patents for all purptisesthan Developing, Manufacturing and/or Conuiadizing
VX-950 or its bioequivalents, and Products contagrivX-950 or its bioequivalents. The licenses cmad in this
Section 7.3 of this 2013 Amendment may be subliegms accordance with Section 7.7, first paragrapkhe Parent
Agreement.

Additional Development License from VertexVertex and its Affiliates hereby grant to Janss@exclusive righ
and license under the Vertex Know-How, Vertex PaRights and Vertex'’s rights under Joint PatentRido
Develop and Manufacture VX-950 and Products coirigiltX-950 in North America.

Paid-up LicensesThe licenses of Article 7 of the Parent Agreemerat Article 7 of the 2013 Amendment shall be
fully paid-up and perpetual subject to (i) the paymof royalties for Net Sales during the quareerded September
29, 2013 and December29, 2013, [(if] and (iii) amounts payable to Vertg%*] pursuant to Section 9.5 of the
Agreement.

Right to SublicenseThe second paragraph of Section 7.7 of the Pargraefment shall be deleted in its entirety. E
Party promptly shall provide written notice to thter Party of any sublicense granted pursuanetbiéh 7.7 of the
Agreement, except in case of sublicenses to Afffiia

Other License AmendmentsThe licenses of Sections 7.1, 7.2, 7.3 and 7.A@Parent Agreement are amended in
the last sentence after the phrase “Additional [praent Activities” to add the phrase “or Post @bthration
Development Activities.”
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Article 8 - Intentionally Left Blank

Article 9 - Financial Provisions

Except as provided for in this 2013 Amendmentphligations of Janssen and Vertex to pay royaltiesnse fees, milestones
and/or development cost reimbursement under theekgent (including Section 9.1 of the Parent Agregjneill terminate.

9.1 One-time License Feeln consideration for royalties that would have otfise been payable to Vertex related to Net
Sales in the Territory on or after December 29,320drsuant to Section 9.4.1(a) of the Parent Agesgrand the
covenants and the licenses under this 2013 Amentidamssen shall pay Vertex a one-time non-refuedabn-
creditable payment of One Hundred Fifty Two MilliBollars (US $152,000,000) with[**] of the Amendment
Effective Date.

9.2 Royalties Milestones and Other Payment
(a) Section 9.2 of the Parent Agreement shall termiimaits entirety as of the Amendment Effective C

(b) Sections 9.4.1(a) and 9.4.2 of the Parent Agreestwait terminate effective upon the fulfillment#nssen’s
obligations to pay royalties on Net Sales in theil@y for the Calendar Quarter ended Decembe233.

(c) Section 9.4.1(b) of the Parent Agreement dimlierminated in its entirety immediately follogithe Calendar
Quarter ending December 29, 2013 and the followingstituted therefor:

“9.4.1 (b)[x*+] "

(d)If Net Sales of VX-950 in the Territory for the pm beginning of***] and ending offf**] exceed***] ,
Janssen shall make a one-time additional paymeretiex of[***] within [***] of the completion
of the Calendar Quarter in which such milestorfeéss achieved.

9.3 Cost ReimbursementSection 9.3 of the Parent Agreement is hereby astktalprovide that (d¥**] and (b) the
right of each Party to inspect the books and rexofdhe other Party pursuant to Section 9.3 syl apply to Globe
Development Costs incurred on or after Januar@)13dy the Party maintaining the books and records.

9.4  Third Party Licenses. The first sentence of Section 9.5 of the PareneAgrent shall be deleted in its entirety and
replaced with the following:

“Janssen shall be responsible (except as provid&ection 9.4.1(b)) for one hundred percent (106Pany
royalties, or other amounts relating to intelletfpraperty rights, payable to any Third Party on@amt of
Products sold in the Territory by Janssen, itsliétis or sublicensee (except for Vertex), andlgiaf to Vertex,
in accordance with the procedures that have bdablisthied by the Parties prior to this Amendmeifiédive Date
for such payments: (&§**] and (b)[***] . Vertex represents and warrants that: (i) the Bla@nts arg**] or
[***] (both as defined iff**] ) and (ii) the compounds claimed as a compositfanatter by a Valid Claim of tt
ELC Patents arg**] (as defined if***] ). [***] .”

9.5 Reports.Section 9.6 of the Parent Agreement shall termiimaiis entirety effective immediately followingeh
delivery of the***] to be furnished to Vertex for thg*] , and the following shall be substituted therefor:

“Janssen shall furnish to Vertex*s*] , at the end of eadh**] , showing the Net Sales of Products in each
country in the Territory during the reporting peli@and any permitted deductions from gross salentto arrive
at the Net Sales calculatidi**] Janssen shall keep complete and accurate recosdfficient detail to enable
the information provided hereunder to be verifigd b
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Vertex’s accounting firm pursuant to Section 9.7hé Agreement in the case that ungd&t] or [***] a request
is made by such counterparty to audit the Net Saltdwe Territory or in order for Vertex to verifige written
report on the Net Sales of Products in the Tegribmtweer[***] and[***] .”

9.6 Audits, Payments and Income Tax WithholdingsSections, 9.8, 9.9 and 9.10 of the Parent Agreestait remain
in full force and effect and apply to any paymelligation under the Agreement. Section 9.7 of theeRt Agreement
will only apply to reporting (a) under the Paremréement between December 30, 2012 and Decemb2023 or (b
under Section 9.5 of this 2013 Amendment for pexiod or after December 30, 2012. For clarity, atliarights unde
Section 9.7 will terminate as of March 1, 2015 gnae the case of an audit request made upffgr or [***] .

9.7 Parallel Importation. Section 9.11 of the Parent Agreement shall terraiimaits entirety as of the Amendment
Effective Date.

Article 10 - Intellectual Property

10.1 General.Article 10 of the Parent Agreement, as supplemeatedmodified by this 2013 Amendment, shall reniin
full force and effect.

10.2 Assignment.Contemporaneously to the execution of this 2013 Adneent, Vertex shall execute the patent
assignments attached as Scheduld Bese patent assignments convey legal and etpugamership to Janssen of the
Vertex Patent Rights and the Vertex interest intJ@atent Rights in the Territory that are listedAassigned” patents
on Schedule Athe “ Janssen Assigned Patent3. Janssen shall have all rights of ownershipluding any right and
responsibility of prosecution, maintenance and eiment of the Janssen Assigned Patents at itespénse, subje
to the licenses granted pursuant Section 7.3 8f2013 Amendment. The Janssen Assigned Patentsondhger be
Vertex Patent Rights or Joint Patent Rights antineil be Janssen Patent Rights under the AgreelBrcept as
specifically provided for herein, Janssen shallehaw obligations to Vertex as to and Vertex shallehno rights in the
Janssen Assigned Patents. Vertex agrees to exaaltalocuments and perform such acts as may benedag
necessary to record or otherwise effectuate sugigranents. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Bargigree to
coordinate regarding the prosecution and any gitereedings relating to the Janssen Assigned Ratent

10.3 Reimbursement.Janssen’s obligation {&**] as set forth in Section 10.1 of the Parent Agrednseierminated.
Janssen’s obligation {¢&**] as set forth in Section 10.1 of the Parent Agre¢msaimchanged.

10.4 ELC Patents.Janssen shall give Vert§g*] advance notice of any decision to cease prepardiiiog, prosecution
or maintenance any patents or patent applicatigtimnnhe ELC Patents (each, ®fscontinued Patent”). Janssen
acknowledges thgt**] would have the right to elect to continue preparatfiling, prosecution and maintenance of
such Discontinued Patents[#t] sole expense. Janssen agrees to assign ownersuptobDiscontinued Patents to
[***] and to execute such documents and perform suclasiasly be reasonably necessary*fdi to file or to
continue its prosecution or maintenance of sucledisnued Patents. Notwithstanding the assignmiethisoELC
Patents in Section 10.2 of this 2013 AmendmensskEmacknowledges and agrees [thal retains a fully paid-up,
non-exclusive, worldwide license without any rigisublicense, to the ELC Patents[fgF] internal research
purposes only.

Article 11 - Confidentiality

11.1 Confidentiality and Non-use.Section 11.1 of the Parent Agreement, as suppledemd modified by this 2013
Amendment, shall remain consistent with the licergr@nted herein (including in Section 7.2 of 2043
Amendment) in full force and effect.
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11.2 Consultant and Advisor Obligations.Section 11.2 of the Parent Agreement is deletdts ientirety as of the
Amendment Effect Date and the following is substitltherefor:

“Each Party agrees that it and its Affiliates sipativide or permit access to Information receivednf the other
Party and such Party's Affiliates and represergatonly to consultants, Permitted Sublicenseesabdontractor
of the receiving Party, and to the consultantsiriteed Sublicensees and subcontractors of theviegeParty's
Affiliates, who in such Party's reasonable judgnfeaste a need to know such Information to assistebeiving
Party with the activities contemplated by this Agreent and who are subject to obligations of contidéty and
non-use with respect to such Information no lestiative than the obligations of confidentialitycanon-use of
the receiving Party pursuant to Section 11.1 oftheent Agreement; provided that each Party saalam
responsible for any failure by its Affiliates, aitsland its Affiliates' respective consultants,rpited
subcontractors and sublicensees, to treat suchmafmn as required under Section 11.1 of the Ragreement
(as if such Affiliates, consultants, permitted satcactors and sublicensees were Parties direatind to the
requirements of Section 11.1).”

11.3 Publication. Section 11.3 of the Parent Agreement is deletéd ientirety as of the Amendment Effective Date and
the following is substituted therefor:

“Each of Janssen and Vertex reserves the rightilbtigh or publicly present any results (thRésults”) related to
the Product, subject to the following terms andditions. The Party proposing to publish or publiphgsent the
Results (the ‘Publishing Party ") will submit a draft of any proposed manuscrigibstract or speech to the other
Party (the “Non-Publishing Party ") for commentgd***] prior to submission for publication or oral pressiun.
The Non-Publishing Party shall notify the Publighfarty in writing[***] of receipt of such draft whether such
draft contains (i) information of the NdPdblishing Party which it considers to be confisininder the provisior
of Section 11.1 of the Agreement, or (ii) infornoatithat if published would have an adverse effaech patent
application covering the subject matter of this dgment. In any such notification, the Non-Publigh®arty shall
indicate with specificity its suggestions regardihg manner and degree to which the Publishingy Paaty
disclose such information. In the case of itenakipve, no Party may publish Information of the ofarty
without its consent in violation of Section 11.1tlis Agreement. In the case of item (ii) above, Kon-
Publishing Party may request a delay and the RubgsParty shall delay such publication or presgmafor a
period[***] , to permit the timely preparation and filing opatent application or an application for a ceréfe of
invention covering the information at issue. Thetiea agree that authorship of any publicationrespntation
will be determined based on the customary standhsedsbeing applied in the relevant scientific jralror
conference. The forgoing provisions shall not lerpreted to prevent the publication by a Partinfafrmation
required by law to be published by that Party.

This Section 11.3 shall terminate with the termorabf the Agreement, but the provisions of Secfidrl hereof
shall continue to govern the disclosure by oneyRahether by publication or otherwise, of Inforimatof the
other for two years after termination or expiratadrthis Agreement.”

11.4 Publicity/Use of NamesSection 11.4 of the Parent Agreement shall remmafali force and effect and shall apply to
this 2013 Amendment. The Parties shall agree upetiming and content of an initial press releadating to the
execution of this 2013 Amendment and its terms.

Article 12 - Representations and Warranties; Indemification
12.1 Authority. Each Party represents and warrants that this 20d@&wWment, including the release contained in Aztid
hereof, has been duly executed and delivered ldy Batty and constitutes a
8
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valid and binding obligation of such Party, enf@igke against such Party in accordance with itsgeexcept as
enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, fraleht conveyance, insolvency, reorganization, monato and other
laws related to creditors’ rights generally andjeyeral equitable principles. The execution, dejind performance
of this Agreement have been duly authorized byediessary action on the part of such Party, itsesf and director.

12.2 General.Article 12 of the Parent Agreement shall remaifuihforce and effec

Article 13 - Term

Article 13 of the Parent Agreement is deletedsremtirety and replaced by the following:

13.1 Term. The Agreement shall be effective as of the Effecihate and shall continue in effect until the latiefi) the las
to expire of the Janssen Assigned Patents or theX/Batent Rights licensed to Janssen pursuagktite 7 of the
Agreement or (ii) the last required payment by dango Vertex pursuant to this Agreement.

13.2 Survival. Any expiration or termination of this Agreement isl@ without prejudice to the rights of either ®ar
against the other accrued or accruing under thieégent prior to expiration or termination. In ddohi to any other
provisions which by their terms specifically sumigxpiration or termination of this Agreement, tbikowing
provisions shall indefinitely survive any expiratior termination of the Agreement: Article 7 ofgl3013
Amendment, Article 12 of this 2013 Amendment, Agi&3 of this 2013 Amendment, Article 14 of thisl30
Amendment, Sections 14.1 and 14.5 of the Agreendetitle 15 of this 2013 Amendment, Article 15 bkt
Agreement, Article 16 of this 2013 Amendment, ameldefinitions of terms from Article 1 of the Parégreement
and this 2013 Amendment that are used in any oftiné@ving provisions of the Agreement.

Article 14 - Governing Law and Dispute Resolution

14.1 Governing Law and Dispute ResolutionArticle 14 of the Parent Agreement, as amendedsapglemented by this
2013 Amendment, shall remain in full force and efffend shall apply to the provisions of this 2018ekxdment.

14.2 Amendment of Dispute Resolution ProvisionsSection 14.3 of the Parent Agreement is deletdtds ientirety as of
the Amendment Effect Date and the following is sitsed therefor:

“If the Executive Officers fail to come to consesasin any matter properly referred to the Execuiffecers
within the period for resolution set forth in Sectil4.2 (an ‘Unresolved Matter”) such dispute shall be settled
in accordance with Section 14.5 of the Agreement.”

Article 15 - Miscellaneous

15.1 Miscellaneous Article 15 of the Parent Agreement shall remaifulihforce and effect and shall apply to the
provisions of this 2013 Amendment.

Article 16 - Mutual Releases

16.1 Release of JansseNertex, on behalf of itself and its Affiliates aray applicable, each of its and its Affiliates’
employees, successors, assigns, current and faineetors and officers, shareholders and directiadidect parents,
hereby fully and forever releases and dischargels eJanssen and its Affiliates, each of their leiyges, agents,
attorneys, insurers, accountants, heirs, execwddrjnistrators, conservators, successors, assigngnt and former
directors and officers, shareholders and directiaditlect parents, subsidiaries and Affiliates frand against any and
all liability, claims, demands, contracts, debtsjgations, damages, losses, actions, causesiohaot suits of
whatever
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kind or nature, whether known or unknown, basedmnclaim (each, aJanssen Released Clairf) arising under
the Parent Agreement and existing as of the AmentiE#ective Date, except for any claims basediphréach by
Janssen or its Affiliates of any payment obligatimaler the Parent Agreement, including any undengay of
royalties due to Vertex*] or[***] , (ii) fraudulent acts by Janssen or its Affiliatesonnection with the activities
contemplated by the Parent Agreement, (iii) brdaclanssen or its Affiliates of its confidentialdpligations to
Vertex under the Parent Agreement resulting in thraized disclosures to Third Parties or (iv) brehg Janssen or
its Affiliates of the Pharmacovigilance Agreemeargrtex covenants not to sue or otherwise instibuterosecute any
legal, administrative or other proceeding againgt@ Janssen or its Affiliates based on any JanBsdeased Claim.

16.2 Release of VertexJanssen, on behalf of itself and its Affiliates aaslapplicable, each of its and its Affiliates’
employees, successors, assigns, current and faiineetors and officers, stockholders and directiaddect parents,
hereby fully and forever releases and dischargels eVertex and its Affiliates, each of their emytes, agents,
attorneys, insurers, accountants, heirs, execwddrjnistrators, conservators, successors, assigngnt and former
directors and officers, shareholders and directiagidect parents, subsidiaries and Affiliatespfrand against any a
all liability, claims, demands, contracts, debtsjgations, damages, losses, actions, causesiohaot suits of
whatever kind or nature, whether known or unknawased on any claim (each, &értex Released Claint) arising
under the Parent Agreement and existing as of ther&iment Effective Date, except for any claims tase(i)
breach by Vertex or its Affiliates of any paymebtigation to Janssen under the Parent Agreeméntrglidulent acts
by Vertex or its Affiliates in connection with tlaetivities contemplated by the Parent Agreemeiijtbfieach by
Vertex or its Affiliates of its confidentiality olglations to Janssen under the Parent Agreemeritingsin
unauthorized disclosures to Third Parties or (igalsh by Vertex or its Affiliates of the Pharmaaghance
Agreement. Janssen covenants not to sue or otleeingitute or prosecute any legal, administrativether
proceeding against Vertex or its Affiliates, basedany Vertex Released Claim.

16.3 Non-Assignment of ClaimsEach Party hereto represents and warrants to iee Barty that no portion of any claim,
right, interest, demand, debt, liability, accouwstiligation or cause of action released herein leas lassigned,
conveyed or transferred, by operation of law oeotlise, to any other person or entity. In the etleat any claim,
demand or suit should be made or instituted agamgParty hereto because of any such purportéghassnt,
conveyance or transfer, the Party from whom suslgasient, conveyance or transfer was alleged te bagurred
agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the othdyRgainst such claim, suit or demand and to palysatisfy any
such claim, suit or demand, including all experafaavestigation, attorneys’ fees and costs.

16.4 Later Discovered FactsThe Parties are aware that they may hereaftervksadaims or facts in addition to or
different from those they now know or believe tothe with respect to matters or things under [ated to the
Agreement, or any aspect of the relevant busireatanship by or between the Parties. Nevertheiessthe Parties’
intention to fully, finally, and forever settle anelease all such matters and all claims withinsttwpe of the above
releases that may exist or may heretofore haveeeiis

16.5 Voluntary Execution. The Parties respectively represent and warrarn

16.5.1 No Party has made any statement or representatite tother Party regarding any fact relied upon in
entering into Article 16 of the 2013 Amendment.iédlg 16 of this 2013 Amendment is made withoutaretie upon
any inducement, statement, promise, or representather than those contained within this 2013 Adneent.

16.5.2 This 2013 amendment is executed voluntarily antiauit any duress or undue influence on the part oho
behalf of the Parties hereto, with the full intehteleasing all claims, except as expressly resktherein.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the Parties have executed this 2013 Amendmenitthe date set forth below.

JANSSEN PHARMACEUTICA, N.V. VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
By: /s/ Ludo F. Lauwers By:_/s/ lan Smith

Name: Dr. Ludo F. Lauwers, M.D. Name: lan Smith

Title: Senior Vice President Title: EVP & Chief Financial Officer

Vice- Chairman Management Board
Janssen Pharmaceutica NV

Date: November 19, 2013 Date: November 19, 2013

By: /s/ Peter Putteman
Name: Peter Putteman

Title: General Manager
Janssen Supply Chain Beerse

Date: November 19, 2013
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Schedule A

Assigned Patents
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Schedule A - Assigned Patents

[***]
Filing or
PTE/SPC Grant /
Application Publication Patent PTE/SPC Application  expiration
Country Name Number Number Number Status Issue Date  Status Number date
[+4] ALBANIA AL/P/2009/3085 | [**] 1320540  |1320540 Granted  |13-May-2009 |[*] [+4] [+4]
[4] ARMENIA 200300318 [4] 11547 Granted  |14-Jan-2009 |[*] [#4] [4]
[4] ARMENIA 200701869 [4] 17556 Granted  |30-Jan-2013 |[*] [o4] [4]
[#4] ARGENTINA 10104168 [#4] AR03035B1 |Granted  |24-Jan-2013 |[*] [#4] [4]
[+4] ARGENTINA 90102351 [+4] AR 072313 Published [+4] [+4] [+4]
[4] ARGENTINA 90102352 [+4] AR 072314 Published [4] [+4] [+4]
[+4] ARGENTINA 20120104265 [+4] Pending [+4] [+ [+4]
[#4] AUSTRIA E 431358 [#4] 1320540 |1320540 Granted  |13-May-2009 |Pending SZ 9/2012 g/illeg/zolz
Granted
[++4] AUSTRALIA 2001288318 [++4] 2001288318 |Granted  |10-Jan-2008 |Granted [ E’le‘?’lgi
8/31/26
Granted
[¥+4] AUSTRALIA 2007240156 [¥+4] 2007240156 |Granted  |15-Mar-2012 |Granted [ g’f# i
8/31/26
[4] AUSTRALIA 2012201015 [4] Pending [4] [o4] [4]
[+4] AZERBAIJAN 200300318 [4] 11547 Granted  |14-Jan-2009 |[*] [+4] [4]
[4] AZERBAIJAN 200701869 [4] 17556 Granted  |30-Jan-2013 | [*] [+4] [4]
[4] BELGIUM 1968040.4 [4] 1320540  |1320540 Granted  |13-May-2009 |Pending 2012C/010 Filed 3/16/12
[74] BRAZIL 0113666-6 [74] 1812 Published [74] [#4] [#4]
[#4] BELARUS 200300318 [#4] 11547 Granted  |14-Jan-2009 |[*] [#4] [#4]
[4] BELARUS 200701869 [4] 17556 Granted  |30-Jan-2013  |[*] [o4] [4]
[+4] SWITZERLAND  |1968040.4 [+4] 1320540  |1320540 Granted  |13-May-2009 |Pending C01320540/01 | Filed 3/8/12
[4] SWITZERLAND  |7012485.4 [+4] 1878720  |1878720 Granted  |6-0ct2010  |[*] [+4] [+4]
[4] CHILE 20822001 [4] 45990 Granted  |6-0ct2009  |[*] [+4] [4]
[#4] CHILE 3382007 [#4] Pending [#4] [#4] [#4]
[#4] CHILE 330-2010 [4] Pending [#4] [#4] [#4]
[#4] COLOMBIA 3016961 [#4] 545 59726 Granted  |29-0ct2010 |[*] [#4] [#4]
[74] COLOMBIA 3016961A [74] 39902 Granted  |30-Jul-2010  |[*] [#4] [74]
[+4] COLOMBIA 3016961C [4] Pending [+4] [+4] [+4]
Granted
[#4] CYPRUS CY2009 1100765 |[*] 1320540 |1320540 Granted  |13-May-2009 |Granted CY2012007 6/6/12; Expires
8/31/26
[*‘k‘k] CR:EESELlc 20030595 [*‘k‘k] Pendlng [*‘k‘k] [‘k**] [*‘k‘k]
(] CZECH o PV2013-353 (] Pending (] ] (]
[4] GERMANY 1968040.4 [74] 1320540 | 1320540 Granted  |13-May-2009 |Pending 122012000015.2 | Filed 3/19/12
[+4] GERMANY 7012485.4 [+4] 1878720  |1878720 Granted  |6-0ct2010  |[*] [+4] [+4]
[+4] DENMARK 1968040.4 [o4] 1320540  |1320540 Granted  |13-May-2009 |Pending CA 2012 00007 |Filed 3/19/12
[+4] DENMARK 7012485.4 [+4] 1878720  |1878720 Granted  |6-0ct2010  |[*] 1] [4]
[4] ALGERIA 30064 [4] 3438 Granted  |6-Sep2005 | [*] [#4] [4]
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EURASIAN

(4] RSS! 200300318 (4] 11547 Granted  |14-Jan-2000 |[*] (4] (4]

[¥+4] EX?QNS.'FAN 200701869 [¥+4] 17556 Granted  [30-Jan-2013  |[**] [¥+4] [

== ECUADOR 34493 [ Pending (=] [ (=]

[ ECUADOR 77217 [ Pending (=] [ (=]

[ EGYPT 935/2001 [ Pending (=] [ (=]

[ EUROPEAN 1968040.4 [ 1320540  |1320540 Granted  |13-May-2009 |[] [ (=]

] EUROPEAN 7111000.1 [ 1849797 Published = ] =

] EUROPEAN 7012483.9 [ 1958956 Published = ] =

] EUROPEAN 7012484.7 [ 1876173 Published ] ] ]

] EUROPEAN 70124854 [ 1878720  |1878720 Granted |6-0ct2010  |[*] [ (4]

[ EUROPEAN 10185132.7 [ 2368877 Published (=] [ (=]

[ EUROPEAN 10185148.3 [ 2368878 Published [ [ (=]

[ EUROPEAN 101851558 [ 2368901 Published (=] [ (=]

] EUROPEAN 10185722.5 [ 2371839 Published = ] =
Granted

(] SPAIN 1968040.4 [++4] 1320540 1320540 Granted  |13-May-2009 |Granted 201200008 éiﬁ:éiz
8/31/26

] SPAIN 7012485 4 (4] 1878720  |1878720 Granted |6-0ct2010  |[*] (4] (4]

= FINLAND 1968040.4 [ 1320540  |1320540 Granted  |13-May-2009 |Pending €20120011 Filed 3/16/12
Granted

(] FRANCE 1968040.4 [++4] 1320540 1320540 Granted  |13-May-2009 |Granted 12C0018 éi’;iféiz;
8/30/26

== FRANCE 7012485 4 [ 1878720  |1878720 Granted |6-0ct2010  |[*] [ (4]

[4] N oo 1968040.4 [ 1320540  |1320540 Granted  |13-May-2009 |Pending SPCIGB12/010 |Filed 3/16/12

[++4] N oo 7012485.4 [++4] 1878720 1878720 Granted  |6-Oct2010  |[**] [++4] [
Granted

(4] GREECE 1968040.4 (4] 1320540  |1320540 Granted |13-May-2009 |Granted 20120800008  |2/11/13;
Expires 9/1/26

[+ CROATIA 20030139 [***] 02/2005 Published 4] [+ [+

= HUNGARY 300855 [ Pending [ [ [

] HUNGARY P13 00255 [ Pending [ [ [

[ IRELAND 1968040.4 [ 1320540  |1320540 Granted  |13-May-2009 |Pending 2012/009 Filed 3/16/12

[ IRELAND 7012485 4 [ 1878720  |1878720 Granted  |6-0ct2010 | [ [=4]

[ ISRAEL 154671 [ 154671 Granted |1-Mar2012 |Pending [ Filed 6/10/12

] ISRAEL 185644 [ Pending [ [ [

] ISRAEL 215892 [ Pending [ [ [

= ISRAEL 215890 [ Pending [ [ [

= ISRAEL 215891 [ Pending [ [ [

[ INDIA 0242KOLNP2003 |[*] 212710 Granted  |12-Dec-2007 |[] [ (=]

[ INDIA 865KOLNPO7 [ Pending [ [ [
Granted

[¥+4] ITALY 26598/BE/2009 | [***] 1320540 1320540 Granted  [13-May-2009 |Granted 68544 ‘é’f;i éi
8/31/26

[ ITALY 70124854 [ 1878720  |1878720 Granted  |6-0ct2010 | [ [

[ KYRGYZSTAN _ |200300318 [ 11547 Granted  |14-Jan-2009 |[*] [ [

] KYRGYZSTAN _ |200701869 [ 17556 Granted  |30-Jan-2013 |[*] [ [

] KAZAKHSTAN _ |200300318 [ 11547 Granted  |14-Jan-2000 |[*] [ [
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4] KAZAKHSTAN 200701869 [**+] 17556 Granted  |30-Jan-2013  |[**¥] [**] [
Granted

4] LITHUANIA 1968040.4 [**+] 1320540 1320540 Granted  |13-May-2009 |Granted PA 2012 003 9/25/12;
Expires 9/1/26
Granted

[+ LUXEMBOURG  [1968040.4 [**4] 1320540 1320540 Granted  |13-May-2009 |Granted 91 960 g(zpllgi
8/31/26

[ LUXEMBOURG  [7012485.4 [**4] 1878720 1878720 Granted  |6-Oct-2010 [ [*] [***]
Granted

[+ LATVIA 1968040.4 [**4] 1320540 1320540 Granted  |13-May-2009 |Granted C/LV2012/0005 éi’;%iz;
8/31/26

[#4] MONACO 1968040.4 [*¥] 1320540 1320540 Granted 13-May-2009  |[***] [*] [**]

[#4] MONACO 7012485.4 [ 1878720 1878720 Granted 6-Oct-2010 [**] [*] [**]

[**+] MOLDOVA 200300318 [**+] 11547 Granted  |14-Jan-2009  [[**¥] 4] 4]

[#+4] MOLDOVA 200701869 4] 17556 Granted 30-Jan-2013  |[***] [**] [*]

4] MACEDONIA 1968040.4 [**+] 1320540 1320540 Granted  |13-May-2009 |[***] [***] [***]

4] NIGERIA 372/2001 [**+] NG/C/2011/04 |Granted |14-Mar-2011 |[**¥] [***] [***]
Granted

4] NETHERLANDS [1968040.4 [**+] 1320540 1320540 Granted  |13-May-2009 |Granted 300518 gf’;gi
8/31/26

4] NETHERLANDS [7012485.4 [**+] 1878720 1878720 Granted  |6-Oct-2010 [**+] [***] [***]

[ NORWAY 20030928 [**4] 329929 Granted  |24-Jan-2011 |Pending 2012006 Filed 4/3/12

[#4] NORWAY 20100999 [**4] 330807 Granted 18-Jul-2011 [**] [**] [***]

[**4] NEW ZEALAND  |541302 [**+] 1534 541302 Granted  |9-Aug-2007  [[**] [**+] [***]

4] NEW ZEALAND  |569670 [**+] 1569 569670 Granted  |8-Jul-2010 [**+] [***] [***]

[***] PERU 876-2001 [***] 4184 Granted 9-Jan-2006 [***] [***] [***]

4] PAKISTAN 841/2001 [**+] 140105 Pending [***] [**] [

[#4] PAKISTAN 1191/2007 [*¥] 140115 Pending [***] [***] [***]

[ PAKISTAN 1196/2007 [ 140117 Pending [ ] ]

[ PAKISTAN 1192/2007 [ 140116 Pending [ ] ]

[*4] POLAND 365836 [**] Granted Pending 0192/0211019  |Filed 3/19/12

[**+] POLAND 389234 [**+] Pending [ [**+] [

4] PORTUGAL 1968040.4 [**+] 1320540 1320540 Granted  |13-May-2009 |Pending 472 Filed 3/16/12

[**+] ROMANIA 1968040.4 [**] 1320540 1320540 Granted  |13-May-2009 |Pending C 2012 005 Filed 3/16/12
Granted
7/15/13;

[**+] RUSSIA 200300318 [**+] 11547 Granted  |14-Jan-2009 |Granted [**4] Expires
8/31/26
Granted
7/15/13;

[**] RUSSIA 200701869 [**] 17556 Granted  |30-Jan-2013 |Granted [**4] Expires
8/31/26
Granted

4] SWEDEN 1968040.4 [**+] 1320540 1320540 Granted  |13-May-2009 |Granted 1290007-2 é?(ﬁéi
8/31/26

4] SWEDEN 7012485.4 [**] 1878720 1878720 Granted  |6-Oct-2010 [**+] [***] [***]
Granted

4] SLOVENIA 1968040.4 [**+] 1320540 1320540 Granted  |13-May-2009 |Granted C 2012 4 0004 é?(ﬁéi
8/31/26

[ REPUBLIC 20030249 [ Pending (1 [ 1

[4] TAJIKISTAN 200300318 [ 11547 Granted  |14-Jan-2009  |[**] [ [

[4] TAJIKISTAN 200701869 [ 17556 Granted  |30-Jan-2013  |[***] [ [
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[**+] TURKMENISTAN [200300318 [ 11547 Granted 14-Jan-2009  |[***] [***] [
[ TURKMENISTAN |200701869 [**] 17556 Granted  |30-Jan-2013  [[***] [**] [**4]
[ TURKEY 1968040.4 [+ 1320540 1320540 Granted  |13-May-2009 |[**] [ [***]
[4] UKRAINE 2003021834 [**4] 81600 Granted  |25-Jan-2008  |[***] [***] [***]
[**4] UKRAINE 200710133 [**4] 99895 Granted  |25-Oct-2012  |[***] [**] [***]
4] UKRAINE 201108596 [***] Pending [**] [***] ]
4] VENEZUELA 2001-001867 [***] Pending [**] [**] [
[+ SOUTH AFRICA  |20031641 [**4] 2003/1641 Granted  |25-Aug-2004  |[***] [ ]
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[***]

Filing or
PTE/SPC  Grant/
Application Publication Patent PTE/SPC Application expiration
Country Name Number Number Number Status Issue Date  Status Number date
[***] AUSTRALIA 2009238599.0 [**+] Pending [**+] [***] [***]
[***] BRAZIL PCT/US2009/002526 |[***] Pending [**+] [***] [***]
[***] EURASIAN PATENT |201071230.0 [**] Pending [***] [***] [***]
[ EUROPEAN 9735729.7 [ 2280709  |Published ] [l [
[**+] ISRAEL 208726.0 [**+] Pending [**+] [***] [***]
[***] INDIA 8137/DELNP/2010 [**+] Pending [***] [***] [***]
[***] NEW ZEALAND 588655.0 [**+] 588655 Granted 22-Mar-2013  [[**+] [**+] ]
[***] SOUTH AFRICA 2010/07435 [**+] 2010/07435 Granted [**+] [***] [***]
6
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[***]

Filing or
PTE/SPC Grant /
Application Publication Patent PTE/SPC Application expiration
Country Name Number Status Number Number Issue Date  Status Number date
[** CHILE 7012007 [** Published [*4] [** [*¥]
[** EURASIAN PATENT |200802008  |[**4] Pending [*¥*4] [** [*¥]
[** ISRAEL 194176 [** Pending [*¥+] [** [*¥4]
[** NEW ZEALAND 571934 [** Issued 571934 3-Sep-2012 [*¥*4] [** [*¥*4]
[**] PERU 308 [ Granted 000094-2011 [31-Jan-2011  |[**] [**] [*¥]
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Portions of this exhibit, indicated by the mark *f},” have been redacted pursuant to a confidentisdatment request. An unredacted versior

of this exhibit has been filed separately with @@nmission.

Filing or
PTE/SPC  Grant/
Application Publication Patent PTE/SPC Application expiration
Country Name Number Number Number Status Issue Date  Status Number date
[**] ARGENTINA P070101077 [**] Pending [ 4] [**4]
[***] AUSTRALIA 2012202730 [**+] Pending [ 4] [**4]
[**] BRAZIL Pl 0709568-6 [**+] Pending Published [ 4] [**4]
[***] CHILE 6892007 [**+] Pending [ 4] [**4]
[**] EUROPEAN 7752981.6 [**+] EP 1993993 Publshed [+ [**4] [**]
[**] EUROPEAN EP 11172239.3  [[**] EP 2 407 448 Published ¥+ [**4] [**4]
[**] ISRAEL 194115 [**+] Published ¥+ [**4] [**]
[***] INDIA 3776KOLNP2008 |[***] Pending [ 4] [**4]
[ NEW ZEALAND (571281 [** 571281 Issued 5-Mar-2012 [**] 4] [**4]
[ RUSSIA 2008140942 [** 2481326 Issued 10-May-2013  [[**] 4] [**4]
[*¥*] RUSSIA 2013105768 [**+] Pending ¥+ [**4] [**]
[**4] SOUTH AFRICA | 2008/08646 [**+] 2008/08646 |Issued 29-Jul-2009  |[**¥] [**4] [+
8
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Filing or
PTE/SPC  Grant/
Application Publication Patent PTE/SPC Application expiration
Country Name Number Number Number Status Issue Date  Status Number date
[ ARGENTINA 60103610 [**] AR058025A1 Pending [**] [*] [***]
[+ AUSTRIA 6813568.0 [ 1934179 Issued 7-Apr-2010  |[**] [ ]
[ AUSTRALIA 2006279357 [ 2006279357  |lIssued 13-Sep-2012 | [***] ] ]
[**4] AUSTRALIA 2012216599 [**4] Pending [ [ [
[+ AUSTRALIA 2013204565 ] Pending ] 1 1
[**4] AUSTRALIA 2013204689 [**4] Pending [**] [ [
[#4] BELGIUM 6813568.0 [ 1934179 Issued 7-Apr-2010 [***] [**] [
[**] BRAZIL 0615029-2 [  |Journal 2006 Published 4] [*] [
[+ SWITZERLAND 6813568.0 [+ 1934179 Issued 7-Apr-2010 |[*] ] ]
4] CHILE 2187-2006 [**+] Pending [**+] [ ]
[ CHILE 1813-2013 [*4] Pending [**] [**] [*]
[ CYPRUS 6813568.0 [*¥*] 1934179 Issued 7-Apr-2010 [*] [***] ]
[ CZECH REPUBLIC  |6813568.0 [*¥+] 1934179 Issued 7-Apr-2010 [*] ] ]
[+ GERMANY 6813568.0 [+ 1934179 Issued 7-Apr-2010 |[*] ] ]
[ DENMARK 6813568.0 [**+] 1934179 Issued 7-Apr-2010 [**+] [**] [
[+ EUROPEAN 6813568.0 ] [1934179 1934179 Issued 11-Mar-2010  |[**] ] 4
[**4] EUROPEAN EP 10155058.0 [*] |EP 2194043 Published [**] 4 ™1
[**4] EUROPEAN EP 11150039.3 [*]  |2357170 Published [**] 4 ™1
[ EUROPEAN EP 11150041.9 ] [2364970 Published [**4] [*4] [+
] SPAIN 6813568.0 [*++] 1934179 Issued 7-Apr-2010 [**] [*] [**]
] FINLAND 6813568.0 [ 1934179 Issued 7-Apr-2010 [***] [***] [
[+ FRANCE 6813568.0 [**] 1934179 Issued 7-Apr-2010  |[*] ] ]
[**4] UNITED KINGDOM  |6813568.0 [**+] 1934179 Issued 7-Apr-2010 4] [ [
[+ GREECE 6813568.0 gl 1934179 Issued 7-Apr-2010  |[**] ] ]
] HUNGARY 6813568.0 [ 1934179 Issued 7-Apr-2010 [***] ] ]
[+ IRELAND 6813568.0 gl 1934179 Issued 7-Apr-2010  |[*] [ ]
* ISRAEL 189585 [ Pending [**4 ] 1
] INDIA 738/KOLNP/2008  [[**] Pending [**4 ] 1
] ITALY 6813568.0 [**+] 1934179 Issued 7-Apr-2010 [**] [**] [**]
[ LIECHTENSTEIN 6813568.0 [*+] 1934179 Issued 7-Apr-2010 [**] ] ]
[**4] LUXEMBOURG 6813568.0 [**4] 1934179 Issued 7-Apr-2010  |[*] [ [
[ MONACO 6813568.0 [ 1934179 Issued 7-Apr-2010  |[**] [ [*
[**4] MALTA N/A [**+] 3717 Issued 18-Aug-2006  |[***] [**4] [+
[ NETHERLANDS 6813568.0 [**] 1934179 Issued 7-Apr-2010  |[*] ] ]
[ NEW ZEALAND 566049 [ 566049 Issued 7-Nov-2011  |[*] ] ]
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4 NEW ZEALAND 593214 [**4] 593214 Issued 23-May-2013  |[**] [ [
] NEW ZEALAND 604087 [ Pending ] 1 ™1
1] PORTUGAL 6813568.0 [+ 1934179 Issued 7-Apr-2010 [*+] [**] [***]
1] RUSSIA 2008110479 [*++] 2446171 Issued 27-Mar-2012  [[***] [*] [***]
[** RUSSIA 2011148615 ]  |2011148615 Published [* [4] [44]
[ SWEDEN 6813568.0 [***] 1934179 Issued 7-Apr-2010 [**] [***] [**]
[**4] SLOVENIA 6813568.0 [**4] 1934179 Issued 7-Apr-2010 4 [ [
[+ SLOVAK REPUBLIC [6813568.0 [ 1934179 Issued 7-Apr-2010 [+ [+ ]
] TURKEY 6813568.0 [+ 1934179 Issued 7-Apr-2010 [***] [***] [**]
4] SOUTH AFRICA 200801791 [**+] 2008/01791  |Issued 31-Dec-2008  |[***] [ [
[+ AUSTRALIA 2010241800 ] Pending ] 1 1
4 BRAZIL Pl 1013338-0 [**4] Pending 4 [ ™1
[+ CHILE 2657-2011 [*  |Pending Published ] ™1 1
[**4] EUROPEAN EP 10716236.4 [  |2477966 Published [ 4 ™1
[+ ISRAEL 215893 ™  |Pending Published 1 [+ ]
] INDIA 4306/KOLNP/2011  |[**] Pending [ [ |
] NEW ZEALAND 595817 [ Pending [ 1 1
[ RUSSIA 2011148100 [ Published [**] ] [
] SOUTH AFRICA 2011/08502 [+ 2011/08502  [Issued 29-Aug-2012  [[**¥] ] ]
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Filing or
PTE/SPC  Grant/
Application Publication Patent PTE/SPC Application expiration
Country Name Number Number Number Status Issue Date  Status Number date
[*] AUSTRALIA 2005302361 [**+] 2005302361 |Granted 1-Mar-2012 [*] [ [**+]
[**] AUSTRALIA 2012200942 [**] Pending [*] [***] [***]
[ EUROPEAN 5815054.1 [**] 1819336 Published [**] [**+] 4]
[**] EUROPEAN 11184992.3 [**+] Pending [*] [***] [***]
[**] ISRAEL 182847 [**+] Pending ] [+4] [+4]
[*] NORWAY 20072733 [**+] Pending [*¥] [**] [**]
[ RUSSIA 2007119725 ] 2393863 Granted 10-Jul-2010  [[**¥] [**4] [
11
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Filing or
PTE/SPC  Grant/
Application Publication Patent PTE/SPC Application expiration
Country Name Number Number Number Status Issue Date Status Number date
[**4] ARGENTINA 50102345 [**4] Pending [**] [** [**
[*¥*4] AUSTRALIA 2005253957 [*¥*4] 2005253957 |Granted 8-Dec-2011  |[**] [** [**
[*¥+4] BRAZIL P10511900.6 [*¥+4] Published [**4] [** [**
[*¥*4] EUROPEAN 5757623.3 [*¥+4] 1765283 Published [*¥+4] [** [**
[*] ISRAEL 179809 [*] Granted 10-Jun-2013  [[**] [**] [**]
[**+] ISRAEL [**+] Pending [**+] [**] [**]
[*¥] INDIA 7312/DELNP/2006 | [***] Published [*] [*] [**]
[**4] NORWAY 20070130 [**4] Pending [*+4] [** [**
[*¥*4] NEW ZEALAND (588471 [*¥+4] 588471 Granted 5-Jun-2012 [*¥+4] [** [**
[*¥*4] RUSSIA 2006147247 [*¥4] 2373923 Granted 27-Nov-2009  |[**] [** [**
[*¥] SOUTH AFRICA  |200700030 [*] 2007/00030  |Granted 24-Jun-2009 | [**] [**] [**]
[*¥] SOUTH AFRICA  |200802676 [*¥] 2008/02676  |Granted 30-Dec-2009  |[**] [**] [**]
12




Schedule B

Patent Assignment

PATENT ASSIGNMENT

This patent assignment (*_Assignment of Patéhtss made and entered into as of November 19, 20&8yden, VERTE.
PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED, a Massachusetts cogtion with corporate offices at 130 Waverly Stréeambridge
MA 02139-4242, United States of America,_(“ Assigfijpand JANSSEN PHARMACEUTICA NV, a company organizeule
the laws of Belgium with offices at Turnhoutsewdly 3340 Beerse, Belgium (* Assign8geach a “ Party and collectively, th
“ Parties”).

Whereas,Assignor and Assignee are parties to an amendroemniicense, Development, Manufacturing and Comiakzatior
Agreement between the Parties (* 2013 Amendrijenwhich amendment is dated as of the date mentioaesirtabove, pursue
to which Assignor has agreed to convey legal andt&gje ownership of certain assets to Assignee;

Whereas, subject to the terms and conditions in the 2083Adment, Assignor owns all right, title and ing¢rem and to th
patents and patent applications listed on Sche8ukessignor desires to convey, deliver, transfed assign to Assignee all of
right, title and interest in and to the Patents] Assignee desires to take delivery of, acceptamsdme from Assignor the same.

Now, therefore, for the foregoing recited consideration and otj@od and valuable consideration, the receipt arfittncy of
which is hereby acknowledged, the Parties, intenttirbe legally bound, agree as follows :

(@) Assignor does hereby convey, deliver, transfer asgign to Assignee all of its right, title and nett in and to (i) tt
patents and patent applications listed on Schedlu(&) all patent applications filed either frorach patents, patent application:
from an application claiming priority from eithef these, including divisionals, continuations, ¢oaations-inpart, substitution
provisionals, converted provisionals, and continpeasecution applications, (iii) any and all pasetitat have issued or in-
future issue from the foregoing patent applicatidascribed in clauses (i) and (ii), including tjilmodels, petty patents, des
patents and certificates of invention, and (iv) amg all extensions or restorations by existinguture extensioner restoratio
mechanisms, including revalidations, reissues, améxations, supplemental examinatiomster partesreviews, posgran
reviews, pre-grant and post-grant oppositions,téitiins, and other existing or future pastuance proceedings, and extens
(including any supplementary protection certifisadé@d any other patent term restoration mechanisfitbg foregoing patents
patent applications described in clauses (i) afiidl (iii), (collectively, clauses (i), (ii), (iliand (iv) called “ Patenty, in each cas
the same to be held and enjoyed by Assignee fomitsuse and benefit of the Patents that may beteptaor extended, as fully ¢
entirely as the same would have been held and edjby Assignor had this assignment not been madtding all benefit:
privileges, causes of action and remedies reldtngr otherwise derived from, such Patents, indgdhe right to any damac
accrued for infringement of the Patents, and abdydll associated with such Patents; and

(b) Assignee accepts such assignment.

(Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank)
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In witness whereof Assignor and Assignee have dredhis Assignment of Patents as of the dateemritereinabove.
Assignor Witness
VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED

By : /s/ lan Smith By_:_/s/ Philippe Tiatho

Name : lan Smith Name : Phil Tinmouth

Title : _ EVP & CFO

Notary Public

Acknowledged and accepted by:
Assignee Witness

JANSSEN PHARMACEUTICA NV

By : /s/Ludo F. Lauwers By : _/s/ Liesbeth Vanhee
Name : Dr. Ludo F. Lauwers, M.D. Name : _ Liesbeth Vanhee
Title : Senior Vice President

Vice-Chairman Management Board
Janssen Pharmaceutica NV

By :_/s/ Peter Putteman

Name : Peter Putteman

Title : _General Manager
Janssen Supply Chain Beerse

Notary Public
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Exhibit 10.21

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
2013 STOCK AND OPTION PLAN

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Grant

This Agreement sets forth the terms and conditadresn Option granted pursuant to the provisionthef2013 Stock and Option
Plan (as it may be amended or restated, the “'PlainVertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated (the ‘nfpany”) to the Participant
whose name appears below, covering the numberareStof Common Stock of the Company set forth bgpwsuant to the
provisions of the Plan and on the following expresms and conditions. Capitalized terms not otimrwlefined herein shall have
the same meanings as set forth in the Plan, an@ptigns evidenced hereby are granted subjeckttetims of the Plan.

1. Name and address of Participant to whom this Options granted:
[INSERT NAME/ADDRESS]
2. Number of Shares of Common Stock subject to this Qjon:

L1

3. Purchase price of Shares subject to this Option:

|

4. Date of grant of this Option:

L1

5. Expiration date of this Option: This Option shall expire on | |, subject tolieatermination in the event of any
Termination of Service or death of the Participamotherwise in accordance with the provisionshefPlan. Except as provided in
Section 6.5(a)(ii) of this Agreement, this Optioaymot be exercised later than (a) ninety (90) @digs a Termination of Service
of the Participant or (b) if the Participant diekil serving as an Employee, Non-Employee Direaonsultant or advisor of the
Company or an Affiliate, one (1) year after thetgrant’s death.

6. Vesting.

6.1 Vesting ScheduleThis Option shall vest and become exercisablepsg &s the Participant continues to serve as
Employee, Non-Employee Director, consultant or selvdf the Company or an Affiliate, [INSERT VESTINSCHEDULE],
except as otherwise provided in Sections 6.2,6480r 6.5 of this Agreement. The vesting of thjgi@n shall cease immediately
upon a Termination of Service of Participant.

6.2 Absence.This Option shall not vest during any period ofgetierm disability or personal leave of absencéef t
Participant from the Company or an Affiliate (asedlenined under applicable Company policies). If Baticipant resumes
employment with the Company after a personal led\absence or long-term disability in accordancia&pplicable Company
policies, vesting shall resume upon the resumpifagligibility, and the Option will continue vesgrat the rate provided in Sect
6.1 of this Agreement until fully vested. Notwithstling the foregoing, in no event shall the terrthefOption be extended
beyond the date set forth in Section 5 of this Agrent.




6.3 Death of the Participant.If the Participant dies while serving as an Empégyédon-Employee Director, consultant
or advisor of the Company or an Affiliate, the wegtof all unvested Shares subject to this Optlwalide accelerated, and the
Option shall be exercisable as to such installmeogether with any previously vested but unexextigortion of the Option,
effective as of the date of death.

6.4 Termination for Cause.

(@) If the Participant employment or other service to the Company isiteated by the Company for Cause
defined below), the Company may, at its electienpinate the Participastright to exercise this Option (including withpest to
any vested but unexercised Shares). If the Paatitig notified that the Company is investigatingwealuating whether the
Company will terminate Participant’s employmenbtrer service to the Company for Cause, the Compaawy at its election,
suspend Participant’s right to exercise this Ophgmwritten notice to the Participant. If after Bumotification it is determined or
otherwise agreed that Participant’s service tadbmpany will not be terminated for Cause, vestihthe Shares shall resume
pursuant to the original schedule and any Shaegsatbuld have vested during such time as vestirgsuapended shall
immediately vest.

(b) “ Cause” shall mean (i) the Participastdishonesty or fraud, or (ii) the willful miscoradby the Participal
or willful failure by the Participant to performshor her responsibilities to the Company (includiwghout limitation, any
material breach by the Participant of any provissbany Company policy or any employment, consgltadvisory,
nondisclosure, non-competition or other similareggnent between the Participant and the Companggdh case as determined
in good faith by the Company, which determinatibalsbe conclusive; provided, however, that if thier a conflict between this
definition of Cause and either (1) the definitidi'@ause” contained in any employment agreememnieen the Company and the
Participant or (2) the definition of “Cause” comtadl in any change-of-control agreement betweetmpany and the
Participant, then such other definition shall betoaling for purposes of this Agreement.

[ 6.5 Career Employment Provision.

(a) If a Participant experiences a Termination of Senather than for Cause, and the Participant isalifizd
Participant (as defined below), then (i) an addaicnumber of Shares equal to (A) the sum of 5096 D% for each full year of
service as an Employee to the Company or an Affilia excess of five (5) full years of service rplied by (B) the number of
unvested Shares subject to this Option immediqiety to the Participant's Termination of Serviskall vest; and (ii) all vested
but unexercised Shares (including any shares #se# pursuant to the preceding subsection (i)) lmeagxercised until the
expiration date of this Option as set forth in 8ecb of this Agreement.

(b) A *“Qualified Participant shall mean a Participant (i) who is at leastfifive (55) years old, (ii) who has
completed at least five (5) full years of serviseaa Employee to the Company or an Affiliate, (if)ose age plus full years of
service to the Company is 65 or greater and (iv) tvis completed a transitional period of employmeétit the Company
following notice of the Termination of Service, theration of which will be determined by the Compét in no event will
exceed six (6) months, except as may be requirebplcable law.](1)

7. Non-Qualified Option . This Option is a Non-Qualified Option that is maended to qualify as an ISO within the meaning
of Section 422(b) of the Code.

8. Plan. The Participant hereby acknowledges receipt ofpy ob the Plan as presently in effect. The text alhdf the terms
and provisions of the Plan are incorporated hdrgireference, and this Agreement is subject toetbesns and provisions in all
respects.

9. Exercise.The Participant may exercise this Option in the meguset forth in Section 9 of the Plan.




10. Restrictions on Transfer.Except as provided in Section 10 of the Plan,@pson may not be sold, transferred, assigned,
hypothecated, pledged, encumbered or otherwiseskspof, whether voluntarily or by operation of ladmy such purported
transfer shall be null and void, and shall notd@mgnized by the Company.

11. International Employees.This Option shall be subject to the additional teand provisions, if any, applicable to such
Participant as are set forth on an Exhibit A te thgreement, which terms and conditions are ina@ated herein by reference.

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED

By:

(1) Applicable to grants made on or after February(8.4



Exhibit 10.22

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
2013 STOCK AND OPTION PLAN

Form of Restricted Stock Award

This Agreement sets forth the terms and conditafresStock Grant granted pursuant to the provisadribe 2013 Stock
and Option Plan (as it may be amended or restdted,Plan”) of Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated (the ‘hipany”) to the
Participant whose name appears below, for the nupftiehares of Common Stock of the Company seh foetow, pursuant to
the provisions of the Plan and on the followingress terms and conditions. Capitalized terms ri@retise defined herein shall
have the same meanings as set forth in the PldmanStock Grants evidenced hereby are grantgdciub the terms of the Pl
1. Name and address of Participant to whom the Shareme granted:

[INSERT NAME/ADDRESS]

2. Number of Shares of Common Stock in Stock Grant (th “Shares”):

L1

3. Purchase price of Shares:

]

4. Date of grant of the Shares:

L1

5. Vesting and Company’s Repurchase Rights.

5.1 Vesting Schedule[INSERT VESTING SCHEDULE]. Except as provided inc8en 5.5 of this Agreement, upon
any Termination of Service of the Participant, ireptf the Shares shall immediately cease, an€tmpany shall have a right to
repurchase any unvested Shares from the Particgpanprice per Share equal to the purchase peic8lpare set forth in Section 3
of this Agreement.

5.2 Death of the Participant.If the Participant dies while an Employee, Non-Eoyeke Director, consultant or advisor
of the Company or an Affiliate, the vesting of afivested Shares subject to this Stock Grant skaltbelerated and shall vest on
the date of death of the Participant.

5.3 Termination for Cause.

(@) If the Participant is notified that the Companynigestigating or evaluating whether the Company wil
terminate Participant’'s employment or other sertiche Company for Cause, the Company may, atetgion, suspend the
vesting of any unvested Shares by written notidaedParticipant (and if the Participant’s employiner other service to the
Company is thereafter terminated for Cause, thefgaoymay, at its election, repurchase any remaiamgsted Shares from the
Participant at a price per Share equal to the @selprice per Share set forth in Section 3 ofAlgiement). If after such
notification it is determined or otherwise agrekdt tParticipant’s service to the Company will netterminated for Cause, vesting
of the Shares shall resume pursuant to the origttadule and any Shares that would have vestétdiuch suspension
immediately shall vest.




(b) “ Cause” shall mean (i) the Participastdishonesty or fraud, or (ii) the willful miscoradby the Participai
or willful failure by the Participant to performshor her responsibilities to the Company (includinghout limitation, any
material breach by the Participant of any provissbany Company policy or any employment, consgltadvisory,
nondisclosure, non-competition or other similareggnent between the Participant and the Companggdh case as determined
in good faith by the Company, which determinatibalsbe conclusive; provided, however, that if ther a conflict between this
definition of Cause and either (1) the definitidi@ause” contained in any employment agreememnieen the Company and the
Participant or (2) the definition of “Cause” comtadl in any change-of-control agreement betweetmpany and the
Participant, then such other definition shall betoaling for purposes of this Agreement.

5.4 Repurchase RightsThe Company’s rights to repurchase the Shares @uoirso Sections 5.1, 5.3 or 5.5 of this
Agreement shall be valid for a period of one yesgibning on the date of the Termination of Seragtthe Participant.
Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, if thempany is prohibited during such ~year period from exercising its lapsing
repurchase right by applicable law, then the timeqgal during which such repurchase right may beased shall be extended
until the later of (a) the end of such one-yearqukor (b) 30 days after the Company is first rpsohibited.

[ 5.5 Career Employment Provision.If a Participant experiences a Termination of Smndgther than for Cause, and
the Participant is a Qualified Participant (as riedi below), then an additional number of Shareslequa) the sum of 50% plus
10% for each full year of service as an EmployethéoCompany or an Affiliate in excess of five {8l years of service
multiplied by (b) the number of unvested Sharegesilto this Stock Grant immediately prior to tretitipant’s Termination of
Service, shall vest. A “ Qualified Participdrghall mean a Participant (i) who is at leastfifive (55) years old, (ii) who has
completed at least five (5) full years of serviseaa Employee to the Company or an Affiliate, ihose age plus full years of
service to the Company is 65 or greater and (iv) tvis completed a transitional period of employmeétit the Company
following notice of the Termination of Service, ttleration of which will be determined by the Compédut in no event will
exceed six (6) months, except as may be requirepplycable law. The Company shall have the rightpurchase any remaini
unvested Shares from the Participant at a pric&pare equal to the purchase price per SharersietridcSection 3 of this
Agreement.](1)

6. Agreement with respect to Tax Payments, Withholdingnd Sale of a Portion of SharesThe Participant acknowledges
and agrees that any income or other taxes duethierRarticipant with respect to the Shares issuesuant to this Agreement,
including on account of the vesting of the Shasks]| be the Participant’s responsibility. [In cewtion with the foregoing, the
Participant agrees that the Company shall autharisgistered broker (the *“ Brokgrto sell, on the next trading day after the
lapse of the Company’lapsing repurchase right, that number of Shaa¢seaCompany instructs the Broker to sell solelgatisfy
the Company’s tax withholding obligations, afteddetion of the Brokes commission, and the Broker shall remit to the Gamy
the cash necessary in order for the Company tefgétis withholding obligation, provideghowever, that the Company shall not
authorize any such sale if the Participant shalehiasued a binding instruction (the “ Instructipmo the Company, in form
satisfactory to the Company, which instruction rbaydelivered at any time prior to the "3ay after the date of grant of the
Shares, that provides that the Company shall sttuct the Broker to sell such Shares. Any suctrdogon shall include an
undertaking by the Participant to pay the Compaeyamount of any tax withholding in accordance whi Company’s policies
then in effect. The Participant agrees to pay ¢oGbmpany as soon as practicable, including thrgagholl, the amount of any
tax withholding, that is for whatever reason, raiisdied by such Broker’s sale. The Participantnaeidedges that this Section 6 is
intended to comply with Section 10b5-1(c)(1)(i){B)der the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as aawrahd that the delivery
of the Shares shall be made by the Company atftisfeszion of the tax withholding payments as setif in Section 8 of this
Agreement. The Participant agrees to hold the Cosnpad the Broker harmless from all costs, damagespenses relating to
any such sale, and acknowledges that the CompahtharBroker are under no obligation to arrangestmh sale at any particular




price. The Participant further acknowledges thatgrant of Shares made hereunder is subject tipartt's acceptance of the
terms of this Section 6, and other terms and piavisof this Agreement.](2)

7. Restrictions on Transfer.Except as provided in Section 10 of the Plan, ther& may not be sold, transferred, assigned,
hypothecated, pledged, encumbered or otherwiseskspof, whether voluntarily or by operation of Jawany time before they
become vested Shares pursuant to Section 5 cAgineement. Any such purported transfer shall béand void, and shall not be
recognized by the Company or recorded on its books.

8. Escrow.All Shares that have not vested pursuant to Seétiofithis Agreement, together with any securitlistributed in
respect thereof, such as through a stock splitt@raecapitalization, shall be held by the Compargscrow until such Shares
shall have vested and the deposit required fowithholding has been made pursuant to SectiontBi®fAgreement. The
Company promptly shall release vested Shares fsmmoe upon satisfaction of the foregoing conditions

9. Plan. The Participant hereby acknowledges receipt ofpy ©f the Plan as presently in effect and the Rroigis with respect
thereto. All of the terms and provisions of therPdae incorporated herein by reference, and thitriked Stock Award is subject
to those terms and provisions in all respects.

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED

By:

(1) Applicable to grants made on or after February(8.4

(2) For Section 16 Officers, replace bracketedlmge with the following: “By accepting this Agreent, the Participant agrees and
acknowledges that (i) the Company promptly willibld from the Participant's pay the amount of $ake Company is required to
withhold upon any vesting of Shares pursuant t® Algreement, and (ii) the Participant shall makmédiate payment to the Company in
the amount of any tax required to be withheld ly@ompany in excess of the Participant's pay aaif@r such withholding.”



Exhibit 10.23

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
2013 STOCK AND OPTION PLAN

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award

This Agreement sets forth the terms and conditares Restricted Stock Unit Award granted pursuarthe provisions of
the 2013 Stock and Option Plan (as it may be antkadesstated, the * Pldin of Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated (the “
Company’) to the Participant whose name appears below, aintingent entitlement of the Participant to rez¢he number of
Shares of Common Stock of the Company set fortbvigbursuant to the provisions of the Plan andherfollowing express
terms and conditions. Capitalized terms not othegwdefined herein shall have the same meaningd &xrth in the Plan, and any
Restricted Stock Units evidenced hereby are grasubgect to the terms of the Plan.

1. Name and address of Participant to whom the Restried Stock Unit Award is granted:
[INSERT NAME/ADDRESS]
2. Number of Shares of Common Stock in the Restricte8tock Unit Award (the “Shares”):

L1

3. Purchase price of Shares upon Vesting:

|

4. Date of grant of the Restricted Stock Unit Award:

L]
5. Vesting.

5.1 Vesting Schedule[INSERT VESTING SCHEDULE]. On each vesting datealfdmd in the preceding sentence,
the Participant shall be entitled to receive atthrchase price, the applicable number of shar€oopfmon Stock that shall
thereafter be delivered by the Company to the &patint in accordance with this Agreement and tlaa Rlithin thirty days of the
applicable vesting date. Except as provided ini&e&.4 of this Agreement, upon any Terminatiorsefvice of the Participant 1
any reason, vesting of the Shares shall immediatdge, and the unvested portion of the Restrigteck Unit Award shall
immediately be forfeited.

5.2 Death of the Participant.If the Participant dies while an Employee, Non-Eoyeke Director, consultant or advisor
of the Company or an Affiliate, the vesting of ativested Shares subject to this Restricted StoikAward shall be accelerated
and shall vest on the date of death of the Paatittip

5.3 Termination for Cause.

(a) If the Participant is notified that the Companynigestigating or evaluating whether the Company wil
terminate Participant’'s employment or other sertiche Company for Cause, the Company may, atetgion, suspend the
vesting of this Restricted Stock Unit Award by weit notice to the Participant. If after such noéfion it is determined or
otherwise agreed that Participant’s service tadbmpany will not be terminated for Cause, vestifithe Shares shall resume
pursuant to the original schedule and any Shaegsatbuld have vested during such suspension imrdygishall vest.




(b) “ Cause” shall mean (i) the Participastdishonesty or fraud, or (ii) the willful miscoradby the Participai
or willful failure by the Participant to performshor her responsibilities to the Company (includinghout limitation, any
material breach by the Participant of any provissbany Company policy or any employment, consgltadvisory,
nondisclosure, non-competition or other similareggnent between the Participant and the Companggdh case as determined
in good faith by the Company, which determinatibalsbe conclusive; provided, however, that if ther a conflict between this
definition of Cause and either (1) the definitidi@ause” contained in any employment agreememnieen the Company and the
Participant or (2) the definition of “Cause” comtadl in any change-of-control agreement betweetmpany and the
Participant, then such other definition shall betoaling for purposes of this Agreement.

[5.4 Career Employment Provision.If a Participant experiences a Termination of Ssnather than for Cause, and
the Participant is a Qualified Participant (as riedi below), then (a) an additional number of Shagesl to (i) the sum of 50%
plus 10% for each full year of service as an Emgdotp the Company or an Affiliate in excess of {{Bgfull years of service
multiplied by (ii) the number of unvested Sharelgjsct to this Restricted Stock Unit Award immediatarior to the Participant’s
Termination of Service, shall vest on the datehefTermination of Service and (b) any remainingaested Shares shall be
forfeited. A “ Qualified Participant shall mean a Participant (A) who is at leastfifive (55) years old, (B) who has completed a
least five (5) full years of service as an Emplotethe Company or an Affiliate, (C) whose age pldkyears of service to the
Company is 65 or greater and (D) who has completednsitional period of employment with the Comp#ailowing notice of
the Termination of Service, the duration of whicii be determined by the Company but in no evetitexiceed six (6) months,
except as may be required by applicable law.](1)

6. Agreement with respect to Tax Payments, Withholdingnd Sale of a Portion of SharesThe Participant acknowledges
and agrees that any income or other taxes, fesscal security or comparable contributions duenftbe Participant with respect
to the vesting of the Restricted Stock Unit Awardh® issuance of Shares pursuant to this Agreeshatitbe the Participant’s
responsibility. In connection with the foregoingetParticipant agrees that the Company shall aatharregistered broker (the “
Broker”) to sell, on the next trading day after the dafteesting of any portion of the Restricted StoakittAward, that number of
Shares as the Company instructs the Broker tesllly to satisfy the Company’s tax withholdingightions, after deduction of
the Broker's commission, and the Broker shall ramihe Company the cash necessary in order foctimepany to satisfy its
withholding obligation, providedhowever, that the Company shall not authorize any suahis#the Participant shall have issued
a binding instruction (the “ Instructidi to the Company, in form satisfactory to the C@myp, which instruction may be delivered
at any time prior to the 30day after the date of grant of the Restricted Stdk Award, that provides that the Company shatl n
instruct the Broker to sell such Shares. Any sudtruction shall include an undertaking by the iBigpant to pay the Company t
amount of any tax withholding in accordance with @ompany’s policies then in effect. The Partictpsgrees to pay to the
Company as soon as practicable, including throwyinghl, the amount of any tax withholding, thafdas whatever reason, not
satisfied by such Broker’s sale. The Participakhawledges that this Section 6 is intended to cgmyith Section 10b5-1(c)(1)(i)
(B) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 nasraled, and that the delivery of the Shares skath&de by the Company al
satisfaction of the tax withholding payments adeeh herein. The Participant agrees to hold tben@any and the Broker
harmless from all costs, damages or expensesngkatiany such sale, and acknowledges that the @ayrgind the Broker are
under no obligation to arrange for such sale atgamgicular price. The Participant further acknadges that the Restricted Stock
Unit Award made hereunder is subject to Particigaatceptance of the terms of this Section 6, dhdrderms and provisions of
this Agreement.

7. Restrictions on Transfer.Except as provided in Section 10 of the Plan, Raéstricted Stock Unit Award may not be sold,
transferred, assigned, hypothecated, pledged, dvenaah or otherwise disposed of, whether voluntanilipy operation of law, at

any time before the Participant receives Shareg.stieh purported transfer shall be null and vondl shall not be recognized by
the Company or recorded on its books.




8. No Rights as a Shareholder Until Exerciselhe Participant shall have no rights as a sharehgiacluding voting and
dividend rights, with respect to the Restrictedc&tonit Award subject to this Agreement.

9. No Obligation to Maintain Relationship. The Participant acknowledges that: (i) the Compamot by the Plan or this
Restricted Stock Unit Award obligated to continbe Participant as an Employee, Non-Employee Directisultant or advisor
of the Company or an Affiliate; (i) the Plan isdietionary in nature and may be modified, suspgodéerminated by the
Company at any time; (iii) the grant of the RestritStock Unit Award is a onéame benefit that does not create any contractu
other right to receive future grants of equitybenefits in lieu thereof; (iv) all determination#lwrespect to any such future
grants, including, but not limited to, the timesemmawards shall be granted, the number of shabgscttio each restricted stock
unit award, and the time or times when each awaatl gest, will be at the sole discretion of then@any; (v) the Participant’s
participation in the Plan is voluntary; (vi) thelwa of the Restricted Stock Unit Award is an extdagary item of compensation
which is outside the scope of the Participant’s legrpent or consulting contract, if any; and (viigtRestricted Stock Unit Award
is not part of normal or expected compensatiomptoposes of calculating any severance, resignatolundancy, end of service
payments, bonuses, long-service awards, pensimtisgment benefits or similar payments.

10. Plan. The Participant hereby acknowledges receipt ofpy of the Plan as presently in effect and the Rroigs with
respect thereto. All of the terms and provisionthefPlan are incorporated herein by referencetl@adRestricted Stock Unit
Award is subject to those terms and provisiondlireapects.

11. Data Privacy. By entering into this Agreement, the Participantc¢nsents to the collection, use and disclos@ipecsonal
information (which may include name, home and bessncontact information, personal identifiers saickate of birth and the
social insurance number for tax reporting purposegloyment, position and compensation) by the Gomyfor the purpose of
administering the Plan, providing Plan recordkegiervices and facilitating the grant of optiofiy;donsents to the disclosure of
this information by the Company to any Affiliatetbie Company for such purposes; and (iii) autherthe Company and each
Affiliate to store and transmit such informationglectronic form. Some of these Affiliates are kechin, and the Plan will be
administered (in whole or in part) in, the Unite@dt®s and some or all of the personal informatiay trecome subject to the laws
of, and accessible to, the authorities of the Wn8&ates. The file containing the Participant’sspaal information will be kept at
the offices of the Company or on its servers os¢haf its Affiliates and service providers, andyoginployees of the Company,
Affiliates or service providers who require it filwe purposes of their duties will have accessigfile. The Participant may
request access to this file and the correctiomaddurate information, to the extent provided lwy, lay contacting .

12. International Employees.This Restricted Stock Unit Award shall be subjedite additional terms and provisions, if any,
applicable to the Participant as are set forthroféhibit Ato this Agreement, which terms and conditions aceiporated herein
by reference.

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED

By:

(1) Applicable to grants made on or after February(a.4



Exhibit 10.24

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
AMENDED AND RESTATED 2006 STOCK AND OPTION PLAN

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Grant

This Agreement sets forth the terms and conditadresh Option granted pursuant to the provisionthefAmended and Restated
2006 Stock and Option Plan (as it may be amendeelstated, the “ Plaf) of Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated (the “
Company’) to the Participant whose name appears belowerwoyg the number of Shares of Common Stock of the@any set
forth below, pursuant to the provisions of the Pdad on the following express terms and conditi@apitalized terms not
otherwise defined herein shall have the same mgauia set forth in the Plan, and any Options ecieiéinereby are granted
subject to the terms of the Plan.

1. Name and address of Participant to whom this Options granted:
[INSERT NAME/ADDRESS]
2. Number of Shares of Common Stock subject to this Qjon:

L1

3. Purchase price of Shares subject to this Option:

|

4. Date of grant of this Option:

L1

5. Expiration date of this Option: This Option shall expire on | |, subject tolieatermination in the event of any
Termination of Service or death of the Participambtherwise in accordance with the provisionshefPlan. Except as provided in
Section 6.5(a)(ii) of this Agreement, this Optioaymot be exercised later than (a) three (3) moafies a Termination of Service
of the Participant or (b) if the Participant diekil serving as an Employee, Non-Employee Direaonsultant or advisor of the
Company or an Affiliate, one (1) year after thetlgrant's death.

6. Vesting.

6.1 Vesting ScheduleThis Option shall vest and become exercisablepsg &s the Participant continues to serve as
Employee, Non-Employee Director, consultant or selvdf the Company or an Affiliate, [INSERT VESTINSCHEDULE],
except as otherwise provided in Sections 6.2,6480r 6.5 of this Agreement. The vesting of thjgi@n shall cease immediately
upon a Termination of Service of Participant.

6.2 Absence.This Option shall not vest during any period ofgetierm disability or personal leave of absencéef t
Participant from the Company or an Affiliate (asedlenined under applicable Company policies). IfRtagticipant resumes
employment with the Company after a personal led\absence or long-term disability in accordanciaapplicable Company
policies, vesting shall resume upon the resumpifagligibility, and the Option will continue vesgrat the rate provided in Sect
6.1 of this Agreement until fully vested. Notwitastling the foregoing, in no event shall the terrthefOption be extended
beyond the date set forth in Section 5 of this Agrent.




6.3 Death of the Participant.If the Participant dies while serving as an Empégyédon-Employee Director, consultant
or advisor of the Company or an Affiliate, the wegtof all unvested Shares subject to this Optlwalide accelerated, and the
Option shall be exercisable as to such installmeogether with any previously vested but unexextigortion of the Option,
effective as of the date of death.

6.4 Termination for Cause.

(@) If the Participant employment or other service to the Company isiteated by the Company for Cause
defined below), the Company may, at its electienpinate the Participastright to exercise this Option (including withpest to
any vested but unexercised Shares). If the Paatitig notified that the Company is investigatingwealuating whether the
Company will terminate Participant’s employmenbtrer service to the Company for Cause, the Compaawy at its election,
suspend Participant’s right to exercise this Ophgmwritten notice to the Participant. If after Bumotification it is determined or
otherwise agreed that Participant’s service tadbmpany will not be terminated for Cause, vestihthe Shares shall resume
pursuant to the original schedule and any Shaegsatbuld have vested during such time as vestirgsuapended shall
immediately vest.

(b) “ Cause” shall mean (i) the Participastdishonesty or fraud, or (ii) the willful miscoradby the Participal
or willful failure by the Participant to performshor her responsibilities to the Company (includiwghout limitation, any
material breach by the Participant of any provissbany Company policy or any employment, consgltadvisory,
nondisclosure, non-competition or other similareggnent between the Participant and the Companggdh case as determined
in good faith by the Company, which determinatibalsbe conclusive; provided, however, that if thier a conflict between this
definition of Cause and either (1) the definitidi'@ause” contained in any employment agreememnieen the Company and the
Participant or (2) the definition of “Cause” comtadl in any change-of-control agreement betweetmpany and the
Participant, then such other definition shall betoaling for purposes of this Agreement.

[ 6.5 Career Employment Provision.

(a) If a Participant experiences a Termination of Senather than for Cause, and the Participant isalifizd
Participant (as defined below), then (i) an addaicnumber of Shares equal to (A) the sum of 5096 D% for each full year of
service as an Employee to the Company or an Affilia excess of five (5) full years of service rplied by (B) the number of
unvested Shares subject to this Option immediqiety to the Participant's Termination of Serviskall vest; and (ii) all vested
but unexercised Shares (including any shares #se# pursuant to the preceding subsection (i)) lmeagxercised until the
expiration date of this Option as set forth in 8ecb of this Agreement.

(b) A *“Qualified Participant shall mean a Participant (i) who is at leastfifive (55) years old, (ii) who has
completed at least five (5) full years of serviseaa Employee to the Company or an Affiliate, (if)ose age plus full years of
service to the Company is 65 or greater and (iv) tvis completed a transitional period of employmeétit the Company
following notice of the Termination of Service, theration of which will be determined by the Compét in no event will
exceed six (6) months, except as may be requirebplcable law.](1)

7. Non-Qualified Option . This Option is a Non-Qualified Option that is maended to qualify as an ISO within the meaning
of Section 422(b) of the Code.

8. Plan. The Participant hereby acknowledges receipt ofpy ob the Plan as presently in effect. The text alhdf the terms
and provisions of the Plan are incorporated hdrgireference, and this Agreement is subject toetbesns and provisions in all
respects.

9. Exercise.The Participant may exercise this Option in the meguset forth in Section 9 of the Plan.




10. Restrictions on Transfer.Except as provided in Section 10 of the Plan,@pson may not be sold, transferred, assigned,
hypothecated, pledged, encumbered or otherwiseskspof, whether voluntarily or by operation of ladmy such purported
transfer shall be null and void, and shall notd@mgnized by the Company.

11. International Employees.This Option shall be subject to the additional teand provisions, if any, applicable to such
Participant as are set forth on an Exhibit A te thgreement, which terms and conditions are ina@ated herein by reference.

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED

By:

(1) Applicable to grants made on or after February(8.4



Exhibit 10.25

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
AMENDED AND RESTATED 2006 STOCK AND OPTION PLAN

Form of Restricted Stock Award
This Agreement sets forth the terms and conditafresStock Grant granted pursuant to the provisadrike Amended ar
Restated 2006 Stock and Option Plan (as it mayri@nded or restated, the * PIgrof Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated (the
Company’) to the Participant whose name appears belowthimnumber of Shares of Common Stock of the Companforth
below, pursuant to the provisions of the Plan amthe following express terms and conditions. Gdigitd terms not otherwise

defined herein shall have the same meanings dsrdetn the Plan, and any Stock Grants evidenazdly are granted subject to
the terms of the Plan.

1. Name and address of Participant to whom the Shareme granted:
[INSERT NAME/ADDRESS]
2. Number of Shares of Common Stock in Stock Grant (th “Shares”):

L1

3. Purchase price of Shares:

]

4. Date of grant of the Shares:

L1

5. Vesting and Company’s Repurchase Rights.

5.1 Vesting Schedule[INSERT VESTING SCHEDULE]. Except as provided inc8en 5.5 of this Agreement, upon
any Termination of Service of the Participant, wegsbf the Shares shall immediately cease, an€trapany shall have a right to
repurchase any unvested Shares from the Particgpanprice per Share equal to the purchase peic8lpare set forth in Section 3
of this Agreement.

5.2 Death of the Participant.If the Participant dies while an Employee, Non-Eoyeke Director, consultant or advisor
of the Company or an Affiliate, the vesting of ativested Shares subject to this Stock Grant shaltbelerated and shall vest on
the date of death of the Participant.

5.3 Termination for Cause.

(a) If the Participant is notified that the Companynigestigating or evaluating whether the Company wil
terminate Participant’'s employment or other sertiche Company for Cause, the Company may, atetgion, suspend the
vesting of any unvested Shares by written notidaédParticipant (and if the Participant’s employiner other service to the
Company is thereafter terminated for Cause, the@amymay, at its election, repurchase any remainingsted Shares from the
Participant at a price per Share equal to the @selprice per Share set forth in Section 3 ofAlgiement). If after such
notification it is determined or otherwise agrekdt tParticipant’s service to the Company will netterminated for Cause, vesting
of the Shares




shall resume pursuant to the original scheduleaaydShares that would have vested during such ssiggeimmediately shall
vest.

(b) “ Cause” shall mean (i) the Participastdishonesty or fraud, or (ii) the willful miscoradby the Participat
or willful failure by the Participant to performshor her responsibilities to the Company (includiwghout limitation, any
material breach by the Participant of any provissbany Company policy or any employment, consgltadvisory,
nondisclosure, non-competition or other similareggnent between the Participant and the Compangadh case as determined
in good faith by the Company, which determinatibalsbe conclusive; provided, however, that if thier a conflict between this
definition of Cause and either (1) the definitidi'@ause” contained in any employment agreememneen the Company and the
Participant or (2) the definition of “Cause” comted in any change-of-control agreement betweetmpany and the
Participant, then such other definition shall betoaling for purposes of this Agreement.

5.4 Repurchase RightsThe Company’s rights to repurchase the Shares @uoirso Sections 5.1, 5.3 or 5.5 of this
Agreement shall be valid for a period of one yeagibning on the date of the Termination of Sergtthe Participant.
Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, if ttempany is prohibited during such year period from exercising its lapsing
repurchase right by applicable law, then the timeqgal during which such repurchase right may beased shall be extended
until the later of (a) the end of such one-yearqaeor (b) 30 days after the Company is first rmpsohibited.

[5.5 Career Employment Provision.If a Participant experiences a Termination of Ssnather than for Cause, and
the Participant is a Qualified Participant (as riedi below), then an additional number of Shareslgqua) the sum of 50% plus
10% for each full year of service as an EmployelaéoCompany or an Affiliate in excess of five {8l years of service
multiplied by (b) the number of unvested Sharegesitho this Stock Grant immediately prior to therti€ipant’s Termination of
Service, shall vest. A “ Qualified Participdrghall mean a Participant (i) who is at leastfifive (55) years old, (ii) who has
completed at least five (5) full years of serviseaa Employee to the Company or an Affiliate, (if)ose age plus full years of
service to the Company is 65 or greater and (iw) tdis completed a transitional period of employmetit the Company
following notice of the Termination of Service, ttheration of which will be determined by the Compédut in no event will
exceed six (6) months, except as may be requirepplycable law. The Company shall have the rightpurchase any remaini
unvested Shares from the Participant at a pric&pare equal to the purchase price per SharerdeiricSection 3 of this
Agreement.](1)

6. Agreement with respect to Tax Payments, Withholdingnd Sale of a Portion of SharesThe Participant acknowledges
and agrees that any income or other taxes duetfrerRarticipant with respect to the Shares issuesujant to this Agreement,
including on account of the vesting of the Shasks]| be the Participant’s responsibility. [In cewtion with the foregoing, the
Participant agrees that the Company shall authariagistered broker (the “ Brokgrto sell, on the next trading day after the
lapse of the Company'lapsing repurchase right, that number of ShaaéseaCompany instructs the Broker to sell solelgatisfy
the Company’s tax withholding obligations, afteddetion of the Brokes commission, and the Broker shall remit to the Gamy
the cash necessary in order for the Company tefgétis withholding obligation, provideghowever, that the Company shall not
authorize any such sale if the Participant shalehasued a binding instruction (the * Instructipmo the Company, in form
satisfactory to the Company, which instruction rbaydelivered at any time prior to the "3ay after the date of grant of the
Shares, that provides that the Company shall sttuct the Broker to sell such Shares. Any suctrdogon shall include an
undertaking by the Participant to pay the Compaeyamount of any tax withholding in accordance wht Company’s policies
then in effect. The Participant agrees to pay ¢oGbmpany as soon as practicable, including thrgagholl, the amount of any
tax withholding, that is for whatever reason, raiisdied by such Broker’s sale. The Participantnaeidedges that this Section 6 is
intended to comply with Section 10b5-1(c)(1)(i){@)der the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as astrahd that the delivery
of the Shares shall be made by the Company atftisfeszion of the tax withholding payments as setif in Section 8 of this
Agreement. The Participant agrees to hold the Cosnpad the Broker harmless from all costs, damagegpenses relating to
any such sale, and




acknowledges that the Company and the Broker ateruro obligation to arrange for such sale at amiqular price. The
Participant further acknowledges that the grar8ldres made hereunder is subject to Participartepsance of the terms of this
Section 6, and other terms and provisions of tlgs=A&ment.](2)

7. Restrictions on Transfer.Except as provided in Section 10 of the Plan, ther& may not be sold, transferred, assigned,
hypothecated, pledged, encumbered or otherwiseskspof, whether voluntarily or by operation of Jawany time before they
become vested Shares pursuant to Section 5 dgineement. Any such purported transfer shall béand void, and shall not be
recognized by the Company or recorded on its books.

8. Escrow.All Shares that have not vested pursuant to Seétiofithis Agreement, together with any securitlistributed in
respect thereof, such as through a stock splitt@raecapitalization, shall be held by the Compangscrow until such Shares
shall have vested and the deposit required fowithholding has been made pursuant to SectiontBi®fAgreement. The
Company promptly shall release vested Shares fsmmoe upon satisfaction of the foregoing conditions

9. Plan. The Participant hereby acknowledges receipt ofpy o the Plan as presently in effect and the Rrogs with respect
thereto. All of the terms and provisions of therPdae incorporated herein by reference, and thitriked Stock Award is subject
to those terms and provisions in all respects.

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED

By:

(1) Applicable to grants made on or after February(8.4

(2) For Section 16 Officers, replace bracketedlmge with the following: “By accepting this Agreent, the Participant agrees and
acknowledges that (i) the Company promptly willibld from the Participant's pay the amount of s$ake Company is required to
withhold upon any vesting of Shares pursuant t® Algreement, and (ii) the Participant shall makmédiate payment to the Company in
the amount of any tax required to be withheld ly@ompany in excess of the Participant's pay aaif@r such withholding.”



Exhibit 10.26

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
AMENDED AND RESTATED 2006 STOCK AND OPTION PLAN

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award

This Agreement sets forth the terms and conditafresRestricted Stock Unit Award granted pursuarthe provisions of
the Amended and Restated 2006 Stock and Option(Baih may be amended or restated, the “ Blah Vertex Pharmaceuticals
Incorporated (the “ Compariy to the Participant whose name appears below,aintingent entittlement of the Participant to
receive the number of Shares of Common Stock o€tmrapany set forth below, pursuant to the provssiofithe Plan and on the
following express terms and conditions. Capitalierdhs not otherwise defined herein shall havestétmee meanings as set fortt
the Plan, and any Restricted Stock Units evidehegeby are granted subject to the terms of the Plan

1. Name and address of Participant to whom the Restried Stock Unit Award is granted:
[INSERT NAME/ADDRESS]
2. Number of Shares of Common Stock in the Restricte8tock Unit Award (the “Shares”):

L1

3. Purchase price of Shares upon Vesting:

L]

4. Date of grant of the Restricted Stock Unit Award:
L ]

5. Vesting.

5.1 Vesting Schedule[INSERT VESTING SCHEDULE]. On each vesting datealdmd in the preceding sentence,
the Participant shall be entitled to receive atgheehase price, the applicable number of shar€ofmon Stock that shall
thereafter be delivered by the Company to the &patint in accordance with this Agreement and tlaa Rlithin thirty days of the
applicable vesting date. Except as provided ini&e&.4 of this Agreement, upon any Terminatiorsefvice of the Participant 1
any reason, vesting of the Shares shall immediatsdge, and the unvested portion of the Restrigteck Unit Award shall
immediately be forfeited.

5.2 Death of the Participant.If the Participant dies while an Employee, Non-Eoyeke Director, consultant or advisor
of the Company or an Affiliate, the vesting of ativested Shares subject to this Restricted StoikAward shall be accelerated
and shall vest on the date of death of the Paatitip

5.3 Termination for Cause.

(a) If the Participant is notified that the Companynigestigating or evaluating whether the Company wil
terminate Participant’'s employment or other serticthe Company for Cause, the Company may, atétgion, suspend the
vesting of this Restricted Stock Unit Award by wait notice to the Participant. If after such noéfion it is determined or
otherwise agreed that Participant’s service tadbmpany will not be terminated for Cause, vestifithe Shares shall resume
pursuant to the original schedule and any Shasgsmbuld have vested during such suspension imriedgishall vest.




(b) “ Cause” shall mean (i) the Participastdishonesty or fraud, or (ii) the willful miscoradby the Participai
or willful failure by the Participant to performshor her responsibilities to the Company (includinghout limitation, any
material breach by the Participant of any provissbany Company policy or any employment, consgltadvisory,
nondisclosure, non-competition or other similareggnent between the Participant and the Companggdh case as determined
in good faith by the Company, which determinatibalsbe conclusive; provided, however, that if ther a conflict between this
definition of Cause and either (1) the definitidi@ause” contained in any employment agreememnieen the Company and the
Participant or (2) the definition of “Cause” comtadl in any change-of-control agreement betweetmpany and the
Participant, then such other definition shall betoaling for purposes of this Agreement.

[5.4 Career Employment Provision.If a Participant experiences a Termination of Ssnather than for Cause, and
the Participant is a Qualified Participant (as riedi below), then (a) an additional number of Shagesl to (i) the sum of 50%
plus 10% for each full year of service as an Emgdotp the Company or an Affiliate in excess of {{Bgfull years of service
multiplied by (ii) the number of unvested Sharelgjsct to this Restricted Stock Unit Award immediatarior to the Participant’s
Termination of Service, shall vest on the datehefTermination of Service and (b) any remainingaested Shares shall be
forfeited. A “ Qualified Participant shall mean a Participant (A) who is at leastfifive (55) years old, (B) who has completed a
least five (5) full years of service as an Emplotethe Company or an Affiliate, (C) whose age pldkyears of service to the
Company is 65 or greater and (D) who has completednsitional period of employment with the Comp#ailowing notice of
the Termination of Service, the duration of whicii be determined by the Company but in no evetitexiceed six (6) months,
except as may be required by applicable law.](1)

6. Agreement with respect to Tax Payments, Withholdingnd Sale of a Portion of SharesThe Participant acknowledges
and agrees that any income or other taxes, fesscal security or comparable contributions duenftbe Participant with respect
to the vesting of the Restricted Stock Unit Awardh® issuance of Shares pursuant to this Agreeshatitbe the Participant’s
responsibility. In connection with the foregoingetParticipant agrees that the Company shall aatharregistered broker (the “
Broker”) to sell, on the next trading day after the dafteesting of any portion of the Restricted StoakittAward, that number of
Shares as the Company instructs the Broker tesllly to satisfy the Company’s tax withholdingightions, after deduction of
the Broker's commission, and the Broker shall ramihe Company the cash necessary in order foctimepany to satisfy its
withholding obligation, providedhowever, that the Company shall not authorize any suahis#the Participant shall have issued
a binding instruction (the “ Instructidi to the Company, in form satisfactory to the C@myp, which instruction may be delivered
at any time prior to the 30day after the date of grant of the Restricted Stdk Award, that provides that the Company shatl n
instruct the Broker to sell such Shares. Any sudtruction shall include an undertaking by the iBigpant to pay the Company t
amount of any tax withholding in accordance with @ompany’s policies then in effect. The Partictpsgrees to pay to the
Company as soon as practicable, including throwyinghl, the amount of any tax withholding, thafdas whatever reason, not
satisfied by such Broker’s sale. The Participakhawledges that this Section 6 is intended to cgmyith Section 10b5-1(c)(1)(i)
(B) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 nasraled, and that the delivery of the Shares skath&de by the Company al
satisfaction of the tax withholding payments adeeh herein. The Participant agrees to hold tben@any and the Broker
harmless from all costs, damages or expensesngkatiany such sale, and acknowledges that the @ayrgind the Broker are
under no obligation to arrange for such sale atgamgicular price. The Participant further acknadges that the Restricted Stock
Unit Award made hereunder is subject to Particigaatceptance of the terms of this Section 6, dhdrderms and provisions of
this Agreement.

7. Restrictions on Transfer.Except as provided in Section 10 of the Plan, Raéstricted Stock Unit Award may not be sold,
transferred, assigned, hypothecated, pledged, dvenaah or otherwise disposed of, whether voluntanilipy operation of law, at

any time before the Participant receives Shareg.stieh purported transfer shall be null and vondl shall not be recognized by
the Company or recorded on its books.




8. No Rights as a Shareholder Until Exerciselhe Participant shall have no rights as a sharehgiacluding voting and
dividend rights, with respect to the Restrictedc&tonit Award subject to this Agreement.

9. No Obligation to Maintain Relationship. The Participant acknowledges that: (i) the Compamot by the Plan or this
Restricted Stock Unit Award obligated to continbe Participant as an Employee, Non-Employee Directisultant or advisor
of the Company or an Affiliate; (i) the Plan isdietionary in nature and may be modified, suspgodéerminated by the
Company at any time; (iii) the grant of the RestritStock Unit Award is a onéame benefit that does not create any contractu
other right to receive future grants of equitybenefits in lieu thereof; (iv) all determination#lwrespect to any such future
grants, including, but not limited to, the timesemmawards shall be granted, the number of shabgscttio each restricted stock
unit award, and the time or times when each awaatl gest, will be at the sole discretion of then@any; (v) the Participant’s
participation in the Plan is voluntary; (vi) thelwa of the Restricted Stock Unit Award is an extdagary item of compensation
which is outside the scope of the Participant’s legrpent or consulting contract, if any; and (viigtRestricted Stock Unit Award
is not part of normal or expected compensatiomptoposes of calculating any severance, resignatolundancy, end of service
payments, bonuses, long-service awards, pensimtisgment benefits or similar payments.

10. Plan. The Participant hereby acknowledges receipt ofpy of the Plan as presently in effect and the Rroigs with
respect thereto. All of the terms and provisionthefPlan are incorporated herein by referencetl@adRestricted Stock Unit
Award is subject to those terms and provisiondlireapects.

11. Data Privacy. By entering into this Agreement, the Participantc¢nsents to the collection, use and disclos@ipecsonal
information (which may include name, home and bessncontact information, personal identifiers saickate of birth and the
social insurance number for tax reporting purposegloyment, position and compensation) by the Gomyfor the purpose of
administering the Plan, providing Plan recordkegiervices and facilitating the grant of optiofiy;donsents to the disclosure of
this information by the Company to any Affiliatetbie Company for such purposes; and (iii) autherthe Company and each
Affiliate to store and transmit such informationglectronic form. Some of these Affiliates are kechin, and the Plan will be
administered (in whole or in part) in, the Unite@dt®s and some or all of the personal informatiay trecome subject to the laws
of, and accessible to, the authorities of the Wn8&ates. The file containing the Participant’sspaal information will be kept at
the offices of the Company or on its servers os¢haf its Affiliates and service providers, andyoginployees of the Company,
Affiliates or service providers who require it filwe purposes of their duties will have accessigfile. The Participant may
request access to this file and the correctiomaddurate information, to the extent provided lwy, lay contacting .

12. International Employees.This Restricted Stock Unit Award shall be subjedite additional terms and provisions, if any,
applicable to the Participant as are set forthroféhibit Ato this Agreement, which terms and conditions aceiporated herein
by reference.

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED

By:

(1) Applicable to grants made on or after February(8.4



Exhibit 10.40
Vertex Employee Compensation Plan

On an annual basis in the first quarter of theafigear the Management Development and Compensatommittee of our Board of Directors adopts an
employee compensation plan for our officers anéogmployees, including our named executive officergether with performance goals for that figeslr.
The plan addresses three components of employepetmation—base salary, performance bonuses whicé as short-term incentives and equity grants
which serve as long-term incentives—that are design motivate, reward and retain employees byalggcompensation with the achievement of strategic
corporate goals.

Upon completion of each performance period (usualtalendar year), our Board of Directors assigpsréormance rating on the basis of achievement o
goals for the company set by the Board, in congattavith our chief executive officer, early in tperformance period. The amount available for payroé
performance bonuses is established on the ba#lissgferformance rating, and is allocated to emgésyon the basis of salary tier and individualgrerfince
rating. The base salaries of the executive offieeesset based on market and other competitiveriadlerit increases to base salaries for othel@maps are
made on the basis of individual performance ratikgual equity grants, made in the form of stockays, restricted stock grants or units, or a coration of
both are made on the basis of salary tier and i@t performance.

The Board of Directors retains broad discretiodeétermine the appropriate form and level of comagas, particularly for our executives, on the basi
its assessment of our executives, the demandlénttaur performance and other factors. Key catgoperformance factors generally include, amohgrot
things, achievement of regulatory and commercitiimegoals, research and development productieithhancements of organizational capabilities,
maintenance of financial stability and other aspe€tour performance. We reserve the right to nyaiié plan, and the key corporate performance faeod
criteria under the plan, at any time.

On February 5, 2014, the Board of Directors deteethithe cash bonus awards related to the fiscaleyeied December 31, 2013 and annual salaries
effective February 2014.



Subsidiaries of Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (San Diego) LLC, a Delaviiarged liability company
Vertex Securities Corporation, a Massachusettsocation
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Distribution) Incorporatedelaware corporation
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Cayman) Limited, a Caynstantls company
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Cayman 509) Limited, a Gayislands company
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Cayman 661) Limited, a Gayislands company
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Cayman 765) Limited, a Gayislands company
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Cayman 787) Limited, a Gayislands company
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Delaware) LLC, a Delawan@éd liability company
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Canada) Incorporated, adian company (1)
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Singapore) Pte. Ltd., g&ginore company
Vertex Pharmaceuticals R&D (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (2)
Vertex Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Europe) Limited, a Unitédg€lom company (3)
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Switzerland) Sarl, a Seisspany
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Ireland) Limited, an Irgimpany (4)
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (U.K.) Limited, a United g§dlom company
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (France) SAS, a French coypa
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Germany) GmbH, a Germarpeaom
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Australia) Pty. Ltd., arstkalian company
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Spain), S.L., a Spanishpeom
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Netherlands) B.V., a Datmmpany

Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Italy) S.r.L., an Italiampany

(1) a subsidiary of Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Delayat.C

(2) a subsidiary of Vertex Pharmaceuticals (SingapBte. Ltd.
(3) a subsidiary of Vertex Holdings, Inc.

(4) a subsidiary of Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Switzet) Sarl

Exhibit 21.1



Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by refeecincthe Registration Statements (Form S-3 No. B¥993 and Form S-8 Nos. 333-65666,
333-134482, 333-150945, 333-150946, 333-160442,188803, 333-184784, 333-184787 and 333-18873Vedkx Pharmaceuticals
Incorporated of our reports dated February 11, 2@1ih respect to the consolidated financial statets of Vertex Pharmaceuticals
Incorporated and the effectiveness of internalmmiver financial reporting of Vertex Pharmaceaticincorporated, included in this Annual
Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended Decembe2813.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
Boston, Massachusetts

February 11, 2014



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Jeffrey M. Leiden, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on FormKLOf Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporal

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortamstate a material fact necessary tc
make the statements made, in light of the circuntets.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act

Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &dave:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedareaused such disclosure controls and procedaoitee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifige prepared,;

b) designed such internal control over finanaggilarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atmuce with generally accepted accounting princjples

C) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentendsi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cousyeldis report based on
such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in thestegit’s internal control over financial reportithgit occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regrgts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimeaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registrant’s internal control over finalceporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evafuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitte@mmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing thevaden!
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakges in the design or operation of internal cboirer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrdgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaard report financial
information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that innedvmanagement or other employees who have a si@niifiole in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: February 11, 2014 /sl Jeffrey M. Leiden

Jeffrey M. Leiden
Chief Executive Officer and President



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

[, lan F. Smith, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on FormKLOf Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporal

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortamstate a material fact necessary tc
make the statements made, in light of the circuntets.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act

Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &dave:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedareaused such disclosure controls and procedaoitee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifige prepared,;

b) designed such internal control over finanaggilarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atmuce with generally accepted accounting princjples

C) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentendsi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cousyeldis report based on
such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in thestegit’s internal control over financial reportithgit occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regrgts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimeaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registrant’s internal control over finalceporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evafuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitte@mmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing thevaden!
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakges in the design or operation of internal cboirer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrdgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaard report financial
information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that innedyunanagement or other employees who have a saniifiole in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: February 11, 2014 /sl lan F. Smith

lan F. Smith
Executive Vice President and Chief Finan€Gflcer



Exhibit 32.1
SECTION 906 CEO/CFO CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 (Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 135@&p@#r 63 of Title 18, United
States Code) each of the undersigned officers dieXéharmaceuticals Incorporated, a Massachusaieration (the “Company”), does
hereby certify, to such officer's knowledge, that:

The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year endedddnber 31, 2013 (the “Form 10-K") of the Compauiyfcomplies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the S&esrExchange Act of 1934, and the informationtagred in the Form 10-K fairly presents,
in all material respects, the financial conditiodaesults of operations of the Company.

Date: February 11, 2014
Isl Jeffrey M. Leiden

Jeffrey M. Leiden
Chief Executive Officer and President

Date: February 11, 2014
/sl lan F. Smith

lan F. Smith
Executive Vice President and Chief Finan€ieflcer

A signed original of this written statement reqdil®y Section 906 has been provided to the Compadyé| be retained by the
Company and furnished to the Securities and Exah&@ammission or its staff upon request.




